# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Tissue Transglutaminase (TG2) is a potential therapeutic target in the treatment of chemoresistant breast cancer

Vidya Rajasekaran

2014

Aston University



### Some pages of this thesis may have been removed for copyright restrictions.

If you have discovered material in AURA which is unlawful e.g. breaches copyright, (either yours or that of a third party) or any other law, including but not limited to those relating to patent, trademark, confidentiality, data protection, obscenity, defamation, libel, then please read our <u>Takedown Policy</u> and <u>contact the service</u> immediately

## Tissue Transglutaminase (TG2) is a

### potential therapeutic target in the

### treatment of chemoresistant breast cancer

### Vidya Rajasekaran

Doctor of Philosophy

Aston University

June 2013

© Vidya Rajasekaran, 2013 asserts her moral right to be identified as the author of this thesis This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement

# Thesis Summary

Tissue transglutaminase (TG2) has been suggested to be a key player in the progression and metastasis of chemoresistant breast cancer. One of the foremost survival signalling pathways implicated in causing drug resistance in breast cancer is the constitutive activation of NFKB (Nuclear Factor -kappa B) induced by TG2. This study provides a mechanism by which TG2 constitutively activates NFkB which in turn confers chemoresistance to breast cancer cells against doxorubicin. Breast cancer cell lines with varying expression levels of TG2 as well as TG2 null breast cancer cells transfected with TG2 were used as the major cell models for this study. This study made use of cell permeable and impermeable TG2 inhibitors, specific TG2 and Rel A/ p65 targeting siRNA, TG2 functional blocking antibodies, IKK inhibitors and a specific targeting peptide against Rel A/p65 to investigate the pathway of activation involved in the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 leading to drug resistance. Crucial to the activation of Rel A/p65 and drug resistance in the breast cancer cells is the interaction between the complex of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  and Rel A/p65 with TG2 which results in the dimerization of Rel A/p65 and polymerization of IkBa. The association of TG2 with the IkBa-NFkB complex was determined to be independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  function. The polymerized IkB $\alpha$  is degraded in the cytoplasm by the  $\mu$ -calpain pathway which allows the cross linked Rel A/ p65 dimers to translocate into the nucleus. Using R283 and ZDON (cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors) and specific TG2 targeting siRNA, the Rel A/ p65 dimer formation could be inhibited. Co-immunoprecipitation studies confirmed that the phosphorylation of the Rel A/p65 dimers at the Ser536 residue by IKKE took place in the cell nucleus. Importantly, this study also investigated the transcriptional regulation of the TGM2 gene by the pSer536 Rel A/ p65 dimer and the importance of this TG2-NFκB feedback loop in conferring drug resistance to breast cancer cells. This data provides evidence that TG2 could be a key therapeutic target in the treatment of chemoresistant breast cancer.

# Acknowledgments

The data presented in this thesis has been carried out in Aston University, Birmingham, UK, during the period of 2010-2012. I am very grateful for the work and study facilities as well as friendly environment provided by Aston University.

I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Martin Griffin for his counsel, motivation and constructive criticism through my PhD study, that pushed me to perform better than I thought possible. I would like to express my sincere and heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Zhuo Wang for her invaluable inspiration, guidance and support throughout the course of this project, which provided me an opportunity to think independently and develop my research ideas. Dr. Wang always encouraged and helped me perform to the best of my abilities, for which I will forever be thankful. I am also very thankful to Dr. Russell Collighan for his constant advice at various stages of the project.

I further wish to express my deepest love and appreciation to my wonderful parents and brother for their continuous optimism, patience, financial and emotional support. This would not have been possible without your constant love and continuous encouragement.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends Vaibhav Sharma, Shruti Sharma, Sonam Mamrath and AD for their mental support, tolerating my quirks as well as sharing my joys and hardships throughout this enriching PhD course.

# Table of contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	21
1.1 TRANSGLUTAMINASES: A FAMILY PORTRAIT	23
1.1.1 FACTOR XIII	26
1.1.2 KERATINOCYTE TRANSGLUTAMINASE	27
1.1.3 EPIDERMAL TRANSGLUTAMINASE	28
1.1.4 PROSTATE TRANSGLUTAMINASE (TG4)	30
1.1.5 TRANSGLUTAMINASES 5, 6 AND 7:	30
1.1.6 ERYTHROCYTE BAND 4.2	31
1.2 TISSUE TRANSGLUTAMINASE	32
1.2.1 STRUCTURE OF TG2	33
1.2.2 CELLULAR DISTRIBUTION OF TG2:	35
1.2.2.1 CYTOPLASM	35
1.2.2.2 NUCLEAR	36
1.2.2.3 EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX (ECM)	37
1.2.3 REGULATION OF TG2 EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY	38
1.2.4 ROLE OF TG2 IN CELL DEATH:	39
1.2.5 PATHOLOGICAL ROLES OF TG2	42
1.2.5.1 COELIAC DISEASE:	42

1.2.5.2 NEURODEGENERATION:	43
1.2.5.3 FIBROSIS	44
1.2.5.4 CANCER PROGRESSION:	46
1.2.5.4.1 REGULATION OF CELL SURVIVAL IN CANCER CELLS BY TG2	47
1.2.5.4.2 ROLE OF TG2 IN INVASION AND ADHESION OF CANCER CELLS:	48
1.2.5.4.3 ROLE OF TG2 IN ANGIOGENESIS DURING CANCER PROGRESSION:	48
1.2.5.4.4 ROLE OF TG2 IN METASTASIS OF CANCER CELLS	50
1.2.5.4.5 ROLE OF TG2 IN CHEMORESISTANCE:	50
1.2.5.4.6 ROLE OF TG2 IN EMT	51
1.3 NUCLEAR FACTOR- KAPPA B	51
1.3.1 NFKB FAMILY MEMBERS	52
1.3.2 ACTIVATION OF NFKB	53
1.3.3 SIGNIFICANCE OF NFKB IN BREAST CANCER PROGRESSION	55
1 .4 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TISSUE TRANSGLUTAMINASE (TG2) AND NFKB	56
1.5 AIMS OF THE PROJECT	60
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	61
2.1 MATERIALS	62
2.1.1 CELL LINES	62
2.1.2 LIST OF ANTIBODIES	62

2.1.3 CHEMICALS	63
2.1.4 PCR PRIMERS	66
2.1.5 EQUIPMENT	67
2.2 METHODS	68
2.2.1 CELL CULTURE TECHNIQUES	68
2.2.1.1 CULTURE CONDITIONS OF CELLS	68
2.2.1.2 PASSAGING OF CELL LINES	68
2.2.1.3 CELL COUNTING USING HAEMOCYTOMETER	69
2.2.1.4 FREEZING AND DEFROSTING OF CELL LINES	69
2.2.1.5 SIRNA TRANSFECTIONS	70
2.2.1.6 CELL TRANSFECTION OF TG2 AND VECTOR CONTROL PLASMID	71
2.2.1.6.1 KILL CURVES	71
2.2.1.6.2 TRANSFECTION OF THE BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH PLASMIDS USING LIPOFECTAMINE 2000 AND SELECTION USING G418	71
2.2.2 PREPARATION OF WHOLE CELL LYSATE, CYTOPLASMIC AND NUCLEAR FRACTIONS OF CELLS	72
2.2.3 PROTEIN CONCENTRATION	72
2.2.4 SDS-PAGE (SODIUM DODECYL SULPHATE- POLYACRYLAMIDE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS)	73
2.2.5 WESTERN BLOTTING OF PROTEINS	75

2.2.6 IMMUNODEVELOPMENT OF WESTERN BLOTS	76
2.2.7 STRIPPING AND RE-PROBING OF NITROCELLULOSE MEMBRANE	76
2.2.8 CO-IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	77
2.2.9 CELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF TG2 TRANSAMIDATING ACTIVITY VIA INCORPORATION OF FITC-CADAVERINE	78
2.2.10 DETECTION OF TG2 USING CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY AFTER IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY	78
2.2.11 DETECTION OF THE CELL SURFACE AND WHOLE CELL LYSATE TG2 ACTIVITY VIA BIOTIN CADAVERINE INCORPORATION INTO FIBRONECTIN	79
2.2.12 NFKB SEAPORTER ASSAY KIT	80
2.2.12.1 CELL CULTURE AND TRANSFECTION USING THE NFKB SEAPORTER ASSAY KIT	80
2.2.12.2 MEASUREMENT OF SEAP	81
2.2.13 CELL VIABILITY ANALYSIS USING XTT ASSAY	81
2.2.14 TGF-B1 ACTIVITY ASSAY	82
2.2.15 POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION	83
2.2.15.1 PREPARATION OF RNA	83
2.2.15.2 SETTING UP OF PCR	84
2.2.16 HUMAN REL A CHROMATIN IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	85
2.2.16.1 ASSAY PROCEDURE	86
2.2.16.2 PCR ANALYSIS OF CHIP SAMPLES	87

2.2.17 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	87
CHAPTER 3: RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TG2 AND CHEMORESISTANCE IN BREAST CANCER CELLS	88
3.1 INTRODUCTION	89
3.2 METHODS:	91
3.2.1 TG2 WHOLE CELL LYSATE AND CELL SURFACE ACTIVITY ASSAY	91
3.2.2 <i>IN SITU</i> TG2 ACTIVITY USING FITC-CADAVERINE INCORPORATION:	91
3.2.3 IMMUNOSTAINING OF TG2:	91
3.2.4 CELL VIABILITY ANALYSIS:	91
3.2.5 SIRNA TRANSFECTION:	92
3.2. 6 DETECTION OF SIRNA TRANSFECTION EFFICIENCY:	92
3.3 RESULTS:	93
3.3.1 DEVELOPMENT OF DOXORUBICIN RESISTANT CELL LINES	93
3.3.1.1 CELL VIABILITY ANALYSIS OF TG2 NULL BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN	93
3.3.1.2 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF TG2 IN THE PRESENCE OF INCREASING CONCENTRATION OF DOXORUBICIN	96
3.3.2 CHEMORESISTANT BREAST CANCER CELL LINES HAVE HIGH TG2 EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY	100
3.3.2.1 DETECTION OF CELL SURFACE AND WHOLE CELL LYSATE TG2 ACTIVITY IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 ACTIVITY INHIBITORS	100

3.3.2.2 DETECTION OF TG2 EXPRESSION IN BREAST CANCER CELLS AFTER EXPOSURE TOTG2 ACTIVITY INHIBITORS	103
3.3.2.3 DETECTION OF TG2 <i>IN SITU</i> ACTIVITY BY FITC-CADAVERINE INCORPORATION AND FLUORESCENT MICROSCOPY.	108
3.3.2.4 DETECTION OF TG2 USING IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY AND CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY	111
3.3.2.5 CELL VIABILITY ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN	114
3.3.2.6 CELL VIABILITY ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF CISPLATIN	118
3.3.3 INHIBITION OF TG2 USING TG2 SPECIFIC SIRNA	120
3.3.3.1 SUSCEPTIBILITY OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES TREATED WITH TG2 SPECIFIC SIRNA IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN	120
3.3.3.2 TG2 EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY DECREASES ON TREATING THE BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH TG2 SIRNA2	122
3.3.3.2.1 THE INHIBITORY EFFECT OF TG2 TARGETING SIRNA ON TG2 EXPRESSION	122
3.3.3.2.2 THE INHIBITORY EFFECT OF TG2 TARGETING SIRNA ON TG2 WHOLE CELL LYSATE ACTIVITY.	124
3.3.4 TRANSFECTION OF TG2 PLASMID INTO TG2-NULL BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	126
3.3.4.1 SUSCEPTIBILITY OF MCF7/WT AND SKBR3/WT CELLS TO G418	126
3.3.4.2 TRANSFECTING BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH TG2 PLASMID INCREASED TG2 ACTIVITY AND EXPRESSION.	128

3.3.4.3 TG2 TRANSFECTED BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ARE MORE RESISTANT TO DOXORUBICIN	133
3.4 DISCUSSION	135
CHAPTER 4: TG2 ACTIVITY RESULTS IN ABERRANT NFKB ACTIVATION THROUGH AN INTRACELLULAR MECHANISM	139
4. 1 INTRODUCTION:	140
4.2 METHODS	143
4.2.1 SUB-CELLULAR FRACTIONATION OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES:	143
4.2.2 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS:	143
4.2.3 NFKB ACTIVITY ASSAY:	143
4.2.4 DETECTION OF THE INTERACTION BETWEEN REL A/ P65 AND TG2 IN THE NUCLEUS VIA CO-IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	144
4.2.5 SIRNA TRANSFECTION:	144
4.3 RESULTS:	146
4.3.1 ABERRANT REL A/P65 EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY IN THE NUCLEAR FRACTIONS OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES THAT EXHIBIT HIGH LEVELS OF TG2.	146
4.3.1.1 DECREASED NFKB ACTIVITY IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 INHIBITORS	146
4.3.1.2 DETECTION OF REL A/P65 EXPRESSION IN THE CYTOPLASMIC AND NUCLEAR FRACTIONS OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 INHIBITORS.	150

4.3.1.3 CO-IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF REL A/P65 AND TG2 IN THE NUCLEAR	
FRACTION OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES AFTER TREATMENT WITH TG2	
INHIBITORS.	155
4.3.2 EXPRESSION OF NFKB FAMILY MEMBERS IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	158
4.3.2.1 WESTERN BLOT DETECTION OF P105/P50 IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 INHIBITORS.	158
4.3.2.2 EXPRESSION OF REL B AND C-REL IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 INHIBITORS.	160
4.3.3 CONSTITUTIVE ACTIVATION OF REL A/P65 DECREASED IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 SPECIFIC SIRNA	162
4.3.3.1 DECREASED REL A/P65 HIGH MOLECULAR WEIGHT IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 SIRNA	162
4.3.3.2 NFKB ACTIVITY DECREASES IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 SIRNA	164
4.3.4 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELLS WITH REL A/P65 SPECIFIC SIRNA	166
4.3.4.1 DECREASED EXPRESSION OF REL A/P65 AND TG2 IN THE CYTOPLASMIC AND NUCLEAR FRACTIONS OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ON BEING TREATED WITH REL A/P65 SPECIFIC SIRNA	166
4.3.4.2 DECREASED NFKB ACTIVITY OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF REL A/P65 SPECIFIC SIRNA	168
4.3.4.3 DETECTION OF TG2 ACTIVITY OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ON TREATMENT WITH REL A/ P65 TARGETING SIRNA	170
4.3.4.4 INCREASED SUSCEPTIBILITY OF CHEMORESISTANT BREAST CANCER CELL LINES TO DOXORUBICIN ON TREATMENT WITH REL A/P65 SPECIFIC SIRNA	172
4.3.5 ABERRANT REL A/P65 IS NOT ALTERED ON TREATMENT WITH VARIOUS TG2 INACTIVATING ANTIBODIES.	174

4.3.5.1 DETECTION OF TG2 CELL SURFACE AND WHOLE CELL LYSATE ACTIVITY ON TREATMENT WITH DIFFERENT TG2 ANTIBODIES.	174
4.3.5.2 NFKB ACTIVITY AND EXPRESSION ON TREATMENT WITH TG2 ANTIBODIES	178
4.3.5.3 CELL VIABILITY ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN AND TG2 ANTIBODIES	182
4.3.6 IN-VITRO CROSS LINKING OF RECOMBINANT REL A/P65 USING GUINEA PIG LIVER TISSUE TRANSGLUTAMINASE (TG2)	184
4.4 DISCUSSION:	186
CHAPTER 5: CONSTITUTIVE ACTIVATION OF NFKB BY TG2 IS INDEPENDENT OF IKKA/B FUNCTION	191
5.1 INTRODUCTION	192
5.2 METHODS	195
5.2.1 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH CALPEPTIN	195
5.2.2 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH PS1145	195
5.3 RESULTS	196
5.3.1 DETECTION OF IKB IN THE CYTOPLASMIC FRACTIONS OF THE BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF TG2 INHIBITORS	196
5.3.2 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF FREE IKBA IN THE PRESENCE OF CALPEPTIN.	200
5.3.3 IKK INHIBITOR, PS1145 DOES NOT BLOCK THE CONSTITUTIVE ACTIVATION OF NFKB BY TG2	202
5.3.3.1 KILLING CURVE TO DETERMINE OPTIMUM CONCENTRATION OF PS1145	202

5.3.3.2 ACTIVITY AND EXPRESSION OF NFKB IN THE PRESENCE OF PS1145	204
5.3.3.3 NFKB ACTIVITY AND EXPRESSION IN THE PRESENCE OF PS1145 AND TG2 INHIBITORS	209
5.3.3.4 ACTIVITY AND EXPRESSION OF TG2 IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ON TREATMENT WITH IKK INHIBITOR, PS1145 AND TG2 INHIBITORS	214
5.3.3.5 CHEMO SENSITIVITY OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN ON BEING TREATED WITH PS1145	219
5.4 DISCUSSION	221
CHAPTER 6: PHOSPHORYLATED STATUS OF THE CROSS LINKED REL A/ P65 DIMER IS NECESSARY FOR <i>TGM2</i> GENE EXPRESSION AND CHEMORESISTANCE	224
6.1 INTRODUCTION	225
6.2 METHODS	229
6.2.1 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH BX795	229
6.2.2 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH NFKB P65 (SER529/536) INHIBITORY PEPTIDE	229
6.2.3 DETECTION OF THE PHOSPHORYLATED STATUS OF REL A/ P65 DIMERS VIA CO-IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	230
6.2.4 CHROMATIN IMMUNOPRECIPITATION (CHIP) AND PCR	230
6.3 RESULTS	232
6.3.1 PHOSPHORYLATED STATUS OF THE REL A/P65 DIMER TO DNA IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	232

6.3.2 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELLS WITH IKKE PHOSPHORYLATION SPECIFIC INHIBITOR, BX795	234
6.3.2.1 KILLING CURVE TO DETERMINE OPTIMUM CONCENTRATION OF BX795	234
6.3.2.2 DETECTION OF THE PHOSPHORYLATED SERINE STATUS OF REL A/ P65 DIMERS BY CO-IMMUNOPRECIPITATION IN THE PRESENCE OF BX795	236
6.3.2.3 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF PSER536-REL A/P65 IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	238
6.3.2.4 DECREASED TG2 EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES TREATED WITH BX795	240
6.3.2.5 ANALYSIS OF IKBA DIMERS AND P50/P105 NFKB SUBUNITS IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ON BEING TREATED WITH BX795	243
6.3.2.6 CHEMOSENSITIVITY OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ON TREATMENT WITH BX795 AND TG2 INHIBITORS IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN.	245
6.3.3 TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES WITH NFKB P65 (SER529/536) INHIBITORY PEPTIDE	247
6.3.3.1 DECREASED TG2 EXPRESSION AND ACTIVITY IN THE PRESENCE NFKB P65 (SER529/536) INHIBITORY PEPTIDE	247
6.3.3.2 REDUCED CHEMORESISTANCE OF BREAST CANCER CELL LINES ON BEING TREATED WITH NFKB P65 (SER529/536) INHIBITORY PEPTIDE IN THE PRESENCE OF DOXORUBICIN	251
6.3.4 BINDING OF P-SER536-RELA/ P65 DIMER TO THE -KB SITE ON THE <i>TGM2</i> GENE PROMOTER.	253
6.3.4.1 CHROMATIN IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF REL A/P65 BOUND TO THE -KB SITE ON THE <i>TGM2</i> PROMOTER	253
6.3.4.2 PCR FOR TG2 MRNA EXPRESSION	257

6.4 DISCUSSION	260
CHAPTER 7: EPITHELIAL TO MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION IN BREAST CANCER CELLS	263
7.1 INTRODUCTION	264
7.2 METHODS	267
7.2.1 DETECTION OF EPITHELIAL AND MESENCHYMAL MARKERS IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	267
7.2.2 TGF-B1 ACTIVITY ASSAY	267
7.3 RESULTS	269
7.3.1 TGF-B INDUCED EPITHELIAL TO MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (EMT) IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	269
7.3.2 ANALYSIS OF VARIOUS EPITHELIAL TO MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (EMT) MARKERS IN BREAST CANCER CELL LINES	272
7.4 DISCUSSION	274
CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSION	276
CHAPTER 9: FUTURE DIRECTION	293
APPENDIX 1: LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	317

## List of Tables

- Table 1.1 Functions of members of Transglutaminase (TG) family
- Table 2.1 List of primers
- Table 2.2 Composition of polyacrylamide gels
- Table 2.3 Typical PCR program set up

Figure 1.1 Structure of TG2.

Figure 1.2 Canonical & Non-canonical pathway of NFkB activation

**Figure 3.1** Cell viability analysis of MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT cells in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin.

**Figure 3.2** Detection of TG2 expression in MCF7, SKBR3 and T47D cells cultured in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin

**Figure 3.3** Detection of TG2 activity in whole cell lysates of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors.

Figure 3.4 Detection of cell surface TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines.

Figure 3.5 Western blot detection of TG2 expression in breast cancer cell lines.

Figure 3.6 Treatment of TG2 expressing breast cancer cells with TG2 activity inhibitors

**Figure 3.7** Detection of TG2 expression in MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells on treatment with TG2 inhibitors over a time course

Figure 3.8 Cellular localization of TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines using fluorescent microscopy

Figure 3.9 Cellular localization of TG2 protein expression in breast cancer cells using confocal microscopy

Figure 3.10 Cell viability analysis of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin

**Figure 3.11** Detection of cell viability in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin and TG2 inhibitors

Figure 3.12 Cell viability analysis of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of cisplatin over a time course

**Figure 3.13** Cell viability of breast cancer cells after treatment with doxorubicin and TG2-specific siRNA

**Figure 3.14** Analysis of the expression of TG2 in MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells in the presence of different TG2 specific siRNA.

Figure 3.15 Investigation of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of TG2-specific siRNA

**Figure 3.16** The effect of G418 on TG2 null MCF7 and SKBR3 cell proliferation illustrated via XTT assay.

Figure 3.17 Detection of TG2 in the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells by Western Blot

**Figure 3.18** Detection of TG2 in the TG2 transfected SKBR3 cells on being treated with TG2 inhibitors by Western Blot

Figure 3.19 Detection of whole cell lysate TG2 activity in MCF7 and SKBR3 transfected breast cancer cell lines.

Figure 3.20 Detection of cell viability of TG2-null SKBR3 and MCF7 cells after transfection with TG2

**Figures 4.1** Analysis of NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors

**Figure 4.2** Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after treatment with TG2 activity inhibitors using western blot.

**Figure 4.3** Detection of the interaction between TG2 and Rel A/p65 in the nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines

**Figure 4.4** Analysis of p105/p50 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors by western blot

**Figure 4.5** Analysis of Rel B, c-Rel and p100/p52 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors by western blot

**Figure 4.6** Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after transfection with TG2 specific siRNA using western blot.

**Figure 4.7** Analysis of NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 specific siRNA.

**Figure 4.8** Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 and TG2 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after transfection with Rel A/ p65 specific siRNA using western blot

**Figure 4.9** Analysis of NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of Rel A/p65 specific siRNA.

Figure 4.10 Investigation of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of Rel A/p65 - specific siRNA

**Figure 4.11** The effect of transfecting breast cancer cell lines with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA in the presence of doxorubicin as illustrated via XTT assay

Figure 4.12 Investigation of TG2 cell surface activity in the presence of TG2 antibodies

Figure 4.13 Investigation of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of TG2 antibodies

**Figure 4.14** Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after treatment with various TG2 antibodies using western blot.

**Figure 4.15** Analysis of NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in breast cancer cell lines on treatment with various TG2 antibodies.

**Figure 4.16** The effect of treating breast cancer cell lines with TG2 antibodies in the presence of doxorubicin as illustrated via XTT assay.

**Figure 4.17** Western blot analysis of *in vitro* cross linking of recombinant Rel A/p65 protein using guinea pig liver TG2.

**Figure 5.1** Analysis of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  in the cytoplasmic fractions of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors

**Figure 5.2:** Evidence for calpain mediated degradation of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  polymers induced by TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines

**Figure 5.3** Cell viability analyses of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of PS1145 over a time course

**Figure 5.4** Analysis of NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in breast cancer cell lines on treatment with IKK inhibitor, PS1145

**Figure 5.5** Western blot analysis of Rel A/p65 in the sub cellular fractions of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with PS1145

**Figure 5.6** Analysis of NFκB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors

**Figure 5.7** Western blot analysis of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell line on being treated with PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors

**Figure 5.8** Analysis of the whole cell lysate and cell surface TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with PS1145 and TG2 activity inhibitors

**Figure 5.9** Analysis of the expression of TG2 in the cytoplasmic fractions of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with PS1145

**Figure 5.10** The effect of PS1145 treatment on the cell viability of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin

**Figure 6.1** Analysis of the phosphorylated serine status of Rel A/ p65 dimers in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines using co-immunoprecipitation.

**Figure 6.2** Cell viability analyses of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of BX795 over a time course

**Figure 6.3** Analysis of phosphorylated serine status of Rel A/ p65 dimers in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines using co-immunoprecipitation, in the presence of BX795

**Figure 6.4** Analysis of pSer 536 - Rel A/ p65 dimers in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of BX795

**Figure 6.5** Analysis of the expression of TG2 in the cytoplasmic fractions of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with BX795

**Figure 6.6** Analysis of whole cell lysate TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with BX795

**Figure 6.7** Western blot analysis of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  and p50/p105 NF $\kappa B$  subunit of NF $\kappa B$  in breast cancer cells on being treated with BX795

**Figure 6.8** The effect of BX795 and TG2 cell permeable inhibitor treatment on the cell viability of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin

**Figure 6.9** Analysis of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

**Figure 6.10** Western blot analysis of TG2 expression in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

**Figure 6.11** The effect of NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide on the cell viability of breast cancer cell lines in the increasing concentrations of doxorubicin

**Figure 6.12** Analysis of Rel A/p65 dimers binding to  $-\kappa$ B site on *TGM2* and *p21* gene promoter using Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

**Figure 6.13** PCR analysis of the *TGM2* and *GAPDH* gene expression in breast cancer cell lines in various inhibitor treatments

**Figure 7.1** Analysis of expression of TGF- $\beta$  Type I and II receptors of breast cancer cell lines using Western blot.

**Figure 7.2** Analysis of TGF- $\beta$ 1 levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors

**Figure 7.3** Analysis of the expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers in the whole cell lysate fractions of breast cancer cell lines using western blot

**Figure 8.1** Schematic representation of TG2-NFκB regulatory loop

### 1. Introduction

Breast cancer still remains as one of the most commonly diagnosed diseases among women and the social as well as economic impact of this malignancy is still enormous (Youlden, *et al.* 2012). Preventing breast cancer progression is an idea that dates back through history and there has been a lot of proof to show that the interaction between the independent and the environment they live in, can impact on the risk of breast cancer development (Cazzaniga & Bonanni, 2012). In spite of the development of numerous anticancer drugs, chemoresistance remains a major obstacle that results in the failure of treatment regimens. Some breast cancer cells maybe inherently resistant to drugs while others develop the resistance post chemotherapy. Chemoresistance can be caused by multiple factors: inactivation of the drug by detoxifying enzymes, changes in tumour suppressor genes, drug efflux by transport mechanisms, altered expression of anti and pro apoptotic proteins as well as protection from DNA damage mechanisms (LaPensee & Jonathan, 2010). Overcoming this chemoresistance has become a major focus of many studies.

Previously it has been shown that breast cancer cells selected out for drug resistance have high levels of the multifunctional protein cross linking enzyme tissue transglutaminase (TG2), however, no direct link has been established between TG2 and drug resistance. Studies undertaken in numerous breast cancer cell lines have shown that higher expression of TG2 makes the cancer cells more invasive and metastatic as well as conferring resistance to various drugs (Chen, *et al.* 2002). Many hypotheses have been put forward indicating that this could be due to the interaction between TG2 and the transcription factor Nuclear Factor-kappa B (NF $\kappa$ B). Literature has shown that TG2 expression leads to constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B via a pathway independent of IKK (Inhibitor-kappa Kinase). In numerous cancers such as breast, ovarian, cervical etc., the expression of TG2 has been correlated with constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Mann, *et al.* 2006)

#### **1.1 Transglutaminases: A family portrait**

Transglutaminases or TGs are a family of enzymes predominantly found in plants, microorganisms, invertebrates and mammals. Multiple distinct forms of TGs have been identified in mammals. The term Transglutaminases was first coined by Clarke and colleagues in 1957 to illustrate the transamidating activity observed in guinea-pig liver (Clarke, *et al.* 1957). Studies done later showed that TGs cross linked proteins through an acyl-transfer reaction involving the  $\gamma$ -carboxamide group of a peptide-bound glutamine and the  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of a peptide bound lysine, which results in the formation of  $\varepsilon$ -( $\gamma$ -glutamyl) lysine isopeptide bond (Griffin, *et al.* 2002) (Figure 1.1).



(Chandrashekar & Mehta, 2000)

#### Figure 1.1 Cross linking reaction catalysed by Transglutaminases

TGs are known to accelerate the post-translation modification of proteins by transamidation of the free glutamine residues. The resulting covalent stable isopeptide bond is resistant to proteolysis, chemical, mechanical and enzymatic disruption (Greenberg, *et al.* 1991). So far nine members of the family have been identified all of which have now been characterized at the protein level. In mammals other than erythrocyte band 4.2 which is inactive, the other TG family members require Ca<sup>2+</sup> for the transamidating activity. The family members are Factor XIII A, keratinocyte transglutaminase (TG1), tissue transglutaminase (TG2), epidermal transglutaminase (TG3), prostate transglutaminase (TG4), Transglutaminases X, Y and Z (TG5,

TG6 and TG7) and the non-catalytically active erythrocyte band 4.2 (Iismaa, *et al.* 2009) (Table 1.1).



Illustration removed for copyright restrictions

(Iismaa, et al. 2009)

Table 1.1 Functions of members of Transglutaminase (TG) family

Some of the common features seen in each of the members include the lack of glycosylation sites and cysteine bonds in spite of the presence of N-linked glycosylation sites and large numbers of cysteine residues in such proteins. Also, of the TGs, that are secreted, TG2 and Factor XIIIA that are associated with the plasma membrane lack the presence of the N-terminal hydrophobic sequence and are not secreted via the Golgi /ER pathway. The overall primary structure of the TG enzymes varies among the members; however, they all share the same amino acid sequence in the active site (Griffin, *et al.* 2002).

#### 1.1.1 Factor XIII

Factor XIII (FXIII) is a major blood coagulation factor which is a pro-transglutaminase that circulates in the plasma in a tetrameric form (FXIII-A2-B2) (Muszbek, *et al.* 2008). FXIII comprises of two catalytically active A subunits, FXIIIA (~83kDa) and two inhibitor or carrier B subunits, FXIIIB (~80kDa). In the plasma, FXIIIB is found in excess and almost half of this exists in a non-complex free form. Dimers of FXIIIA denoted as FXIIIA2 are present within the cytoplasm of numerous cells such as macrophages and platelets, which is not characteristic of FXIIIB. FXIII is a well-known zymogen, which in its active form (FXIIIA) can function as a transglutaminase that catalyses the formation of  $\varepsilon(\gamma$ -glutamyl) lysyl bonds between polypeptide chains. FXIIIA plays a very important role in the regulation of fibrinolysis and homeostasis as well as in a wide range of physiological and pathological processes (Muszbek, *et al.* 2011).

Factor XIII A forms a dimeric structure (unlike the other transglutaminase members) and comprises of five major structural domains: an activation peptide at the NH<sub>2</sub>- terminal,  $\beta$ sandwich, catalytic core and  $\beta$ -barrel 1 and 2. The monomers of FXIIIA subunit are arranged as a dimeric structure wherein the central core domains are surrounded by  $\beta$ -sheet domains (Facchiano & Facchiano, 2009). On the other hand FXIIIB is a glycoprotein that consists of ten short tandem repeats known as GP1 structures, each containing ~60 amino acids joined together by two internal disulphide bonds (Ichinose, *et al.* 1990).

Pro-FXIII is activated during the late stages of the coagulation process by either  $Ca^{2+}$  or thrombin. Thrombin has been shown to cleave the activated peptide present on the NH2-terminus of FXIIIA, which results in the formation of the active truncated form of FXIIIA, FXIIIa (Muszbek, *et al.* 2011).

Contractile and adhesive proteins as well as components of the fibrinolytic clotting system form protein substrates of FXIIIa. One of the main physiological functions of FXIII in the plasma is the cross linking and incorporation of plasminogen in activator into fibrin, so as to protect it from plasmin. Plasma FXIII is also involved in tissue repair and wound healing. Cellular FXIII, when present on the surface of the cells, can support and maintain homeostatic functions (Torocsik, *et al.* 2005).

FXIIIa has also been demonstrated to limit bacterial infections in the wound and incorporates macromolecules to support cell survival and migration. The complex formed between  $\alpha 5\beta 3$ integrin and VEGF receptor 2 is crucial for formation of granulation tissue and angiogenesis is mediated by FXIIIa. Reduced FXIII levels have been observed in plasma during chronic inflammatory conditions that involve blood loss and subsequent activation of the coagulation cascade (Soendergaard, *et al.* 2013).

#### 1.1.2 Keratinocyte transglutaminase

Keratinocyte Transglutaminase (TG1) is also known as transglutaminase epidermal type 1 and expressed mainly in the stratified squamous epithelia of coverings, the lower female genital tract and the upper digestive tract. Three response elements similar to AP-2, approximately 0.5 kb from the transcription initiation site are promoters of TG1. Proteolytic cleavage, TIG-3 protein and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, activate the catalytic functions of TG1. Phorbol esters are known to induce the expression of TG1 while RA (Retinoic acid) down regulates the expression of TG1 (Mehta, 2005).

Studies done on the time course of TG1 expression after incision on the dorsal skin of neonatal mice has provided great insights into the role of TG1 in cutaneous healing (Inada, *et al.* 2000). Using *in situ* hybridization, TG1 was found to be expressed in the suprabasal keratinocytes next to the wound edge, two hours post the wound and its expression increased in the subsequent hour near the edge of the injury. TG1 is also known to be expressed in the wound site much before the infiltration of leucocytes, which implied that TG1 is essential during very early stages of wound repair and also in preparation for the remodelling of stratum corneum. TG1 is found to be highly expressed in the leading edges of migrating keratinocytes, when reepithelialisation was completed. Within these migrating keratinocytes, the expression of TG1 was seen to be concurrent to its cross linking substrate, involucrin on the plasma membrane (Inada, *et al.* 2000).

The gene encoding TG1 is localized to chromosome 14 q11.2-13, and is reported to comprise of 15 exons and 14 introns. At the tissue level, the localization of TG1 has been identified to the granular layer at the later stages of differentiation using immunochemical and immunohistological methods, while specific antibodies against the N-terminal fragments of TG1 showed that TG1 was also present in the spinous and suprabasal layers (Kim, *et al.* 1992; Steinert, *et al.* 1996). Mutations that include a C-to-T change in the binding site of the transcription factor Sp1 within the promoter region and the Gly143-to-Glu mutation in exon 3, Val382-to-Met mutation in exon 7 of the *TGM1* gene result in autosomal recessive lamellar ichthyosis which is a rare keratinisation disorder of the skin. Patients of this disorder exhibit extremely decreased TG1 activity with an absence of any detectable TG1 polypeptide (Jessen, *et al.* 2000)

#### **1.1.3 Epidermal transglutaminase**

Epidermal transglutaminase or TG3, was first characterised by Buxman and Wuepper in 1975 and purified in 1976, and still is one of the least understood members of the family of TGs (Buxman & Wuepper, 1976). The human TG3 gene is localized into chromosome 20q11-12

(Wang, *et al.* 1994). The sequences that are between the 128 and 91 base pairs upstream of the transcription initiation site represent the proximal promoter region of the *TGM3* gene. The binding of the Ets and Sp1 motifs to their respective cognate binding factors is essential for the transcription of *TGM3* (Mehta, 2005).

The TG3 protein is an intact, latent pro-enzyme with low specific activity and of size, 77kDa. After the cleavage of TG3 into two 30kDa and 47kDa fragments, the enzyme becomes activated by the non-covalent interaction between the two fragments. A recent study done by Cheng *et al.* in 2006, cathepsin L was shown to cleave TG3 *in vitro*. The binding of  $Ca^{2+}$  to TG3 can increase the specific activity of the enzyme, similar to the other TGs (Cheng, *et al.* 2006)

The use of polyclonal antibodies indicated that during the later stages of differentiation, TG3 could be detected in the epidermis (Lee, *et al.* 1996) as well as in the small intestine, testis, brain and fore stomach (Hitomi, *et al.* 1999). Using a monoclonal antibody, the cytoplasmic distribution of TG3 in the cornified and granular layer was enumerated which implied that TG3 played a role in the early phase of cornified cell envelope formation. Activated TG3 can cross link CE (cornified envelope) proteins such as trichohyalin, SPRs 1, 2 and 3 and loricrin which occurs during epidermal terminal differentiation (Hitomi, *et al.* 2003)

TG3 cross links the keratin and trichohyalin intermediate filaments to harden the inner root sheath, which is very crucial for hair fibre morphogenesis. TG3 is also responsible for cell envelope formation during the latter stages of differentiation in the hair follicle and epidermis. The TG3<sup>-/-</sup> mice embryos fail to get implanted which suggested that this gene plays a very pivotal role in the early developmental stages (John, *et al.* 2012). Other studies have also indicated that TG3<sup>-/-</sup> mice developed curled whiskers and fur as well as high protein extractability showing irregular structures in the cross linking of structural hair proteins (Thiebach, *et al.* 2007). TG3 along with TG1 is known to participate in the maturation of the epithelium by catalysing the specific cross linking of numerous structural proteins present in the

cell envelope (SRPs, involucrin, filaggrin, desmoplakin, keratins, loricrin and envoplakin) (Ahvazi, *et al.* 2002).

#### 1.1.4 Prostate transglutaminase (TG4)

Prostate transglutaminase or TG4 was previously known as dorsal prostate protein 1 (DP1) or even androgen regulated major secretary protein because the main site of expression of this protein was in prostatic fluids, seminal plasma and the prostate. The regions between the positions of -113 and -61 base pairs upstream of the *TGM4* gene promoter are very crucial for the core promoter activity. The transcriptional regulation of *TGM4* promoter is the Sp1 binding motif at positions -96 to -87 base pairs upstream. The positions from -1276 to -563 harbour the promoter for a cyclophilin pseudo gene (Mehta, 2005).

The rat homologue of TG4 has been shown to be responsible for the cross linking during the formation of the copulatory plug and also may be involved in sperm cell motility as well as immunogenicity to a certain degree (Davies, *et al.* 2007). Initial studies done showed that TG4 expression was only confined to luminal epithelial cells. The function of this enzyme in prostate cancer cells has been linked to invasiveness and the regulation of the interactions between the endothelial cells and prostate cancer cells (Ablin, *et al.* 2011). Recently, variants of TG4 have also been reported in malignant and benign human prostate tissues (Cho, *et al.* 2010). This molecule has a diverse impact on prostate cancer cell growth, invasion, and migration and also involved in epithelial to mesenchymal transition and tumour-endothelial interaction. TG4 also interacts with other molecular complexes, thus implicating it as a biomarker of aggressive cancer as well as a therapeutic target (Jiang & Ablin, 2011).

#### 1.1.5 Transglutaminases 5, 6 and 7:

Transglutaminase 5 (TGX), Transglutaminase 6 (TGY) and Transglutaminase 7 (TGZ) are the three recently discovered transglutaminases.

Transglutaminase 5 is encoded on human chromosome 15q15.1 (molecular weight 81kDa) and requires proteolytic processing for the activation of TG5 cross linking activity (Pietroni, *et al.* 2008). In cultured keratinocytes, TG5 has been found to be co localized with vimentin during the formation of filament network, when undergoing EMT (Epithelial to Mesenchymal transition) (Candi, *et al.* 2001). Even though TG2 was found to be expressed in numerous adult and foetal tissues, the exact cells that express the proteins in tissues are unknown (Candi, *et al.* 2004). However, the loss of function or mutated forms of TG5 has been reported to be the cause of developing acral peeling of skin syndrome, which implements its role in the formation of cornified cell envelops of keratinocytes (Cassidy, *et al.* 2005).

Similar to TG5, TG6 is also activated by proteolytic processing and comprises of two polypeptide chains which are synthesized as a precursor form consisting of a single polypeptide. TG6 is mainly responsible for the late phases of formation of cell envelop in the hair follicle and epidermis. TG7 is expressed ubiquitously in testis and lung. The transcription level of TG7 has been shown to be increased in breast cancer patients with a poor prognosis (Mehta, 2005).

#### **1.1.6 Erythrocyte band 4.2**

The human erythrocyte band 4.2 is a crucial membrane-associated protein present at approximately 200,000 copies per cell of 72 kDa in size. Band 4.2 is particularly important in normal erythrocyte function as patients who lack band 4.2, are anaemic due to the increased erythrocyte destruction with abnormally shaped and fragile erythrocytes. However, the exact function of band 4.2 in erythrocytes remains unclear. Even though the amino acid sequence homology between tissue transglutaminase and Factor XIIIA spans the regions containing the active sites, band 4.2 has no detectable cross linking activity when tested *in vitro* (Korsgren & Cohen, 1991).

Erythrocyte band 4.2 is known to be one of the major components of the red blood cell member and is located on the interior surface of the cells, where, the protein binds to the cytoplasmic domain of the anion exchange protein, band 3, with high affinity. The gene of human

31 |

erythrocyte protein 4.2 maps to chromosome 15 q15-q21 and contains 13 exons (Najfeld, *et al.* 1992).

The interaction of band 4.2 with ankyrin and spectrin seems to suggest that this protein plays a functional role in stabilizing the links between the cytoskeleton and the over laying membrane. Studies (Mouro-Chanteloup, *et al.* 2003) have also shown that band 4.2 interacts with CD47 which further contributes to the anchoring of the Rh molecule with the RBC skeleton (Dahl, *et al.* 2004). The interaction of band 4.2 with the remaining RBC proteins indicates its importance in maintaining the stability, integrity and flexibility of RBCs. Two isoforms of band 4.2 have been described, a protein fragment of 691 amino acids with a molecular weight of 72kDa encoded for by the short isoform cDNA and a protein of 721 amino acids with a molecular weight of 74kDa encoded for by the long isoform cDNA (Sung, *et al.* 1992; Zhu, *et al.* 1998)

#### **1.2 Tissue Transglutaminase**

Tissue transglutaminase or TG2 is the most ubiquitous member of the TG family. TG2 is a multifunctional protein that is involved in various cellular functions at different cellular locations. In contrast to the other transglutaminase family members, TG2 is involved in diverse roles in living and dying cells because of its different functions (Fesus & Piacentini, 2002).

TG2 is a multifunctional protein and bi-functional enzyme that acts as a transglutaminase in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, but also as a GTPase/ ATPase, protein kinase and protein disulphide isomerase. It is involved in a vast array of cellular processes such as cell migration, survival, growth, adhesion, differentiation, ECM (Extracellular matrix) organization and apoptosis. Such an impact of TG2 in these functions suggests that this protein plays a crucial role in pathological states and physiological responses which contributes greatly toward inflammation, wound healing, tumour growth, metastasis, neurodegeneration, vascular remodelling and fibrosis (Nurminskaya & Belkin, 2012; Wang & Griffin, 2013; Wang & Griffin, 2012)

#### **1.2.1 Structure of TG2**

The nature of the enzymatic activity of TG2 is reliant on the type and amount of binding ligands as well as structural status of the protein (Bergamini, 2007). TG2 has been shown to exist in both open and closed conformation and comprises four sequential domains: β-sandwich at the N-terminal, catalytic core domain and two  $\beta$ -barrels at the C-terminal. The active site is within the catalytic core, formed of Cys277, Asp358 and His 335, present at the base of a cavity and buried under two loops TG2 is a monomeric protein of 685-691 amino acids and has a molecular mass of 76-85kDa. TG2 also entails the same four structural domains as the other TG members. Domain 1 covers amino acids 1-139 and consists of a flexible loop, a short helix, an isolated  $\beta$ -strand, five tightly packed anti-parallel strands in  $\beta$ -sandwich conformation and a another short strand that covers the lower end of the  $\beta$ -sandwich. In the second domain, the peptide chain folds into two more  $\beta$ -strands that are directed downwards and upwards along the core domain. This domain spans amino acids 140-454 and contains Ser 171 and Lys 173 that are required for GTP binding. Four additional  $\beta$ -strands and  $\alpha$ -helixes also span the domain. The first three  $\alpha$ -helixes are arranged in a triangular fashion which contains the active site triad (Cis, His and Asp) whereas the last helix is close to the core domain and is involved in  $Ca^{2+}$ binding activity. Amino acids 454-478 is the site that codes for the isoenzymes specialized function. Domains 3 and 4 are C-terminal domains and are crucial in regulating GTPase and transamidating activity (Griffin, et al. 2002; Nurminskaya & Belkin, 2012; Wang & Griffin, 2013) (Figures 1.2 A & B)

The four distinct domains of TG2 have unique properties. The N-terminal  $\beta$ -sandwich domain contains the binding site for FN and promotes the attachment of cells to the ECM. When induced by Ca<sup>2+,</sup> the catalytic core domain extends and is responsible for cross-linking cellular proteins. The barrel 1 domain contains the GTP/ATP binding site that allows TG2-mediated signalling pathways to proceed. The C-terminal Barrel 2 domain in its GTP bound form can recruit and activate phospholipase C (PLC) and contributes to the pro-inflammatory properties of TG2 (Mehta, *et al.* 2010). More recently, novel TG2 HS binding sites have been identified

which confirmed the interaction between syndecan 4 and matrix bound TG2. This binding site has also been demonstrated to be crucial for regulating the externalization of TG2 into the ECM via a method that involves the shedding of cell surface HS (Wang, *et al.* 2012) (Figure 1.2 C)

(A)

**(B)** 





(C)



**Figure 1.2: Structure of TG2**: (A) TG2 structure in the absence of ligands bound to it. (B) Structure of TG2 (produced by using Rasmol) showing domains 1-4 coloured in Magenta, orange, blue and green respectively. Regulatory loop is coloured red (between Domain 2 and 3),
Active site amino acids forming the triad is in yellow, amino acids involved in Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding in black and those interacting with GTP are in light grey (Chen & Mehta, 1999) (C) Structural and functional domains of TG2 (Mehta, *et al.* 2010)

#### **1.2.2 Cellular distribution of TG2:**

The possible reason that TG2 is engaged in various biological processes is due to its tissue wide distribution. Different cells and tissues constitutively express TG2, while in others, TG2 can be induced as a part of the maturation phase or induced by numerous external stimuli which induce cell stress or wound healing. TG2 is widely distributed in mammalian tissues with high levels found in smooth and vascular endothelial muscle cells (Thomazy & Fesus, 1989).

At the cellular level, majority of the enzyme is present in cellular cytosolic compartments. However, detectable amounts of TG2 are also found associated with subcellular fractions such as the plasma membrane, nuclei, mitochondria and ECM. The mitochondrial location of TG2 is thought not to be related to TG2 activity but to its PDI (protein disulphide isomerase) activity (Krasnikov, *et al.* 2005)

## 1.2.2.1 Cytoplasm

In theory, GTPase activity of TG2 should represent the main function of the enzyme as intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels are low, but TG2 has also been reported to act as a transamidating enzyme by catalysing the cross linking of intracellular proteins when  $Ca^{2+}$  rises (Nicholas, *et al.* 2003). Furthermore, most of the potential substrates of TG2 are all primarily cytoplasmic proteins. TG2 transamidating function can be induced by numerous factors such as ROS, chemokines and growth factors which can increase intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  by driving the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from reserve sources (Facchiano & Facchiano, 2009).

Using a FRET based technique; the conformational changes of TG2 in living cells have also been studied. Significant amounts of TG2 that was shown to be present in the perinuclear recycling compartment (PNRC) had a "closed" conformation. On the other hand, the TG2

located on the cell membrane had an "open" conformation, which is potentially active, catalytically. Moreover, results have also illustrated that when cell membrane TG2 gets internalized, the enzyme accumulates in the PNRC, rather than undergoing degradation. Once apoptosis is induced, the conformation of cytoplasmic TG2 changes and becomes activated, even so, the TG2 present within the endosomes was maintained in the inactive conformation even in the late stages of cell death (Pavlyukov, *et al.* 2012).

Other small molecules can even interact with TG2 and alter the conformation of the protein (Nurminskaya & Belkin, 2012). Initial studies done by Singh & Cerione (1996) in HeLa cells revealed that TG2 was present latent in the cytoplasm as a part of a cytoplasmic complex multiprotein that induced the GTPase function of TG2 (Singh & Cerione, 1996). In the case of EGF induction, a similar result of TG2 shift from the cytoplasm to the cell membrane was observed (Antonyak, et al. 2009). Other than the GTPase and transamidating functions of TG2, the scaffolding functions of the protein have also been documented (Park, et al. 2010). TG2 modulated Rho family of GTPases via a variety of unrelated but distinct mechanisms such as the activation of RhoA in a non-enzymatic manner by integrin cluster mediated by TG2 and the serotonylation of cytosolic Rac1 and RhoA induced by TG2 (Walther, et al. 2011). In addition to this, other cytosolic signalling proteins such as 14-3-3 and PKA/AKAP13 (Lewis, et al. 2005), have been shown to interact with TG2 in the cytoplasm by binding to the PKA produced Ser 216 and pSer 212 residues on TG2 (Mishra & Murphy, 2004). Contradictory findings have also been reported as cytoplasmic TG2 was observed to decrease the activity of adenylyl cyclase activity in fibroblasts, but on the other hand was found to activate the adenylyl cyclase activity in neuroblastoma cells (Tucholski & Johnson, 2003)

## **1.2.2.2 Nuclear**

TG2 can also be translocated into the nucleus with the help of importin- $\alpha$ -3 and studies have even shown that TG2 was localized to the mitochondrial membrane, which has been suggested to be vital in maintaining mitochondria function by regulating the activity of ANT1 activity.

Nuclear TG2 only represents about 5-7% of the total TG2 within a cell. Numerous stimuli such as increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels or cell stress can augment the TG2 concentration in the nucleus (Mehta, *et al.* 2006a/2006b). Increasing evidence is being provided to support the importance of nuclear TG2 in the function of regulating gene expression by either interacting with transcription factors or post translational modification of nuclear proteins such as histones (Mishra, *et al.* 2006), hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (Filiano, *et al.* 2008), Sp1 (Han & Park, 1999), *Rb* and E2F1 (Mishra, *et al.* 2007). Using these mechanisms, TG2 can control the survival, growth, apoptosis and differentiation that are involved in various physiological as well as pathological processes (Kuo, *et al.* 2011).

#### 1.2.2.3 Extracellular matrix (ECM)

Ample evidence is available for the association of TG2 with the plasma membrane. The translocation of TG2 to the plasma membrane takes place by the binding of TG2 to the internal membrane surface, where it is not only adsorbed, but some of it is translocated to the external surface, by a process which is not well understood (Balklava, *et al.* 2002). TG2 lacks the classic hydrophobic leader sequence and so it cannot be secreted by the endoplasmic- Golgi dependent mechanism, even though it has been detected abundantly in the ECM and cell membrane fractions (Gaudry, *et al.* 1999; Stephens, *et al.* 2004). Extracellular TG2 is either retained on the cell surface or deposited into the ECM, which includes interaction with its high affinity binding partners such as FN (Fibronectin) and HS (Heparan sulphate) (Janiak, *et al.* 2006; Collighan & Griffin, 2009).

TG2 has also been identified as an important enzyme involved in matrix turnover. At the cell surface as well as in the matrix, TG2 has been thought to be involved in cell adhesion on FN by acting as an integrin co-receptor (Akimov, *et al.* 2000). FN bound to TG2 via cell surface HS in a manner independent of transamidase activity promotes cell adhesion as well as survival mechanisms. The cell surface heparan sulphate proteoglycan syndecan-4 interacts with TG2 which in turn activates its co-receptors, such as syndecan-2 and  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 integrins. The activation

of  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 involves the activation and binding of PKC $\alpha$  and phosphorylation of FAK and activation of ERK1/2 (Verderio *et al.* 1998) (Wang *et al.* 2010).

#### 1.2.3 Regulation of TG2 expression and activity

Expression of TG2 is controlled by the TG2 promoter and encoded by *TGM2* gene which comprises of 13 exons (Gentile, 1994). Classic CAAT and TATAA regions are present upstream of the open reading frame (ORF) where sequences are present to which Sp-1 and NF $\kappa$ B transcription factors bind (Ai, *et al.* 2012). Also, it has been reported that the TG2 promoter may be highly methylated at the CpG islands, and this specific hyper methylation can silence the *TGM2* gene with respect to tissue differentiation (Ai, *et al.* 2008). Elevated expression of TG2 protein has been demonstrated in smooth muscle, and endothelial cells which are widely distributed throughout all organs (Thomazy & Fesus, 1989). Induction of increased TG2 expression in parenchymal and stromal cells in organs may be due to inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, NF $\kappa$ B, TNF- $\alpha$  and TGF- $\beta$  as well as retinoids and Vitamin D which induce expression due to a response element on the *TGM2* gene promoter (Iismaa, *et al.* 2009).

Numerous heterogeneous factors regulate the activity of TG2, once the protein is expressed. Acting as a G-coupled protein, TG2 binds to GTP and activates phospholipase C which allows transmission of signals from trans-membrane helix receptors (Iismaa, *et al.* 2000). In the presence of high levels of  $Ca^{2+}$ , the GTP/ GDP molecules are released from the TG2 molecule, which inhibits signalling and promotes transamidating activity (Lorand & Graham, 2003). Interaction of TG2 with certain molecules like sphingosylphosphocholine (lyso-SM) can greatly reduce the calcium requirement. In the absence of molecules such as lyso-SM, almost 160µM of  $Ca^{2+}$  was required for TG2 activity which could be achieved at 10µM of  $Ca^{2+}$  in the presence of lyso-SM (Lesort, *et al.* 2000). In the extracellular environment,  $Ca^{2+}$  is present abundantly (approximately 1.2mM), whilst intracellularly, the levels of  $Ca^{2+}$  are very low (approximately 100nM). Generally it was considered that under normal physiological conditions, TG2 is not

active intracellularly due to the low  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations and high GTP. However, recent evidence has come to light which suggests that living cells can induce a decrease in their intracellular GTP levels by almost 20% and up regulate  $Ca^{2+}$  levels by almost 10 fold. Moreover, molecular interactions that take place between TG2 and other factors may render the enzyme sensitive to low concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  (Kiraly, *et al.* 2011)

Another molecule that has a strong influence on the activity of TG2 is NO as almost 15 cysteine residues can be denitrosylated or nitrosylated in a manner dependent on Ca<sup>2+</sup>, which would activate and inhibit the enzyme respectively (Lai, *et al.* 2001; Telci, *et al.* 2009). Induction by RA can modify RhoA, which is a member of Rho GTPases family involved with rearrangements of the cytoskeleton (Singh, *et al.* 2003). TG2 also possesses nuclear localization sequence (NLS) and with the importin  $\alpha$ 3 can translocate into the nucleus (Peng, *et al.* 1999). Even in the nucleus, TG2 can act as a G-protein and transamidating enzyme. In the presence of nuclear Ca<sup>2+</sup>, TG2 can cross link transcriptional factors and histones (Ballestar, *et al.* 2001; Oliverio, *et al.* 1997).

## **1.2.4 Role of TG2 in cell death:**

The multifunctional characteristic of TG2 complicates the role it plays in the complex circuitry of cell survival and death. TG2 can be activated by various apoptotic stimuli and has been reported to play numerous roles in cell death. Early studies reported that TG2 can regulate PCD (programmed cell death) in a caspase-dependent manner (Milakovic, *et al.* 2004; Tucholski & Johnson, 2002). Also, there is evidence that points to the role of TG2 in modulating other modes of controlled cell death. The transamidating activity of TG2 can induce the release of AIF (apoptosis inducing factor) from the mitochondrial compartments of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells and activate apoptosis independent of caspase action (Fok & Mehta, 2007). Similarly, in the same cell lines, TG2 was found to block autophagy (Akar, *et al.* 2007). Another report suggested that in the absence of TG2, autophagosomes could not mature and subsequent acidification does not happen (D'Eletto, *et al.* 2009). More recently, studies have

demonstrated that the transamidating activity of TG2 might be responsible for the final stages of maturation of the autophagosome and so is involved in autophagy (Rossin, *et al.* 2011).

To support the pro apoptotic functions, inhibiting the expression of TG2 in U937 cells in response to apoptotic stimuli prevented death (Oliverio, et al. 1999). It has also been illustrated that in NIH 3T3 cells that have been treated with Calphostin C, TG2 induced apoptosis was induced by TG2 by catalysing the cross linking of DLK (dual leucine zipper bearing kinase), which is a pro apoptosis kinase (Robitaille, et al. 2008). In the pancreatic cancer cell line, Panc-28, Fok & Mehta reported that  $Ca^{2+}$  induced apoptosis was facilitated by TG2 (Fok & Mehta, 2007). Once a cell begins to undergo PCD, TG2 is activated within the cell to cross link intracellular proteins in order to prevent the leakage of the harmful contents of the cell (Nicholas, et al. 2003). This insoluble protein scaffold stabilizes the integrity of the apoptotic cells prior to being cleared by phagocytosis, thus preventing the non-specific release of any harmful intracellular components as well as subsequent inflammatory responses and scar formation in the nearby tissue (De Laurenzi & Melino, 2001). In the later phases of apoptosis, TG2 can be cleaved by caspase 3, which disable the cross linking function of TG2. This implies that there exists a functional relationship between the members of the apoptotic machinery and TG2 (Nanda, et al. 2001). TG2<sup>-/-</sup> knockout mice also appear to have defective clearance of apoptotic cells (De Laurenzi & Melino, 2001). Peptides on the cell membrane derived from the TG2 sequence can cause conformational changes to Bax and result in its translocation into the mitochondria and subsequently release cytochrome c. The mutant of the active site of TG2 (C277S) promoted cell death in U937 and HL-60 cancer cell lines, which suggests that the transamidating function of TG2 is not essentially responsible for the initiation of apoptosis. Instead, the BH3 domain of TG2 has been concerned in inducing apoptosis (Nardacci, et al. 2003) TG2 and Bax have been shown to interact through their BH3 domains (Szondy, et al. 2003). Due to this interaction, at the mitochondrial level, Bax serves as a substrate for TG2. During apoptosis, mitochondria with Bax polymerized by TG2, is clustered in specific cytoplasmic regions, with dense matrix and few cristae. A TG2- dependent shift of

mitochondria occurs to a high polarized state prior to the loss of mitochondrial transmembrane potential. Also, the induction of TG2 by RA in neuroblastoma and adenocarcinoma cell lines sensitized these cancer cell lines to apoptosis due to the hyper polarization of the mitochondria (Szondy, *et al.* 2003). Recently, it has been identified that a pro-apoptotic TG2 isoform, known as TGase-S, that lacks the 3'C-terminal end has been drawn into the cell death process. This isoform is inducible by TNF- $\alpha$  and can be detected in brain tissue derived from patients with Alzheimer disease, where in it promoted apoptosis via the formation of large size oligomers that are toxic to the cell (Antonyak, *et al.* 2006).

In contradiction, TG2 expression has also been shown to protect cells from apoptosis. Rapidly dividing cancer cells are known to over express TG2. Cancer cells isolated from metastatic sites or that exhibit resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs have increased levels of TG2 expression (Chhabra, et al. 2009) TG2 is known to post-translationally modify the Rb protein, which is a vital suppressor of apoptosis (Oliverio, et al. 1997). The TG2/Rb interaction increases tremendously, parallel to a decrease in apoptosis, which is an important aspect of the antiapoptotic effects of TG2. Experiments in which Rb<sup>-/-</sup> fibroblasts were used, demonstrated that Rb is essential for TG2 to reveal anti apoptotic activity in response to RA treatment (Milakovic, et al. 2004). It was also hypothesized that TG2 may protect the tumour cells from apoptosis by nuclear translocation. A controversy still prevails to whether TG2 activity in the nucleus is essential for binding and protecting Rb from degradation during apoptosis. Exposure of TG2 expressing cells to LY29402, the PI3K inhibitor, decreases the ability of TG2 to bind to GTP. This suggests that PI3K regulates the switch between the GTP binding activity and transamidating activity of TG2. The Ras-ERK pathway greatly influences the switch between the pro-apoptotic transamidating activity and pro-survival TG2/GTPase activity (Antonyak, et al. 2003). The binding of GTP is known to convert the enzyme from an open conformation to a closed protein conformation which is able to provide protection against any apoptotic stimuli. The other hypothesis put forward is that the expression of the full length form of TG2 in tumour cells confers protection against apoptosis whereas the expression of a shorter version of

TG2 which is truncated at the 3'end (TGase-S) and does not bind to GTP, is cytotoxic. The TGase-S shows no GTP binding capability, implying that the ability of TG2 to induce cell death is due to the inability of TG2 to bind to GTP (Antonyak, *et al.* 2006).

Thus, the exact mechanisms by which TG2 modulates cell apoptosis or facilitates protection from cell death is specific to cell type and two widely described mechanisms exploited by TG2 are (a) controlling transcription factors either directly or indirectly promote apoptosis or survival and (b) mediating ECM contacts with the cell consequently promoting cell survival cues (Gundemir, *et al.* 2012).

#### **1.2.5 Pathological roles of TG2**

## 1.2.5.1 Coeliac disease:

The post translational modification of proteins catalysed by TG2 can generate auto-antibodies, just as in auto immune disorders such as coeliac disease (CD) (Molberg, *et al.* 2000). Gluten sensitive enteropathy or coeliac disease is a multifactorial chronic disease which is caused by a permanent intolerance to ingested wheat gluten or similar proteins from barley and rye (Kagnoff, 2007). About 1% of the total population of children and adults are affected and the most conventional treatment is a gluten-free diet (GFD) (Kagnoff, 2007)

One of the primary initiators of the inflammatory response to gluten in CD patients is a 33amino acid peptide which is resistant to digestion by enzymes of the small intestinal mucosa of humans, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Shan, *et al.* 2002). As a result of abnormal CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cellinitiated immune response to gluten chronic inflammation develops in the small intestine. This results in villous atrophy as well as flattening of the mucosa (Sollid, 2002). Genes encoding for HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 are strongly associated with the pathology of CD (Sollid, 2000). Intestinal T cells recognize gluten peptides when glutamines are converted into glutamic acid. The deamination of gliadins by TG2, results in an epitope that binds very efficiently to the HLA receptors DQ2. This is recognized by T cells derived from the gut, thus starting the cascade of

inflammation that would consequently lead to mucosal damage (Molberg, 1998). TG2, itself, is an auto-antigen that is characteristic of CD. Patients of CD have high levels of serum antibodies to both gluten and TG2 (Dieterich, 1997). It has been speculated that TG2 can cross link itself to gliadin, resulting in the production of auto antibodies, apart from its deamidation of the gliadin peptide. The generation of anti-TG2 IgA antibodies could also depend on the gliadin specific T cells that are specific to TG2. IgG and IgA anti TG2 antibodies are found in the majority of patients with CD, which makes them a very powerful diagnostic tool (Tommasini, *et al.* 2004). Also, studies done by Myrsky *et al.* (2008) have demonstrated that the coeliac disease specific antibodies that target TG2 interrupted several stages in the angiogenesis cascade. Moreover, these auto antibodies can disorganize the actin cytoskeleton in capillary cell types. Such a disruption in angiogenesis could lead to disturbance of the mucosal vasculature which is observed in coeliac disease patients on a diet that contains gluten (Myrsky, *et al.* 2008)

#### **1.2.5.2 Neurodegeneration:**

Four transglutaminases have been shown to be expressed in brain: TG1, TG2, TG3 (Kim, 1999) and TG6 (Hadjivassiliou, 2008) and TG2 has been implicated in various processes in the peripheral and central nervous systems.

The involvement of transglutaminase in the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease (AD), was initially suggested by Selkoe *et al.* in 1982 (Selkoe, *et al.* 1982). It was also hypothesized that TG2 facilitates the formation of insoluble aggregated amyloid beta (Ab) peptide, which are neurotoxic in an aggregated state (Selkoe, 2000). Studies have shown that TG2 can cross link Ab1-28 (Ikura, *et al.* 1993), Ab1-42 (Dudek & Johnson, 1994) and APP (Ho, *et al.* 1994). Tau protein has also been shown to be an excellent substrate for TG2 both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Research conducted on human specimens indicates that TG2 could be involved in the cross linking of tau, as seen in AD pathology. TG2 activity was almost three fold greater in the prefrontal cortex of AD samples and recent findings seem to indicate that almost a fivefold increase is seen in TG2 in the brains of AD patients that is co-localized with neurofibrillary

tangles (Johnson, *et al.* 1997). These neurofibrillary tangles serve as the sites of  $\gamma$ -glutamyl- $\epsilon$ lysine cross links in AD patients (Citron, *et al.* 2001). It has also been reported that TG2 undergoes alternative splicing in AD brains due to the intron- exon swapping of TG2 mRNA which results in a short and long isoforms (Citron, *et al.* 2002).

Howard Green was the first to suggest that an increase in the number of glutamines beyond a threshold would result in a protein becoming a substrate for TG2 and hence contributed to aggregate formation in Huntington's disease (HD). Studies conducted in vitro confirmed that polyQ peptides were good substrates of TG2, as in the presence of TG2, it forms insoluble aggregates along with the proteins of brain extracts (Kahlem, et al. 1996). It was also demonstrated that Htt proteins with long polyamine expansions, formed cross linked polymers, when incubated in the presence of TG2 (Kahlem, et al. 1998). Even though, TG2 expression and activity levels are increased in HD brains, recent studies have shown that TG2 may not be essential for the formation of Huntington aggregates in the brain. Studies carried out on human neuroblastoma cell line, SH-SY5Y demonstrated that TG2 does not modify Htt, and that even in the absence of TG2, Htt aggregates are formed (Chun, et al. 2001). Experiments done on TG2<sup>-/-</sup> crossed with HD mice, suggests that the formation of the aggregates may not depend on TG2 activity although cell survival may since TG2<sup>-/-</sup> /HD mice showed a considerable delay in the initiation of death and motor dysfunction. It is therefore, currently unclear, if the enzymatic activity of TG2 plays a role in the formation of Htt aggregate formation, and if so, what role it plays in the pathogenesis of HD (Bailey & Johnson, 2005)

## 1.2.5.3 Fibrosis

The pathological process of fibrosis is usually characterized by the accumulation of ECM proteins and fibroblasts that destroy normal tissue function and structure. Numerous organs can be affected by this disease such as kidney, liver and lungs (Wynn, 2007) and TG2 has been implicated to play a regulatory role in most of the above. TG2 can promote fibrosis is several ways due to its multifunctional roles. TG2 has been reported to augment the production as well

as maturation of fibrillar FN in a transamidating-independent manner (Akimov & Belkin, 2001) and increase deposition of collagen both directly via cross linking and by activation of matrix bound TGF  $\beta$ . Moreover, studies done by Chau, *et al.* in 2005, demonstrated that TG2 cross linked collagen had greater resistance to proteases secreted by the cell which results in protection from cell mediated degradation (Chau, et al, 2005)

In the rat and mouse models of liver and kidney fibrosis, TG2 enhances the process. Even in human kidney fibrosis, expression in TG2 is enhanced (Grenard, *et al.* 2001 ; Shweke, *et al.* 2008). Initial studies done on mouse models of renal fibrosis demonstrated that the progress of the disease leads to profound changes in the cellular location, synthesis and subsequent activity of TG2. This causes both intracellular and extracellular changes wherein the enzyme can play a role in cell death as well as in matrix stabilization and deposition that can lead to the activation of TGF- $\beta$ , thus effecting the progression of renal fibrosis. Due to this, TG2 has been implicated as a therapeutic target to control renal scarring and subsequent failure (Johnson, *et al.* 1999). Also, in patients that experienced nephropathies in the tubulointerstitium and glomeruli, an up regulation of insoluble and soluble TG2 was observed. The insoluble TG2 forms were detected extracellularly, while the soluble counterparts were mainly found inside the cell (Johnson, *et al.* 2003). With the use of site directed and irreversible TG2 activity inhibitors, kidney function has been shown to improve and also prevent renal remodelling in rat models of kidney fibrosis and scarring. This further confirmed the role of TG2 as a potential target to prevent scarring of tissue (Johnson, *et al.* 2007).

Using human lung biopsy sections of pulmonary fibrosis patients, cultured primary human lung fibroblasts and mouse models of fibrosis, TG2 has also been reported to play a major role in pulmonary fibroblast characteristics as well as pulmonary fibrosis regulated by TGF- $\beta$  (Olsen, *et al.* 2011). Also, TG2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were protected from the progress of fibrotic lesions in models of obstructive nephropathy. This defence may result in decreased myofibroblast and macrophage infiltration. Reduce rates of collagen I synthesis were also observed due to low levels of TGF- $\beta$  activation (Shweke, *et al.* 2008).

In the case of liver fibrosis, TG2 activity was found to be up regulated and the TG2 mRNA levels were in correlation to the expression of genes related to fibrosis. In knock out TG2 mouse models, hepatic TG2 activity was observed to be significantly low, but on administering TAA or  $CCl_4$ , a pattern of liver fibrosis was revealed. This seems to imply that even though TG2 was increased during progression of hepatic fibrosis, it plays no role in stabilization of the collagen matrix or fibrogenesis (Popov, *et al.* 2011). Literature seems to clearly indicate that evidence provided for the role of TG2 in fibrosis is strong for kidney and lung models of fibrosis while on the other hand; involvement of TG2 in liver fibrosis remains under researched.

## 1.2.5.4 Cancer progression:

The progression of cancer is very similar to inflammatory responses (Mantovani, *et al.* 2008) and conflicting reports have indicated that TG2 may be down regulated or up regulated in the process (Mehta, 2008). In primary tumours, TG2 expression is usually reduced in the phases of tumour progression, while on the other hand, increased TG2 expression is observed in chemoresistant and secondary metastatic tumours (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). A recent study demonstrated that hyper methylation of CpG islands occurred. The CpG islands have been shown to overlap the transcriptional and translation promoter sites of the *TGM2* gene (Ai, *et al.* 2008). In a similar manner, in neuroblastoma cells, over expression of N-myc was illustrated to reduce TG2 expression by the recruitment of HDAC and Sp1 transcription factor to the respective binding sites of the *TGM2* gene promoter (Liu, *et al.* 2007). Also, injecting TG2 into tumours of mice inhibited the growth of CT26 colon carcinoma (Jones, *et al.* 2006).

Conversely, TG2 has been reported to be up regulated in numerous cancers such as ovarian, breast, colon and pancreatic cancers, increasing the invasive potential of tumours and promoting resistance against chemo therapeutic drugs (Wang, *et al.* 2012; Khanna, *et al.* 2011). Coherently, inhibiting TG2 with siRNA or specific TG2 activity inhibitors, reduced tumour cell migration as well as increased sensitivity to cell death induced by chemotherapy (Yuan, *et al.* 2007). At a more molecular level, TG2 is known to be constitutively activated by several pro

survival factors such as FAK/Akt and NFκB (Mehta, 2005). In drug resistant cancers, TG2 is up regulated in mRNA, protein as well as enzyme activity levels. In PC-14 lung cancer cells, Han and Park observed that TG2 expression increased after selection for doxorubicin resistance. Furthermore, inhibiting TG2 confers drug sensitivity to the PC-14 lung cancer cells, which clearly suggested that TG2 played a crucial role in cancer cells acquiring drug resistance (Han & Park, 1999).

#### 1.2.5.4.1 Regulation of cell survival in cancer cells by TG2

Evidence has also been collected to show that intracellular TG2 can act as an anti- as well as pro-apoptotic factor in which the anti-apoptotic activity of TG2 can be attributed to NF $\kappa$ B activation (Mann, *et al.* 2006; Condello, *et al.* 2008). On the other hand, extracellular TG2 has an important role in cell survival because of its interaction with integrins (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007) or syndecans to enhance cell adhesion, thereby rescuing cells from anoikis (Verderio, *et al.* 1998). The role of TG2 has been known to vary depending on the stages of tumour progression as well as its metastatic ability. With regard to proliferation and apoptosis, intracellular TG2 has been related to transmitting anti-growth signals during the growth of the tumour (Birckbichler & Patterson, 1978)

The link between TG2 and apoptosis has been well documented. Augmented expression of TG2 results in rapid cell death or leaves the cell susceptible to agents that induce cell death (Mehta, *et al.* 2004). In contradiction, high TG2 expression can also lengthen cell survival by protecting it from apoptosis. To support this, various experiments have been conducted with drug resistant and metastatic cancer cell lines which have showed high expression of TG2. In fibroblasts, increased TG2 expression is known to protect the cells against apoptosis by retinoic acid. Additionally, TG2 links with the integrin family of proteins which prevents apoptosis (Antonyak, *et al.* 2001; Boehm, *et al.* 2002)

In carcinomas such as breast, pancreatic and non-small cell lung cancer, TG2 is over expressed which in turn are thought to cause activation of NF $\kappa$ B by cross-linking its inhibitor I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . This

is however dependent on the intracellular enzymatic activity of TG2 through its activation by  $Ca^{2+}$  which then proceeds to constitutively activate NF $\kappa$ B. In HL60 leukaemia cells, TG2 promotes cell survival by protecting the *Rb* gene product from caspase induced degradation by its transamidating activity. This results in cell survival. Also, in colon cancer cells, TG2 suppresses apoptosis by cross-linking of caspase-3 which prevents its cleavage and activation. Moreover, this enzyme is involved in attaching epithelial cells to the ECM. This activates 'outside-in' signalling which promotes cell survival (Cao, *et al.* 2008).

## 1.2.5.4.2 Role of TG2 in invasion and adhesion of cancer cells:

A huge amount of evidence has been reported to prove that increased TG2 expression causes enhanced cell attachment and spreading and under expression of TG2 can result in the disruption of these functions. Cell surface TG2 can act to either help or resist cell migration but this difference lies mainly on the composition of the extracellular matrix (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). When cell surface TG2 undergoes proteolytic degradation by membrane type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs) in gliomas and fibrosarcomas, it causes decreased cell adhesion and movement of tumour cells on FN. However, it increases tumour cell motility on collagen matrices because cross-linking of collagen results in increased cell adhesion (Akimov, *et al.* 2000). Studies on NIH 3T3 cell lines have showed that when oncogenes (such as H-Ras and Raf-1) are activated, there is decreased TG2-mediated cell adhesion as TG2 biosynthesis and surface expression decreases (Akimov, *et al.* 2000). TG2 can act as a substrate for c-CAM which is a ubiquitously expressed cell adhesion molecule that slows down tumour growth (Hunter, *et al.* 1998)

#### **1.2.5.4.3 Role of TG2 in angiogenesis during cancer progression:**

Under normal physiological conditions, the TG2 cross linking activity within the cell is suppressed due to the low concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  and lack of nucleotides required for activation. Once TG2 is brought onto the surface it is activated by  $Ca^{2+}$  and via protein cross linking brings about a change in the ECM (Belkin, 2012). The ECM plays an important role in tumour

angiogenesis and tumour cell migration as its main role is to provide mechanical support to tumour cells (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). A stable ECM displays anti-angiogenic properties and can inhibit proliferation and spread of malignant cells mainly due to the collagen cross-linking caused by TG2 (Jones, *et al.* 2006). Experiments have showed that over production of collagen due to TG2 stabilizes the ECM preventing tumour progression. It has also been reported that as primary tumours increase in size, TG2 activity and expression is down regulated. This is known to favour progression of the tumour as the decreased TG2 activity helps disrupt matrix stability aiding angiogenesis and increased spread of tumour cells (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). Increased expression of TG2 in the tissue surrounding tumours can therefore stabilize the ECM and cut off the tumour cells to the rest of the body by inducing fibrosis (Haroon, *et al.* 1999).

Angiogenesis is a very important stage in tumour development as tumour cells require their own blood supply to grow and metastasize (Folkman, 1990). Inhibiting angiogenesis will result in lack of growth and endothelial cell migration. Most of the functions of TG2 seem to be similar to that of angiogenesis involving cell migration, adhesion and ECM stabilization. Even so, the exact role of TG2 in angiogenesis has still not been determined (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). In epithelial cells, the ECM proteins are cross linked by TG2 which is thought to play an important role in stabilization of the basement membrane. However, no vascular abnormalities have been observed in TG2 knockout mice. TG2 was shown to be down regulated in a gene array analysis study to check for gene expression during capillary morphogenesis (Bell, et al. 2001). This could mean that TG2 is not required for the initial stages of angiogenesis such as capillary formation. Since the migration of epithelial cells and formation of blood vessels is dependent on the composition of the endothelial basement membrane, TG2 activity might inhibit the endothelial mobilization process causing increased cell adhesion. TG2 is known to cause a change in the ECM which regulates capillary tube development. With the help of angiogenesis assays, it has been shown that administration of TG2 can stop angiogenesis without causing cell death. This is done by increasing the protein build up in the ECM (Jones, et al. 2006). With all

this evidence, it can be concluded that large amounts of TG2 activity is involved in suppressing angiogenesis in tumour cells.

#### 1.2.5.4.4 Role of TG2 in metastasis of cancer cells

In pathologies such as cancer which is matrix associated, the transamidating and GTP-binding properties of TG2 aid in the proliferation and invasion of malignant cells into the surrounding tissue (Collighan & Griffin, 2009). Experiments undertaken on mutant malignant hamster fibrosarcoma cells have shown that reduced TG2 activity can be correlated to metastasis and growth of tumours (Knight, et al. 1991). The primary tumour undergoes a very rigid selection procedure due to which there is a higher expression in secondary tumours as compared to primary tumours (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). This correlates with the metastasis studies done in human breast cancer, hemangioblastomas and in melanomas (Fok, et al. 2006; Mehta, et al. 2012; Mizoguchi, et al. 1998). TG2 is known to be up regulated in cell lines with high metastatic ability as compared to those with low metastasizing ability (Jiang, et al. 2003). This may in part be attributed to the role TG2 plays in strengthening points of contact for the tumour cells on the sub-endothelial matrix (Kotsakis & Griffin, 2007). Integrin  $\beta$ 1 and Syndecan-4 present on the cell surface is known to form complexes with TG2 present on the cell surface. This interaction is known to facilitate adhesion, spreading and movement of cells (Verderio, et al. 1998). Also, TG2 when deposited in the matrix associates with FN through an RGD independent pathway and this interaction between TG2, integrins, syndecans and FN can cause a higher expression of TG2 in cancer cells resistant to drugs (Herman, et al. 2006).

#### 1.2.5.4.5 Role of TG2 in chemoresistance:

A major obstacle in the successful treatment of cancer is the development of resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs and increased metastatic ability. High levels of TG2 are expressed in cancer cells selected for resistance or isolated from metastatic tumour sites. In breast cancer, TG2 promotes cell survival by associating with members of the integrin family (Herman, *et al.*)

2006). All this gives a clear indication that TG2 is involved in promoting cancer progression and hence makes it of interest as a target for anti-cancer therapy.

A number of studies have demonstrated that there was a key relationship between drug resistance against doxorubicin and expression of TG2. Epigenetic analysis and proteomic profiling studies conducted on breast cancer cells resistant to doxorubicin implicated TG2 as an important target protein that increases doxorubicin resistance (Chekhun, *et al.* 2007; Park, *et al.* 2007). Activation of EGF signalling in breast cancer cells is another mechanism of TG2 induction which contributes towards the oncogenic potential of these cells (Antonyak, *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, in conditions of stress, several pathways and transcription factors can regulate the expression of TG2 (Jang, *et al.* 2010; Mehta, *et al.* 2010).

## 1.2.5.4.6 Role of TG2 in EMT

Recent studies show that Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) is important during progression of diseases such as inflammation, cancer and fibrosis (Sarkar, *et al.* 2009). EMT has been shown to be vital in making cancer cells resistant to drugs and in helping early stage tumours to become more invasive (Thiery, *et al.* 2009). TG2 is also known to be up regulated in tumour cells and to play a crucial role in promoting inflammation and fibrosis. Links have been made between EMT and TG2 to suggest that TG2 participates in tumour progression by regulating EMT. Studies performed on ovarian cancer cells show that high TG2 expression regulates EMT and this increases invasiveness and metastasis of the cancer cells (Shao, *et al.* 2009). TG2 is also responsible for promoting the autonomy of cancer cells from growth regulatory mechanisms and supporting anchorage-independent growth (Mehta, *et al.* 2010).

#### **1.3 Nuclear Factor- kappa B**

 $NF\kappa B$  is a cytoplasmic transcription factor that regulates over 200 genes. It is involved in many cellular and organismal processes including immune and inflammatory responses, developmental processes, cellular growth and apoptosis. It has also been implicated in a large

number of disease states such as cancer, arthritis, chronic inflammation, asthma, neurodegeneration and heart diseases (Beyaert, 2004).

NF $\kappa$ B as a transcription factor has many diverse functions. At the cellular level, the activation of NF $\kappa$ B inhibits programmed and elicited cell death. This protects the cell and allows it to survive. It also induces expression of crucial genes that encode for anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-XL, c-FLIP, A1/Bfl etc. This upholds cell survival and also controls the expression of anti-oxidant genes such as ferritin heavy chain (Lin & Karin, 2003; Pham, *et al.* 2004) and superoxide dismutase 2 that add to its pro-survival functions (Kamata, *et al.* 2005).

## 1.3.1 NF<sub>K</sub>B family members

The NFκB family is composed of five members: p65 or RelA, RelB, cRel, *nfkb1* (p50/p105) which is a combination of p50 and its precursor p105,  $nf\kappa b2$  (p52/p100) which is a complex between p52 and its precursor 100. The inactive precursor, p100 and p105 are inhibitory proteins that maintain the NF $\kappa$ B dimers in the cytosol of a resting cell (Pereira & Oakley, 2008). They have been characterized as such due to the presence of an evolutionarily conserved 300-amino acid Rel Homology Domain (RHD) positioned at their N-terminal ends (Hayden & Ghosh, 2004). Rel-A, Rel-B and c-Rel have transcriptional activation domains (TADs) in their C-terminal ends that allow them to activate target gene expression. On the other hand, nfkbl and *nfkb2* do not contain TADs and so they repress transcription unless they are bound to a protein that has a TAD such as the other three NFkB family members (Hoffmann, et al. 2006). The target genes coded for by NFkB can be classified into four groups: immunoregulatory and inflammatory genes, anti-apoptotic genes, genes that positively regulate cell proliferation and genes that encode for negative regulators of NFkB. All of these groups contribute to tumourigenesis (Karin, *et al.* 2002). The NF $\kappa$ B family members exist as either homodimers or heterodimers bound to the inhibitory family of proteins in an unstimulated cell. The IkB family restricts the translocation of NF $\kappa$ B to the nucleus thereby maintaining it in its inactive state. Members of the IkB family have many copies of a sequence called the ankyrin repeat domains

that cover the nuclear localization sequence of the NF $\kappa$ B members and prevent them from entering into the nucleus (Hayden & Ghosh, 2004)

# **1.3.2 Activation of NFκB**

NFκB is usually present in its latent, inactive form unless stimulated by an environmental response. Through the binding of NFκB to T-cell receptors, B-cell receptors, TNFR, CD40, BAFFR, LTβR and Toll/IL-1R family, the function of various cytokines, growth factors and effector enzymes get regulated. It can also control the expression of genes and factors outside the immune system (Hayden & Ghosh, 2004). NFκB activation is initiated by the signal induced degradation of IκB proteins by the activation of a kinase called the IκB kinase or IKK. The IKK proteins phosphorylated the IκB followed by quick ubiquitin-dependent degradation by the 26S proteosome (Karin & Ben-Neriah, 2001). The IKK is made up of IKKα and IKKβ which are two catalytic subunits as well as IKKγ or NEMO (NFκB essential modulator) which is a vital non-enzymatic regulatory subunit (Lin & Karin, 2003)

When the cell receives any one of a multitude of external stimuli or certain receptors are recognized, NF $\kappa$ B signalling can occur either by the classical pathway (canonical) or the alternate pathway (non-canonical) (Hayden & Ghosh, 2004; Karin, 1999).

**(B)** 



(Hayden & Ghosh, 2004)

## Figure 1.3 (A) Canonical & (B) Non-canonical pathway of NFKB activation

The classical pathway gets activated by cytokines such as IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  or by bacterial products such as LPS or when a ligand binds to one of the TLR super family receptors. Activation of the receptor causes proteins like TRAF to get recruited to the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor. These adaptor proteins cause the activation of the IKK complex which in the canonical pathway consists of one molecule of IKK $\alpha$ , one molecule IKK $\beta$  and two molecules of NEMO. IKK $\beta$  phosphorylates IkB $\alpha$  at serine residues 32 and 36 resulting in poly-ubiquitination followed by degradation by the 26S proteosome. This releases NF $\kappa$ B which is predominantly p50:p65 from its inhibitor IkB $\alpha$  which then translocates into the nucleus and activates the target genes regulated by the  $\kappa$ B sites (Hayden & Ghosh, 2004; Perkins, 2006). Dimers made up of RelA/p65, RelB, cRel and p50 are usually activated by the classical pathway.

The non-canonical pathway activates NF $\kappa$ B complexes of p100/RelB and mainly occurs during the development of lymphoid organs responsible for the production of T and B lymphocytes.

Very few stimuli can activate NF $\kappa$ B through this pathway such as B cell activating factor, Lymphotoxin B and CD40. The IKK complex in this pathway is only made up of two subunits of IKK $\alpha$ . Activation by the ligand stimulates NF $\kappa$ B inducing kinase or NIK which in turn phosphorylates the I $\kappa$ B site of p100 which results in the processing and release of the p52/Rel-B active heterodimer. This active heterodimer translocates into the nucleus and causes target gene expression (Moynagh, 2005).

#### **1.3.3 Significance of NFkB in breast cancer progression**

Numerous studies have demonstrated that in both primary human breast cancer cells and mammary carcinoma cell lines, activation of NF $\kappa$ B is prominent (Cogswell, *et al.* 2000; Sovak, *et al.* 2000). Even so, the exact mechanism that underlies the activation of NF $\kappa$ B has yet to be understood. Almost a decade ago, NF $\kappa$ B was implicated to have an important role to play in driving the progression of breast cancer. The primary subunits of NF $\kappa$ B that are activated in breast cancer cells appears to be p50 and p65 homodimers and heterodimers (Karin, 2006). Studies also reported that breast cancer progression from a hormone-dependent non- metastatic grade to a higher hormone-independent metastatic form was reliant on the elevation of NF $\kappa$ B activity. Moreover, the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B was demonstrated to occur frequently in ER (oestrogen receptor)- negative basal like breast cancer cells (Biswas, *et al.* 2000; Biswas, *et al.* 2004)

In relation with these findings that indicated that NF $\kappa$ B was constitutively activated in metastatic breast cancer, several target genes of the oncogenic transcription factor were activated which would enhance the metastatic and invasive potential of breast cancer cells. For example, IL-8 was illustrated to increase in breast cancer cells *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Wu, *et al.* 2008) and is also increased in the serum of patients who were experiencing breast cancer cell dissemination (Benoy, *et al.* 2004). Another well-known target of NF $\kappa$ B, TNF- $\alpha$  was exhibited to increase the invasiveness when used to treat breast cancer cell lines (Cho, *et al.* 2009; Kim, *et al.* 2008). Finally, IL-6 has also demonstrated to induce motility in breast cancer cells and

proposed to be a negative prognostic marker of metastasis (Knupfer & Preiss, 2007). The involvement of Rel A/ p65 in human carcinomas is still a major subject of debate. Previous studies conducted with antisense oligonucleotides that inhibited Rel A/p65 expression reported that Rel A/ p65 played a role in the neoplastic alteration of transformed cancer cell lines. These studies demonstrated decreased cancer cell adhesion, growth and progression (Rayet & Gelinas, 1999). The over expression of Rel A/ p65 was noted in adenocarcinomas of stomach and breast as well as squamous carcinomas of the neck and head (Mantovani, 2010)

## 1.4 Relationship between tissue transglutaminase (TG2) and NFKB

The over expression of TG2 in several cancer cells is often related to the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Verma & Mehta, 2007a/2007b). Also, inhibiting the activity of TG2 using specific inhibitors resulted in the down regulation of NF $\kappa$ B activity (Cao, *et al.* 2008; Kim, *et al.* 2006). The ability of TG2 to promote activity of NF $\kappa$ B to induce chemoresistance against doxorubicin in breast cancer cells was observed both in EGFR negative and positive cell lines (Kim, *et al.* 2006). In epithelial ovarian cancer cells, combination treatment of TG2 inhibitor, KCC009 and cisplatin, illustrated that TG2 enzymatic activity was responsible in modulating the activity of NF $\kappa$ B and promoting cell survival (Cao, *et al.* 2008).

TG2 has been shown to form a direct complex with NF $\kappa$ B in the cytoplasmic fractions and subsequently modify the affinity of NF $\kappa$ B for I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (Verma & Mehta, 2007a/2007b). I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  has also been described as a substrate for TG2 activity and this association could lead to the formation of an insoluble polymer in the cytosol that is unable to bind to NF $\kappa$ B (Lee, *et al.* 2004). In the nucleus, TG2 can directly form a complex with Rel A/ p65 which is directed to target genes, including *TGM2*, which leads to a positive regulatory feedback loop in doxorubicin resistant breast cancer cell lines (Verma & Mehta, 2007a/2007b). Many hypotheses have been established with regard to interaction between the two proteins and efforts are being made to clearly define the mechanistic detail behind it. Cancer cells selected for being resistant to chemotherapy as well as cancer cells with high metastatic ability show high levels of TG2

expression (Herman, *et al.* 2006). This shows a direct link between TG2 activity, metastasis and drug resistance. This could be suggesting that the presence of TG2 constitutively activates NF $\kappa$ B to confer drug resistance, metastatic and apoptosis evading properties to the cancer cells. Active NF $\kappa$ B in cancer cells prevents the apoptotic response of cells to anti-cancer drugs and radiation. Anti-apoptotic genes are also regulated by NF $\kappa$ B. The process of metastasis involves the movement of cancer cells into, through and out of the blood vessels. Adhesion molecules required for this process are directly linked to NF $\kappa$ B (Karin & Lin, 2002).

There is a high expression of TG2 in many drug-resistant and metastatic forms of cancer. NF $\kappa$ B is also constitutive in numerous hostile and metastatic tumours. With this theory, it could be implied that TG2 plays a role in constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Mann, *et al.* 2006). Experiments have been done where a calcium ionophore was used to increase Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels in cancer cell lines with low and high levels of TG2 and where TG2 was absent. The increase in Ca<sup>2+</sup> brought about increased activity of TG2 in the cell lines which had low and high basal levels of TG2 while the TG2 negative cell lines remained unaffected. When the *in situ* levels of TG2 were measured, there seemed to be a strong correlation with NF $\kappa$ B levels. Increasing the concentration of calcium ionophore seemed to increase NF $\kappa$ B activation. The TG2 negative cell lines had no noticeable NF $\kappa$ B activation. This goes to show that the transamidation activity and high expression of TG2 were crucial for activating NF $\kappa$ B (Mann, *et al.* 2006).

There are various pathways by which NF $\kappa$ B can get activated without IKK activation. NF $\kappa$ B can get activated via the MKK3/6-p38 mitogen activated protein kinase. UV can bring about rapid degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  and mutant I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . Reactive Oxygen intermediates can also activate the NF $\kappa$ B pathway. However, the major IKK $\alpha$ / $\beta$ -independent pathway is the signal dependent lysosomal degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (Lee, *et al.* 2004). In human breast cancer cell lines, it has been shown that the presence of TG2 will increase their resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs such as doxorubicin. Also, a shift in the accumulation of NF $\kappa$ B from the cytosol to the nucleus was observed. Increasing TG2 in these cells also showed an increase in NF $\kappa$ B activation that co-related with low levels of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (Kim, *et al.* 2009). Analysis of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  and TG2 levels in breast

cancer cell lines showed that in the presence of TG2,  $I\kappa B\alpha$  expression was low and vice-versa. Such a low level of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  predominantly indicates the activation and release of NF $\kappa$ B. Western blot analysis conducted for pI $\kappa B\alpha$ , illustrated no expression of this protein, which indicates that I $\kappa B\alpha$  does not deplete because of phosphorylation (Kim, *et al.* 2006)

Mobility shift assays done by Mann, *et al.* in 2006, illustrate that halting TG2 expression would stop the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B. Immunoprecipitation studies done with anti-I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ antibody on TG2 cells showed that I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  formed dimeric forms. Further treating the cells with Ca<sup>2+</sup> increased the formation of dimeric and polymeric I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . Similar results were obtained with TG2- specific inhibitors. This concludes that TG2 is closely associated with I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  and that I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ acts as a substrate for TG2 reactions (Mann, *et al.* 2006).

Even nuclear localization of TG2 with Rel A/p65 has been reported with confocal microscopy. TG2 has properties to serve as a serine-threonine kinase and on the other hand Rel A/p65 undergoes phosphorylation at its serine residues. These results could imply that Rel A/ p65 acts as a possible substrate for TG2 kinase activity (Mann, *et al.* 2006). TG2 transfection studies done by Lee *et al.* (2004) on microglial cells portray increase in NF $\kappa$ B activation. TG2 also seems to activate the NF $\kappa$ B pathway which in turn exacerbates inflammation. Finally, it can be hypothesized that TG2 polymerizes I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  and reduces its binding capacity to NF $\kappa$ B. Numerous stimuli that prompt NF $\kappa$ B activation have common characteristics with stimuli driven by TG2. This goes to show that NF $\kappa$ B and TG2 induce each other (Lee, *et al.* 2004).

In liver cells, TNF- $\alpha$  induces the synthesis of TG2 via the activation of IkB $\alpha$  phosphorylation. This results in NF $\kappa$ B dissociating and becoming active to translocate into the nucleus. Following translocation, it binds to the TG2 promoter and induces its expression. In the similar way, TG2 can also cross link IkB $\alpha$  and cause NF $\kappa$ B activation (Kim, *et al.* 2010). Multiple cancer cell lines acquire resistance to drugs and metastatic ability due to the increased expression of TG2 and NF $\kappa$ B. The signalling of both these molecules is associated with

increased survival of cancer cells and invasiveness. TG2 expression activates FAK and Akt and NFκB down regulates tumour suppressor PTEN (Wang, *et al.* 2012).

Due to the extensive role of TG2 in cancer progression, this protein has been hypothesized to also play a role in EMT. The NF $\kappa$ B, FAK and Akt pathways are known to be closely associated with the modulation of EMT, conferring drug resistance and promoting metastasis (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). NF $\kappa$ B has been shown to induce EMT through the expression of *Zeb1* and *Zeb2* (Chua, *et al.* 2007) as well as by stabilizing Snail and preventing its ubiquitination (Wu, *et al.* 2009). Based on the above observations, it has been reasoned that TG2 induced EMT is due to the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B which has been supported along with increased in *Snail*, *Zeb1* and *Zeb2* expression (Shao, *et al.* 2009).

All of the above studies seem to suggest that there is a deep molecular as well as mechanistic connection between NF $\kappa$ B, TG2 and the cancer progression cascade. Further research on this topic can help reveal valuable information on how to reverse the chemoresistance in breast cancer cells.

# **1.5 Aims of the project**

Previous work suggests that TG2 causes the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B which allows breast cancer cells to exhibit a chemoresistant phenotype against drugs such as doxorubicin. However, the actual mechanism behind the interaction between TG2 and NF $\kappa$ B subunits to elicit a cell survival response and chemoresistance is still not fully understood. The aims of the project are as follows:

(a) To establish a relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells and to verify whether this phenotype can be reversed in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors and specific siRNA.

(b) To study the involvement of TG2 activity on the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B and investigate whether this is an extracellular or intracellular phenomenon.

(c) To characterize the pathway involved in the constitutive activation of  $NF\kappa B$  induced by TG2

(d) To determine the presence of NF $\kappa$ B subunits on the *TGM2* gene promoter, which may contribute to a TG2-NF $\kappa$ B feedback loop in breast cancer cells

# **Chapter 2: Materials and Methods**

# 2. Materials and Methods

# 2.1 Materials

# 2.1.1 Cell lines

The cell lines used in this study were breast cancer cell lines. The MDA MB 231 WT cells were a kind gift from Dr. Stephane Gross (Aston University, UK). The MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells were a kind gift from Dr. Kapil Mehta (Texas University, USA). The MCF7 cell lines was purchased from ATCC (American Type Culture condition). The SKBR3 and T47D cell lines were obtained from Birmingham University, Birmingham, UK. The doxorubicin resistant breast cancer cell lines, MCF7/RT, SKBR3/RT and T47D/RT used in this study were developed by selecting out surviving cells in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin, until the final cell lines were resistant and were able to survive in 1µg/ml of doxorubicin. The complete growth medium that the resistant cell lines were cultured in was always supplemented with doxorubicin, so that the cell lines can maintain their chemoresistant phenotypes.

# 2.1.2 List of antibodies

## Neomarkers, Pierce, UK

- Mouse monoclonal TG2 Antibody (Cub 7402) (1:1000)
- Mouse monoclonal TG2 Antibody (TG100) (1:1000)

# Cell signalling, UK

- Rabbit polyclonal Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000)
- Rabbit polyclonal Rel B antibody (1:1000)
- Rabbit polyclonal c-Rel antibody (1:1000)
- Rabbit polyclonal p100/p52 antibody (1:1000)

# Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

- Rabbit polyclonal E-Cadherin antibody (1:1000)
- Mouse monoclonal N-Cadherin antibody (1:1000)
- Rabbit polyclonal phospho-Serine 536-Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000)

## <u>Santa Cruz, UK</u>

- Rabbit polyclonal p105/p50 antibody (1:500)
- Rabbit polyclonal IκBα antibody (1:1000)
- Mouse  $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody (1:1000)

## <u>Sigma Aldrich, UK</u>

- Rabbit polyclonal Lamin A antibody (1:1000)
- Rabbit polyclonal Fibronectin antibody (1:2000)
- Goat anti-mouse HRP conjugated secondary antibody (1:1000)

## Dako, Denmark

- Swine anti- rabbit HRP conjugated secondary antibody (1:1000)
- Rabbit anti-mouse FITC conjugated secondary antibody (1: 1000)

## 2.1.3 Chemicals

The cell culture media, RPMI-1640 and DMEM was purchased from PAA cell Culture Company. The distilled water (dH<sub>2</sub>O) used in the experiments was obtained from Milli Q water purifier (Millipore/Water, Watford, UK). The chemicals and reagents used in the experiments were obtained from the following companies:

## Zedira, Darmstadt, Germany

- Purified guinea pig liver transglutaminase (gplTG)
- Biotin-X-Cadaverine
- Z-DON-Val-Pro-Leu-OMe (Z-DON)

# <u>Cleaver Scientific Ltd, Rugby, UK</u>

• BLUE Wide Range Pre-stained Protein Ladder

# Bio-Rad, Hemel Hempstead, UK

• Bio-Rad protein assay kit

# Calbiochem (EMB Merck Millipore) , Nottingham, UK

- Genecticin (G418 Sulphate)
- Calpeptin (cell permeable Calpain inhibitor)
- NFκB SN50 : {H-(AAVALLPAVLLALLAPVQRKRQKLMP)-OH} (cell permeable inhibitor peptide)

## Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK

- Tumour Necrosis Factor a (TNF-α)
- Geneticin (G418 Sulphate)
- PS-1145 dihydrochloride (N-(6-Chloro-9H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-8-yl)-3-

pyridinecarboxamide dihydrochloride); IKK inhibitor

## Imgenex, San Diego, USA

- NFkB/SEAPorter Assay kit
- NFkB p65 (Ser 529/536) Inhibitory peptide set : (1mg of lyophilized peptide)
- Inhibitor peptide (DRQIKIWFQNRRMKWKK<u>NGLLSGDEDFSS</u>); Rel A/p65 sequence is underlined
- ✤ Control peptide (DRQIKIWFQNRRMKWKK)

## R&D Systems Europe Ltd., Abingdon, UK

• Human RelA/NFκB p65 ExactaChIP Chromatin IP kit

# Axon Medchem BV, Groningen, Netherlands

 BX795 (Pyrrolidine-1-carboxylic acid [3-(5-iodo-4-{3-[(thiophene-2-carbonyl)amino]-propylamino}-pyrimidin-2-ylamino)-phenyl]-amide); Potent and very specific inhibitor of IKKε

# Vector Laboratories, UK

• Vectashield mounting medium

# Roche Applied Science, Burgess Hill, UK

• Cell Proliferation Kit II (XTT) : Sodium 3'-[1-(phenylamino-carbonyl)-3,4-tetrazoliumbis (4-methoxy-6-nitor) benzene sulfonic acid hydrate reagents

# Life Technologies Ltd/ Invitrogen, Paisley, UK

• Lipofectamine 2000 Transfection Reagent

# <u>Qiagen</u>

- Human TG2 targeting siRNA
- Human Rel A/p65 targeting siRNA.

# **GE Healthcare**

- A and G-Sepharose bead slurry
- ECL Chemiluminiscence development kit

# Aston university, Birmingham, UK

- R283 : 1,3-dimethyl-2[(oxopropyl)thio]imidazolium derivative site directed TG2 irreversible inhibitor which is cell permeable (Balklava, *et al.* 2002)
- R294: non-permeable TG2 inhibitor which is known to block the cross linking activity of cell surface TG2 (Griffin, *et al.* 2008)

# 2.1.4 PCR primers

Gene	Primer sequences	Annealing Temperature
TGM2	Forward	63°C
	5'-ATGAGAAATACCGTGACTGCCTTAC-3'	
	Reverse	
	5'- CAGCTTGCGTTTCTGCTTGG-3'	
	Forward	
	5'- ACGATCTGTTTCCCCTCATC-3'	
Rel A/n65		55°C
	Reverse	
	5'-TGCTTCTCTCCCCAGGAATA-3'	
-кВ site on <i>TGM2</i> gene promoter	Forward	52°C
	5'-TACTTAGGTGGCTCCCTGTCTTC-3'	
	Reverse	
	5'-CCAGATGAAAGGATGGGTTTGG-3'	
	Forward	
p21	Forward	60°C
	5'-CCAGCCCTTGGATGGTTT-3'	
	Reverse	
	5'-GCCTCCTTTCTGTGCCTGA-3'	
GAPDH	Forward	55-60°C
	5'-TGCACCACCAACTTGCTTAGC-3'	
	Reverse	
	3- 00CA100AC101001CA10A0-3	

Table 2.1: List of primers

# 2.1.5 Equipment

## Beckman Coulter Instruments Ltd, High Wycombe, UK

- Spectrophotometer Model DU-7
- Beckman Allegra X-15R centrifuge

## Bio-Rad, Hemel Hempstead, UK

- Glass plates (1.5mm)
- Protein III Minigel Vertical electrophoresis apparatus
- Western blot wet transfer system

## Corning, Staffs, UK

• pH meter

## <u>Sanyo, UK</u>

• CO<sub>2</sub> incubator Model IG150

## Nikon Inc, Badhoevedorp, Netherlands

• Inverted Phase Microscope model TM-100

## Leica Microsystems Ltd, Milton Keynes, UK

- SP5 TCS II MP Leica Laser Confocal Microscope
- DMI4000 B Automated Inverted Leica Fluorescent Microscope

## IMPLEN GmbH, Munchen, Germany

• NanoPhotometer Pearl

## 2.2 METHODS

## 2.2.1 Cell culture techniques

## 2.2.1.1 Culture conditions of cells

The cells used in this project included MDA MB 231 Wild Type, MDA MB 231 Clone 9, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/Wild type, MCF7/ Doxorubicin Resistant (MCF7/RT), SKBR3/Wild Type, SKBR3/ Doxorubicin Resistant (SKBR3/RT), T47D/Wild Type , T47D/Doxorubicin Resistant (T47D/RT) breast cancer cell lines. All of the above mentioned breast cancer cell lines were cultured in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% (v/v) CO2. The MDA MB 231 Wild Type, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were cultured in complete RPMI-1640 containing 10% FBS, 25mM L-Glutamine and penicillin/streptomycin (100U/ml and 100µg/ml respectively) and used for experiments, unless otherwise indicated. The SKBR3/WT, SKBR3/RT, T47D/WT and T47D/RT cells were cultures in completed Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 10% FBS, 1% (v/v) nonessential amino acids and penicillin/streptomycin (100U/ml and 100µg/ml respectively) and used for experiments.

## 2.2.1. 2 Passaging of cell lines

The complete cell culture medium (DMEM or RPMI-1640) and 0.25% (w/v) trypsin were pre warmed prior to use. The adherent confluent (at least 90% confluency) cells were washed once with serum free DMEM or RPMI-1640 to remove dead cells and debris. The cells were then treated with Trypsin for 5 min at 37°C for the cells to detach. The cells were then collected in complete medium (RPMI-1640 or DMEM) to inactivate the trypsin and centrifuged at 300xg for 5 min. The supernatant was then discarded and the cell pellet was resuspended in complete growth medium. Subsequently the cells were seeded into tissue culture flasks to obtain the desired confluency.

## 2.2.1.3 Cell counting using haemocytometer

The cell lines were collected as described in detail in **Section 2.2.1.2**. To count the cells,  $10\mu$ l of each cell line suspension was added into each side of the haemocytometer. Using a phase contrast microscopy on an inverted microscope, the cells were counted in four separate chambers, neglecting the cells present on the top and right corner lines. The cell numbers obtained after counting was multiplied with  $10^4$  to determine the cell number present per ml of the cell suspension.

## 2.2.1.4 Freezing and defrosting of cell lines

The cell lines were trypsinized and counted as described above in **Sections 2.2.1.2 and 2.2.1.3** and subsequently re-suspended in freezing mixture which is composed of 10% (v/v) cell culture grade DMSO in heat inactivated FBS. The cells were then distributed as 1ml aliquots into cryogenic vials and kept at -20°C for 1 h. After this, the cryogenic vials were kept in -80°C for a few days, following which, the vials were transferred into a liquid nitrogen storage container for long term storage.

To defrost the frozen cells, the cryogenic vials of the cell lines in liquid nitrogen were removed and placed in the cell culture incubator at 37°C until the freezing mixture and cells are completely thawed. The cell suspension was then carefully transferred into sterile Falcon tubes and 10 mls of complete growth medium (RPMI-1640 or DMEM) was added drop wise, with gentle mixing after every drop to make sure that the cells were diluted slowly. The cell and medium suspension was then transferred into a tissue culture flask. The medium was changed in the next 12- 24 h and the cell lines were passaged (**Section 2.2.1.2**) at least once prior to using them for an experiment.

## 2.2.1.5 SiRNA transfections

In order to silence the expression of TG2 and Rel A/p65 in the breast cancer cell lines, different small interfering RNA (siRNA) sequences that target human TG2 and Rel A/p65 were obtained from Qiagen. The sequences for the siRNA are listed below:

## TG2 siRNA:

TGM2-1 CCGCGTCGTGACCAACTACAA

TGM2-6 CACAAGGGCGAACCACCTGAA

Rel A/p65 siRNA:

Hs\_RELA\_5 AAGATCAATGGCTACACAG

Hs\_RELA\_7 CCGGATTGAGGAGAAACGT

Hs\_RELA\_8 ATGGAGTACCCTGAGGCTA

The universal negative control siRNA was purchased from Qiagen and used as control treatments. 1nmol of the lyophilized siRNA were dissolved in  $100\mu$ l of sterile, RNase free water to obtain a  $10\mu$ M solution which was stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. The transfections were performed using Lipofectamine 2000 in accordance to the manufacturer's protocol. Prior to transfection, breast cancer cell lines were seeded ( $5x10^{5}$  cells into each well of a 6-well plate and 3000 cells into each well of a 96 well plate) for 24 h to reach 60-70% confluency. Before transfection, the cells were washed with serum free medium and replaced with pre-warmed fresh complete medium. Each siRNA was diluted with serum free medium to reach a final concentration of 100nM. The siRNA and Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent was prepared as directed by the manufacturer by incubating the mixture at room temperature for 15-20 min to form the transfection complex. The complex was then added in a drop wise manner on to the seeded cells with gentle swirling of the plate to make sure that the transfection complex is uniformly distributed (in accordance to manufacturers' instructions). After 48 h of incubating the cells
with the siRNA at 37°C, the cells were used in western blotting, activity and cell viability assays.

#### 2.2.1.6 Cell transfection of TG2 and vector control plasmid

#### 2.2.1.6.1 Kill curves

3000 cells of SKBR3 and MCF7 cell lines were seeded into per well of a 96-well plate and treated with increasing concentrations of G418 (250µg/ml, 500µg/ml, 750µg/ml, 1mg/ml and 1.5 mg/ml). After 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation with the antibiotic, 30µl of XTT reagents (**Section 2.2.13**) mixture was added into each well and incubated with the cells for 4 h at 37°C. The absorbance was read at 490nm and 750 nm with a help of a Spectrafluor plate reader. The absorbances were expressed as absorbance of 490nm-750nm. The percentage of cell viability in the presence of increasing concentrations of the antibiotic was calculated.

# 2.2.1.6.2 Transfection of the breast cancer cell lines with plasmids using Lipofectamine 2000 and selection using G418

The cells were seeded into appropriate tissue culture flasks depending on the experiment to be conducted  $(5x10^5 \text{ cells per well of a 6 well plate and 3000 cells per well of a 96 well plate) and allowed to adhere overnight and reach 70-80% confluency. The next day, the plasmids and Lipofectamine 2000, depending on the tissue culture flasks, were diluted into OptiMEM medium according to the manufacturer's instructions. The diluted Lipofectamine 2000 and diluted plasmid DNA were combined and allowed to incubate at room temperature to for 15-20 min to allow the formation of the transfection complex. The existing growth medium from the wells was aspirated and replaced with fresh pre-warmed complete medium. After the incubation time, the transfection complex was added drop wise on to the cells with gentle swirling. The cells were incubated along with the transfection complex for 48 h after which the clones were selected for further experiments using 500µg/ml of G418 for 48 h. Once transfected with the$ 

71 |

plasmids, the cells were maintained in cell culture medium containing 250  $\mu$ g/ml of G418 for further experiments. The sub cellular fractions of the transfected breast cancer cell lines were collected as detailed in **Section 2.2.2** and the fractions were *analysed* for TG2 and NF $\kappa$ B expression as well as activity.

#### 2.2.2 Preparation of whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of cells

The cell lines were fractionated into the sub cellular fractions (whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions) as established previously (Suzuki, et al. 1999). The breast cancer cell lines were seeded and the cell monolayer was washed once with ice cold PBS after which the cells were collected using a cell scraper into 1 ml of PBS. The cells were then centrifuged at 1500 x g 10 min and washed twice with ice cold PBS. The cells were again centrifuged at 2000 x g for 5min at 4°C and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was re-suspended in 200µl of ice cold Buffer A (1M Hepes/KOH, pH 7.9, 1M KCl, 2mM EDTA, 50mM EGTA, 0.1mM PMSF and 1% (v/v) Protease Inhibitor cocktail) and mixed well by pipetting. The cells in Buffer A were kept on ice for 15 min and then 100 µl of 10% NP-40 was added and vortexed vigorously until the cellular membrane is destroyed. A small amount of the cells and lysis buffer mixture was taken to be used as the whole cell lysate. The samples were then centrifuged at 2500 x g for 5mins at 4°C and the supernatant was collected and used as the cytosolic fraction. The pellet was then re-suspended in 150µl of BL buffer (10mM potassium phosphate, 10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 0.4M LiCl, 0.1% NP-40, 0.1mM PMSF and 1% (v/v) protease cocktail inhibitor) by pipetting and then vortexed for proper mixing after which the samples were left on ice for 15 min. The nuclear fraction is the supernatant collected by centrifugation of the samples at high speed ( $\geq 15,000 \text{ g}$ ) for 1 h at 4°C. The cytosolic and nuclear fractions were analysed for the expression of TG2 and Rel A/p65 by western blot.

#### 2.2.3 Protein Concentration

The protein concentration of the sub cellular extracts were determined using the commercial kit available from Bio-Rad based on the Lowry protein concentration method (Lowry, *et al.* 1951).

72 |

Using BSA as a standard,  $5\mu$ l of BSA at different concentrations (ranging from 0.1-1.5mg/ml) was added to a 96-well plate.  $25\mu$ l of Reagent A was added to the wells followed by  $200\mu$ l of Reagent B and incubated for 15min at room temperature. The absorbance was read at 750nm using a plate reader and the values were plotted as a standard graph to aid in determining the protein concentration of the cell samples.

#### **2.2.4 SDS-PAGE (Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate- Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis)**

After the protein concentration assay (**Section 2.2.3**), the protein extracts that contain the desired amount of protein was dissolved in a 1:1 ratio with 2x strength reducing Laemmli buffer (125mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 20% (v/v) glycerol, 4% (v/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) 2-β-mercaptoethanol and 0.004% bromophenol blue) (Laemmli, *et al.* 1970) and boiled to denature for 5 min and then stored at -80°C until needed to be used or else resolved by the SDS-PAGE method. The gels consisted of a 10% (w/v) polyacrylamide separating gel which contained 0.75M Tris 0.2% (w/v) SDS stock solution, pH 8.8 and 3% (w/v) polyacrylamide stacking gel which consisted of 0.2M Tris 0.2% (w/v) SDS stock solution, pH 6.8. The polymerization of the gels were initiated by the addition of freshly prepared 10% ammonium persulphate and N, N, N', N' - Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED).

The separating and stacking gels were prepared as indicated in the table below. The separating gels ( $80 \times 60 \times 1.5$ mm) were cast using the Atto-mini gel system and isopropanol was poured on top of the gel to fill the gel system and provide the gel with a flattened upper surface. The gels were then allowed to polymerise for 45 min to 1 h at room temperature.

After polymerization of the separating gel, the upper surface was washed thoroughly using distilled water and the edge of the gels were blotted dry. The stacking gels were prepared and poured between the glass plates and either a 10-well comb or 15-well comb was used to form the sample wells. Following polymerization of the gel, the sample well comb was carefully removed and the wells were washed as well as filled with (25mM) Tris- (192mM) Glycine-(0.1% (w/v)) SDS electrode running buffer, pH 8.5. The desired protein concentration was

loaded into each well. Electrophoresis was conducted at 90V through the stacking gel and then 120V through the separating gel until the bromophenol blue tracking dye is seen to reach the bottom of the separating gel.

# **Running buffer (pH 8.5)**

- 25mM Tris
- 192mM Glycine
- 0.1% (w/v) SDS

# **Separating Gel**

	8% gel	10% gel
30% Acrylamide	4.00 ml	5.00 ml
4x Tris HCl/SDS, pH 8.8	3.75 ml	3.75 ml
dH20	7.25 ml	6.25 ml
10% Ammonium	0.05 ml	0.05 ml
Persulphate		
TEMED	0.01 ml	0.01 ml

# **Stacking Gel**

30% Acrylamide	0.65 ml
Tris HCl/SDS, pH6.8	1.25 ml
dH2O	3.05 ml
10% Ammonium Persulphate	0.025 ml
TEMED	0.005 ml

### Table 2.2 Composition of polyacrylamide gels

# 2.2.5 Western Blotting of Proteins

The proteins previously resolved by SDS-PAGE were electrophoretically transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using a Bio-Rad wet blot system as per previously established protocols (Towbin, *et al.* 1979). The fibre pads, nitrocellulose sheets and electroblotting papers were soaked in ice cold transfer buffer. The gel holder cassette was placed open and the filter pads, pre-soaked in transfer buffer were placed on the black coloured surface of the cassette. The wet electrode paper was then placed on the filter pad, on top of which the gel was placed. The soaked nitrocellulose paper was then laid on top of the gel followed by wet electrode paper and finally the second pre-soaked filter pad. A glass roller was used to remove any trapped air bubbles in the set up. The cassettes were then assembled and inserted into the apparatus used for blotting in such a way that the membrane side of the set up faces the anode electrode. The apparatus was then filled with ice cold transfer buffer. The electro-transfer of the proteins in the gel was performed for 2 h at 200mA. The success of the transfer of proteins on to the nitrocellulose membrane was confirmed by the presence of high molecular weight markers on the membrane.

#### Transfer Buffer (pH 9.7)

- 48.8mM Tris
- 39mM glycine
- 20% (v/v) methanol

#### 2.2.6 Immunodevelopment of western blots

After transferring the membranes were stained with Ponceau S stain to make sure that the proteins had been transferred correctly onto the membrane. The membrane is then destained using 1x TBS-Tween. After destaining, the membrane was blocked with 5% blocking buffer (5% Marvel in 1xTBS-Tween) probed with different primary antibodies overnight with shaking at 4°C. The next day, the membrane was washed 4 times for 15 min each and then probed with the suitable secondary antibody for 2 h with shaking at room temperature. The membrane is then washed again with 1x TBS-Tween, 4 times for 15 min each. Immuno-detection of the blots was completed using the Amersham enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECL) system kit in accordance to the manufacturers' protocol. The two reagents, A and B were mixed in an equal ratio and 1ml of the mixture was added onto each blot. After 1 min of incubation the membranes were wrapped in cling film and placed in an autoradiography cassette. The exposure of the blot was performed in a dark room using either Amersham Hyperfilm ECL (GE Healthcare, UK) or Kodak BioMax XAR film (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) exposed to the nitrocellulose membranes for varying time lengths depending on the intensity of the emitted signal The films were then developed using GBX developer and fixer (Sigma-Aldrich, UK), after which the films were extensively washed with water before air-drying.

#### 2.2.7 Stripping and re-probing of nitrocellulose membrane

To make sure that the proteins loaded on the SDS-PAGE gel were equal, the primary and secondary antibodies were taken off from the blot using stripping buffer. The nitrocellulose membranes were immersed in stripping buffer and incubated between 50-60°C for 30min in an

oven, with occasional shaking. The stripping buffer was then discarded and the blots were washed four times (15 min each) with 1x TBS-Tween, pH 7.4 at room temperature with gentle agitation. The membrane was then blocked as described above and primary antibodies that will allow determination is equal protein loading (Anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin and anti-Lamin-A) as well as the appropriate secondary antibodies were applied onto the membrane. The immunodetection of the blots was carried out as described in **Section 2.2.6** using the ECL system.

### **Stripping buffer**

- 65 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.7
- 2% (w/v) SDS
- 100mM 2-mercaptoethanol

# 2.2.8 Co-Immunoprecipitation

The breast cancer cells were seeded into 60mm petridishes ( $1x 10^6$  cells/ dish), and left to become 60-70% confluent. The next day, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with the various inhibitors as per required. The subcellular fractions of the cell lines were collected as described in **Section 2.2.2**. 250µg of subcellular protein was then pre-cleared with 50µl of Protein A- or G- Sepharose bead slurries on a rocking platform by incubation for 2 h at 4°C. The precleared nuclear were then incubated with 0.5µg of the appropriate antibody for 90 min, with gentle shaking on a rocking platform at 4°C. The immune complexes were then precipitated with 50µl of Protein A or G-Sepharose bead slurries overnight at 4°C on a shaker. The next day, the beads were washed with the nuclear lysis buffer and extracted into 30µl of 2x Laemmli sample buffer by boiling for 5 min. Samples were resolved by SDS gel electrophoresis, transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane and then immunoprobed with the target antibodies (**Sections 2.2.4-2.2.6**).

# 2.2.9 Cellular localization of TG2 transamidating activity via incorporation of FITC-Cadaverine

The *in situ* TG2 mediated cross links in the breast cancer cell lines were measured by incorporation of the fluorescent primary amine substrate, FITC-Cadaverine into cells and detected using fluorescent microscopy. The breast cancer cell lines (80,000 cells) were seeded into an 8-well chamber slide and incubated overnight. The next day, the cells were exposed to fresh complete medium that contains 0.5mM fluorescein Cadaverine and incubated for 16 h (Nicholas, *et al.* 2003). Following the incubation, the medium was removed and the cells were washed gently three times with PBS, pH 7.4 and then fixed with pre-chilled methanol (-20°C) and then incubated for 15 min at -20°C. The cells were then washed three times with PBS, pH 7.4 and air dried. Drops of Vectashield mounting medium containing DAPI was added onto the cells and subsequently covered with a cover slip and sealed using nail varnish. The slides were then viewed by automated inverted microscope Leica DM1400B fluorescent microscopy and the resulting images were *analysed* using Leica LAS AF Image browser software.

#### 2.2.10 Detection of TG2 using confocal microscopy after immunocytochemistry

The breast cancer cells were seeded into 8-well glass chamber slides  $(1x10^5$  cells per well) and allowed to attach and become confluent overnight. The next day, the cells were washed thrice (three min per wash) with PBS, pH 7.4. 100µl of 3.7% paraformaldehyde in PBS was added into each well and incubated at 37°C for 20 min to fix the cells. The breast cancer cell lines were then washed with PBS, pH 7.4 three times (three min per wash). 100µl of 0.5% Triton-X-100 in PBS was added into each well and incubated for 15 min to permeablize the cells, after which the cells were washed with PBS, pH 7.4 as describe above. The wells were then blocked with 100µl of 10% horse serum (heat inactivated) in PBS for 2 h at 37°C after which the wells were washed again with PBS, pH 7.4. The mouse anti-human TG2 antibody Cub7402 (1:100 dilution) in 1% horse serum in PBS, at a final volume of 100µl was added into each well and incubated for 45 min at 37°C. The wells were washed thrice with PBS, pH 7.4 (five min per

78 |

wash) and then incubated with the secondary anti-mouse FITC (1:200 dilution) in 1% goat serum in PBS for 45 min at 37°C. The cells were washed thrice with PBS. pH 7.4 (five min per wash) and then rinsed briefly in water. The samples were then air dried after which a drop of DAPI in Vectashield mounting medium was added onto the cells and sealed with a cover slip with the help of nail varnish. The slide was stored in the fridge (4°C) until different fields were captures using SP5 TCS II MP Laser confocal microscope made by Leica Microsystems and the resulting images were analysed using Leica LAS AF Image Browser software.

# 2.2.11 Detection of the cell surface and whole cell lysate TG2 activity via Biotin Cadaverine incorporation into Fibronectin

The transglutaminase activity of TG2 was measured via biotin-cadaverine incorporation into FN as described previously by Jones, et al. in 2006 (Jones, et al. 2006). 50µl of 5 µg/ml of FN in 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4 was used to pre-coat the 96 well plates and left over night at 4°C. After washing the wells three times with 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, the wells were blocked with 3% BSA in PBS, blocking buffer, pH 7.4 for 1 h at 37°C. To determine the cell surface TG2 activity of the breast cancer cells,  $2x10^4$  cells in 100µl of serum free medium was seeded into each well and incubated at 37°C with 5% (v/v) CO<sub>2</sub> for 2 h in the presence of 0.1 mM biotin-Xcadaverine, 1 mM DTT and 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. To measure the whole cell lysate activity of TG2 within the breast cancer cell lines, 50µg of whole cell lysate protein (obtained as described in Section 2.2.2) was diluted in serum free medium to a final volume of 100µl along with 0.1 mM biotin-X-cadaverine, 1mM DTT and 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. 50 ng/well of guinea pig liver TG2 in serum free medium containing 1mM DTT, 0.1 mM biotin-X-cadaverine, 10mM EDTA (negative control) or 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> (positive control) was used as the control samples. After incubation, for 2 h, the reaction was stopped by adding 100µl of 2 mM EDTA in PBS, pH 7.4 into each well and the cells were detached using 100µl of 0.1 % (w/v) deoxycholate in 2mM EDTA in PBS, pH 7.4 for 10 min at room temperature, with gentle shaking. the supernatant was discarded and the remaining fibronectin layer was washed with 50mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, three

times and then blocked with blocking buffer for 30 min at 37°C. The biotin-X- cadaverine incorporated into FN was incubated with Extravidin-peroxidase conjugate (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) diluted in blocking buffer (1:1000) for 1 h at 37°C. The wells were again washed with 50mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, three times and the reaction was developed by the addition of 100µl of developing buffer containing SIGMAFAST OPD (o-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride) tablets in 20mls of distilled water to yield a ready to use buffered solution that contains OPD and urea hydrogen peroxide. The development of colour was terminated using 50µl 3N HCl and the absorbance was read at 490nm using a Spectrafluor plate reader. The results are expressed as percentage of TG2 activity with respect to the positive control samples.

#### 2.2.12 NFkB SEAPorter Assay Kit

The NF $\kappa$ B SEAPorter assay kit has been designed to measure NF $\kappa$ B activation using the SEAP protein secreted into the culture medium as a read out. The concentration of SEAP found in the medium is directly proportional to the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels within the cell lines. The assay kit contains a pNF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid which is known to express the SEAP protein, under the regulation of the NF $\kappa$ B promoter. The NF $\kappa$ B SEAPorter assay was performed as per the manufacturers' protocol (Cullen & Malim, 1992)

#### 2.2.12.1 Cell culture and transfection using the NFkB SEAPorter Assay Kit

Approximately  $5 \times 10^5$  cells were seeded per well of a 6-well tissue culture plate containing 2ml DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, non-essential amino acids. The cells were then incubated at 37°C in a CO<sub>2</sub> cell culture incubator, overnight, so that the cells become 70-80% confluent. The next day, 4µg of plasmid DNA (pNF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid) was diluted into 250µl of serum free medium that contained non-essential amino acids and for each transfection, 10µl of Lipofectamine 2000 was diluted into serum free medium. The two above solutions were mixed and then incubated at room temperature for 15-20 min. The existing medium in the plate was removed and replaced with 1.5ml DMEM with 10% FBS. 500µl of the plasmid-lipid mixture was added onto the plate drop by drop with gentle mixing. The cells were then incubated at

80 |

 $37^{\circ}$ C in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 48 h. After this incubation, the cells were treated with various inhibitors for the desired time course. Subsequent to the treatments, the cell supernatant was collected for the SEAP assay.

#### 2.2.12.2 Measurement of SEAP

The standards of SEAP that were provided with the assay kit were used as the controls and allowed the quantitative measurement of SEAP protein in the 96-well micro titre plate. The supernatant of the transfected samples were diluted (1:10) using the dilution buffer provided along with the kit.  $10\mu$ l of both the SEAP standards and the samples were added into each well in triplicates. Each well containing either a sample or a standard was supplemented with  $10\mu$ l of water. The micro titre plate was then sealed and incubated at 65°C for 30 min to activate any endogenous alkaline phosphatase present in the supernatant. This allowed precise and accurate quantification of SEAP. The plate was then spun briefly to ensure that all of the liquid returned to the bottom of the well.  $100\mu$ l of 1mg/ml PNPP substrate solution was added into each well and incubated at room temperature for 30 min, after which the absorbance reading was taken at 405nm using the Spectafluor plate reader. The results have been represented with respect to the concentration of SEAP (standard) in ng/ml present in the media after accounting for the dilution factor.

#### 2.2.13 Cell viability analysis using XTT Assay

The XTT assay was used to measure the drug sensitivity of the breast cancer cell lines. The XTT assay quantifies the viable cell numbers in the presence of chemotherapeutic drugs such as doxorubicin. The XTT assay is based on the principle that the cleavage of the yellow tetrazolium salt, XTT to form an orange formazen dye only transpires in metabolically viable cells and was performed in accordance to the manufacturers' instructions (Roche Applied Sciences, UK). The formazen dye formed can be directly quantified using a Spectrafluor plate reader. The breast cancer cell lines were seeded into 96- well plates (3000 cells per well) at a volume of 100µl with complete medium and left over night in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C

and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cells were incubated with the relevant treatments for a time course depending on the treatments and cell lines used. To perform the cell proliferation assay, 5 mls of XTT labelling agent was mixed with 0.1ml of electron coupling reagent. After the treatments were performed on the breast cancer cell lines, 30µl of the mixed XTT reagents, at a final concentration of 0.3mg/ml, were added into each well and incubated for 4 h in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Following the incubation period, the formation of orange formazen dye was formed. The absorbance of the samples was measured using a Spectrafluor plate reader. The wavelength used to measure the formazen product is 450m, and the reference wavelength used was 750nm. The background wavelength of 750nm was subtracted from the absorbance values obtained from 450nm. The untreated cell lines were assumed to be 100% viable and the subsequent percentage of viable cells was determined.

#### 2.2.14 TGF-β1 Activity Assay

The relative TGF- $\beta$ 1 activity of the breast cancer cell lines was detected using the Human/ Mouse TGF beta1 ELISA Ready-SET-Go (2nd generation) from eBiosciences. The assay was used to detect the endogenous human TGF beta 1 using the medium supernatant collected (Fantini, *et al.* 2006). A micro-titre 96 well plate was coated with 100µl/well of capture antibody diluted in coating buffer according to the instructions provided with the kit. The plate was then sealed and incubated overnight at 4°C. The next day, the wells were aspirated and washed five times with 1x wash buffer (approximately 250µl of wash buffer per well) and allowed to soak for at least 1 min during each wash and blotted to remove any residual buffer. The wells were then blocked with 200µl/well of 1x assay diluent and incubated at room temperature for 1 h. The wells were then aspirated and washed as per described above. Since animal serum that is used in the culture medium may contain very high levels of latent TGF beta 1, the latent TGF beta 1 was activated to the immunoreactive form by acidification and then neutralized subsequently. For every 100µl of the sample (medium supernatant), 20µl of HCl was added and incubated at room temperature for 10 min and then subsequently

neutralized with 20µl of 1N NaOH, which would dilute the sample to a factor of 1;1:4. 100µl of diluted acid activated sampled was added into wells in triplicates. The standards provided with the assay kit were also diluted using 1x assay diluent and 100µl of the standard was added into the wells. Following this, the plate was sealed and incubated overnight at 4°C to ensure maximum sensitivity of the assay. The next day, the wells were washed five times with 1x wash buffer and 100µl of detection antibody diluted in 1x assay diluent was added into each well and then incubated for 1 h at room temperature. The wells were washed as described previously after which 100µl of Avidin-HRP diluted in 1x Assay diluent was added to each well of the micro titre plate and incubated at room temperature for 30 min The wells were washed 7 times, with a soaking period of 2 min between washed. 100µl of substrate solution was added into each well using 50µl of stop solution. The micro titre plate was then read at 450nm.

#### 2.2.15 Polymerase chain reaction

#### 2.2.15.1 Preparation of RNA

TRIZOL Reagent was purchased from Invitrogen (Life Technologies) and used to rapidly isolate the total RNA from adherent cell monolayer as instructed in the manufacturers' protocol (Chomczynski & Mackey, 1995). Approximately, 5x10<sup>6</sup> breast cancer cell lines were seeded per well into 6-well plates and allowed to become 80-90% confluent. Once the required confluency was attained, the cell monolayer was washed once with ice cold PBS. The cells were lysed directly in the tissue culture dish by adding 1 ml of TRIZOL reagent and scraped with the cell scraper. The cell solution in TRIZOL was passed several times through a pipette and vortexed thoroughly. To the cell lysate, 0.2 mls of chloroform was added and vortexed vigorously for 15 seconds after which the samples were incubated for 2 to 3 min at room temperature. The samples were then centrifuged at 12,000x g for 15 min using a refrigerated centrifuge (4°C). Subsequent to centrifugation, the lysate separates into a colourless upper aqueous phase, an interphase and the red phenol-chloroform phase which is the lower phase.

83 |

The RNA that needs to be extracted is present in the aqueous phase, exclusively. The upper aqueous phase was carefully separated and collected in a fresh tube. The volume of the aqueous phase was measured and mixed with 0.5 mls of isopropyl alcohol and used to precipitate the RNA. The samples were then incubated between 20-30°C for 10 min and then centrifuged at 12,000x g for 10 min in a refrigerated centrifuge (4°C). The RNA precipitated is seen as a gel like pellet on the side of the tube. Following centrifugation, the supernatant was completely discarded and the RNA pellet was washed once with 1ml of 75% ethanol. The samples were vortexed and again centrifuged at 7,500x g for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the ethanol wash step was repeated once more. The RNA pellet was then air dried for 15 min and then subsequently dissolved in DEPC-treated RNase free water by gentle pipetting. The dissolved RNA samples were analysed spectrophotometrically using a Nanophotometer (IMPLEN, Munchen, Germany) to determine the purity of the RNA (A260/A280) obtained as well as the concentration of RNA in the sample.

#### 2.2.15.2 Setting up of PCR

After the extraction of RNA from the breast cancer cell lines, the PCR reaction was performed using Taq PCR Core kit from Qiagen according to the manufacturer's instructions. The solutions were initially kept on ice after being thawed completely. The reaction mix for the PCR was made up as:

- PCR buffer 5µl (1x)
- Forward Primer 0.5µM
- Reverse Primer 0.5µM
- dNTP mix 1µl (200µM)
- Taq DNA polymerase 0.25µl (2.5 units/ reaction)
- Template DNA 100ng
- Distilled water to make the final reaction volume 50µl

All of the solutions, with exception of the template DNA was mixed depending on the number of PCR reactions that need to be conducted. The master mix was mixed thoroughly by pipetting and then distributed among pre-chilled PCR tubes. The template DNA was then added into the individual PCR tubes that contained the master mix. A typical PCR thermal cycler program was set up as described in the table below:

Denaturation	15 min	95°C
Annealing	1 min	Depending on the primers used (Table 2.2)
Extension	1 min	72°C
Number of cycles	40 cycles	
Final extension	10 min	72°C
Hold	Infinite time	4°C

 Table 2.3 Typical PCR program set up

The samples were always analysed in triplicate. After the PCR reaction was performed, the PCR samples were mixed with the loading dye and run on a 1.5% agarose gel in TAE buffer and analysed by gel electrophoresis.

# 2.2.16 Human Rel A Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP assay) is a very useful technique to identify target genes of specific transcription factors, study mechanisms of gene expression and categorize proteins that regulate transcription as well as genetic networks. This assay will allow determination if a particular DNA-protein interaction is present at a certain location, time point and treatment conditions. According to the manufacturers' instructions the DNA-protein complexes were fixed using formaldehyde cross linking, the chromatin was sheared by sonication and the protein-DNA complex of interest was immunoprecipitated using specific antibodies. The DNA bound to protein fragments were then identified by PCR (Solomon & Varshavsky, 1985)

#### 2.2.16.1 Assay procedure

The ChIP assay was performed to determine the interaction between the dimeric Rel A/p65 forms and DNA. The breast cancer cells were seeded into 60mm petridishes and left to become 80-90% confluent. Once the cells reached the desired confluency, the cells were fixed by adding 37% (w/v) formaldehyde to a 1% (w/v) final concentration (40µl of formaldehyde for 1ml of complete media) and the samples were kept on the shaker for 15 min at room temperature. The formaldehyde was quenched by adding 1 M glycine to a final concentration of 125 mM (141µl of glycine for 1 ml of complete media). The samples were kept on the shaker for 5 min at room temperature, pelleted and the media was removed. The cell pellet was resuspended in 500 µl of Lysis Buffer, resuspended by pipetting and then incubated on ice for 10 min. The samples were then sonicated to shear chromatin (Output 3, 10 cycles, and 30 seconds "ON", samples on ice for 2 min before next cycle). The lysates were then centrifuged for 10 min at 12,000 x g at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant was collected and the pellet was discarded. The supernatant by diluted adding 1 mL of Dilution Buffer and 5 µl of the Anti-RelA Antibody or Normal Sheep IgG (control) to the samples and incubated overnight at 4°C on the shaker. The next day 50µl Protein A-Sepharose bead slurry was added to the samples and incubated for 30 min at 4°C with gentle shaking. The beads were then collected by centrifugation at 12,000 x g for 1 min. A series of washes were then performed with the four wash buffers provided with the assay kit by adding 1ml of the wash buffer into the beads and pipetting up and down between each wash. The beads were then collected by centrifugation at 12,000xg for 1 min. After the last wash,  $100\mu$ l of Chelating Resin Solution was added directly to the beads and boiled for 10 min in a water bath. The samples were then centrifuged at 12,000xg for 1 min at room temperature and the supernatant was transferred into a clean tube. The final volume of the samples collected was approximately 60-80µl. To clean up and concentrate the obtained DNA, 0.1 volumes of 3M sodium acetate buffer solution, pH5.2 and 0.7 volumes of isopropanol was added to collected samples. The samples were mixed well and centrifuged at 15,000xg for 30 min after which the supernatant was discarded. The DNA pellet was then rinsed in 1.5ml of 70% ethanol and

centrifuged as previously for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was air dried until it was free of ethanol. The DNA pellet was then resuspended in 100µl of endotoxin free water and the concentration and purity of the ChIP samples was determined using a Nano Photometer.

# **2.2.16.2 PCR analysis of ChIP samples**

The protein-DNA complexes obtained from chromatin immunoprecipitation were used in subsequent PCR reactions with appropriately designed primers. The p21 promoter primers provided along with the kit was used as the positive control. The PCR was carried out for the -  $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter and *GAPDH* as specified in **Section 2.2.15.2**.

# 2.2.17 Statistical analysis

Any statistically significant differences between data sets in experiments were calculated using ANOVA and *post hoc* tests were performed on the significant data

# Chapter 3: Relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells

# 3. Relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells

# **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

Metastasis and chemoresistance are known to be the major hurdles in the successful treatment of breast cancer. A very common feature in metastatic and drug resistant tumour cells is that they display amplified resistance to apoptosis. Chemotherapy is a crucial component in the treatment regime for breast cancers. Despite a rapid reduction in tumour mass subsequent to chemotherapeutic cycles, cancers may persist and develop distal metastasis afterwards (Gong, *et al.* 2010). Data exists supporting the hypothesis that the expression of particular oncogenes or aberrant expression of tumour suppressor genes encourages aggressiveness, tumour cell growth and also relative expression of drug resistance. In addition, metastatic cancers demonstrate elevated resistance to radiation and drug therapies than their primary tumour counterparts (Fesik, 2005). Understanding the molecular factors responsible for chemoresistance and metastasis of breast cancer cells is therefore essential for the development of successful and novel therapeutic approaches.

It is very reasonable to contemplate that the over expression of TG2 signifies a link between metastatic and chemoresistant tumour cells. Many cancer cell lines, such as malignant melanoma, glioma, lung adenocarcinoma, breast carcinoma, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, prostate carcinoma, ovarian carcinoma and prostate carcinoma, chosen for drug resistance, express high levels of TG2 (Verma & Mehta, 2007a). In the same way, metastatic cancer cells derived from patients with malignant melanoma (Fok, *et al.* 2006), breast cancer (Mehta, *et al.* 2004) and ovarian cancer (Hwang, *et al.* 2008); demonstrate a considerable increase in TG2 levels over their primary tumour cells. Reduction of or inhibiting TG2 in cancer cells has been demonstrated to be concurrent with susceptibility to cell death induced by chemotherapeutic drugs and also inhibit invasion (Yuan, *et al.* 2007). In parallel with these results, increased expression of TG2 in ovarian carcinoma enhanced cell adhesion to FN and promoted cell

#### Chapter 3: Relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells

migration (Satpathy, *et al.* 2007). In ovarian cancer patients, increased TG2 expression in tumour cell samples was associated with considerably worse prognosis in both multivariate and univariate analysis (Hwang, *et al.* 2008). Increased expression of TG2 in pancreatic tumour cells has been related to lymphovascular invasion and nodal metastasis (Verma, *et al.* 2006). All of the above findings indicated that presence of TG2 in cancer cells was abnormal and concerned with promoting a metastatic and a chemoresistant phenotype.

Previous studies undertaken have shown that drug resistance and metastatic breast cancer cells, expressed very high levels of TG2 which may imply that TG2 contributes to the development of a chemoresistant phenotype. A further understanding of TG2 mediated cellular interactions with the ECM and the signalling pathways induced in response to any such interaction may provide new targets for the treatment and intervention of metastatic and chemoresistant breast cancers (Mangala, *et al.* 2007)

Ai *et al.* in 2008 hypothesized that the epigenetic silencing of the *TGM2* gene in breast cancer cells could serve as a marker for chemotherapeutic drug sensitivity (Ai, *et al.* 2008). The down regulation of TG2 using siRNA or antisense resulted in the reversal of chemoresistance, while the ectopic expression conferred resistance to drugs in melanoma, glioblastoma, ovarian and breast cancer cells (Verma & Mehta, 2007a). TG2 expression can protect cancer cells from both apoptosis and autophagy. Inhibiting TG2 expression using siRNA could also result in the induction of autophagy in cancer cell lines and eventually cell death. Inhibiting the PKC8 activity by siRNA or rottlerin has been associated with a parallel decrease in the expression of TG2 and induction of autophagy in pancreatic cancer cells (Akar, *et al.* 2007)

The aim of the work contained in this chapter was to identify the potential involvement of TG2 expression and activity in chemoresistance against doxorubicin in breast cancer cells. Further studies were conducted to find out whether supplementing chemotherapeutic agents with TG2 cross linking inhibitors or silencing TG2 expression could decrease the chemoresistance phenotype.

### **3.2 METHODS:**

#### 3.2.1 TG2 whole cell lysate and cell surface activity assay

Cells  $(2x10^4 \text{ cells/ml} \text{ and add } 100\mu\text{l/well})$  or  $50\mu\text{g}$  of whole cell lysate protein, along with 0.1mM Biotin-X- Cadaverine, 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> or 10mM EDTA and 1mM DTT was seeded into 96-well plates pre-coated with  $5\mu\text{g/ml}$  of Fibronectin and allowed to incubate for 2 h at  $37^{\circ}$ C. The TG2 whole cell lysate and cell surface activity of the breast cancer cells in the presence of inhibitors was measured as detailed above (Section 2.2.11).

### 3.2.2 In situ TG2 activity using FITC-Cadaverine incorporation:

To investigate the *in situ* TG2 activity within the breast cancer cells with varying expressions of TG2, FITC Cadaverine was incorporated into the breast cancer cell lines and then subsequently analysed using Fluorescence microscopy (**Section 2.2.9**)

#### **3.2.3 Immunostaining of TG2:**

The breast cancer cells were stained using anti-TG2 Cub 7402 antibody (1:100) and anti-mouse FITC (1:200) secondary antibody was used. The cells were then subsequently analysed using confocal microscope (**Section 2.2.10**)

#### 3.2.4 Cell viability analysis:

Breast cancer cell lines treated with TG2 inhibitors (R283, R294 and Z-DON) or TG2 siRNA and doxorubicin for time points of 24, 48 and 72 h culture periods were incubated with XTT reagents (Roche, UK) and the signals were detected using plate reader at 490 and 750 nm (background reading, which was erased from the absorbance 490nm) as described in detail in **Section 2.2.13**.

#### 3.2.5 SiRNA transfection:

TG2 specific targeting siRNA was used to inhibit the expression of TG2 in breast cancer cells using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) as the transfection reagent. Two different siRNA sequences that targeted human TG2 was obtained from Qiagen. The sequences are listed below:

TGM2-1 CCGCGTCGTGACCAACTACAA (denoted as (i))

TGM2-6 CACAAGGGCGAACCACCTGAA (denoted as (ii))

A stock of lyophilized siRNA was dissolved in 100µl of sterile RNase-free water to obtain a 10µM solution and then stored at -20°C. The transfections were performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Prior to transfection, breast cancer cells, were seeded into plates overnight to reach a confluency of 70-80%. The next day, the cells were washed with serum free medium and replaced with pre- warmed fresh complete growth medium. The siRNA were diluted in serum free medium to reach a final concentration of 100nM. After pre-incubation with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) for 10-15 min, the transfection complex containing Lipofectamine 2000 and TG2 siRNA was added drop wise onto the cells seeded in the plates, along with gentle swirling to make sure that the transfection complex is uniformly distributed. 48 h after transfection, further experiments were performed on the cell lines.

#### **3.2. 6 Detection of siRNA transfection efficiency:**

After 48 h of incubation with TG2 targeting siRNA or negative control siRNA with breast cancer cells, the whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were collected and the protein concentration was detected as described in **Sections 2.2.2-2.2.3**. Western blotting was conducted to detect the presence of TG2 using mouse anti-TG2 monoclonal antibody (Cub 7402) (1:1000) and anti-mouse secondary antibody (1:1000) dilution (**Sections 2.2.4-2.2.6**). Signals were detected using ECL system kit.

# 3.3 **RESULTS**:

# 3.3.1 Development of doxorubicin resistant cell lines

# **3.3.1.1** Cell viability analysis of TG2 null breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin

The TG2-null MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT breast cancer cell lines were treated with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and 1 $\mu$ g/ml) in 96-well plates for time points of 24, 48 and 72 h. The XTT assay which is designed to spectrophotometrically quantify viable cell numbers on treating the cells with cytotoxic agents was applied as described previously in **Section 2.2.13**.

Earlier studies have shown that low or null- TG2 breast cancer cell lines were more chemo susceptible to even very low concentrations of doxorubicin (Verma & Mehta, 2007a/2007b).In agreement, the MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT breast cancer cell lines were demonstrated to be chemosusceptible to doxorubicin which might be attributed to the absence of endogenous TG2 in these breast cancer cell lines.

Treating the MCF7 cells with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin, demonstrated an initial decrease in the viability of the cells over the treatment time period (Figure 3.1 A). Initially, the susceptibility of the T47D to  $0.25\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin was less compared to the SKBR3 cells; however successive increases in the concentration of doxorubicin to  $0.5\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin rendered both the T47D and SKBR3 breast cancer cell lines equally susceptible to the chemotherapeutic agent (Figure 3.1 B & C).



**(B)** 

SKBR3 cells



(C)



Figure 3.1 Cell viability analysis of MCF7/WT (A), SKBR3/WT (B) and T47D/WT (C) cells in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin.

The MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT cells (3000 cells/ well of a 96 well plate) were treated with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and  $1\mu$ g/ml). After 4, 48 and 272 h of incubation with doxorubicin, the XTT assay was performed and the absorbance was read at 490nm as well as 750nm using a Spectrafluor plate reader (as introduced in Section 2.2.13). The data shown above is mean percentage of viable cells + SEM with respect to the untreated cells (taken as 100% viability) of independent experiments (n=3).

#### Chapter 3: Relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells

# **3.3.1.2** Western Blot analysis of TG2 in the presence of increasing concentration of doxorubicin

The MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT were cultured initially in the lowest concentration (0.25µg/ml) of doxorubicin and half of the surviving cells were lysed and separated into their cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions and the rest of the cells were grown in the next increasing concentration of doxorubicin (0.5µg/ml). This was repeated until the final cells obtained were resistant and able to survive in 1µg/ml of doxorubicin. The surviving cells in 1µg/ml of doxorubicin were termed MCF7/RT, SKBR3/RT and T47D/RT. The cellular fractions collected were *analysed* by Western Blotting using anti-TG2 antibody (Cub 7402; TG100) (1:1000) as described in Section 2.2.4-2.2.6. The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells that are known to express high levels of TG2 were used as the positive control for the western blot experiments.

The western blot data indicated a clear gradual increase in the TG2 expression observed in the MCF- cells (Figure 3.2 A). The cytoplasmic fractions of the MCF7 cells treated with the initial concentrations of  $(0.25\mu g/ml)$  doxorubicin demonstrated no detectable TG2 expression, which was similar to the parental MCF7 cell line. From concentrations of  $0.5\mu g/ml$  onwards, the expression of TG2 was observed. The MCF7 cells resistant to  $1\mu g/ml$  of doxorubicin (MCF7/RT), showed significant TG2 expression. This seems to suggest that in the presence of escalating concentrations of doxorubicin, chemoresistance of the breast cancer cell lines increased in the MCF7 breast cancer cell line concurrent with increase in TG2 levels. These results suggest that TG2 may be responsible for rendering MCF7 cells resistant to chemotherapeutic agents such as doxorubicin.

With the SKBR3 cells, no detectable TG2 expression was observed in the cell lines obtained when resistant up to  $0.75\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin. The SKBR3/RT cells that are resistant to  $1\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin (Figure 3.2 B), demonstrated a slight expression of TG2 in their cytoplasmic fractions. On the other hand, the T47D cells that are resistant to  $1\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin showed no increase in their TG2 expression (Figure 3.2 C). This could suggest that the mechanism of chemoresistance within the T47D/RT cell line functions via a pathway that is

### Chapter 3: Relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells

independent of TG2 activity and expression. The above findings seem to indicate the mechanism of chemoresistance inculcated by TG2 in breast cancer cell lines may be dependent on numerous other cell characteristics and could be specific to cell type. Also, since TG2 expression in the SKBR3 cells was only observed at 1µg/ml but the MCF7 cells increased their TG2 expression at lower concentrations (0.5µg/ml) of doxorubicin, other survival pathways might also be at play in these SKBR3 cells cultured in low concentrations of doxorubicin.

(A)



Figure 3.2 Detection of TG2 expression in MCF7, SKBR3 and T47D cells cultured in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin using western blot

The MCF7 (A), SKBR3 (B) and T47D (C)  $(2x10^{6} \text{ cells}/ 100 \text{mm petridish})$  were cultured from the lowest to the highest concentration of doxorubicin, where the surviving cells from the lower doxorubicin concentrations were subsequently cultured in higher concentrations, until the final

# Chapter 3: Relationship between TG2 and chemoresistance in breast cancer cells

surviving wild type breast cancer cells were resistant to 1µg/ml of doxorubicin (Section 3.3.1). The cells were then fractionated into the whole cell lysate fractions (Section 2.2.2) and analysed by western blotting and detected using anti-TG2 antibody (Cub 7402; TG100) (1:1000) and anti-α-Tubulin for equal loading. The positive control used in the experiments was MDA MB 231 Clone16 cells, which are known to express very high levels of TG2 protein (Mehta, et al. 2004). **3.3.2** Chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines have high TG2 expression and activity

# **3.3.2.1** Detection of cell surface and whole cell lysate TG2 activity in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors

Cells surface and whole cell lysate TG2 activity was measured using the Biotin-X- Cadaverine incorporation assay as described in **Section 2.2.11**. The MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, T47D/WT and T47D/RT lack TG2 activity in their whole cell lysates. The MDA MB 231 Clone 9 (Mehta, *et al.* 2004) and SKBR3/RT cells illustrated very low whole cell lysate TG2 activity, while the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (Mehta *et al.* 2004) and MCF7/RT cells demonstrated fairly high WCL TG2 activity. Treating the TG2-null breast cancer cell lines with TG2 activity cell permeable inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON as well as cell impermeable inhibitor, R294, did not show any change in the TG2 activity status in these cells. The SKBR3/RT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells, on being treated with the above TG2 inhibitors, displayed a decrease in TG2 whole cell lysate activity (Figure 3.3).

With respect to the cell surface TG2 activity of these breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 9, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, SKBR3/RT, T47D/WT and T47D/RT illustrate no detectable TG2 activity on their cell surface, which is concurrent with the TG2 whole cell lysate activity data obtained (Figure 3.4)

The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells that demonstrated high TG2 whole cell lysate activity also had cell surface TG2 activity. As depicted in Figure 3.4, treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells with R283, R294 and Z-DON, led to a significant decrease, in the cell surface TG2 activity of the Clone 16 cells. On the other hand, no detectable cell surface TG2 activity was observed in the MCF7/RT cells (Figure 3.4)



Figure 3.3 Detection of TG2 activity in whole cell lysates of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors.

The levels of TG2 activity was analysed by Biotin-X- Cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin. The breast cancer cell lines were treated with the TG2 inhibitors, R283 (500 $\mu$ M), R294 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) for 72h and analysed as described in Section 2.2.11. The positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken as 100% TG2 activity (1.1893 ± 0.12739). Data shown is the mean percentage of TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments, with respect to the positive control (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01 between untreated and inhibitor treated cells. # p<0.01 between cell groups.



Figure 3.4 Detection of cell surface TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines.

The breast cancer cell lines were analysed for the cell surface TG2 activity in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors as described in Section 2.2.11. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.21874±0.19475). Data shown is the mean percentage of TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments, with respect to the positive control (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01 between untreated and inhibitor treated cells.

# **3.3.2.2** Detection of TG2 expression in breast cancer cells after exposure toTG2 activity inhibitors

The breast cancer cell lines were treated with TG2 inhibitors, R283, R294 and Z-DON, after which the whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the cells were collected as described in Section 2.2.2. 50µg of protein of each fraction was collected using Lowry protein concentration (Section 2.2.3) and analysed by Western Blot using anti-TG2 antibody (Cub 7402; TG100) to determine TG2 expression levels with the breast cancer cells. The MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT cells did not exhibit any TG2 protein expression in their whole cell lysate fractions (Figures 3.5). The MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 illustrate low and high expression of TG2 respectively in their whole cell lysate fractions (Figure 3.5). On treating the TG2 expressing cells with the cell permeable activity inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, a significant decrease was observed in the cytoplasmic TG2 expression of these breast cancer cells (Figure 3.6). The cell impermeable inhibitor, R294, failed to change the expression of TG2 in the TG2 expressing breast cancer cells lines. The MCF7/RT cell lines (that were derived as explained in Section 3.3.1), also illustrated TG2 expression, which on being treated with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON) decreased significantly, while the cell impermeable inhibitor, R294, did not affect the expression of TG2. The SKBR3/RT and MDA MB 231 Clone 9 cells that demonstrated low TG2 expression, also showed a decrease in TG2 expression levels, on being treated with R283 and Z-DON (Figure 3.6). A time course dependent treatment of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells with R283 and Z-DON exhibited a decrease in TG2 expression, following 48 h of treatment. This pattern continues onto the 72 h treated samples (Figure 3.7). These results may suggest that the decrease in TG2 expression in the high TG2 breast cancer cells, on being treated with TG2 cell permeable inhibitors, could be as a result of inhibiting TG2 activity within the cells.



Figure 3.5 Western blot detection of TG2 expression in breast cancer cell lines.

The MDA MB 231 WT, Clone 9 and Clone 16 (A), MCF7/WT (C), SKBR3/WT (E) and T47D/WT (G) cells were seeded into 60mm petridishes ( $1x10^6$  cells/ plate) and allowed to become confluent after which the whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were collected (Section 2.2.2) and analysed for TG2 expression using Cub 7402 (1:1000) and TG100 (1:1000) (A, C, E & G) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (B, D, F & H) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is represented as the mean densitometry of three blots + SEM. \* p<0.05.



Figure 3.6 Treatment of TG2 expressing breast cancer cells with TG2 activity inhibitors

The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (A), MCF7/RT (C), SKBR3/RT (E) and MDA MB 231 Clone 9 (G) cells were treated with R283, Z-DON and R294 for a time course of 72 h after which the whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cells were collected (Section 2.2.2) and analysed for the TG2 expression levels by western blotting using anti-TG2 antibody (Cub 7402; TG100) (1:1000). Anti-α-Tubulin was used as the equal loading marker. (A, C, E & G) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (B,

**D**, **F** & **H**) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is represented as the mean densitometry of three blots + SEM, \*p < 0.05


Figure 3.7 Detection of TG2 expressions in MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells on treatment with TG2 inhibitors over a time course

The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells  $(1x10^6 \text{ wells/ dish of 60mm petridish})$  were treated with R283 (500µM) and Z-DON (50µM) and after time points of 12, 24, 48 and 72 h, the whole cell lysate fractions of the Clone 16 cells were collected as introduced in Section 2.2.2 for the protein expression of TG2 using Cub 7402 (1:1000). Lane 1 represents Untreated cells, Lane 2 represents cells treated with TG2 inhibitor for 12 h, Lane 3 represents treatment time course of 24 h, Lane 4 represents treatment time course of 48 h and Lane 5 represents treatment time course of 72 h. The membranes were subsequently analysed using anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin to ensure equal loading of protein. (**A&C**) The western blot data shown is a representation of three individual experiments (n=3). (**B&D**) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is represented as the mean densitometry of three blots + SEM. \* p<0.05.

## **3.3.2.3** Detection of TG2 *in situ* activity by FITC-Cadaverine Incorporation and Fluorescent microscopy.

In order to investigate the location of the TG2 activity within these breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were incubated with 0.5mM FITC-Cadaverine for 16 h in 8-well chamber slides. The fluorescent signals were detected using the fluorescence microscope as described in **Section 2.2.9**. As shown in Figure 3.8, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells showed high TG2 activity. The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT illustrated no measurable fluorescent signal.



### Figure 3.8 Cellular localization of TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines using fluorescent microscopy

The cellular localization of TG2 in MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells was analysed by FITC- Cadaverine incorporation into cells. The live cells were

incubated with FITC- Cadaverine for 16 h and subsequently analysed by fluorescence microscopy (Section 2.2.9) (n=3)

#### 3.3.2.4 Detection of TG2 using Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy

The cellular localization of TG2 within the breast cancer cell lines were further investigated using anti-TG2 (Cub7402) and secondary anti-mouse FITC conjugated antibody as described in detail previously in **Section 2.2.10**. The distribution of TG2 protein with the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF/RT was detected using confocal microscopy. No fluorescence signal was detected in the MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells and an equal distribution of TG2 antigen was illustrated in the cytoplasmic fraction of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines with no detectable TG2 seen in the nucleus (Figure 3.9)



Figure 3.9 Cellular localization of TG2 protein expression in breast cancer cells using confocal microscopy

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were stained as described in Section 2.2.10. 1x10<sup>5</sup> cells were seeded into 8-well chamber slides overnight. The next day the cells were fixed and blocked, subsequently after which the cells were incubated with primary anti-TG2 (Cub7402) (1:100) for 45 min and secondary mouse anti-FITC (1:200)

for 45 min at 37°C. The slides were then mounted with Vectashield mounting medium containing DAPI after which the fluorescent signals were detected using laser confocal microscopy (n=3).

### 3.3.2.5 Cell viability analysis of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin

To decipher the relationship between TG2 activity and chemoresistance in breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 9, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, T47D/WT and their respective resistant cell lines, MCF7/RT, SKBR3/RT, and T47D/RT that were derived as described in detail in **Section 3.3.1** were cultured in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (0.25- 1µg/ml) and then with 1µg/ml of doxorubicin along with the TG2 cell permeable inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON as well as the cell impermeable, R294 for a time course of 72 h. A dose-dependent decrease was observed in the cell viability of all the breast cancer cells, however, the TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines clearly seemed to be more chemoresistant to doxorubicin than the low TG2 expressing and TG2 null breast cancer cell lines (Figure 3.10).

The susceptibility of these breast cancer cell lines varied according to their relative expressions of TG2. The MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, T47D/WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 9 cells demonstrated low cell viability in the presence of doxorubicin due to the lack of or low TG2 expression and activity (Figure 3.10). On the other hand, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT cells that expressed high TG2 activity, showed higher cell viability as compared to the MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/RT cells, on being treated with 1µg/ml of doxorubicin. Treatment of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells with R283 and Z-DON caused a significant decrease in the cell viabilities of the high TG2 expressing cell lines. R294, the cell impermeable inhibitor did not show any considerable decrease in the cell viability of the Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells as compared to the cell permeable inhibitors (Figure 3.11).

The SKBR3/RT cells showed very low TG2 expression in the presence of  $1\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin and subsequent treatment of the cells surviving in  $1\mu$ g/ml doxorubicin in combination with cell permeable TG2 inhibitors did however show a significant decrease in cell viability. The T47D/RT cells did not show any TG2 expression even in the presence of

doxorubicin and, combination treatments of the cells with TG2 inhibitors and doxorubicin, did not show any decrease in the cell viability of T47D/RT cells (Figure 3.11)

This could imply that TG2 activity caused the MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and SKBR3/RT cells to become more resistant to doxorubicin. Using cell permeable TG2 inhibitors that targeted the activity of TG2, the chemoresistance of these breast cancer cell lines against doxorubicin could be reduced. High TG2 activity causes these breast cancer cells to become more resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs such as doxorubicin. This also shows a positive correlation between chemoresistance and TG2 activity/ expression levels.



Figure 3.10 Cell viability analyses of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin

The breast cancer cells were seeded (3000 cells per well) into 96 well plates and treated over a time course of 72 h and treated with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and  $l\mu g/ml$ ). After the treatment time course, the cells were analysed by using XTT reagents and the relative absorbance was detected as 490nm and 750nm. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. \* p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01.

(A)



**(B)** 





The breast cancer cells (3000 cells per well of 96 well plate) were treated with doxorubicin (1µg/ml) as well as TG2 inhibitors (R283 {500µM}, R294 {500µM} and Z-DON {50µM}). After 72 h of treatment, the cell viability of the breast cancer cells were detected by XTT analysis and the absorbance was measured at 490 nm and 750 nm. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.01 between untreated and treated cells; # p<0.01 between cell groups.

## 3.3.2.6 Cell viability analysis of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of cisplatin

The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells have been shown to be resistant to doxorubicin, as depicted in Figure 3.10. To verify whether the increased TG2 activity and expression within these cells would confer chemoresistance to other chemotherapeutic agents, the cell viability of these breast cancer cell lines in the presence of cisplatin was tested .

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT were treated with increasing concentrations ( $0.25\mu g/ml$ ,  $0.5\mu g/ml$  and  $1\mu g/ml$ ) of cisplatin for time courses of 24 and 48 h. The cell viability of the breast cancer cells was detected as described previously in **Section 2.2.13**.

Even though the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells were shown to have resistance against doxorubicin, treatment with only 0.25µg/ml of cisplatin for a time period of 24 h showed extremely low cell survival rates. The TG2-null MCF7/WT and MDA MB 231 WT cells were also very susceptible to treatment with low concentrations of cisplatin. As the results indicated, the high TG2 and TG2-null cells illustrated similar susceptibility to cisplatin, suggesting that chemoresistance against cisplatin in these breast cancer cell lines may be independent of TG2 expression and activity (Figure 3.12).

**(A)** 



**(B)** 





The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells (3000 cells / well in a 96 well plate) were treated with increasing concentrations of cisplatin (0.25, 0.5,  $l\mu g/ml$ ) over a time course. After 24 h and 48 h, the cell viability of the breast cancer cells were analysed by XTT analysis as introduced in Section 2.2.13. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3).

#### 3.3.3 Inhibition of TG2 using TG2 specific siRNA

## **3.3.3.1** Susceptibility of breast cancer cell lines treated with TG2 specific siRNA in the presence of doxorubicin

To verify whether decreasing the expression of TG2 in breast cancer cell lines conferred them more susceptible to doxorubicin, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were treated with doxorubicin  $(1\mu g/ml)$  after transfection with TG2 specific siRNA. The viable cells were determined using the XTT assay as detailed above in **Section 2.2.13**. As illustrated in Figure 3.13, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells demonstrated a significant decrease in their cell viable numbers, on being treated with a combination of doxorubicin. Decreasing the expression of TG2 using TG2 specific siRNA, resulted in the decrease of the chemoresistance against doxorubicin in the high TG2 expressing cell lines.



Figure 3.13 Cell viability of breast cancer cells after treatment with doxorubicin and TG2-specific siRNA

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT (3000 cells per well of 96 well plate) cells were treated with TG2 specific siRNA for 48 h (final concentration of 100nm) and doxorubicin (1µg/ml) for a time course of 72 h after which the viable cells were detected using XTT analysis. Global negative siRNA control was used as the negative control. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.01 between cells transfected and nontransfected with siRNA in the presence of doxorubicin. #p<0.05 between cell groups. 3.3.3.2 TG2 expression and activity decreases on treating the breast cancer cell lines with TG2 siRNA2

#### **3.3.3.2.1** The inhibitory effect of TG2 targeting siRNA on TG2 expression

TG2 specific targeting siRNA were used to inhibit the expression of TG2 in the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, and MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines as introduced in **Section 3.2.5**. After 48 h of incubation with the siRNA (final concentration of 100nM), the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were collected and Western blotting was performed to detect the presence of TG2 antigen in the cellular fractions (**Sections 2.2.2-2.2.6**). As shown, no effect of the control global negative siRNA was found on the expression of TG2. Treating the TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines with TGM2-6 (ii) and TGM2-1 (i) exhibited significant reduction in the endogenous TG2 expression of these breast cancer cell lines (Figure 3.14).



Figure 3.14 Analysis of the expression of TG2 in MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells in the presence of different TG2 specific siRNA.

The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells were  $(5x10^5 \text{ cells/well})$  seeded into 6- well plates and treated with TG2 specific siRNA (final concentration of 100nM) for 48 h, after which the cytoplasmic fractions of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells were analysed for the relative TG2 expression. Global negative siRNA was used as the negative control. Anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin was used as the marker for equal loading of protein. (A&C) The western blot data shown is representative of three independent experiments (n=3). (B&D) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is the mean densitometry of three blots + SEM. \* p<0.05.

3.3.3.2.2 The inhibitory effect of TG2 targeting siRNA on TG2 whole cell lysate activity.

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were *analysed* for differences in the TG2 activity in their whole cell lysate on being treated for 48 h with various TG2 specific siRNA as described previously in **Section 3.2.5**. The TGM2-6 (iii) demonstrated the most significant decrease in the whole cell lysate TG2 activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells, followed by TGM2-1 (i), which seems to be consistent with the decrease in the TG2 expression within these cells as showed in the western blot (Figure 3.15). These results suggest that inhibiting the expression of TG2 using TG2 specific siRNA consequently reduces the whole cell lysate TG2 activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines.



#### siRNA

The whole cell lysates of MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT after treatment with 100nM of TG2 specific siRNA for 48 h were collected and analysed for the TG2 activity as described in Section 2.2.11 by Biotin-X- Cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.29574±0.199473). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05 between cells transfected and non-transfected with siRNA. # p<0.05 between cell groups.

#### 3.3.4 Transfection of TG2 plasmid into TG2-null breast cancer cell lines

#### 3.3.4.1 Susceptibility of MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT cells to G418

Previous studies have shown that when TG2-null cell lines were transfected with TG2, their chemoresistance against chemotherapeutic drugs increased significantly (Verma A, 2006) To verify this, the TG2 null MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT breast cancer cell lines were transiently transfected with TG2 plasmid and a Vector control plasmid. For the establishment of the transiently transfected cell lines, MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT cell lines were cultured in a range of G418 concentrations (250µg/ml, 500µg/ml,750µg/ml, 1mg/ml and1.5mg/ml) and used to identify the lowest possible concentration that would induce at least about 80% of cell death within 48-72 h as introduced in Section 2.2.1.6. The resulting killing curve suggested that the concentration of 500µg/ml of G418 was the optimal concentration for the selection of MCF7 and SKBR3 TG2 containing clones (Figure 3.16)



Figure 3.16 The effect of G418 on TG2 null MCF7 and SKBR3 cell proliferation illustrated via XTT assay.

The TG2-null MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT cells (3000 cells per well of 96 well plate) were cultured with increasing concentrations of G418 ( $250\mu$ g/ml,  $500\mu$ g/ml,  $750\mu$ g/ml, 1mg/ml and 1.5 mg/ml). After 24 h, 48 h and 72 h of incubation with G418, XTT assay was conducted and absorbance was measured at 490nm and 750nm using a plate reader. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3).

### **3.3.4.2** Transfecting breast cancer cell lines with TG2 plasmid increased TG2 activity and expression.

The MCF7 and SKBR3 cells were transiently transfected with TG2 and empty vector control as introduced in **Section 2.2.1.6** and grown in cell medium supplemented with 500µg/ml of G418 to select the transfected cells. For all subsequent experiments performed, the transfected cells were maintained with 250µg/ml of G418 in the cell culture medium. The effect of the transfection was studied by detecting the levels of TG2 expression via Western Blotting. In the MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, MCF7 and SKBR3 cells transfected with empty vector plasmid, TG2 antigen was not detected by Western Blot in the cytoplasmic fractions as demonstrated in Figure 3.17. After transfecting the cells with TG2 carrying plasmid, high levels of TG2 antigen was detected using a TG2 specific (TG100) monoclonal antibody against TG2. These results prove the successful establishment of the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cell lines, which provide an ideal model to investigate the role of endogenous TG2 in the chemoresistant process against doxorubicin, since the potential influence of exogenous TG2 was ruled out in the previous Section. The SKBR3 cells transfected with the TG2 plasmid were also treated with cell permeable inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON. Both the cell permeable inhibitors knocked down TG2 expression significantly in these cell lines (Figure 3.18)

In order to confirm the results from the Western blotting of the presence of the TG2 antigen within the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3, whole cell lysate TG2 activity was measured via the biotinylated cadaverine incorporation assay as described in **Section 2.2.11**. As illustrated in Figure 3.19, the whole cell lysate TG2 activity was only detected in the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells but not in the MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT cells, which further confirmed the presence of TG2 activity due to the expression of TG2 plasmid in the MCF7 and SKBR3 breast cancer cell lines. Moreover, treating the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells with TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, showed a significant decrease in the TG2 expression as well as TG2 activity within these breast cancer cell lines. These results clearly suggest that the transfection of TG2 plasmid into TG2-null MCF7 and SKBR3 cells resulted in

the endogenous expression and activity of TG2 in the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 3.17 Detection of TG2 in TG2 transfected MCF7 (A) and SKBR3 (C) cells by western blot

Western blotting was conducted with the cytoplasmic (C) and nuclear (N) fractions to confirm the presence of TG2 in the TG2 and empty vector transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells using Lipofectamine as described in Section 2.2.1.6. The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to check for equal loading of protein. (**A&C**) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B&D**) Densitometry analysis was performed using Image J and is represented as the mean densitometry of three blots + SEM. \* p < 0.05.



Figure 3.18 Detection of TG2 in the TG2 transfected SKBR3 cells on being treated with TG2 inhibitors by Western blot

Western blotting was conducted on the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the TG2 and Vector plasmid transfected cells, treated with TG2 inhibitors, R283 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) for 72 h. The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to check for equal loading of protein. (**A**) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B**) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is represented as the mean densitometry of three blots  $\pm$  SE. \* p<0.05.



Figure 3.19 Detection of whole cell lysate TG2 activity in MCF7 and SKBR3 transfected breast cancer cell lines.

The establishment of the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells was accomplished as mentioned in Section 2.2.1.6. The whole cell lysate TG2 activity of these breast cancer cells was measured via Biotin-X-Cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.38136±0.23753). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.01 between TG2 plasmid transfected cells untreated and treated with TG2 inhibitors. # p<0.01 between non transfected and TG2 plasmid transfected cells.

#### 3.3.4.3 TG2 transfected breast cancer cell lines are more resistant to doxorubicin

The effect of TG2 expression and activity on the chemoresistant nature of breast cancer cell lines was investigated using TG2 transfected SKBR3 cells lines, while the empty vector transfected cells were used as the control group. As shown in Figure 3.20, transfecting TG2 into SKBR3 cell lines seems to increase the chemoresistance against increasing concentrations of doxorubicin. Treating the TG2 transfected SKBR3 with the TG2 activity inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, demonstrated significant decrease in the viable cells in the presence of 1µg/ml of doxorubicin (Figure 3.20). These results indicate that the presence of endogenous TG2 expression is sufficient to confer chemoresistance to breast cancer cell lines and that treating these transfected cell lines with TG2 cell permeable inhibitors, facilitates the cell lines susceptible to chemotherapeutic drugs such as doxorubicin. This further suggests that the presence of TG2 confers chemoresistance to these breast cancer cell lines against doxorubicin.



Figure 3.20 Detection of cell viability of TG2-null SKBR3 and MCF7 cells after transfection with TG2

The SKBR3 cells (3000 cells / well in a 96 well plate) that were transfected as previously described (Section 2.2.1.6) were analysed by XTT in the presence of doxorubicin ( $1\mu g/ml$ ) along with the cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 (250 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (25 $\mu$ M) to check for chemoresistant nature of the TG2 transfected cells. These transfected cells were then subsequently analysed by the XTT assay. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. \* p<0.01 between TG2 plasmid transfected cells treated with and without inhibitors in the presence of doxorubicin.

#### **3.4 DISCUSSION**

Tumour progression and drug resistance creates a key clinical obstacle in the treatment of breast cancer. Understanding the molecular mechanisms that underlie the development of the metastatic phenotype and drug resistance is crucial for the development of effective therapies against breast cancer treatment (Mehta, *et al.* 2004). The above findings provide evidence that TG2 expression and activity is up-regulated in drug resistant breast cancer cells. Therefore, increased expression and activity of TG2 may serve as a prognostic marker for drug resistant tumours and play an important role in the establishment of these phenotypes.

The MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells were derived from the parental MDA MB 231 as described previously by Mehta *et al.* (2004). The MDA MB 231 WT cells did not express any TG2 while the clones, MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and MDA MB 231 Clone 16, isolated from the metastatic parent cell line MDA MB 231, display low and high TG2 expression respectively. It should be noted that the MDA MB 231 WT cells obtained from Aston University did not express any endogenous TG2 which was contradictory to the results published by Mehta *et al.* in 2004 (Mehta, *et al.* 2004). However, the chemosensitive nature of these MDA MB 231 WT cells in the presence of doxorubicin was similar to what was observed by Mehta *et al.* (Mehta, *et al.* 2004). Following treatment with the TG2 cell permeable inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON), a clear and significant decrease was observed in the endogenous TG2 expression, of the high TG2 and chemoresistant breast cancer cell line. This is agreement with the data obtained from the Biotin -X- Cadaverine Incorporation assay, where the inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, illustrated significant reduction in the TG2 whole cell lysate and cell surface activity of MDA MB 231 Clone 16.

The MCF7/RT cell line was derived from the parental MCF7/WT cells by culturing the TG2null cell line in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin (0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and  $1\mu$ g/ml). The MCF7 cells illustrate an increase in TG2 expression, as the cells begin to gain resistance to 0.75 µg/ml of doxorubicin. The TG2 expression further increases when the doxorubicin concentration was increased to  $1\mu$ g/ml, thus ensuring that the MCF7/RT cell lines

derived did express significant levels of TG2 protein expression as well as TG2 whole cell lysate activity. Similar to the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells, the MCF7/RT cells also, became more susceptible to doxorubicin treatment, on being treated with the cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors. This chemosusceptible nature of the MCF7/RT cells could be attributed to the decrease observed in the endogenous TG2 expression and activity levels.

MDA MB231 and MCF7 breast cancer cell lines are adenocarcinomas that are cancers of the epithelial tissue that originated from the mammary gland. The MDA MB 231 breast cancer cell line was derived from a metastatic carcinoma, while the MCF7 cell line was derived from an *in situ* carcinoma, which has not yet invaded surrounding tissue (Alkhalaf & El-Mowafy, 2003). Clinically, studies have shown that cancers of the MDA MB 231 cell line is much harder to treat as compared to the MCF7 cell line as the MDA MB 231 cells are more resistant to chemotherapy and even grow exponentially faster. Also, the MCF7 cell line expresses both oestrogen as well as progesterone receptors, which is absent in the MDA MB 231 breast cancer cells (Sorlie, *et al.* 2009). Similar to the MDA MB 231 and MCF7 breast cancer cell lines, the SKBR3 breast cancer cell line is also an adenocarcinoma derived from metastatic sites. Contrary to the above three breast cancer cells, the T47D cell line is of ductal carcinoma origin (Trempe, 1976). This could account for the difference in chemoresistance patterns as well as TG2 expression between the T47D and the other three breast cancer cell lines.

It should be further noted that the expression of endogenous TG2 protein and activity in the chemoresistant breast cancer cells, was confined to the cytoplasmic fraction of these cells. This was verified using *in situ* FITC-cadaverine incorporation and immunocytochemistry for TG2 antigen respectively. The majority of the TG2 activity and expression observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells, was localized to the cytoplasmic fractions with no TG2 activity or expression detected in the nuclear fractions

The SKBR3/RT and T47D/RT breast cancer cell lines were derived from the parent SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT using the same method as the MCF7/RT cell lines were obtained.

The SKBR3 cell line does not express any TG2, till the cell lines show resistance to  $1\mu g/ml$  of doxorubicin. The SKBR3 cells resistant to doxorubicin concentrations lower than  $1\mu g/ml$  do not demonstrate any TG2 expression. Conversely, the T47D cells derived that are known to be resistant to  $1\mu g/ml$  of doxorubicin, do not express any TG2 protein. This could suggest that the mechanism of chemoresistance in the T47D breast cancer cell lines could be independent of TG2 function. These results were supported by previous studies that have demonstrated that, independent of their type and source, cancer cells selected out for resistance against chemo therapeutic drugs display only a moderate increase in TG2 levels (Budillon, *et al.* 2013)

Based on previous observations and current data that breast cancer cells, resistant to chemotherapeutic drugs, express high levels of TG2, it can be speculated that TG2 may be protecting cancer cells from chemically or drug induced apoptosis. A reduction in the levels of TG2, by transfection with TG2-specific siRNA was shown to reduce chemoresistance in MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines. Conversely, transfecting TG2 plasmid into TG2-null MCF7 and SKBR3 breast cancer cell lines, increased chemoresistance against doxorubicin, which can be reversed by treatment with TG2 cell permeable inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON), which clearly suggests that TG2 plays a major role in the acquisition of chemoresistance. This has been shown in PC-14/ADR lung cancer cells as well, where the reduction in TG2 levels due to transfection with TG2 specific antisense can reverse the drug resistance (Han & Park, 1999)

In a study conducted by Jiang *et al.* in 2003, to identify the metastasis-associated proteins using proteomic analysis, TG2 was observed to be one of the eleven proteins that were amplified selectively in metastatic human lung cancer (Jiang, *et al.* 2003a). Comparable, to these findings, comprehensive research of more than 30,000 genes using three different methods suggested that TG2 was one of the most prominently expressed genes in pancreatic tumours (Iacobuzio-Donahue, *et al.* 2003).Treating cancer cells with EGF induced the expression of TG2 and subsequently subverted apoptosis induced by doxorubicin (Antonyak, *et al.* 2004). These above studies clearly implicate TG2 to be playing a major role in the acquisition of chemoresistance by cancer cells.

Founded on the information and results attained this chapter, it can be speculated that TG2 is a very promising therapeutic target to reverse chemoresistance in breast cancer cells. With respect to this, the use of TG2 specific siRNA and TG2 cell permeable activity inhibitors, to silence the endogenous TG2 expression and activity holds great promise in developing new therapeutics required to overcome drug resistant in metastatic cancer cells.

These findings of increased TG2 levels in drug resistant breast cancer cells have amplified interest towards understanding the contributions of TG2 in the development of chemoresistance. TG2 is reputed to cause the constitutive activation of the NFkB and FAK/PI3K/AKT cell survival signalling pathways (Mehta, *et al.* 2004) the next chapter will concentrate on elucidating the mechanisms behind the conferment of drug resistant phenotype by TG2 in breast cancer cell lines. Individually or collectively, these pathways have been known to confer resistance to chemotherapy by avoiding autophagic or apoptotic death (Mehta, *et al.* 2010). This increased threshold of cancer cells to undergo apoptosis, allows them to display resistance against numerous anticancer drugs as well as to survive and proliferate successfully in the stressful microenvironment following metastasis to foreign tissues. TG2 thus represents a crucial target for further investigation in order overcome chemoresistance in breast cancer cells.

# Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NFкB activation through an intracellular mechanism

### 4. TG2 activity results in aberrant NFκB activation through an intracellular mechanism

#### 4.1 INTRODUCTION:

The previous chapter provides evidence that the increased expression and activity of TG2 can promote survival, growth and chemoresistance of breast tumour cells and as such TG2 could represent a potential therapeutic target to provide improved results for patient outcomes. Deciphering the molecular mechanisms that supports the development of metastasis and drug resistance in cancer cells can offer new targets for the treatment of disease.

The transcription factor, nuclear factor-kappaB (NF $\kappa$ B) is known to play a crucial role in the regulation of apoptosis, cell growth and metastatic functions. Even though the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B has been observed in various cancers, the molecular mechanisms that result in such an activation remain unknown (Nakanish & Toi, 2005). On the basis of previous studies done, metastatic and drug resistant cancers express very high levels of TG2 which can confer chemoresistance to cancer cells (Antonyak, *et al.* 2004; Mangala & Mehta, 2005). It could therefore be hypothesized that TG2 may contribute to the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B. Many reports suggest that the over expression of TG2 is linked to the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Mann, *et al.* 2006). Over expression of TG2 is concurrent with constitutive NF $\kappa$ B activity in tumour cell lines. Activation of TG2 results in the activation of NF $\kappa$ B and conversely, the down regulation of TG2 using small interfering RNA decreases the activation of NF $\kappa$ B. This may point to TG2 inhibition as an alternate therapy to prevent the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B and leave cancer cells sensitized to effective anti-cancer therapy (Mehta, *et al.* 2010).

In pancreatic and breast cancer cells, TG2 is known to activate NF $\kappa$ B by the cross linking of the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  subunit, which leads to the polymerization of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  and the subsequent translocation of the

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF KB activation through an intracellular mechanism

NF $\kappa$ B subunit to the nucleus. This polymerization of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  is dependent on the enzymatic activity of TG2 which leads to the activation of NF $\kappa$ B that is sustained and constitutive (Kim, *et al.* 2006; Mann, *et al.* 2006). EMSA and Western blot studies conducted on cancer cell lines with varying TG2 expressions demonstrated that in the presence of increased levels of TG2, there was a parallel increase in the activation as well as enzymatic activity of NF $\kappa$ B. With these results, it was hypothesized that there could be a direct correlation between the expression levels of TG2 and the activation of NF $\kappa$ B in numerous cancer cells (Mann, *et al.* 2006).

In spite of the noteworthy advances in primary treatment of breast cancer, prevention and prediction of metastasis and drug resistance remains a discouraging clinical problem. To improve progress in the field of chemotherapy, it is necessary to understand the basic molecular mechanism that is known to regulate the progression of a primary tumour to a metastatic disease. Several reports as well as results from Chapter III have clearly suggested that tissue transglutaminase (TG2) plays an important role in the development of metastatic and drug resistant cancer phenotype (Cao, *et al.* 2008 ; Grigoriev & al., 2001 ; Kim & al., 2006)

Mehta *et al.* (2004) isolated two clones, MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and Clone 16 from a metastatic parental breast cancer cell line, MDA MB 231 Wild Type based on their different TG2 expression levels and sensitivity to doxorubicin (Mehta, *et al.* 2004). The highly drug resistant clone, MDA MB 231 Clone 16 demonstrated almost a 12-15 fold increased expression of TG2 as compared to the drug sensitive MDA MB 231 Clone 9. Results obtained in the previous chapter (Chapter III), have illustrated that the parental MDA MB 231 WT obtained from Aston University did not show any detectable endogenous TG2 expression and activity. The MDA MB 231 Clone 9 demonstrated very low TG2 expression and activity while the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells illustrated the highest TG2 expression and activity of all the breast cancer cell lines. Prior evidence has suggested that without any relation to the type and source, the cancer cells that have been selected out for the chemoresistance exhibited an immoderate increase in the levels of TG2 (Verma, *et al.* 2006 ; Chhabra, *et al.* 2009). On the basis of the current observations made and the previous published results, chemoresistant breast cancer cells

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NFкB activation through an intracellular mechanism

express high levels of TG2 protein, which may imply that TG2 can protect breast cancer cell lines from apoptosis induced by stress as well as chemotherapy (Mehta, *et al.* 2004).

The molecular details behind the regulation of TG2 by NF $\kappa$ B (Rel A/p65) has been initially elucidated in Raw cells (with and without LPS treatment) using a ChIP based promoter. The ChIP promoter using Rel A/p65 specific antibody showed that Rel A/p65 was recruited to the - 630 and -839 region of the *TGM2* gene promoter which is enhanced further in the presence of LPS. Parthenolide effectively blocked the binding of the Rel A/p65 to this region of the *TGM2* promoter (Ghanta, *et al.* 2011).

Increased TG2 activity was also known to trigger NF $\kappa$ B activation by causing the polymerization of the NF $\kappa$ B inhibitor, I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , as opposed to the stimulation of IKK (Kim, 2006). This polymerization of the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  subunit causes the consecutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B, which would result in the activation of target genes which are involved in inflammatory process (Falasca, *et al.* 2008; Kim, 2006). The lack of TG2 is an actual advantage, during the endotoxic shock as this deficiency seems to be related with the activation of NF $\kappa$ B which will allow the restoration of the immunological equilibrium (Ghanta, *et al.* 2011)

In view of the above observations, studies in this chapter will attempt to determine how the cross linking activity of TG2 may be responsible to promote oncogenic and drug resistant mechanisms in breast cancer cell lines. Evidence will be provided to understand the mechanistic detail behind the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 in breast cancer cells and how this aberrant activity of NF $\kappa$ B will lead to a chemoresistant phenotype. Studies will also be done to comprehend whether inhibiting TG2 cross linking activity using cell permeable and cell impermeable inhibitors and inhibition of mRNA TG2 expression will down regulate the constitutively activated NF $\kappa$ B and consequently decrease chemoresistance in breast cancer cell lines.
#### 4.2 METHODS

#### 4.2.1 Sub-cellular fractionation of breast cancer cell lines:

The whole cell lysate, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected as described in detail in **Section 2.2.2**.

### 4.2.2 Western Blot analysis:

The subcellular components of the breast cancer cells were *analysed* for their protein concentration and 50µg of protein from each fraction was loaded onto an SDS-Page gel and then transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane. The various primary antibodies and the complementary secondary antibodies were used to immuno probe the nitrocellulose membrane after appropriately blocking the membrane. The membranes were then developed using ECL from GE Healthcare and then subsequently exposing them to film (**Sections 2.2.3-2.2.6**). To ensure that the changes observed were significant, the results described in this study have been obtained from at least three independent experiments. Using anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin as a loading marker for the cytoplasmic fractions and anti-Lamin-A as a loading marker for the nuclear fractions, equal loading of proteins was ensured. With the help of Image J software, the reported increase/ decrease in protein band densities were statistically assessed after densitometry analysis.

### 4.2.3 NFκB Activity Assay:

The NF $\kappa$ B activity assay was performed using the NF $\kappa$ B SEAPorter assay kit from IMGENEX. The assay kit includes pNF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid that expresses the SEAP protein under the control of the NF $\kappa$ B promoter.

The protocol used was in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol (Section 2.2.12).

## 4.2.4 Detection of the interaction between Rel A/ p65 and TG2 in the nucleus via co-immunoprecipitation

Co-immunoprecipitation assays were performed to detect the interaction between Rel A/ p65 and TG2 in the nucleus of high and no TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines as introduced in **Section 2.2.8.** The rabbit anti-Rel A/ p65 polyclonal antibody and protein A beads were used to pull down the Rel A/ p65 immuno-complex in the pre-cleared (with Protein A beads) nuclear fraction samples. Western blotting (**Section 2.2.3-2.2.6**) was used to detect the presence of Rel A/ p65 dimers and monomers in the nucleus as well as the presence of TG2 in the immune complex using anti-TG2 monoclonal antibody (Cub 7402) (1:1000).

#### 4.2.5 SiRNA transfection:

Rel A/p65 specific targeting siRNA was used to inhibit the expression of Rel A/p65 in the breast cancer cell lines using Lipofectamine 2000 transfection method, according to the manufacturers' instructions (Invitrogen). Three different siRNA sequences that target human Rel A/p65 were obtained from Qiagen. The sequences are listed as below:

Hs\_RELA\_5 AAGATCAATGGCTACACAG (denoted as (i))

Hs\_RELA\_7 CCGGATTGAGGAGAAACGT (denoted as (ii))

Hs\_RELA\_8 ATGGAGTACCCTGAGGCTA (denoted as (iii))

Universal negative control siRNA was also used to treat the cells as a control, to ensure that any changes observed were due to the action of the siRNA and no other factors relating to transfection procedure. The lyophilized siRNA was dissolved in 100  $\mu$ l of sterile DNase / RNase free water to obtain a 10 $\mu$ M stock solution which was then stored at -20°C. Prior to transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were seeded in plates and allowed to become 60-70% confluent, overnight. The cells were then washed with PBS, pH 7.4 and the medium was replaced with pre-warmed fresh complete growth medium. The siRNA were diluted in serum free growth medium for the siRNA to reach a final concentration of 100nM. The siRNA were

then pre-incubated with Lipofectamine 2000 in serum-free medium at room temperature for 15-20 min for the transfection complex to form. The complex was then added drop wise onto the cells while gently swirling the plate to make sure that the transfection complex was uniformly distributed. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cells were *analysed* for the Rel A/p65 expression in the subcellular fractions, relative NF $\kappa$ B activity levels and TG2 activity and expression levels in the cells.

#### 4.3 **RESULTS:**

4.3.1 Aberrant Rel A/p65 expression and activity in the nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines that exhibit high levels of TG2.

4.3.1.1 Decreased NFκB activity in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 inhibitors

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT, MCF7/RT, SKBR3 and MCF7 cells transfected with TG2 plasmid and empty vector control plasmid were *analysed* for the relative NFkB activity levels in the presence of various TG2 inhibitors.

The NF $\kappa$ B SEAPorter Assay is designed to measure the level of NF $\kappa$ B activation using secreted alkaline phosphatase in the medium as a read out. The NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid expresses SEAP protein under the control of the NF $\kappa$ B promoter. Ligands and inhibitors added to the cells that alter NF $\kappa$ B activity can be screened for by measuring the SEAP present in the cell culture medium (Section 2.2.12).

The TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 illustrated a higher activation of NFκB as compared to the MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT and empty vector transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cells. On treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cells with the TG2 cell permeable inhibitor, Z-DON, maximum inhibition of NFκB activity was observed, followed by R283. The cell impermeable TG2 specific inhibitor, R294 did not show any significant decrease in NFκB activity compared to the cell permeable inhibitors (Figures 4.1). This could imply that the activation of NFκB in these MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cells could be due to the role of intracellular activity of TG2. These cell permeable TG2 inhibitors illustrated a significant difference in both the TG2 activity, TG2

expression and subsequently the basal NF $\kappa$ B activity levels measured in these breast cancer cell lines.

The low and no TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines (MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, SKBR3/RT, T47D/WT, T47D/RT and empty vector transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cells) that have been treated with the TG2 inhibitors, did not show any significant change in the NFκB activity (Figures 4.1). This could be attributed to the lack of TG2 expression as well as TG2 activity within these breast cancer cell lines.

Also, on treating the high TG2 and TG2-null breast cancer cell lines with TNF- $\alpha$ , the NF $\kappa$ B activity increased significantly. Furthermore, a considerable decrease was seen in the NF $\kappa$ B activity of these breast cancer cells on being treated with SN50 which is an NF $\kappa$ B inhibitor that inhibits the translocation of NF $\kappa$ B into the nucleus. TNF- $\alpha$  and SN50 were used as the positive and negative controls respectively to determine the efficiency of the assay.

These results strongly indicate that the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B in breast cancer cell lines can be attributed to the transamidating activity of TG2. In the absence of TG2, the SKBR3 and MCF7 cells illustrate low levels of NF $\kappa$ B activity while transfecting these cell lines with the TG2 plasmid demonstrated an increase in NF $\kappa$ B activity levels, which could be constitutively induced due to the presence of TG2. This increased NF $\kappa$ B activity in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines could be reduced significantly in the presence of cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors.

(A)



**(B)** 





Figures 4.1 (A, B and C) Analysis of NFkB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors

The NF $\kappa$ B activity of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP Reporter Assay.  $5x10^5$  cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 6-well plates and left overnight. The next day the cells were transfected with NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with TG2 inhibitors, R283 (500 $\mu$ M), R294 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M). The supernatant was then collected for the SEAP assay as described in detail in Section 2.2.12. Data shown is mean concentration of SEAP + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p< 0.05 between untreated and TG2 inhibitor treated cells. # p<0.05 between cell groups.

## 4.3.1.2 Detection of Rel A/p65 expression in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 inhibitors.

The decrease observed in the expression of TG2 within the breast cancer cells on treating them with TG2 activity inhibitors indicated that another factor may be involved in regulating TG2 expression within these cells. Also, previous data has shown that TG2 is responsible for the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B within these cells (Mann, *et al.* 2006). The breast cancer cell lines were seeded and allowed to become confluent (70-80%) overnight. After treating the cells for 72 h with TG2 inhibitors, the samples were collected and fractionated into their cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in **Section 2.2.2** and analysed by Western blotting.

In the western blot data obtained, monomeric Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasm of the breast cancer cells at 65kDa was observed. However, in the nucleus of TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines as well as TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells, the Rel A/p65 band was observed at a higher molecular higher weight. The Rel A/p65 in the nucleus appears to be approximately 130kDa in size which may indicate that this could be a high molecular weight form of Rel A/p65. Also, this high molecular weight Rel A/p65 observed in the nuclear fractions could be representative of a cross linked form of RelA/p65 (Figure 4.2) as a result of TG2 activity within these high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. Treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 breast cancer cell lines with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON) demonstrated a considerable decrease in the high molecular weight Rel A/p65, which was not observed on treatment with R294 (cell impermeable TG2 activity inhibitor). The decrease observed in the high molecular weight Rel A/p65 form in the nucleus is concurrent with the decrease in the TG2 expression in the cytoplasmic fraction of MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cell lines. Also, as demonstrated in Chapter 3, the TG2 activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cells also decreased on treatment with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON. This could imply that intracellular TG2 activity is responsible for the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B in these breast

cancer cell lines as both the TG2 cell permeable activity inhibitors seem to reduce the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B more significantly than the cell impermeable TG2 activity inhibitor, R294.

The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT cells did not illustrate any high molecular weight Rel A/p65 in the nucleus and only a monomeric Rel A/p65 was observed in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions. Treating these no or low expressing TG2 breast cancer cell lines with TG2 inhibitors, does not cause any change in the Rel A/p65 expression within these cells. On transfecting the MCF7 and SKBR3 cells with TG2 as introduced in **Section 2.2.1.6**, the Rel A/p65 high molecular weight form was observed in the nuclear fractions which can be attributed to the expression and activity of TG2 observed within these breast cancer cells. The empty vector control plasmid does not induce the expression and activity of TG2 and in these cells no high molecular weight Rel A/p65 form was observed (Figure 4.2).

Even though the MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and SKBR3/RT cells do illustrate low TG2 expression and activity, no high molecular weight Rel A/p65 forms were observed in the nuclear fraction. Also, treatment with the TG2 inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON) did not demonstrate any difference in the cytoplasmic and nuclear expression of Rel A/p65, even though there was a clear decrease observed in the TG2 expression in the MDA MB 231 Clone 9 and SKBR3/RT cells. This may imply that the amount of TG2 expression levels and activity within breast cancer cell lines was crucial to determine if the Rel A/p5 high molecular weight form will be observed in the nuclear fraction. Also, these results indicate that high expression and activity of TG2 was essential for the formation of the Rel A/p65 high molecular weights in the nucleus. The breast cancer cell lines that have previously been shown to be resistant to doxorubicin, demonstrate high expression and activity of TG2 as well as a high molecular weight Rel A/p65 form in the nuclear fractions. This aberrant form of Rel A/p65 could therefore be responsible for rendering these breast cancer cell lines resistant to doxorubicin as Rel A/p65 has been shown previously to confer drug resistance (Kim, *et al.* 2006)





Figure 4.2 (A-R) Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after treatment with TG2 activity inhibitors using western blot.

The MDA MB 231 WT (A), MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (C),MDA MB 231 Clone 9 (E), SKBR3/WT (G), SKBR3/RT (I), MCF7/WT (K), MCF7/RT (M) and TG2 and vector plasmid transfected MCF7 (O) and SKBR3 (Q) cancer cell lines (1x10<sup>6</sup> cells per well) were seeded into 60mm petridishes and left overnight to become confluent. The next day, the cells were treated with R283 (500μM), R294 (500μM) and Z-DON (50μM) for a time course of 72 h. After treatment,

the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blotting for the expression of Rel A/p65 using rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000) and anti-TG2 antibody (Cub 7402; TG100) (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- Lamin A and anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to check for equal loading of protein. The breast cancer cells were treated with 10ng/ml of TNF $\alpha$  for 24 h and the sub cellular fractions were collected and used as the positive control. (**A**, **C**, **E**, **G**, **I**, **K**, **M**, **O** & **Q**) The data shown above is taken from three independent experiments (n=3). Differences in expression (**B**, **D**, **F**, **H**, **J**, **L**, **N** & **P**) as calculated by Image J analysis is representative of the mean densitometry reading obtained from three independent experiments + SEM. \* p<0.05

## 4.3.1.3 Co-immunoprecipitation of Rel A/p65 and TG2 in the nuclear fraction of breast cancer cell lines after treatment with TG2 inhibitors.

To determine the association between Rel A/ p65 high molecular weights and TG2 in the nucleus, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were treated with TG2 activity inhibitors R283, R294 and Z-DON. 72 h after treatment, the nuclear fractions of these cells were collected as described in **Section 2.2.2**. Using anti- Rel A/p65 antibody and Protein A beads, the Rel A/p65 complex was immunoprecipitated out as described in **Section 2.2.8**.

In the nuclear fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells, only a monomeric form of Rel A/p65 (~ 65kDa) was observed with no significant change in the nuclear Rel A/ p65 in the presence of TG2 inhibitors. This can clearly be attributed to the absence of TG2 expression and activity within these breast cancer cell lines (Figures 4.3).

On the other hand, in the nuclear fractions of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells, it was observed that two Rel A/ p65 bands were pulled down using the rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel A/p65 antibody, a monomeric Rel A/p65 (~65kDa) and a high molecular weight Rel A/p65 (~130kDa). On treating these breast cancer cells with cell permeable, TG2 inhibitors, the high molecular weight Rel A/p65 form decreased significantly, with no change observed in the monomeric Rel A/p65 (Figures 4.3). Also, on reprobing the membrane with anti-TG2 antibody, no nuclear TG2 expression was observed. This was in correlation to the localization studies done in Chapter III, which demonstrated that the expression and activity of TG2 within the TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines was primarily concentrated in the cytosol. The cell impermeable TG2 inhibitor, R294, failed to show any significant decrease in both the monomeric and high molecular weight form of Rel A/p65 observed in the nucleus fractions was as a result of cytosolic TG2 cross linking activity, as TG2 expression is completely absent in the nucleus of these breast cancer cell lines.





The MDA MB 231 WT (A), MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (C), MCF7/WT (E) and MCF7/RT (G) cells  $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells/ well})$  were seeded into 60 mm petridishes and left overnight. The next day these breast cancer cell lines were treated with R283 (500 $\mu$ M), R294 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) over a time course of 72 h. After treatment, the breast cancer cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in Section 2.2.2. The nuclear fractions of the

breast cancer cell lines were used in co-immunoprecipitation experiments as introduced in Section 2.2.8. After collection of the nuclear fraction and pre-clearing using protein A beads, rabbit anti-Rel A/p65 polyclonal antibody ( $0.5\mu$ g/sample) and protein A beads were used to pull down the Rel A/ p65 immunocomplex and (**A**, **C**, **E**, **&G**) western blotting was then used to detect the presence of Rel A/p65 (1:1000) and TG2 (1:1000) within the immunocomplex collected from the various cell samples (n=3). (**B**, **D**, **F &H**) Differences in expression as calculated by Image J analysis is representative of the mean densitometry reading obtained from three independent experiments + SEM. \* p<0.05

#### 4.3.2 Expression of NFkB family members in breast cancer cell lines

# 4.3.2.1 Western blot detection of p105/p50 in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 inhibitors.

In order to determine if the expression and activity of TG2 in breast cancer cell lines affected the status of the other NFkB family members in these breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 Wild Type and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 were analysed by western blot (introduced in **Sections 2.2.4-2.2.6**) to examine the relative expression of p105/p50 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines. After 72 h of treating these breast cancer cell lines with TG2 activity inhibitors, R283, R294 and Z-DON, the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions (**Section 2.2.2**). On analysis of the sub cellular fractions by western blotting using anti- p105/p50 antibody (1:500), no difference was observed between the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells. Subsequent treatment of the breast cancer cell lines with the various TG2 inhibitors (R283, R294 and Z-DON), failed to demonstrate any significant change in the expression levels of p105/p50, both in the cytoplasmic as well as nuclear fraction of the cell lines (Figures 4.4). These results clearly indicate that the activity and expression of TG2 within the breast cancer cell lines did not have any effect on the expression of p105/p50. Also, this could be indicative that the constitutive activation of NFkB members by TG2 did not involve p105/ p50.



Figure 4.4 Analysis of p105/p50 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors by western blot

The MDA MB 231 WT (A) and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (C)  $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells/ well})$  were seeded into 60 mm petridishes and left overnight. The next day, the cells were treated with R283 (500µM), R294 (500µM) and Z-DON (50µM) for a time course of 72 h. After treatment, the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. TNF- $\alpha$  and SN50 treated cells were taken as the positive and negative controls respectively. (**A&C**) The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blot (Section 2.2.4- 2.2.6) for the expression of p105/ p50 using rabbit polyclonal anti-p105/p50 antibody (1:500). The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin and Lamin A antibody to check for equal loading of protein. The data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B&D**) Differences in expression as calculated by Image J analysis is representative of the mean densitometry reading obtained from three independent experiments + SEM.

#### **4.3.2.2** Expression of Rel B and c-Rel in the presence of TG2 inhibitors.

To effectively determine whether TG2 expression and activity had any significant effect on the expression of the other NF $\kappa$ B family members, the relative levels of Rel B, c-Rel and p52/p100 were determined in the whole cell lysate fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells. The WCL fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected as described in **Section 2.2.2** and 50µg of whole cell lysate protein was *analysed* by western blot using anti-Rel B, anti-c-Rel and anti-p52/p100 antibodies (Figure 4.5). The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells did not demonstrate any difference in the expression levels of Rel B and c-Rel. Also, treating these breast cancer cell lines with R283, R294 and Z-DON, did not alter the protein levels of Rel B or c-Rel. The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells did not as protein unchanged, in the presence of TG2 inhibitors. This could signify that the expression and activity of TG2 within breast cancer cell lines only caused the constitutive activation of the Rel A/p65 member of the NF $\kappa$ B family and had no effect at all on the other family members.



Figure 4.5 Analysis of Rel B, c-Rel and p100/p52 in the whole cell lysate fractions of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors by western blot

The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 ( $1x10^6$  cells/ well) were seeded into 60 mm petridishes and left overnight. The next day, the cells were treated with R283 ( $500\mu$ M), R294 ( $500\mu$ M) and Z-DON ( $50\mu$ M) for a time course of 72 h. After treatment, the whole cell lysate fractions of the breast cancer cells were collected as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. The whole cell lysate fractions( $50\mu$ g protein) were then analysed by (A) western blot (Section 2.2.4-2.2.6) for the expression of Rel B, c-Rel and p100/p52 using rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel B antibody (1:1000), rabbit polyclonal anti-c-Rel antibody (1:1000) and rabbit polyclonal anti-p100/p52 antibody (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to check for equal loading of protein (n=3). (**B**) The data shown is a representation of three independent experiments. Differences in expression as calculated by Image J analysis is representative of the mean densitometry reading obtained from three independent experiments + SEM.

## 4.3.3 Constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 decreased in the presence of TG2 specific siRNA

#### 4.3.3.1 Decreased Rel A/p65 high molecular weight in the presence of TG2 siRNA

To determine if inhibiting the mRNA expression of TG2 would cause an effect on the formation of Rel A/ p65 high molecular weights, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells were transfected with 100nm of TG2 specific siRNA as well as global negative control siRNA for a time course of 48 h as described previously using Lipofectamine (**Section 2.2.1.5**) After the treatment, these cells were collected and fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as explained in **Section 2.2.2.** Subsequently, western blot was used to detect the presence of Rel A/p65 high molecular weights in the nucleus as well as TG2 expression in the cytosolic fraction

The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells that have been known previously to express high levels of TG2, illustrated a significant decrease in the TG2 expression levels on being treated with the two TG2 specific siRNA. Consequently, the Rel A/p65 high molecular weight observed in the nuclei of untreated and global negative siRNA treated samples, decreased and a monomeric form of Rel A/p65 in the nuclei was seen, on treating the breast cancer cell lines with TG2 specific siRNA (Figures 4.6).

With these results, it may be concluded, that the Rel A/ p65 high molecular weights seen in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT nuclei is an effect of TG2 transamidating activity within these cells. Treating these cells with TG2 siRNA shows a decrease in the high molecular weight Rel A/ p65 form seen in the nuclei of these cells. There is also a subsequent increase in the expression of Rel A/p65 monomers in the nucleus which was previously not observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells on being treated with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors.



Figure 4.6 Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after transfection with TG2 specific siRNA using western blot.

TG2 siRNA targeting human TG2 were used to inhibit the mRNA expression of TG2 in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (A) and MCF7/RT(C) cell lines.  $5x10^5$  cells (per well) were seeded into 6 well plates and left overnight. The next day, the cells were transfected with two TG2 specific siRNA (final concentration of 100nm) for a time course of 48 h (Section 2.2.1.5). Global negative control siRNA was used as the negative control. After treatment, the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. (A &C) The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blot for the expression of Rel A/p65 using rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti-Lamin A and anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to check for equal loading of protein. The data shown are representative westerns from three independent experiments (n=3). (**B&D**) Differences in expression as calculated by Image J analysis is taken from the mean densitometry reading obtained from three independent experiments + SEM. \* p<0.05

## 4.3.3.2 NFκB activity decreases in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 siRNA

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were assayed for the respective NFkB activity levels as described previously in Section 2.2.12. The NFkB reporter assay showed that on treating the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with TG2 siRNA, the NFkB activity within these cells decreased considerably. This correlated with the cell viability assay in the presence of doxorubicin, wherein the breast cancer cells lost chemoresistance to doxorubicin on being treated with TG2 siRNA. These results could indicate that the presence of TG2 in these breast cancer cell lines constitutively activates the Rel A/ p65 subunit of the NFkB family members in an aberrant manner, which decreases on being treated with the TG2 specific siRNA. The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells demonstrated very low levels of NFkB activity, which remained unchanged on being treated with TG2 specific siRNA. This could imply that the aberrant and constitutive activation of Rel A/ p65 observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells was as a result of TG2 expression and activity within these breast cancer cell lines. Treatment with TG2 specific siRNA clearly shows a significant decrease in the NFkB activity levels in these breast cancer cells, which is similar to the basal levels of NFkB activity observed in the chemosusceptible parent cell lines (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7 Analysis of NFκB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 specific siRNA.

The NF $\kappa$ B activity of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were analysed using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP Reporter Assay.  $5x10^5$  cells of each breast cancer cell line were seeded into 6-well plates. The next day, the cells were transfected with NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with TG2specific siRNA (at a final concentration of 100nM). The supernatant was then collected for the SEAP assay as described in detail in Section 2.2.12. Data shown is mean concentration of SEAP + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p< 0.05 between cells transfected and non-transfected with siRNA.

#### 4.3.4 Treatment of breast cancer cells with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA

4.3.4.1 Decreased expression of Rel A/p65 and TG2 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines on being treated with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells were transfected with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA as described in Section 2.2.1.5 and subsequently fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions (Section 2.2.2). The fractions were then *analysed* by western blotting to detect the presence of Rel A/p65 and TG2. The MDA MB 231 WT cells demonstrated a clear decrease in the Rel A/p65 expression in both the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions on being treated with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA for 48 h. The MDA MB 231 WT cells did not express any TG2, which does not change on to transfection with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA (Figure 4.8). The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells demonstrated a significant decrease in the monomeric and high molecular weight Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasm and nucleus respectively on being transfected with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA (Figure 4.8). The TG2 levels in the cytoplasm of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells also decreases, subsequent to Rel A/p65 siRNA transfection, with the most significant decrease observed with Hs\_RELA\_5 (i), followed by Hs RELA 7 (ii) and the least decrease was demonstrated by Hs RELA 8 (iii) (Figure 4.8). The global negative control siRNA does not show any difference in the Rel A/p65 expression levels in the TG2 expressing and TG2 null breast cancer cell lines. These results seem to imply that the expression of TG2 in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 was dependent on transcriptional activity of Rel A/p65. Inhibiting the mRNA expression of Rel A/p65 in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells resulted in the decrease of TG2 expression within these high TG2 expressing breast cancer cells. The membranes were then reprobed with anti-α-Tubulin and anti-Lamin A to determine equal loading of protein.



Figure 4.8 Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 and TG2 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after transfection with Rel A/ p65 specific siRNA using western blot.

Rel A/p65 siRNA targeting human p65 were used to inhibit the expression of Rel A/p65 in the MDA MB 231 WT (A) and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (C) cell lines.  $5x10^5$  cells (per well) were seeded into 6 well plates and left overnight. The next day, the cells were transfected with three different Rel A/p65 specific siRNA (final concentration of 100nM) for a time course of 48 h (Section 2.2.1.5). Global negative control siRNA was used as the negative control. After treatment, the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blot for the expression of Rel A/p65 using rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000) as well as mouse monoclonal anti-TG2 antibody (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti-Lamin A and anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to check for equal loading of protein. (A &C)The western blot data shown is a representative of three independent experiments (n=3). (B &D) Differences in expression as calculated by Image J analysis is representative of the average densitometry readings obtained from three independent experiments + SEM. \* p<0.05

### 4.3.4.2 Decreased NFκB activity of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of Rel A/p65 specific siRNA

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were transfected with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA and then *analysed* for the NFKB activity levels using the NFkB/SEAP reporter assay as described previously in Section 2.2.12. The SEAP reporter assay demonstrated a considerable decrease in the NFkB activity levels of the breast cancer cell lines on being transfected with the Rel A/p65 specific siRNA (Figure 4.9), which is in comparison to the data obtained by western blot analysis (Figure 4.8). The Hs\_RELA\_5 (i) demonstrated the most significant decrease in NFkB activity, followed by Hs RELA 7 (ii) and finally Hs\_RELA\_8 (iii) in all of the breast cancer cell lines. The remaining NFkB activity observed in these breast cancer cell lines could be representative of the activity of the other NFkB family members in the breast cancer cell lines. These results seem to imply that the majority of the NFkB activity observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells is as a result of constitutive activation of the Rel A/p65 member of the NF $\kappa$ B family due to the cross linking activity of TG2. Also, treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA reduces the NFkB activity levels within these breast cancer cells to similar levels observed in the untreated MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells. This clearly suggests that the aberrant activation of NFkB within the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT from the basal levels could be attributed to the endogenous transamidating activity of TG2 within these breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 4.9 Analysis of NFκB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of Rel A/p65 specific siRNA.

The NF $\kappa$ B activity of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were analysed using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP Reporter Assay.  $5x10^5$  cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 6-well plates and left overnight. The next day, the cells were transfected with NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with three different Rel A/p65 specific siRNA as well as global negative control siRNA (at a final concentration of 100nM). The supernatant was then collected for the SEAP assay as described in detail in Section 2.2.12. Data shown is mean concentration of SEAP ± SE from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p< 0.05 between cells transfected and non-transfected with siRNA.

## 4.3.4.3 Detection of TG2 activity of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with Rel A/ p65 targeting siRNA

As described in Section 2.2.1.5, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were treated with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA and the whole cell lysates of these breast cancer cell lines were collected (Section 2.2.2). The whole cell lysate fractions of the breast cancer cell lines treated with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA and global negative control siRNA were analysed for TG2 activity (Section 2.2.11). The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells do not express any TG2 activity in the whole cell lysate fractions, which remains unchanged on transfection with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA. On the other hand, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells that are known to exhibit TG2 activity show a significant decrease in the TG2 activity levels on being transfected with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA. The Hs\_RELA\_5 (i) shows the most significant decrease, followed by Hs\_RELA\_7 (ii) and finally Hs\_RELA\_8 (iii) (Figure 4.10). These results are in correlation with the decrease observed in the NF $\kappa$ B activity (Figure 4.9) and expression levels as well as TG2 expression within the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines (Figure 4.8). The global negative control siRNA does not demonstrate any change in the TG2 activity levels within the above mentioned breast cancer cell lines. These results seem to indicate that inhibiting the mRNA expression of Rel A/p65 using Rel A/p65 targeting siRNA in the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines could lead to a significant decrease in both the TG2 activity (Figure 4.10) as well as TG2 expression of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines (Figure 4.8). With this, it is possible to speculate that Rel A/p65 has a response element on the TGM2 gene promoter which would allow control of the expression and subsequent activity of TG2 within these cells.



Figure 4.10 Investigation of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of Rel A/p65 - specific siRNA

The whole cell lysate fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT after treatment with three different Rel A/p65 specific siRNA over a time course of 48 h were collected and analysed for the TG2 activity as described in Section 2.2.11 by biotinylated cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.13258±0.20936). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05 between cells transfected and non-transfected with siRNA.

## 4.3.4.4 Increased susceptibility of chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines to doxorubicin on treatment with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA

To determine the effect of inhibiting mRNA expression of Rel A/p65 using Rel A/p65 specific siRNA on the chemoresistance of the breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were transfected with Rel A/p65 specific siRNA in the presence of doxorubicin. The viability of the breast cancer cell lines was then determined using the XTT assay as described in detail in **Section 2.2.13**. The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells were chemosusceptible to doxorubicin and subsequent transfection with Rel A/p65 siRNA and global negative control siRNA maintains the chemosensitive phenotype of the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines. On the other hand, the untreated and global negative control siRNA transfected MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines have been shown to be chemoresistant against doxorubicin. Transfecting these breast cancer cell lines with Rel A/p65 siRNA demonstrated a significant decrease in the cell viability of the high TG2 breast cancer cells with Rel A/p65 siRNA in the presence of doxorubicin. It was also noted that transfecting the high TG2 breast cancer cells with Rel A/p65 siRNA induced toxicity in the cells (Figure 4.11).

Previous studies have shown that the activation of NF $\kappa$ B can attenuate the apoptotic response of breast cancer cells against chemotherapeutic drugs and subsequently inhibiting the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B can greatly sensitize tumour cells to chemotherapy (Karin, *et al.* 2002). Also, one of the major drivers of constitutive NF $\kappa$ B activity in cancer cell lines has been identified as TG2 (Mangala & Mehta, 2005). Correlating these findings with the results obtained in the current study, it can be hypothesized that in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT, the chemoresistant phenotype against doxorubicin can be a feature of constitutively activated Rel A/p65 induced by TG2 transamidating activity.



Figure 4.11 The effect of transfecting breast cancer cell lines with Rel A/p65 specific siRNAs in the presence of doxorubicin as illustrated via XTT assay.

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells (3000 cells per well) were seeded into 96-well plates and left overnight. The next day the cells were treated with three different Rel A/p65 specific siRNA for 48 h (final concentration of 100nM) and doxorubicin (1µg/ml) for a time course of 72 h after which the viable cells were detected using XTT analysis. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05 between cells transfected and non-transfected with siRNA in the presence of doxorubicin.

4.3.5 Aberrant Rel A/p65 is not altered on treatment with various TG2 inactivating antibodies.

## 4.3.5.1 Detection of TG2 cell surface and whole cell lysate activity on treatment with different TG2 antibodies.

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were *analysed* for the whole cell lysate and cell surface TG2 activity assay as described in **Section 2.2.11**, subsequent to treatment with TG2 antibodies. The three TG2 antibodies used include mouse monoclonal ID10, mouse monoclonal, transglutaminase-inactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab) and mouse monoclonal Cub 7402. Mouse monoclonal IgG isotype was used as the negative control for the experiment.

With respect to the cell surface TG2 activity in the breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cell line are the only breast cancer cells that express cell surface TG2 activity. On being treated with the three different TG2 antibodies and the mouse IgG isotype, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells demonstrated a significant decrease in the cell surface TG2 activity. The most significant decrease was observed when the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells were treated with mouse monoclonal transglutaminase-inactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab), followed by mouse monoclonal ID10 antibody and finally mouse monoclonal Cub 7402 antibody. The mouse IgG isotype did not cause any change in the cell surface TG2 activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells. The MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells did not express any cell surface TG2 activity and so, there was no change on being treated with the TG2 antibodies and the mouse IgG isotype (Figure 4.12).

To determine the whole cell lysate activity of TG2 in the breast cancer cell lines on being treated with the various TG2 antibodies as well as mouse IgG isotype, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were seeded into 6-well plates  $(5x10^5 \text{ cells/ well})$ , and subsequently treated with 25ng/ml of the TG2 antibodies as well as Mouse IgG isotype for a time course of 24 h. After treatment, the whole cell lysate fractions of the breast

cancer cell lines were obtained as described in **Section 2.2.2**. 50µg of whole cell lysate protein of each treated cell line was used to determine the whole cell lysate TG2 activity as described in detail in **Section 2.2.11**.

The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cell lines did not demonstrate any TG2 whole cell lysate activity and so remain unaffected by the treatment with TG2 antibodies as well as mouse IgG isotype (Figure 4.13). The TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells illustrated no significant change in the whole cell lysate TG2 activity on being treated with the various TG2 antibodies. The mouse IgG was used as the negative control for the TG2 antibodies.

These results signified that the TG2 antibodies used were cell impermeable and so only affected the cell surface TG2 activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells. Also, the whole cell lysate activity of the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells remain unaltered on treatment with the TG2 antibodies.



Figure 4.12 Investigation of TG2 cell surface activity in the presence of TG2 antibodies

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT (2X  $10^4$  per  $100\mu l$  of medium) were seeded into 96-well plates and analysed for the cell surface TG2 activity by biotinylated cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin as introduced in Section 2.2.11. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.2947 ± 0.199364). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05 between untreated and TG2 antibody treated cells.



Figure 4.13 Investigation of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of TG2 antibodies

The whole cell lysates of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT after treatment of cells with TG2 antibodies, ID10 (25ng/ml), transglutaminaseinactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab) (25ng/ml), Cub 7402(25ng/ml) and mouse IgG (25ng/ml) for a time course of 24 h were collected and 50µg of whole cell lysate protein was analysed for the TG2 whole cell lysate activity as described in Section 2.2.11 by biotinylated cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.24345 ±0.254846). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3).

#### 4.3.5.2 NFkB activity and expression on treatment with TG2 antibodies

To confirm that extracellular TG2 activity observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells was not responsible for the formation of the Rel A/p65 high molecular weights as well as the aberrant activation of Rel A/p65 in these breast cancer cell lines, TG2 targeting antibodies were used. The mouse monoclonal antibody ID10, mouse monoclonal transglutaminase-inactivating (TG2 In Ac Ab) antibody as well as mouse monoclonal Cub 7402 were applied to the breast cancer cell lines. Mouse IgG was used as the negative control antibody. The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells were treated with the various TG2 antibodies (final concentration of 25ng/ml) and negative control mouse IgG (25ng/ml) for a time course of 24 h. After treatment, the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions was determined by western blot (Section 2.2.2) using polyclonal rabbit anti-Rel A/p65 antibody.

The untreated MDA MB 231 WT cells only express monomeric Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions. No change was observed in the Rel A/p65 monomer in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions, on treatment with the various TG2 antibodies. This could be attributed to the lack of TG2 expression and activity within these cells (Figure 4.14). The negative control mouse IgG, also did not demonstrate any change in the Rel A/p65 expression within these breast cancer cell lines.

In the untreated MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells, Rel A/p65 high molecular weights were observed in the nuclear fractions and the monomeric Rel A/p65 form was observed in the cytoplasmic fractions (Figure 4.14) . As described previously, this high molecular weight form of p65 could be representative of the high TG2 cross linking activity within these cells and this high molecular weight Rel A/p65 has also been shown to decrease in the presence of TG2 specific cell permeable inhibitors. On treating the MDA MB 231 clone 16 cells with the various TG2 antibodies for a time course of 24 h, no significant change was observed in the Rel A/p65 high molecular weight in the nucleus or even the monomeric Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasm.
### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF kB activation through an intracellular mechanism

These results seem to imply that the high molecular weight Rel A/ p65 band observed was specifically due to intracellular TG2 activity. Interfering with extracellular TG2 either through the binding of various antibodies (transglutaminase-inactivating antibody [(TG2 In Ac Ab)], ID10 and Cub 7402) did not illustrate any significant difference in the RelA/ p65 high molecular weight band. The negative control mouse IgG isotype treated MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells demonstrated no change as compared to the untreated Clone 16 cells. The increased constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells can be thus clearly attributed to the increased expression and intracellular activity of TG2 within these breast cancer cell lines.

To further substantiate the results obtained by western blot, the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP reporter assay (described in **Section 2.2.12**) was performed on the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF/WT and MCF7/RT cells, on treatment with the various TG2 antibodies. Both the TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT as well as TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells did not illustrate any significant change in the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels. The breast cancer cell lines treated with the various TG2 antibodies, on comparison with the untreated cell lines, display almost comparable levels of NF $\kappa$ B activity (Figure 4.15)

With the above findings, it can be clearly established that the high and constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is an intracellular phenomenon in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines. The TG2 antibodies target and inactivate the activity of TG2 on the cell surface does not demonstrate any significant change in the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. This completely rules out the possibility that inhibiting extracellular TG2 would decrease the aberrant and constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B.

#### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF kB activation through an intracellular mechanism



# Figure 4.14 Analysis of the expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer after treatment with various TG2 antibodies using western blot.

The MDA MB 231 WT (A) and MDA MB 231 clone 16 (C) cells  $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells})$  were seeded into 60 mm petridishes and left overnight. The next day, the cells were treated with ID10, transglutaminase-inactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab), Cub 7402 and mouse IgG for a time course of 24 h. After treatment, the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blot ting for the expression of Rel A/p65 using rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- Lamin A antibody to standardise for equal loading of nuclear protein. (**A & C**) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B &D**) Differences in expression as analysed by Image J analysis is representative of the mean densitometry reading obtained from three independent experiments + SEM.

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF KB activation through an intracellular mechanism



Figure 4.15 Analysis of NFκB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines on treatment with various TG2 antibodies.

The NF $\kappa$ B activity of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were analysed using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP Reporter Assay (Section 2.2.12). 5x10<sup>5</sup> cells of each breast cancer cell line were seeded into 6-well plates and transfected with NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with three TG2 antibodies, ID10 (25ng/ml), transglutaminase-inactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab) (25ng/ml) and Cub 7402 (25ng/ml) as well as mouse IgG (25ng/ml) for 24 h. The supernatant was then collected for the SEAP assay. Data shown is mean concentration of SEAP + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3).

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NFкB activation through an intracellular mechanism

# 4.3.5.3 Cell viability analysis of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin and TG2 antibodies

From the results observed in Section 4.3.4, it can be hypothesized that inhibiting cell surface TG2 activity of the breast cancer cell lines, did not decrease the aberrant and constitutive activation of the Rel A/p65 subunit of the NFkB family. To determine whether any changes may be observed in the chemoresistant nature of these breast cancer cell lines, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were treated with the different TG2 antibodies (ID10, transglutaminase-inactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab), Cub 7402 and Mouse IgG isotype (25ng/ml), for a time course of 24 h in the presence of doxorubicin. The high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells have previously been shown to be highly chemoresistant to doxorubicin and this chemoresistance was reduced significantly on treating these breast cancer cell lines with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON). On treating the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells with the various TG2 antibodies in the presence of doxorubicin, no change was observed in the viability of the cell lines as compared to the untreated cell lines. The chemoresistant nature of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells was still maintained even on treatment with the TG2 antibodies, in the presence of doxorubicin. The mouse IgG isotype also does not affect the chemoresistant nature of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT against the chemotherapeutic drug, doxorubicin (Figure 4.16). The cell viability of the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines also did not decrease in the presence of doxorubicin and TG2 antibodies. This was in positive correlation with the unchanged Rel A/p65 high molecular weights observed in the nucleus on being treated with the TG2 antibodies.

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF KB activation through an intracellular mechanism



Figure 4.16 The effect of treating breast cancer cell lines with TG2 antibodies in the presence of doxorubicin as illustrated via XTT assay.

The MDA MB 231WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells (3000 cells per well) were seeded into 96-well plates and left overnight. The next day the cells were treated with three different TG2 antibodies and mouse IgG (25ng/ml) for a time course of 24 h and doxorubicin (1µg/ml) for a time course of 72 h after which the viable cells were detected using XTT analysis. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3).

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF KB activation through an intracellular mechanism

# 4.3.6 In-vitro cross linking of recombinant Rel A/p65 using guinea pig liver tissue transglutaminase (TG2)

To determine if TG2 can cross link Rel A/ p65 protein in vitro, recombinant human Rel A/p65 (100ng/ml) was treated with increasing concentrations of guinea pig liver TG2 (0.01ng/ml-10ng/ml). The reaction was conducted in PBS (final volume of 20µl) and supplemented with 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1mM DTT. To check the effect of inhibiting TG2 activity, R294 and Z-DON were used in the reaction, as the negative control, the reaction was supplemented with 10mM EDTA. Western Blotting analysis of the recombinant Rel A/p65 illustrated a monomeric band at 65kDa corresponding to Rel A/ p65. On being treated with a low concentration of TG2 (0.01ng/ml), the high molecular weight Rel A/ p65 band starts appearing. Increasing the concentrations of TG2, showed an increase in the Rel A/p65 high molecular weight band observed at approximately 130kDa. The monomeric Rel A/p65 band started to disappear, showing high molecular weight polymers as the TG2 concentration increases from 0.01ng/ml to 10ng/ml. When 10mM EDTA was added to the reaction tube, no high molecular weight p65 band was observed. Also, treatment with TG2 activity inhibitors, Z-DON and R294 showed a decrease in the Rel A/p65 high molecular weight band as compared to the samples that had not been treated with inhibitors. The blot was then reprobed for TG2 to make sure that the concentrations of TG2 that were added corresponded to the increasing high molecular weight band and the decreasing monomeric band (Figure 4.17).

These results illustrated that the presence of these Rel A/p65 high molecular weights could be due to TG2 activity *in vitro*. The Rel A/p65 high molecular weight bands seen in the TG2 high Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells also could be due to the TG2 activity within these cells. This *in vitro* experiment showed that the high molecular weight bands observed are due to TG2 activity which can be inhibited using inhibitors of TG2 activity such as EDTA, Z-DON and R294.

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF kB activation through an intracellular mechanism



Figure 4.17 Western blot analysis of *in vitro* cross linking of recombinant Rel A/p65 protein using guinea pig liver TG2.

100ng/ml of recombinant human Rel A/ p65 protein was taken in 1.5ml tubes for the various treatments. Different concentrations of guinea pig liver TG2 ranging from 0.01ng/ml to 10ng/ml were used along with 1mM DTT and 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. The negative control used was the recombinant human Rel A/p65 protein, 10ng/ml gplTG, 1mM DTT and 10mM EDTA. Two different TG2 inhibitors (R294 and Z-DON) were used as well to see if they would inhibit the cross linking. The reaction tubes were set up to a final volume of 20µl with PBS. The reaction was allowed to take place at room temperature for 1 h. After the time period, 500µM of TG2 inhibitor R283 was added into all of the reaction tubes to stop the reaction. 20µl of Laemmli buffer was added into the samples and boiled for 5 min. The samples were then loaded onto an 8% SDS PAGE gel and analyzed by western blot using rabbit polyclonal anti-Rel A/ p65 as well as mouse monoclonal anti-TG2 antibodies. The data presented is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3).

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF kB activation through an intracellular mechanism

#### 4.4 **DISCUSSION:**

The key obstacles to successful cancer therapy include the development of metastasis and drug resistance. The most prevalent feature of metastatic and drug resistant tumour cells is that the cells become increasingly resistant to induction of apoptosis (Kerbel, *et al.* 1994). It has become very evident that certain oncogenic mutations interrupt programmed cell death, which subsequently initiates tumour development, further progression, drug resistance as well as metastasis. Numerous epigenetic and genetic disruptions have been identified in advanced stages of cancer and thereby confer resistance against apoptotic mechanisms. One of the most commonly observed features of drug resistant cancer cells is the activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Fesik, 2005). The capability of cancer cells to evade apoptosis allows them to demonstrate resistance to chemo therapeutic drugs as well as allow tumour cells to survive and grow in unfavourable micro environments and in distant tissue sites (Chhabra, *et al.* 2009).

Many recent studies have clearly implicated that TG2 plays a major role, in the progression and growth of cancer cells. Cancer cells that have been selected out for the chemoresistant nature displayed elevated levels of TG2 (Verma & Mehta, 2007a/2007b; Fok, *et al.* 2006; Mehta, *et al.* 2004; Verma, *et al.* 2006; Satpathy, *et al.* 2007). Results obtained in Chapter III were in agreement with the previous published studies. The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines exhibited high levels of TG2 expression and activity. This elevated expression and activity of TG2 caused these breast cancer cell lines to become chemoresistant to doxorubicin, and this chemoresistance was reduced on treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON). Also, decreasing endogenous TG2 activity and expression using TG2 specific small interfering RNA (siRNA) reversed this chemoresistance against doxorubicin in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells. As shown in Chapter III, the expression of TG2 was also down regulated, when the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines were treated in the presence of cell permeable TG2 inhibitors. This decrease in TG2 expression, on inhibiting TG2 activity within

#### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NFкB activation through an intracellular mechanism

the breast cancer cell lines, signified that another factor with a response element on the *TGM2* gene promoter was causing this change in TG2 expression.

The oncogenic transcription factor, NF $\kappa$ B, has been known to play a crucial role in the regulation of genes that are concerned with apoptosis, drug resistance, metastasis and cell growth (Karin, *et al.* 2002). Also, NF $\kappa$ B has been shown to be constitutively activated in numerous cancers, and the role of NF $\kappa$ B in metastasis and chemoresistance has been well documented (Naugler & Karin., 2008). In the context of these breast cancer cell lines, it is very appealing to conclude that the expression and activity of TG2 resulted in the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B. Therefore, it can be hypothesized that tumour cell types with elevated expression and activity of TG2, display increased NF $\kappa$ B activity (Mann, *et al.* 2006)

Essentially, the down regulation of TG2 using cell permeable inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON) as well as TG2 specific siRNA resulted in a significant decrease in the activity of NF $\kappa$ B. Furthermore, aberrant high molecular weight forms of Rel A/p65 were observed in the nuclear fractions of the TG2 expressing breast cancer cells, which have been observed to decrease significantly in the presence of cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON. Treating the TG2 breast cancer cell lines with TG2 specific siRNA also resulted in the decrease of the high molecular weight Rel A/p65, and a subsequent increase in the monomeric form of Rel A/p65 in the nucleus, which was not observed in the untreated or global negative siRNA treated breast cancer cells. The other NF $\kappa$ B family members such as p105/p50, Rel B and c-Rel were observed to be very similar in both high and no TG2 breast cancer cell lines. Moreover, treating the breast cancer cell lines with the TG2 activity inhibitors did not illustrate any changes in the levels of the other NF $\kappa$ B family members. The transamidating activity of TG2 was proven to be specific for the constitutive activation of the Rel A/p65 subunit of NF $\kappa$ B

A study, conducted by Kim *et al.* (Kim, *et al.* 2006) suggested that inhibiting the cross linking activity of TG2, reversed the chemoresistance of breast cancer cells lines against doxorubicin, mainly due to the subsequent attenuation of NF $\kappa$ B activation. Also, a similar conclusion was

#### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NFкB activation through an intracellular mechanism

suggested by Cao *et al.* (Cao, *et al.* 2008), stating that in ovarian cancer cell lines, cisplatin induced apoptosis was circumvented due to the constitutive activation of the NFkB survival pathway.

Under resting conditions, NF $\kappa$ B can induce inflammation by its activation which is transient and known to be crucial for the survival and growth of normal cells. The constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 due to the cross linking activity of TG2 may be one of the key pathways responsible for conferring metastatic and chemoresistant phenotypes (Verma, *et al.* 2008). In the data represented in this chapter, this hypothesis is supported and also suggests that reducing the endogenous activity of TG2, can result in the down regulation of NF $\kappa$ B constitutive activity and thus increases the chemosensitivity of drug-resistant breast cancer cells.

The hypothesis that intracellular TG2 activity is responsible for the constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 as well as the high molecular weight form of Rel A/p65 observed in the nucleus was further confirmed on treating the breast cancer cell lines with various TG2 antibodies such as ID10, transglutaminase-inactivating antibody (TG2 In Ac Ab) as well as Cub 7402. Even though these TG2 antibodies caused a significant decrease in the cell surface TG2 activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells, the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels, Rel A/p65 high molecular weight in the nucleus as well as the chemoresistant phenotype of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, remains unaltered.

These results clearly suggest that endogenous TG2 activity was responsible for the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B in breast cancer cell lines, which confers chemoresistance to breast cancer cell lines against doxorubicin. The next chapter will focus on elucidating the mechanistic detail behind the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 and to decipher whether the activation of NF $\kappa$ B within chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines take place through the canonical or non-canonical pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation.

To sum up the above work, it was demonstrated that in high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines, the cross linking activity of TG2 caused the constitutive activation of the Rel A/p65

#### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NF KB activation through an intracellular mechanism

subunit of the NF $\kappa$ B family and does not affect the other NF $\kappa$ B family members such as p105/p50, Rel B, c-Rel and p100/p52. This process of constitutive activation by TG2 was predominantly due to the cross linking of Rel A/p65 to allow the formation of Rel A/p65 high molecular weight forms in the nucleus of the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines. Treating the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with TG2 cell permeable inhibitors as well as TG2 specific siRNA resulted in the down regulation of the activity of NFkB within these cell lines and also resulted in a significant decrease in the high molecular weight form of Rel A/p65 observed in the nucleus. The NF $\kappa$ B activity and Rel A/p65 high molecular weights remain unaltered on being treated with cell impermeable inhibitors as well as TG2 targeting antibodies, which are known to target and inhibit the cell surface activity of TG2 and do not alter endogenous TG2 activity. Treating the breast cancer cell lines with Rel A/p65 specific siRNAs demonstrated that inhibiting the mRNA expression of Rel A/p65 reduced the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in the TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines to similar levels as the parental wild type cells. Moreover, a significant decrease was observed in the nuclear Rel A/p65 high molecular weights indicating that the high molecular weights were only made up by Rel A/p65 subunit of NF $\kappa$ B. The Rel A/p65 siRNAs also reduced the expression of TG2 within the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. This could indicate that a self-regulating molecular response loop where TG2 constitutively activates NFkB (Rel A/p65) which in turn, directly increases the transcription of the TGM2 gene. Also, cell viability studies showed that inhibiting the endogenous activity of TG2, caused the breast cancer cell lines to become chemo sensitive to chemotherapeutic drugs such as doxorubicin, which could be implicated as one of the potential phenotypic consequences of inhibiting the TG2-NFkB molecular loop.

There are still remaining questions to be addressed such as: (1) What is the pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation that TG2 exercises? The classical or canonical pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation that involves IKK or a Non-canonical pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation?; (2) Does the Rel A/p65 high molecular weight bind to DNA and if this Rel A/p65 high molecular weight undergoes any post translational modifications in the cytoplasm or nucleus prior to binding to DNA?; (3) What is

### Chapter 4: TG2 activity results in aberrant NFкB activation through an intracellular mechanism

the nature of the signal transduction that activates the TG2-NF $\kappa$ B loop and key events stemming from this loop such as triggering of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)? The next chapters will explore the signalling pathway, DNA binding and post translational process mediated by constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 by TG2.

# 5. Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ function

#### 5.1 INTRODUCTION

The family members of the NFkB proteins are known to share approximately 300 amino acids in their N-terminal domain known as the Rel homology domain (RHD) which contains crucial sequences for DNA binding, IkB binding and also sites for dimerization (Baeuerle & Henkel, 1994). The different members vary in their C-terminal domain. Rel A/p65, Rel B as well as c-Rel demonstrate trans-activating functions, while on the other hand the p105/p50 and p100/p52 members include inhibitory domains. p100 and p105 are the inactive precursors of the p52 and p50 proteins, respectively (Baldwin, 1996).

In a resting un-stimulated cell, the NF $\kappa$ B family members are localized in the cytoplasm. Proteolytic processing will allow the removal of the C-terminal inhibitory domains, which consequently allows the proteins to translocate and enter the nucleus. p52 and p50 are known to form heterodimers or homodimers with Rel A/p65, Rel B and c-Rel which have a transactivation domain (Hayden & Ghosh, 2008). The NF $\kappa$ B family members are sequestered in the cytoplasm, by their association with I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , I $\kappa$ B $\beta$  and I $\kappa$ B $\gamma$ , which are the members of the inhibitory  $\kappa$ B family, I $\kappa$ B (Oeckinghaus & Ghosh, 2009). The activation of NF $\kappa$ B can result in numerous stimuli, which includes the activation of membrane receptors such as tumour necrosis factor receptors (TNFR) and B cell receptors (BCR) as well as a variety of extracellular stimuli such as osmotic shock and inflammatory cytokines (Ghosh & Karin, 2002)

The activation of these NF $\kappa$ B signalling cascades is due to the phosphorylation of two vital serine residues present on the I $\kappa$ B proteins. This phosphorylation modification of I $\kappa$ B can trigger the ubiquitination and degradation of I $\kappa$ B proteins through proteosome destruction machinery (Ghosh & Hayden, 2008). As an outcome, the free NF $\kappa$ B protein enters into the nucleus which subsequently activates the transcription of a variety of genes which is involved in

pathways that control cellular growth, apoptosis, inflammatory and immune responses as well as developmental processes (Karin & Ben-Neriah, 2000). The above events particularly depend on the activation of upstream IKK complex, which is multimeric. The IKK complex is composed of two highly similar kinases known as IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$ , one non-enzymatic protein called NF $\kappa$ B essential modulator (NEMO) or IKK $\gamma$  as well as a recently identified protein known as ELKS (Madonna, *et al.* 2012). The regulatory component, NEMO is considered absolutely essential for the formation of the IKK complex by binding to specific conserved residues present on the carboxyl terminal of both the IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$  (Zandi, *et al.* 1997).

There are two major activation pathways for NF $\kappa$ B that have been characterized, which have been regarded as the canonical or classical pathway and the non-canonical or alternative pathway. Both of the above pathways have been shown to rely on phosphorylation, induced by external signals and the degradation of the inhibitory molecule, which releases the NF $\kappa$ B protein which shuttles into the nucleus (Pahl, 1999). The signals that prompt activation, identity of the kinases that are activated, the inhibitory molecules and NF $\kappa$ B proteins involved in both the pathways are very different. The classical pathway is usually triggered by pro inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF- $\alpha$ ), which finally leads to the degradation of IkB $\alpha$ , which is the inhibitory NF $\kappa$ B molecule by IKK $\gamma$ /NEMO complex via a TAK1-dependent pathway (Shostak & Chariot, 2011). The non-canonical pathway involves the degradation partially of p100 precursor to form the active p52 through a NIK-dependent pathway. This pathway depends on IKKα homo-dimer and leads ultimately to the nuclear migration of Rel B/p52 hetero-dimers. This pathway plays a vital role in adaptive immunity (Naumann, et al. 1993). In the canonical pathway of NFkB activation, the IKK complex phosphorylates IkB which then induces the proteasomal degradation via ubiquitination. The heterodimers and homodimers of the NFκB family are then capable to migrate into the nucleus and cause the activation of target genes. The classical or canonical pathway involves Rel A: p50 and c-Rel: p50 hetero dimers and strongly depends on the activity of IKKβ activity (Zandi, et al. 1998; Karin & Delhase, 2000; Senftleben, et al. 2001)

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ function

A very common feature found in breast cancer tumour types is the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B, which is known to play a crucial role in cell survival, inflammation, immunity as well as proliferation (Hayden & Ghosh, 2008). Aberrant activation of NF $\kappa$ B results in the continuous and persistent localization of the NF $\kappa$ B proteins to the nucleus. This translocation has been shown to disrupt the balance between cell death and cell proliferation, mainly via the up regulation of anti-apoptotic pathways and proteins (Karin & Lin, 2002). In some breast cancer cells, other mechanisms and pathways are in play that can activate the NF $\kappa$ B pathway. EGF in breast cancer cells has been shown to set off I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  phosphorylation specifically on tyrosine 42 via a pathway that is independent of IKK $\alpha$ / $\beta$ . Previous studies have shown that EGF-induced activation of NF $\kappa$ B occurs without the phosphorylation of serine residues and the subsequent ubiquitination of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , which is independent of IKK (Sethi, *et al.* 2007)

Literature has shown that another prominent feature of TG2 cross-linking activity is the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B in a mechanism by which cytoplasmic I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  is polymerized by TG2 and then subsequently degraded. The TG2 catalyzed cross-linking of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  causes the depletion of the inhibitory - $\kappa$ B protein, without affecting its phosphorylation status. This leads to an aberrant activation of the NF $\kappa$ B pathway which is thought to contribute to inflammation as well as cancer progression (Lee, *et al.* 2004).

The aim of this chapter is to further study the pathway that mediates the constitutive activation of Rel A/ p65 by TG2 and the involvement of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  in this mechanism. Using  $\mu$ calpain inhibitor, calpeptin and IKK $\alpha/\beta$  phosphorylation inhibitor, PS1145, western blot, TG2 whole cell lysate and cell surface activity and NF $\kappa$ B reporter assay were performed to detect the relative levels of activation and expression of TG2 and NF $\kappa$ B. The impact of these inhibitors on the chemoresistant phenotype of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines against doxorubicin was also studied by XTT analysis.

#### 5.2 METHODS

#### 5.2.1 Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with Calpeptin

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT ( $1x10^6$  cells/ dish) were seeded into 60-mm petridishes and grown overnight in 60mm petridishes to become 70-80% confluent. The next day, the cells were treated with 50µM of calpeptin for 6 h as described previously by Kim *et al.* (Kim, *et al.* 2010). After treatment, the breast cancer cell lines were collected and *analysed* by western blot for IkBa and a-Tubulin.

#### 5.2.2 Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with PS1145

3000 cells each of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT were seeded into each well of a 96- well plate and grown to 70-80% confluency overnight. The next day the breast cancer cells were treated with increasing concentrations of PS1145 ( $10\mu$ M,  $15\mu$ M and  $20\mu$ M) for a time course of 24, 48 and 72 h. After the treatment, the breast cancer cell lines were *analysed* using XTT to determine the lowest possible concentration of PS1145 that would maintain the cell viability of the breast cancer cell lines. The optimum concentration of PS1145 to treat the breast cancer cells, without any cytotoxicity to the cells was determined. The results were expressed as percentage of viable cells.

Subsequent to determining the optimum concentration and time course for PS1145 treatment, the breast cancer cell lines ( $1x10^6$  cells/ dish) were seeded into 60-mm petridishes and treated with PS1145. After the treatment time course, the cells were *analysed* using western blot for I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , Rel A/p65, TG2,  $\alpha$ -Tubulin and Lamin A, TG2 whole cell lysate and cell surface activity and NF $\kappa$ B activity.

#### 5.3 RESULTS

#### 5.3.1 Detection of IkB in the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 inhibitors

To determine the status of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  in these breast cancer cell lines, the cytoplasmic fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT, MCF7/RT and the TG2 plasmid and vector plasmid transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cell lines were *analysed* by Western blot using anti-IkBa antibody (described previously in Sections 2.2.3-2.2.6). The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and empty vector transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cell lines illustrated the presence of monomeric  $I\kappa B\alpha$  forms in their cytoplasmic fractions. The TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 cell lines also demonstrated monomeric I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . However, upon extended exposure time, high molecular weight forms of IkBa (approximately 66kDa) were also observed in the cytoplasmic fractions of the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 plasmid transfected SKBR3 and MCF7 breast cancer cell lines. Treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines with the cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitor, Z-DON, these dimeric forms of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  decreased significantly. The cell permeable inhibitor, Z-DON, does not alter the monomeric  $I \kappa B \alpha$  forms observed. The cell impermeable TG2 activity inhibitor, R294, did not cause any change in the IκBα dimers observed the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines (Figure 5.1). These results seem to imply that there is a correlation between the levels of TG2 and the presence of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  dimers in the cytoplasm of breast cancer cell lines. Also as shown previously, the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines that express the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  dimers are chemoresistant to doxorubicin this chemoresistance exhibited could be as a result of the formation of IkBa dimeric forms. Inhibiting the activity of TG2 in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines using Z-DON significantly decreased the activity of TG2 (Chapter III) as well as the presence of the  $I\kappa B\alpha$  dimers, consequently reducing the chemoresistant phenotype of these breast cancer cell lines. Studies done previously by Kim, et al.(2010), has

demonstrated that treating TG2 transfected MCF7 cell lines with cystamine (a TG inhibitor), significantly inhibited the formation of these I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  dimers (Kim, *et al.* 2010).

TG2 in these breast cancer cells seems to mediate the activation of Rel A/ p65 by catalysing the cross linking of the key inhibitor of NF $\kappa$ B, I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . Even in literature, Rel A/p65 cross linking has been shown to be mediated by TG2 along with the degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , which is a known TG2 substrate (Kim, 2006).Therefore, it may be hypothesized that TG2 binds to the Rel A/p65: I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  complex, cross linking the inhibitor protein, I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  as well as the Rel A/p65 to form dimers.





The presence of free I $\kappa$ Ba was detected in the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines using western blot (anti-I $\kappa$ Ba antibody). Ix 10<sup>6</sup> cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 60-mm petridishes and grown overnight to reach 70-80% confluency. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with 500 $\mu$ M of R294 and 50 $\mu$ M of Z-DON. 72 h after treatment, the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected as described in Section 2.2.2. The sub-cellular fractions were analysed using anti-I $\kappa$ Ba antibody (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin to ensure that the proteins had been equally

loaded. (A, C, E) The western blot data shown above is representative of two independent experiments (n=2). (B, D, F) Differences in expression of the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  dimers and monomers as calculated by Image J analysis is represented as mean densitometry readings + SEM. \*p <0.05

#### 5.3.2 Western blot analysis of free IKBa in the presence of Calpeptin.

Previous studies have suggested that TG2 mediated activation of NF-κB was accompanied by the formation of the IkB $\alpha$  polymers. These polymers have also been shown to be degraded through the  $\mu$ -calpain system. These IkBa polymers induced by TG2 have been shown to not accumulate in the breast cancer cells. Inhibiting the degradation of these  $I\kappa B\alpha$  polymers with Calpeptin caused the accumulation of these  $I\kappa B\alpha$  polymers in the cytoplasmic fraction of cells (Kim et al. 2010). The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were treated with 50µM of calpeptin for a time course of 6 h and the whole cell lysate and cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were *analysed* by western blot using anti- IkBa antibody. The high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT, illustrated the presence of high molecular weight protein bands which were seemingly characteristic of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  polymerized forms (Figure 5.2). These results seem to indicate that calpain is very important for the degradation of the polymerized  $I\kappa B\alpha$  form and inhibiting calpain using calpeptin increased the levels of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  polymers present in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines. Activity of TG2 in breast cancer cell lines might result in the polymerization of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  which does not accumulate within the cells and undergoes rapid degradation. This could explain why only dimeric forms of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  were initially detected within the cytoplasmic fractions of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines (Figure 5.1). There seems to be a strong relationship between the formation of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  polymers and expression of TG2. This link can be further confirmed on treating the Clone 16 cells with various TG2 inhibitors and seeing if inhibiting TG2 plays a role in the amount of free  $I\kappa B\alpha$  present in the cell.



Figure 5.2: Evidence for calpain mediated degradation of IκBα polymers induced by TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were seeded in 60mm petridishes  $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells/plate})$  and allowed to become confluent overnight. The breast cancer cell lines were then treated with 50µM of Calpeptin for 6 h. The cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected and subsequently analysed for IkBa expression by western blot using anti-IkBa (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti-a-Tubulin to check the equal loading of proteins. (A) The western blot data shown above is a representation of two independent experiments (n=2). (B) Densitometry analysis was performed and is represented as the mean densitometry + SEM. \* p < 0.05

5.3.3 IKK inhibitor, PS1145 does not block the constitutive activation of NFκB by TG2

#### 5.3.3.1 Killing curve to determine optimum concentration of PS1145

To establish the optimum concentration of PS1145 to treat the breast cancer cells without the inhibitor being cytotoxic, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were treated with increasing concentrations of PS1145 ( $10\mu$ M,  $15\mu$ M and  $20\mu$ M) as described in **Section 5.2.2**. Using this experiment,  $10\mu$ M of PS1145 for a time course of 24 h was selected to be the optimum concentration and longest possible time to treat the breast cancer cell lines, without being cytotoxic to the cells (Figure 5.3)



Figure 5.3 Cell viability analyses of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of PS1145 over a time course

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines (3000 cells/well) were seeded into 96 well plates and allowed to become 70-80% confluent overnight. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with increasing concentrations,  $10\mu M$ ,  $15\mu M$  and  $20\mu M$  of IKK inhibitor, PS1145. After 24, 48 and 72 h of treatment, the cell viability of the breast cancer cell lines was analysed using XTT (Section 2.2.13). Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3).

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ function

#### 5.3.3.2 Activity and expression of NFkB in the presence of PS1145

The breast cancer cell lines were treated with the IKK $\alpha/\beta$  inhibitor, PS1145 to determine the effect of inhibiting the canonical pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation on the levels of NF $\kappa$ B activity within the cell lines. In order to test the NFkB activity levels within the breast cancer cell lines, NFκB/SEAP reporter assay was carried out as described in detail previously (Section 2.2.12). After transfecting the breast cancer cells with the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP reporter plasmid, the cells were subsequently treated with 10µM of PS1145 for a time course of 24 h. The medium that the breast cancer cells were grown in was collected and assayed for the relative amount of SEAP. The MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT, SKBR3/RT, T47D/WT, T47D/RT and empty vector transfected SKBR3 cells demonstrated a considerable decrease in the NFκB activity levels on being treated with PS1145. This observation was comparable to the initial finding that these breast cancer cell lines did not express any TG2. On the other hand, the TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/RT and TG2 transfected SKBR3 breast cancer cell lines did not illustrate a significant decrease in the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels on being treated with PS1145 (Figures 5.4 A, B & C). The slight decrease demonstrated in the NFκB activity could be attributed to the minimal effect of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ . These results could imply that, other than the canonical pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation, another unconventional pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation could be active in the chemoresistant cell lines. Blocking the conventional pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation using a IKK $\alpha/\beta$  inhibitor, PS1145, does not seem to change the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels within the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, which may indicate that the high levels of NF $\kappa$ B activity within these cell lines is due to the constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 induced by TG2.

After determining the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels within these breast cancer cell lines, the relative expression of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of these breast cancer cell lines was detected as well. The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cells were treated with 10 $\mu$ M of PS1145 for 24 h, after which the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the cells were collected as described in **Section 2.2.2**. The sub cellular fractions

were then analysed using anti-Rel A/p65 antibody by western blot. The MDA MB 231 WT cells demonstrated a clear shift in the levels of protein expression from the nucleus to the cytoplasm of Rel A/p65 on being treated with PS1145. This implied that PS1145 was blocking the phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  by IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and the subsequent release of Rel A/p65 into the nucleus, which accounted for the decrease in Rel A/p65 nuclear expression. With respect to the MDA MB 231 Clone 16, the aberrant Rel A/p65 dimer seen in the nucleus remains significantly unchanged on PS1145 treatment (Figure 5.5). These results could indicate that in the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cells lines, the canonical pathway of NF $\kappa$ B activation using IKK $\alpha/\beta$  is not involved in the activation of the aberrant Rel A/p65 dimer. The constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 in the TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines can thus be suggested to be completely independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and dependent on the intracellular transamidating activity of TG2.

(A)



**(B**)



**(C)** 

## Figure 5.4 (A, B & C) Analysis of NFkB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines on treatment with IKK inhibitor, PS1145

The NF $\kappa$ B activity levels of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP Reporter Assay. As described previously in Section 2.2.12,  $5x10^5$  cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into each well of a 6-well plate along and left overnight to attain confluency. The next day, the breast cancer cell lines were transfected with NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10 $\mu$ M of PS1145 over a time course of 24 h. The culture medium was then collected and used for subsequent analysis. Data shown is mean concentration of SEAP ± SE from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p< 0.05 between untreated and PS1145 treated cells. # p<0.05 between cell groups.

### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ function



Figure 5.5 Western blot analysis of Rel A/p65 in the sub cellular fractions of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with PS1145

The IKK $\alpha/\beta$  inhibitor, PS1145 was used to inhibit the phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  by IKK $\alpha/\beta$  and subsequent activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Rel A/p65) via a canonical or classical pathway in the breast cancer cell lines.  $1x10^6$  cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 60-mm petridishes and left to become 70-80% confluent overnight. The next day the sub cellular fractions of the cell lines were obtained as described in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then analysed for the expression of Rel A/p65 using western blotting and anti-Rel A/p65 antibody. Anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin and Lamin A were used as the markers of equal protein loading for the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions and also to ensure that the fractions had not been cross contaminated. (**A**) The western blot data shown above is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B**) Densitometry scans were done of the western blots and are represented as the mean of the densitometry readings + SEM.\* p<0.05

#### 5.3.3.3 NFkB activity and expression in the presence of PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors

To confirm if the constitutively activated NF $\kappa$ B in the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines could be decreased using a combinatorial treatment of both TG2 inhibitors as well as PS1145, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10uM PS1145 for 24 h as well as R283 (500uM) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) for a time course of 72 h. The breast cancer cell lines were then *analysed* for the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels by using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP reporter assay (described in Section 2.2.12). The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cell lines have been previously shown to express no TG2 as well as decreased NF $\kappa$ B activity levels as compared to the respective high TG2 clones. On treating the MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT breast cancer cell lines with 10µM of PS1145 for 24 h resulted in a significant decrease in the NFkB activity within these cells. The cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, do not show any change in the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines. Combination treatment, including PS1145 and cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, resulted in the NFkB activity remaining comparable to the decrease observed on treatment with only PS1145, without any effect of the TG2 activity inhibitors. Conversely, the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines, did not demonstrate a noteworthy decrease in the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels. Treating the breast cancer cell lines with TG2 cell permeable inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, drastically decreased the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines (Figure 5.6). A combination treatment of PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, demonstrated a similar decrease in the NF $\kappa$ B activity which was comparable to the NF $\kappa$ B activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells that were treated with the TG2 cell permeable inhibitors only. These results seem to indicate clearly that the major amount of NFkB activity observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF/RT breast cancer cell lines can be attributed to the high TG2 expression and activity levels within these breast cancer cell lines.

The sub cellular fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cell lines were also collected in order to determine the expression of Rel A/p65 in the nuclear fractions, in the presence of TG2 inhibitors as well as PS1145, by western blotting using anti-Rel A/ p65 antibody. The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT illustrated a clear increase in the Rel A/ p65 expression in the cytoplasmic fraction and a subsequent decrease of Rel A/p65 expression in the nuclear fractions, on being treated with the IKK $\alpha/\beta$  inhibitor, PS1145. On treating the TG2- null breast cancer cell line with TG2 inhibitors, no significant change was observed in the Rel A/p65 expression in the cytoplasmic or nuclear fractions. A combined treatment of PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors on the MDA MB 231 WT cell line, did not show any additional increase in the cytoplasmic expression of Rel A or decrease in the nuclear expression of Rel A/p65, to the change observed on treating these breast cancer cell lines with only PS1145. The high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells do not show any significant change in the aberrant Rel A/p65 dimer observed in the nucleus or the monomeric Rel A/p65 observed in the cytoplasm, on being treated only with the IKK $\alpha/\beta$  inhibitor, PS1145. On treating these high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with PS1145 as well as TG2 cell permeable inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, there was a significant decrease observed in the dimeric Rel A/p65 band in the nucleus of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells (Figure 5.7). Also, treating the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, illustrated a decrease in the aberrant nuclear Rel A/p65 dimer concurrent with the results of Chapter IV. The decrease observed in the nuclear Rel A/p65 dimer of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cell line, on being treated with only the cell permeable TG2 inhibitors as well as in combination of cell permeable TG2 inhibitors and PS1145 is very comparable. This could imply that the decrease observed is only as an effect of the TG2 inhibitors and the IKK inhibitor, PS1145 does not cause any change in the dimeric Rel A/p65 form in the nucleus. These results seem to clearly indicate that the presence of the dimeric Rel A/p65 forms in the nucleus of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines is independent of the conventional NF $\kappa$ B activation pathway wherein IKK $\alpha/\beta$  is known to be a key player. IKK $\alpha/\beta$  is responsible for phosphorylation of inhibitor of NF $\kappa$ B, I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , which

allows the free NF $\kappa$ B complex to translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus of the breast cancer cell lines. Since PS1145 only seems to inhibit the activity of NF $\kappa$ B in the TG2- null breast cancer cells lines, it can be inferred that the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT display constitutively activated NF $\kappa$ B in the form of Rel A/ p65 dimers, which is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  phosphorylation activity. Also, the unconventional pathway observed in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines has been demonstrated to be completely dependent on TG2 as decreasing the intracellular activity of TG2 using R283 and Z-DON, significantly decreased the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels as well as the aberrant Rel A/p65 dimer observed in the nucleus.

### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ function



Figure 5.6 Analysis of NFκB activity levels in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors

The breast cancer cell lines were analysed for the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels on treatment with PS1145 using the NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP Reporter assay.  $5x10^5$  cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 6-well plates and transfected with NF $\kappa$ B/SEAP plasmid. 48 h after transfection, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10 $\mu$ M of PS1145 for 24 h as well as TG2 inhibitors, R283 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) for 72 h and the supernatant was collected for SEAP analysis as described in detail in Section 2.2.12. Data shown is mean concentration of SEAP ± SE from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p< 0.05 between untreated and PS1145 treated cells; \*\*p<0.05 between untreated and TG2 inhibitor treated cells in the presence of PS1145. # p<0.05 between cell groups treated with PS1145.



Figure 5.7 Western blot analysis of Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell line on being treated with PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors

The MDA MB 231 WT (A) and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (C) cells  $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells per dish})$  were seeded into 60-mm petridishes and left overnight to become confluent. The following day, the cells were treated with  $10\mu$ M of PS1145 for 24 h and TG2 inhibitors, R283 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) for 72 h. After the treatment, the cells were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as previously described in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blot for the expression of Rel A/p65 using rabbit polyclonal anti- Rel A/p65 antibody (1:1000). The membranes were then reprobed for anti-Lamin A antibody to check for equal protein loading. (**A & C**) The western blot data is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B & D**) Differences in expression of Rel A/p65 as calculated by Image J analysis is representative of the mean densitometry readings + SEM.

# 5.3.3.4 Activity and expression of TG2 in breast cancer cell lines on treatment with IKK inhibitor, PS1145 and TG2 inhibitors

The breast cancer cell lines were *analysed* for the expression of TG2 in their cytoplasmic fractions as well as the TG2 activity at the cell surface and in their whole cell lysates, on being treated with TG2 activity inhibitors and PS1145. The cell surface and whole cell lysate activity of TG2 in the breast cancer cell lines on being treated with TG2 inhibitors and PS1145 was performed as previously described in Section 2.2.11. The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT did not display any cell surface or whole cell lysate TG2 activity and on treating these breast cancer cell lines with PS1145 and TG2 activity inhibitors no change in the TG2 activity of these cell lines was observed . The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells demonstrated high cell surface TG2 activity as well as whole cell lysate TG2 activity. Treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells with PS1145 did not alter the TG2 activity levels within this cell line. A combination treatment of TG2 activity inhibitors and PS1145 decreased the TG2 cell surface and whole cell lysate activity of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells to a similar level as only treatment with TG2 activity inhibitors. The MCF7/RT cells only demonstrated whole cell lysate TG2 activity, which remains unaltered on treatment with PS1145. Treating the MCF7/RT cell lines with both PS1145 and TG2 activity inhibitors illustrated a decrease in the TG2 whole cell activity of these cells, however, only to the same extent as that of the TG2 inhibitors (Figure 5.8). These results seem to imply that the activity of TG2 seen within these breast cancer cell lines is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  function and so treating these cell lines with PS1145 does not affect the TG2 activity levels.

To verify the results obtained by the TG2 cell surface and whole cell lysate activity assay, western blot analysis was conducted on the breast cancer cell lines to determine the level of TG2 expression in the cytoplasmic fractions on being treated with PS1145. The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10µM of PS1145 for 24 h after which the cytoplasmic fractions of the cell lines were obtained as described in Section 2.2.2. Analysis of the sub cellular fraction using anti-TG2 antibody by western blot
#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NFκB by TG2 is independent of IKKa/β function

revealed no change in the expression of TG2 in the cytoplasmic fractions of the PS1145 treated and untreated MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (Figure 5.9). With the above results, the suggestion that phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  by IKK $\alpha/\beta$  was not essential for the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B as well as expression and activity of TG2 within these breast cancer cell lines can be put forward.



Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF  $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKKa/ $\beta$  function

Figure 5.8 Analysis of the whole cell lysate (A) and cell surface (B) TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with PS1145 and TG2 activity inhibitors

The cell surface and whole cell lysate TG2 activity assay of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed by the incorporation of biotinylated cadaverine into fibronectin. Positive control (50

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NFκB by TG2 is independent of IKKα/β function

 $ng/ml \ gplTG + 10mM \ CaCl_2$ ) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.28576 ± 0.29475(A); 1.214834 ± 0.218435 (B). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.05 between untreated and TG2 inhibitor treated cells in the presence on PS1145.

## Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NFκB by TG2 is independent of IKKa/β function



Figure 5.9 Analysis of the expression of TG2 in the cytoplasmic fractions of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with PS1145

The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16  $(1x10^6 \text{ cells per dish})$  were seeded into 60mm petridishes and left overnight to become 70-80% confluent. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10µM of PS1145 for 24 h after which the cytoplasmic fractions of the cells were obtained as described in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fraction was then analysed for the expression of TG2 by western blot using mouse monoclonal anti-TG2antibody (Cub 74202)(1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to ensure equal loading of protein. (A) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (B) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is represented as the mean densitometry + SEM.

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NFκB by TG2 is independent of IKKα/β function

#### 5.3.3.5 Chemo sensitivity of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin on being treated with PS1145

As an important intracellular molecule in the NF $\kappa$ B signalling pathway, the role of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  was investigated using a IKK $\alpha/\beta$  specific inhibitor, PS1145 to treat the breast cancer cell lines. XTT analysis of the breast cancer cell lines in the presence of PS1145 and doxorubicin was done to investigate whether the presence of PS1145 would decrease chemoresistance of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines to doxorubicin treatment.

The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cell lines showed a considerable loss in cell viability, in the presence of doxorubicin (1 $\mu$ g/ml). Treating the MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cell lines with PS1145 in the presence of doxorubicin, further decreased the cell viability. On the other hand the TG2 high MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines demonstrated reduced loss in cell viability in the presence of doxorubicin (1 $\mu$ g/ml). Even on treating these high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with PS1145 in the presence of doxorubicin, no significant decrease was demonstrated in cell viability (Figure 5.10)

These results could imply that blocking the basal activation of NF $\kappa$ B by the canonical pathway in the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells rendered these cells more susceptible to doxorubicin. Also since the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells demonstrated no significant decrease in cell viability when treated with PS1145 in the presence doxorubicin, the expression and activity of TG2 in the cells could be contributing to constitutively activating the NF $\kappa$ B survival pathway in a manner independent to IKK $\alpha/\beta$ .

## Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKKa/ $\beta$ function



#### Figure 5.10 The effect of PS1145 treatment on the cell viability of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin

3000 cells each of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were seeded per well into a 96-well plate and left overnight. The next day the cells were treated with doxorubicin (1µg/ml) for 72 h and 10µM of PS1145 for 24 h. After treatment, the cell viability of the breast cancer cell lines was analysed using XTT assay. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability +SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. # p < 0.05 between cell groups treated with PS1145 in the presence of doxorubicin.

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ function

#### 5.4 **DISCUSSION**

Calpeptin is a cell-permeable inhibitor of  $\mu$ -calpain, which is a calcium-dependent neutral nonlysosomal thiol protease that has been found in numerous eukaryotic cells (Suzuki, *et al.* 2004). Previous studies have shown that  $\mu$ -calpain is responsible for the regulated signalling of NF $\kappa$ B in skeletal muscles. Also, reports have also shown that  $\mu$ -calpain can direct free I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  into the PEST domain for subsequent degradation, thus implicating calpain to be an important player in the activation of NF $\kappa$ B. In human HepG2 cells, Han *et al.* in 1999 demonstrated that calpain provided a proteolytic degradation pathway which was parallel to the ubiquitin pathway followed by TNF $\alpha$  mediated I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  degradation (Han, *et al.* 1999). In WEH1231 B cells, the rapid degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  was also shown not dependent on the ubiquitin proteosome pathway, but regulated by calpain inhibitors or even calcium chelating agents (Miyamoto, *et al.* 1998).

In the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines, constitutive activation of NFκB was observed as previously demonstrated in chapter 4. In the cytoplasmic fractions of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells, IκBα dimers were observed as opposed to the monomeric forms of free IκBα in the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines. Inhibiting TG2 in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines has previously been shown to decrease NFκB activity within these cells. On treatment with the cell-permeable TG2 inhibitor, Z-DON, the dimeric IκBα complex has also been demonstrated to decrease. The TG2 null breast cancer cell lines did not demonstrate any IκBα dimers which may imply that the IκBα dimers were characteristic to transamidating activity of TG2.

In the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines, there is evidence to suggest that a novel system for degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  was in function. Previous studies done by Kim, *et al.*(2010) also reported that a TG2-calpain system was active in high TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines which may be a possible mechanism by which NF $\kappa$ B could be constitutively activated in these cells. In this study, treating the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with the  $\mu$ -calpain inhibitor calpeptin increased the presence of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  polymers in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells. Also, TG2 has been shown to catalyze the cross

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B by TG2 is independent of IKKa/ $\beta$ function

linking of IkB $\alpha$  protein molecules at lysine 33, 36 and 177 as well as glutamines 313, 267 and 266 (Folk & Chung, 1985). This cross-linking of IkB $\alpha$  mediated by TG2 would result in the release of the NFkB (Rel A/p65) molecule and subsequent degradation by the  $\mu$ -calpain proteosomal degradation pathway, which would result in accumulation of the IkB $\alpha$  dimers within the cytoplasmic fractions of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. In this way, TG2 could regulate the activation of NFkB in breast cancer cell lines independent of ubiquitination.

To determine whether the constitutive activation of NFkB (Rel A/p65) as well as the polymerization and subsequent degradation of  $I\kappa B\alpha$  was dependent on the phosphorylation of IkBa by IKKa/ $\beta$  or independent of IKKa/ $\beta$  and dependent on TG2, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with the IKK phosphorylation inhibitor, PS1145. Studies determined that in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, treatment with PS1145 did not significantly decrease the NF $\kappa$ B activity or the formation of the Rel A/ p65 dimers in the nuclear fractions. On the other hand, in the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines, PS1145 significantly reduced the NFkB activity of the cells and also prevented the translocation of monomeric Rel A/p65 from the cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction. This could imply that the activity of NF $\kappa$ B in the TG2 breast cancer cell lines was reliant on TG2 activity and expression, as opposed to the classical pathway present in the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines, wherein the NFkB activity is dependent on phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  by IKK  $\alpha/\beta$ . These results suggest that in breast cancer cell lines that display high levels of TG2, a calpain and TG2-based pathway might provide an alternative degradation pathway to the classical ubiquitin - proteosome pathway of IkB $\alpha$  degradation (Han, et al. 1999). Since the NF $\kappa$ B family member activated in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines has been determined to be Rel A/p65 dimeric forms, which is independent of  $I\kappa B\alpha$ phosphorylation by IKK, the constitutive activation of Rel A/ p65 dimers can be attributed to a canonical pathway which is non-conventional. The effect of PS1145 treatment on the expression and activity levels of TG2 was further validated by western blot analysis, whole cell lysate and cell surface TG2 activity assays. No significant change was observed in the expression or activity levels of TG2 in the breast cancer cell lines on treatment with PS1145.

#### Chapter 5: Constitutive activation of NFκB by TG2 is independent of IKKα/β function

The NF $\kappa$ B family member Rel A/p65 has been previously shown to cause TG2 mRNA expression in cultured breast cancer cell lines as the *TGM2* gene has been revealed to contain two NF $\kappa$ B consensus binding sites (Ai, *et al.* 2012 ; Caccamo, *et al.* 2005). Moreover, the chemoresistant properties of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines could not be reversed with PS1145 treatment. This provides evidence to support that the constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 dimers that confer chemoresistant phenotype to TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines is independent of IKK function, enumerating a deviation from the classical NF $\kappa$ B activation pathway.

To summarize the above observations, this chapter's work demonstrates that the constitutive activation of Rel A/ p65 dimers mediated by TG2 is via the cross linking of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  to form dimers and polymers which are degraded spontaneously through the  $\mu$ -calpain proteosomal degradation pathway and is also independent of IKK $\alpha$ / $\beta$  phosphorylation function. Importantly, inhibiting IKK $\alpha$ / $\beta$  function using PS1145 did not reduce the chemoresistant phenotype of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines or decrease the activity and expression of TG2.

## 6. Phosphorylated status of the cross linked Rel A/p65 dimer is necessary for *TGM2* gene expression and chemoresistance

#### **6.1 INTRODUCTION**

The activation of the NF $\kappa$ B signalling pathway is dependent on various external stimuli (Hayden & Ghosh, 2004). The activation of this pathway will allow the translocation of the NF $\kappa$ B transcription factors from the cytoplasm to the nucleus of cells. The NF $\kappa$ B subunits, either homo-dimers or hetero-dimers, are held in the cytoplasm by a family of proteins known as the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  or inhibitors of NF $\kappa$ B. On receiving external stimuli, the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  proteins are phosphorylated by IKK $\alpha$ , IKK $\beta$  or IKK $\gamma$ , ubiquitinylated and subsequently degraded proteolytically. This allows the NF $\kappa$ B subunits to move into the nucleus (Karin & Ben-Neriah, 2000).

Several studies have shown that the NF $\kappa$ B family of proteins can be modified posttranslationally and these alterations can greatly influence the transcriptional activity of the NF $\kappa$ B subunits (Chen, *et al.* 2001) For example, the S- nitrosylation of cysteine 65 of the p50 subunit has been shown to greatly affect the binding of the p50 member to DNA (Marshall & Stamler, 1999) . Similarly, reports have demonstrated that Rel A/p65 can undergo phosphorylation as a response to some external stimulating factors (Vermeulen, *et al.* 2002). Phosphorylation of Serine 276 in Rel A/p65 by protein kinase A has been shown to be essential during I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  degradation as well as for the recruitment of p300/ CREB binding protein to Rel A/p65 in order to activate transcription (Zhong, *et al.* 2002) The phosphorylation of serine 536 by I $\kappa$ B kinases and serine 529 by casein kinase II (Wang, *et al.* 2000) after either LPS or TNF- $\alpha$ stimulation has also been demonstrated to increase transcriptional activity (Okazaki, *et al.* 2003). Studies done by Sasaki *et al.* in 2005 clearly demonstrated that the phosphorylation of

serine residues of Rel A/p65 were not associated with either p50 or IkB $\alpha$  and MG-132 which is a known proteosome inhibitor, reduced the translocation of Rel A/p65 to the nucleus but the phospho-Rel A/p65 remained unaffected (Sasaki, *et al.* 2005). Also, dominant-negative mutants of IkBa were shown to decrease the transcriptional activity of Rel A/p65 but the phosphodimeric form of serine 536 p65 remained unaltered. This seems to suggest that phospho-Ser 536-p65 translocates into the nucleus immediately after activation and was not regulated by IkB $\alpha$  function. The implications of serine phosphorylation at residue 536 in the regulation of the transactivating potential of TG2 has not yet been clearly defined (Sasaki, *et al.* 2005). The direct post translational modification of Rel A/ p65 subunits of the NFkB family involves the phosphorylation of the C- terminal domain (Harris, *et al.* 2006).

Numerous serine 536 kinases have been described such as IKK $\alpha$ , IKK $\beta$ , IKK $\epsilon$  as well as NF $\kappa$ B activating kinase (Vermeulen, et al. 2003; Viatour, et al. 2005; Sakurai, et al. 1999; Sizemore, et al. 2002; Jiang, et al. 2003; Buss, et al. 2004; Lawrence, et al. 2005). Even though IKKE is structurally very similar to IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$  with a C-terminal leucine domain, N-terminal kinase domains as well as helix-loop-helix domains, IKKE only shares about 27% of primary sequence identity with IKKa (Kishore, et al. 2002). Studies done previously have determined that IKK $\varepsilon$  can directly phosphorylate Rel A/ p65, even though the exact physiological relevance of these events remains to be established. Mutation of the Ser 536 site to Alanine has also been shown to decrease the phosphorylation induced by IKK $\varepsilon$ , which may implicate that the phosphorylation site of IKK on Rel A/ p65 was specific to Serine 536 (Buss, et al. 2004). Following genotoxic stress in cells, IKKE can enter into the nucleus of the cell in a kinase dependent manner, wherein IKKE can phosphorylate PML nuclear bodies allowing the retention of the IKK complex in the nucleus. Within these sub nuclear bodies, IKK can undergo SUMO modification which will subsequently allow the phosphorylation of the nuclear substrate including Rel A/ p65, that will therefore contribute to the anti-apoptotic and chemoresistant properties in response to damaged DNA (Renner, et al. 2010)

Various stimuli can induce the phosphorylation of Rel A/ p65 at serine 536 and the pathways that are responsible for this post-translational modification have to yet be deciphered. Previous results have reported that using RNA interference to block IKK $\alpha/\beta$ ; dominant-negative mutants of IKK as well as SC-514 (a specific IKK $\beta$  inhibitor) did not block the Ser 536 phosphorylation of Rel A/ p65. On the other hand, over expression of IKK $\epsilon$  has been shown to phosphorylate Ser 536 both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Buss, *et al.* 2004). Studies conducted by Adli and Baldwin in 2006, demonstrated that IKK $\epsilon$  was expressed highly in breast cancer cell lines and also involved in the regulation of Rel A/ p65 at Serine 536 (Adli & Baldwin, 2006). Decreasing the expression of IKK $\epsilon$  or expressing a S536A mutant form of Rel A/ p65 suppressed the proliferation of cancer cells which clearly indicated that IKK $\epsilon$  played a crucial role in the regulation of the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B activity (Adli & Baldwin, 2006).

Studies conducted on breast cancer cell lines illustrated that Rel A/ p65 interacted with two separate NF $\kappa$ B binding sites within the *TGM2* gene promoter. In conditions of genotoxic stress, breast cancer cell lines demonstrated a high association of Rel A/ p65 with the *TGM2* promoter. Also, mutating the - $\kappa$ B binding sites or use of NF $\kappa$ B pharmacological inhibitors decreased the *TGM2* promoter activity significantly (Ai, *et al.* 2012). With this, a novel loop wherein Rel A/p65 and TG2 activated each other resulted in a sustained activation of Rel A/ p65 as well as a chemoresistant phenotype could be hypothesized. Numerous literature reports have also suggested that NF $\kappa$ B has transcriptional control over the baseline expression of the *TGM2* gene in numerous cancer cells (Chen, *et al.* 2008 ; Kim, 2011).

In this chapter, IKK $\epsilon$  was identified as the Rel A/ p65 kinase that induces the phosphorylation of Ser 536 in response to constitutive activation by TG2. Using BX795, which is a specific IKK $\epsilon$  inhibitor, the phosphorylated status of Serine 536 in Rel A/p65 was determined using western blot. In Chapter IV, inhibiting Rel A/p65 using siRNA demonstrated a decrease in the activity and expression of TG2 within breast cancer cell lines. In order to further confirm these findings and study the post-translational modifications of the Rel A/ p65 dimer, a NF $\kappa$ B p65

(Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide was used to detect the binding of the dimers to  $-\kappa B$  binding

sites on DNA.

#### 6.2 METHODS

#### 6.2.1 Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with BX795

BX795 was developed as a small molecule inhibitor which could significantly inhibit IKK $\epsilon$ levels at low concentrations *in vitro* (Bain, *et al.* 2007) and was specific to IKK $\epsilon$  as BX795 did not inhibit other protein kinases such as IKK $\alpha$  /IKK $\beta$  (Clark, *et al.* 2009). Using BX795 the role and regulation of IKK $\epsilon$  in breast cancer cell lines can be determined. 3000 cells each of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were seeded into each well of a 96- well plate and grown to 70-80% confluency overnight. The next day the breast cancer cells were treated with increasing concentrations of BX795 (10µM, 15µM and 20µM) for time courses of 24, 48 and 72 h. After the treatment, the breast cancer cell lines were *analysed* using XTT to determine the appropriate concentration of BX795 that would not be cytotoxic to the cells. These results were expressed as the percentage of viable cells.

After determining the optimum concentration and time course of BX795 treatment, the breast cancer cell lines  $(1x10^6 \text{ cells/dish})$  were seeded into 60 mm petridishes and treated with BX795. After the time course of treatment, the breast cancer cell lines were subsequently used for further experiments.

# 6.2.2 Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide set that contains Rel A/p65 inhibitor peptide as well as a control peptide was purchased from IMGENEX (Catalogue Number: IMG-2003). The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide blocks Rel A/ p65 Serine 529/536 phosphorylation during NF $\kappa$ B activation which inhibits the binding of Rel A/ p65 to DNA. The main function of the NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide is to inhibit the activation of NF $\kappa$ B. The sequences of the inhibitory peptides are as follows:

#### NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide: DRQIKIWFQNRRMKWKK<u>NGLLSGDEDFSS</u>

(p65 sequence is underlined)

#### Control Peptide: DRQIKIWFQNRRMKWKK

According to the manufacturer's instructions,  $100\mu$ M of both the NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and the control peptide was used to treat the breast cancer cell lines for a time course of 1 h. The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide contains the PTD (protein transduction sequence) - DRQIKIWFQNRRMKWKK, renders the peptide cell permeable. The Control peptide in this set only consists of the PTD sequence.

Subsequently, the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected as described in **Section 2.2.2**. Western blot analysis was performed on the sub cellular fractions to analyse the expression of TG2,  $\alpha$ -Tubulin as well as TG2 whole cell lysate activity assay.

#### 6.2.3 Detection of the phosphorylated status of Rel A/ p65 dimers via co-

#### immunoprecipitation

Co-immunoprecipitation assays were performed to detect the phosphorylated status of Rel A/ p65 dimers in the breast cancer cell lines that were treated with BX795 for a time course of 48 h and subsequently fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions (**Section 2.2.2**). Briefly, rabbit anti- Rel A/ p65 polyclonal antibody and protein A beads were used to pull down the Rel A/ p65 immunocomplex in the pre-cleared cytoplasmic and nuclear samples. Western blotting was used to detect the presence of serine phosphorylation in the immunoprecipitated complex using mouse anti-phosphoserine monoclonal antibody (**Section 2.2.8**).

#### 6.2.4 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) and PCR

The translocation of the NF $\kappa$ B subunit Rel A/p65 to the - $\kappa$ B sites of particular NF $\kappa$ B gene promoter targets in the breast cancer cell lines was assessed via ChIP assay using the

ExactaChIP <sup>TM</sup> Human Rel A Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Kit (Catalogue Number EC5078). The ChIP assay was performed as described in detail in Section 2.2.16.1. The immunoprecipitated DNA was subjected to PCR as introduced in Section 2.2.16.2. The primer pairs used for the PCR analysis used for the *TGM2*, *p21 and GAPDH* gene promoter is as summarized in Section 2.1.3. The *p21* gene promoter was used as a positive control and *GAPDH* was used as the house keeping gene. The PCR samples were then further *analysed* by 1.5% Agarose gel electrophoresis (in 1x TAE).

#### 6.3 RESULTS

# 6.3.1 Phosphorylated status of the Rel A/p65 dimer to DNA in breast cancer cell lines

NFκB activity is controlled in several stages by post-translational modifications including the phosphorylation of the transactivating Rel A/p65 subunit at various serine sites. To determine if the Rel A/ p65 dimers underwent phosphorylation at serine sites, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines were immunoprecipitated with anti- Rel A/ p65 antibody and the resulting immunoprecipitates were subjected to immunoblotting using anti-phosphoserine antibody.

Results shown in Figure 6.1 clearly indicated that Rel A/ p65 was phosphorylated at a serine residue in the nucleus of high TG2 breast cancer cell lines as revealed by the presence of a distinct phosphoserine pull down band in the Rel A/ p65 immunoprecipitates. The TG2-null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cell lines did not display any pull down phosphoserine band. Furthermore, in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines, the dimeric Rel A/ p65 form observed in the nucleus was found to be phosphorylated at a serine residue, while the monomeric Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic fraction as well as the nuclear fraction did not undergo the post translational modification. These results clearly indicate that in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, the Rel A/ p65 dimers present in the nuclear fractions underwent post translational modification on a serine site.



Figure 6.1 Analysis of the phosphorylated serine status of Rel A/ p65 dimers in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines using coimmunoprecipitation.

The phosphorylated status of the Rel A/ p65 dimers was detected in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines using western blotting (anti-phosphoserine antibody).  $1x10^{6}$  cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 60-mm petridishes and grown overnight to reach 70-80% confluency. The next day, the breast cancer cell lines were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then immunoprecipitated using anti-Rel A/p65 antibody and the immune complex then analysed by western blotting using anti-phosphoserine antibody (1:1000). (A) The western blot data shown above is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (B) Densitometry analysis was performed using Image J and the data shown is represented as the mean densitometry  $\pm$  SE.

6.3.2 Treatment of breast cancer cells with IKKε phosphorylation specific inhibitor, BX795

#### 6.3.2.1 Killing curve to determine optimum concentration of BX795

To establish the optimum concentration of BX795 to treat the breast cancer cell lines without the inhibitor being cytotoxic, the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines were treated with increasing concentrations of BX795 ( $10\mu$ M,  $15\mu$ M and  $20\mu$ M) over a time course as described in **Section 6.2.1**.  $10\mu$ M of BX795 over a time course of 48 h was selected to be the optimum concentration and longest possible time course to treat the breast cancer cell lines, without causing cytotoxicity to the cells (Figure 6.2)



Figure 6.2 Cell viability analyses of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of BX795 over a time course

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines (3000 cells/well) were seeded into 96 well plates and allowed to become 70-80% confluent overnight. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with increasing concentrations,  $10\mu M$ ,  $15\mu M$  and  $20\mu M$  of IKK $\epsilon$  inhibitor, BX795. After 24, 48 and 72 h of treatment, the cell viability of the breast cancer cell lines was analysed using XTT (Section 2.2.13). The data shown is the percentage of viable cells measured in triplicate + SEM. The untreated cells (Unt) have been taken as 100% cell viability.

#### 6.3.2.2 Detection of the phosphorylated serine status of Rel A/ p65 dimers by coimmunoprecipitation in the presence of BX795

Results from the previous chapters indicated that IKKα/β was not involved in the constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 dimers by TG2 as PS1145 failed to demonstrate any significant decrease in the Rel A/p65 dimers, NFkB activity, TG2 protein expression and activity as well as chemoresistance. To determine whether the dimeric Rel A/ p65 form was phosphorylated on serine residues by IKKε present in the nucleus, the effect of the IKKε phosphorylation inhibitor, BX795 was studied. The high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10µM of BX795 for 48 h and immunoprecipitated using anti-Rel A/ p65 antibody (0.5µg/sample). Protein A beads were then used to pull down the Rel A/ p65 immune complex which was subsequently *analysed* by western blotting using anti-phosphoserine antibody to detect the presence of the phosphorylated serine antigen. The results obtained clearly indicated that treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT with BX795 decreased the phosphorylated serine status of the Rel A/p65 dimers in the nucleus of these breast cancer cell lines (Figure 6.3). This also implies that the phosphorylation of a serine residue of Rel A/p65 dimers was as a result of IKKε activity as BX795 inhibited the serine phosphorylation.



Figure 6.3 Analysis of phosphorylated serine status of Rel A/ p65 dimers in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of breast cancer cell lines using co-mmunoprecipitation, in the presence of BX795

The phosphorylated status of the Rel A/ p65 dimers was detected in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines using western blot (anti-phosphoserine antibody (1:1000)).  $1x10^6$  cells each of MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell line was seeded into 60-mm petridishes and grown overnight to reach 70-80% confluency. The next day, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with  $10\mu$ M of BX795 for a time course of 48 h. After the treatment, the breast cancer cell lines were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then immunoprecipitated using anti-Rel A/p65 antibody and the immune complex was then analysed by western blot using anti-phosphoserine antibody (1:1000) (**A**). The western blot data shown above is representative of three independent experiments (n=3). Densitometry scans were quantified (**B**) by Image J analysis and are represented as mean of densitometry + SEM. \* p< 0.05.

#### 6.3.2.3 Western blot analysis of pSer536-Rel A/p65 in breast cancer cell lines

Previously published literature has established that IKK phosphorylates the serine 536 residue on Rel A/ p65, on being constitutively activated as a response to various cellular stimuli. To identify this, the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT, Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were treated with the IKKE inhibitor, BX795 as well as the cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitor, Z-DON and then *analysed* by western blotting using antipSer536- Rel A/p65 antibody. The TG2 low MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells did not express any pSer536- Rel A/p65 in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in previous sections. On the other hand, the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells demonstrated phosphorylation at the Serine 536 residue of the Rel A/ p65 dimer in the nuclear fraction. The IKKE phosphorylation inhibitor, BX795 decreased the serine 536 phosphorylation of the Rel A/p65 dimers. Also, as previous results indicated, the cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitor, Z-DON, decreased the Rel A/ p65 dimers which subsequently decreased the pSer 536- Rel A/p65 dimers (Figure 6.4). These results clearly imply that the serine 536 residue of the Rel A/ p65 dimer of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines was phosphorylated as a post translational modification. Also, this phosphorylated serine 536 residues seemed to be a characteristic of the nuclear Rel A/ p65 dimers. This phosphorylation of the Rel A/ p65 dimer at the serine 536 residue can be attributed to the kinase activity of the IKKE member of the IKK family of proteins as BX795, which is a specific IKK $\varepsilon$  phosphorylation inhibitor, decreases the phosphorylated status of the Rel A/ p65 dimer.



## Figure 6.4 Analysis of pSer 536 - Rel A/ p65 dimers in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of BX795

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16 (A), MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT (C) breast cancer cell lines ( $5x10^{5}$  cells/well) were seeded into 6-well plates and left overnight to become 70-80% confluent. The next day, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with  $10\mu$ M of BX795 for 48 h and  $50\mu$ M of Z-DON for 72 h. After the treatment, the breast cancer cell lines were fractionated into the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as described in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fractions were then analysed by western blotting (A & C) using anti-pSer 536- RelA/ p65 antibody (1:1000). The membranes were then reprobed using anti-Lamin A and anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to ensure that the protein is equally loaded. The western blot data shown above is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3).(**B** &**D**) Differences in the expression of pSer 536- RelA/ p65 dimers in the treated and untreated samples was calculated using Densitometry was carried out and data is shown as the mean densitometry + SEM. \* p <0.05

# 6.3.2.4 Decreased TG2 expression and activity in breast cancer cell lines treated with BX795

To determine if the phosphorylated serine status of the Rel A/p65 dimers was crucial for TG2 expression and activity, the breast cancer cell lines were *analysed* for the expression of TG2 by western blotting in the cytoplasmic fractions as well as the whole cell lysate.TG2 activity was also measured on being treated with IKKE inhibitor, BX795. The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were treated with 10µM of BX795 for a time course of 48 h and *analysed* by western blot for TG2 expression and TG2 whole cell lysate activity as described in Sections 2.2.3 - 2.2.6 and Section 2.2.11 respectively. On analysing the TG2 expression within the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines, there was a clear indication that BX795 treatment decreased the TG2 expression within these high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. Inhibiting the phosphorylation of the Rel A/p65 dimer at the serine 536 site seems to reduce the expression of TG2. This could be because the post translational modification of the Rel A/ p65 dimer is essential for the expression of TG2 (Figure 6.5). To further verify these results, the TG2 whole cell lysate activity of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed. The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT did not demonstrate any TG2 whole cell lysate activity and on treating these breast cancer cell lines with BX795, no change in the TG2 levels within the cells was found The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines demonstrated a high level of whole cell lysate TG2 activity and treatment with BX795 illustrated a considerable decrease in the TG2 activity within these cells (Figure 6.6). These results clearly indicated that the serine 536 phosphorylation of the Rel A/ p65 dimer by IKK $\varepsilon$  in the nucleus was essential for the expression and subsequent activity of TG2 within the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines.



# Figure 6.5 Analysis of the expression of TG2 in the cytoplasmic fractions of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with BX795

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines ( $5x10^5$  cells per well) were seeded into a 6 well plate and left overnight to become confluent. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with  $10\mu$ M of BX795 for 48 h after which the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were obtained as described in Section 2.2.2. (**A**) The cytoplasmic fractions were then analysed for the expression of TG2 by western blot using monoclonal anti-TG2 antibody (TG100) (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to correct for protein loading. The western blot data shown is representative of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B**) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and is represented as mean densitometry + SEM. \* p < 0.05



Figure 6.6 Analysis of whole cell lysate TG2 activity in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with BX795

The whole cell lysate TG2 activity of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed using the incorporation of biotinylated cadaverine into fibronectin as described in Section 2.2.11. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.31038  $\pm$  0.401384). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. \* p<0.05 between untreated and BX795 treated cells.

#### 6.3.2.5 Analysis of IκBα dimers and p50/p105 NFκB subunits in breast cancer cell lines on being treated with BX795

To determine if treatment with IKK $\varepsilon$  phosphorylation inhibitor, BX795 had any effect on the IkB $\alpha$  dimer and p50/p105 expression, western blot analysis was performed on the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines. The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10µM of BX795 for a time course of 48 h and then *analysed* by western blotting using anti-IkB $\alpha$  antibody and anti-p50/p105 antibody. On analysis of the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines using anti-IkB $\alpha$  antibody, the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT cells illustrated the presence of monomeric IkB $\alpha$ , which does not change on being treated with BX795. As previously demonstrated, the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 showed the presence of IkB $\alpha$  dimers in the cytoplasmic fractions. Treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells with BX795 did not change the status of the IkB $\alpha$  dimers within these cells (Figure 6.7 A). This could imply that inhibiting the phosphorylation of IKK $\varepsilon$  did not cause any change in the IkB $\alpha$  dimers in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. Furthermore, the p50/p105 subunit also remains unchanged in the high and low TG2 expressing breast cancer cell lines. These results indicate that inhibiting the kinase function of IKK $\varepsilon$  does not have any effect on the p50/p105 subunit of NF $\kappa$ B (Figure 6.7 C)



## Figure 6.7 Western blot analysis of IκBa and p50/p105 NFκB subunit of NFκB in breast cancer cells on being treated with BX795

The MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells were seeded into 6-well plates  $(5x10^5$  cells/well) and left overnight to become 70-80% confluent. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with 10µM of BX795 for 48 h after which the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were derived as described in section 2.2.2 and analysed by western blotting (**A & C**) using anti-IkBa antibody (1:1000) and anti- p50/p105 antibody (1:500). The membranes were then reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ - Tubulin and anti- Lamin A to correct for protein loading. The western blot data shown above is a representation of two independent experiments (n=2). (**B& D**) Densitometry analysis was performed using image J and represented as mean densitometry + SEM.

#### 6.3.2.6 Chemosensitivity of breast cancer cell lines on treatment with BX795 and

#### TG2 inhibitors in the presence of doxorubicin.

XTT analysis of the breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin and BX795 and TG2 cell permeable inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON) was performed to investigate whether treatment with BX795 would increase the chemosensitivity of high TG2 breast cancer cell lines in response to doxorubicin treatment in a comparable manner to the TG2 cell permeable inhibitors as described previously. The TG2 low MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cell lines demonstrated a considerable decrease in the loss of cell viability, in the presence of 1µg/ml of doxorubicin and further treatment with 10µM of BX795 or TG2 inhibitors, R283 (500µM) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M) did not change the chemosensitive phenotype of these breast cancer cell lines. On the other hand, the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines that were inherently resistant to 1µg/ml of doxorubicin illustrated a considerable loss in the cell viability on being treated with 10µM of BX795 (Figure 6.8). This decrease in cell viability was consistent with the decrease observed on decreasing the TG2 activity levels within these high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. These results are clearly indicative that the phosphorylation of serine 536 of the Rel A/ p65 dimer is essential for the chemoresistance against doxorubicin in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 6.8 The effect of BX795 and TG2 cell permeable inhibitor treatment on the cell viability of breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin

3000 cells each of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were seeded per well into a 96-well plate and left overnight. The next day the cells were treated with 10µM of BX795 for 48 h, 500µM of R283 and 50µM of Z-DON for 72 h in the presence of 1µg/ml of doxorubicin for 72 h. After treatment, the cell viability of the breast cancer cell lines was analysed using XTT assay. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test. \* p<0.01 between cells treated with either BX795 or TG2 inhibitors in the presence of doxorubicin.

6.3.3 Treatment of breast cancer cell lines with NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

#### 6.3.3.1 Decreased TG2 expression and activity in the presence NFκB p65

#### (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

Previous published data (Kim, et al. 2006), has clearly shown that during a DNA damage response, expression of TG2 is significantly up regulated and the use of pharmacological inhibitors of NF $\kappa$ B can inhibit this event. This could imply that high levels of Rel A/p65 sub unit could bind to the TGM2 gene promoter (Ai, et al. 2012) The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were transfected with NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide as described in **Section 6.2.2** and the whole cell lysates of these breast cancer cell lines were collected (Section 2.2.2). The whole cell lysate fractions of these breast cancer cell lines treated with NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and negative control peptide were *analysed* for TG2 activity (Section 2.2.11) and the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were *analysed* for the TG2 expression using western blot analysis (Sections 2.2.3-2.2.6). The MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells do not express any TG2 activity in the whole cell lysate fractions, which remains unchanged on being treated with NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide. On the contrary, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells that are known to exhibit TG2 activity show a significant decrease in the TG2 activity levels on being treated with the NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide (Figure 6.9). The negative control inhibitory peptide does not cause any change in the TG2 activity levels of the breast cancer cell lines. Similarly, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells also illustrated a significant decrease in the expression of TG2 on being treated with the NFkB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide (Figure 6.10). These results seem to clearly indicate that inhibiting the binding of Rel A/p65 dimers to DNA causes a significant decrease in the TG2 activity and expression in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. This further confirms that Rel A/ p65 has a -kB binding site

on the TGM2 gene promoter which allows the control of TG2 expression and activity within the

high TG2 breast cancer cell lines.



Figure 6.9 Analysis of TG2 whole cell lysate activity in the presence of NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

The whole cell lysate fractions of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT after treatment with  $100\mu$ M of NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and negative control inhibitory peptide over a time course of 1 h were collected and analysed for the TG2 activity as described in Section 2.2.11 by biotinylated cadaverine incorporation into fibronectin. Positive control (50 ng/ml gplTG + 10mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) was taken to be 100% TG2 activity (1.29836 ± 0.31932). Data shown above is mean percentage TG2 activity ± SE from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. \* p<0.05 between untreated and p65 inhibitory peptide treated cells.



# Figure 6.10 Western blot analysis of TG2 expression in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of NFKB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide

NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide was used to inhibit the binding of Rel A/p65 dimers to the - $\kappa$ B site on the TGM2 gene promoter.  $5x10^5$  cells (per well) each of MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT were seeded into 6 well plates and left overnight. The next day, the breast cancer cells were treated with 100 $\mu$ M of NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and negative control inhibitory peptide over a time course of 1 h. After the treatment, the cytoplasmic fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected as described in detail in Section 2.2.2. The sub cellular fraction was then analysed for TG2 expression by western blot as described in sections 2.2.3-2.2.6 using mouse monoclonal anti-TG2antibody (1:1000). The membranes were reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to correct for equal protein loading. (**A & C**) The western blots shown here is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B & D**) Densitometry analysis was performed using Image J and is represented as the mean densitometry + SEM. \* p< 0.05.
### 6.3.3.2 Reduced chemoresistance of breast cancer cell lines on being treated with NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide in the presence of doxorubicin

In order to analyse if the binding of the pSer 536 Rel A/ p65 dimers was crucial for the chemoresistant phenotype of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, XTT analysis was performed after treating the cell lines with NFkB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide in the presence of doxorubicin (1µg/ml). The TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells illustrated a considerable loss in the cell viability in the presence of 1µg/ml of doxorubicin, which also decreases similarly on being treated with the NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide. Previous results have already established that the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cells were chemoresistant to  $1\mu g/ml$  of doxorubicin. On being treated with NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide, the TG2 high MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines demonstrated a decrease in the cell viability in the presence of doxorubicin (Figure 6.11). These results clearly imply that blocking the binding of Rel A/p65 dimer to DNA using the NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide increased the chemosensitivity of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. Inhibiting the binding of the Rel A/p65 dimer to the  $-\kappa B$  binding site of the TGM2 gene promoter decreased the TG2 expression and activity within the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell line which subsequently reduced the chemoresistance of these breast cancer cell lines. The TG2 expression and activity within the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cell lines seems to be key in conferring drug resistance against doxorubicin in these cell lines. This also suggests that there is a regulatory loop between TG2 and Rel A/ p65dimers and sustained activation of this TG2/NFkB loop has effects on breast cancer behaviour such as chemoresistance against doxorubicin.



Figure 6.11 The effect of NFκB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide on the cell viability of breast cancer cell lines in the increasing concentrations of doxorubicin

3000 cells each of the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were seeded per well into a 96- well plate and left overnight. The next day the cells were treated with  $100\mu$ M of NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide for 1 h and 1 $\mu$ g/ml of doxorubicin for a time course of 72 h. After treatment, the cell viability of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed using XTT. Untreated cells were taken as 100% viable. Data shown above is mean percentage of cell viability + SEM from 3 independent experiments (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA. \* p<0.01 between cells untreated and treated with p65 inhibitory peptide in the presence of doxorubicin.

6.3.4 Binding of p-Ser536-RelA/ p65 dimer to the -κB site on the *TGM2* gene promoter.

## 6.3.4.1 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation of Rel A/p65 bound to the -κB site on the *TGM2* promoter

To determine whether binding of pSer536 Rel A/p65 dimers was required to drive the expression of TG2 in the breast cancer cell lines, the Rel A/ NFKB p65 ExactaChIP Chromatin IP kit (Catalogue #: ECP5078) was utilized to study the binding of the p-Ser536 Rel A/p65 dimer to the  $-\kappa B$  site on the TGM2 promoter in the breast cancer cell lines. The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines were treated with cell permeable and cell impermeable inhibitors TG2 activity inhibitors, IKKE phosphorylation inhibitor, NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and control peptide over specific time courses. Subsequently, chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed on the breast cancer cell lines as described in Section 6.2.4. The isolated ChIP-DNA was used to perform the PCR as described above (Section 6.2.4) with the primers that are specific for the - $\kappa B$  site on the TGM2 promoter. The - $\kappa B$  binding site present on the p21 promoter was used as the positive control for the ChIP-DNA. The breast cancer cells that lacked expression and activity of TG2 (MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT) failed to show any binding activity of Rel A/p65 to the TGM2 gene promoter. Results shown in Figure 6.12 clearly revealed that in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, anti- Rel A/p65 antibody could pull down the  $-\kappa B$  binding site on the TGM2 promoter. Treating the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells with NFkB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and BX795 inhibited this binding completely. This further validated that the TGM2 gene promoter had an NF $\kappa$ B binding site which would allow the continuous regulation of a TG2-NFkB cycle. Also, this seems to suggest that the phosphorylated serine 536 status of the Rel A/ p65 dimers was crucial to allow binding of the NFκB subunit to the *TGM2* gene promoter site.

However, the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines did not show any decrease or loss in DNA binding, on being treated with the cell permeable inhibitors R283 and Z-DON. As per the results obtained in the previous Chapters, treating the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON) demonstrated a decrease in the TG2 activity and protein expression as well as a decline in the formation of the Rel A/ p65 dimers within these cell lines. This could imply that even though the formation of Rel A/ p65 dimers was inhibited using R283 and Z-DON, it can be hypothesized that the non-cross linked Rel A/p65 could still bind to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* promoter. Nevertheless, in spite of the binding of Rel A/p65 subunits to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter, the breast cancer cell lines treated with R283 and Z-DON illustrated a decrease in the TG2 protein expression within the cells.

(A)



Figure 6.12 (A & B) Analysis of Rel A/p65 dimers binding to -kB site on TGM2 (A) and

p21 gene (B) promoter using Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP)

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation was performed on formaldehyde fixed MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell extracts using Rel A/p65 specific antibody 2.2.15.1. PCR was carried out on the immunoprecipitates, using specific sets of primers (Shown in Section 2.2.15.2), to amplify the TGM2 promoter sequence containing the -кB binding sites as well as the p21 promoter sequence containing the -кB binding sites. The

data presented is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3).

#### 6.3.4.2 PCR for TG2 mRNA expression

Results from the previous section demonstrated that the pSer536 Rel A/p65 dimers were able to bind to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter, even on being treated with TG2 cell permeable inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON. However, this did not agree with the results obtained from previous chapters as treating the breast cancer cell lines with R283 and Z-DON clearly decreased the TG2 protein expression within the high TG2 and chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines. To verify the previous obtained results the mRNA expression of TG2 protein was determined by PCR. Total RNA was extracted from the breast cancer cell lines using TRIZOL reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturers' instructions and PCR was subsequently performed. The PCR was conducted using *TGM2* gene and *GAPDH* gene primers as detailed in **Section 2.2.14**. The PCR product was then subsequently *analysed* by agarose gel electrophoresis using 1.5% agarose gel in 1x TAE.

The results contained from the PCR illustrated that treating the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines with cell-permeable inhibitors R283 and Z-DON completely inhibited the mRNA expression of *TGM2*. The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide as well as IKK $\epsilon$  kinase inhibitor BX795 had a similar effect on the *TGM2* gene expression. The cell impermeable inhibitor, R294 did not inhibit the mRNA expression of TG2, which was similar to results obtained from the western blot analysis of TG2 protein levels in the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines (Figure 6. 13). This may imply that the Rel A/p65 observed bound to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter was a monomer and since the *TGM2* gene expression and subsequent protein expression was inhibited on treatment with R283 and Z-DON cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors the cross linked dimeric form of Rel A/p65 could thereby be considered crucial for the gene expression of *TGM2*. (A)



Figure 6.13 PCR analysis of the TGM2 and GAPDH gene expression in breast cancer cell

lines in various inhibitor treatments

The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines ( $5x10^5$  cells/well) were seeded into 6-well plates and left overnight to become confluent. The next day the breast cancer cell lines were treated with 500µM of R283, 500µM of R294 and 50µM Z-DON for 72 h, 10µM of BX795 for 48 h and NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide as well as control peptide for 1 h. After the treatments, RNA was prepared (Section 2.2.14.1) and then subsequently analysed by PCR using TGM2 and GAPDH gene primers. The results shown above are a representation of two independent experiments conducted (n=2).

#### 6.4 **DISCUSSION**

Numerous nuclear modifications of the NF $\kappa$ B subunits can greatly affect DNA binding as well as interactions with repressors and activators of gene expression (Chen, et al. 2005). The protein modifications of the NFκB subunits may vary between cell lines as well as variation in the NF $\kappa$ B subunit inducing stimuli. Indeed, the results obtained in this Chapter demonstrate that the Rel A/p65 dimer phosphorylation at the Ser 536 residue is essential for the expression of the TGM2 gene as well as inducing chemoresistance in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. Coimmunoprecipitation experiments have shown that the Rel A/ p65 dimers were phosphorylated at a serine residue. Since the previous chapters indicated that PS1145 which was an IKK $\alpha/\beta$ specific inhibitor did not alter the status of the Rel A/p65 dimers or even the TG2 activity and expression within the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, an IKKE kinase inhibitor, BX795 was applied. Blocking the phosphorylation of the Rel A/ p65 dimer using BX795 resulted in decreased TG2 expression and activity within the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines. Concurrent with this decrease in TG2 expression and activity, the chemosensitivity of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines against doxorubicin was also reduced. These results clearly indicated that the serine phosphorylation of the nuclear Rel A/ p65 dimer by IKKE is essential for the expression and activity of TG2 as well as chemoresistance in these breast cancer cell lines.

Literature seems to suggest that IKK $\epsilon$  kinase function is most characteristic of a Ser 536 residue phosphorylation (Perkins, 2006). To verify if the case was similar in the breast cancer cell lines, NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide which would specifically inhibit the phosphorylation of Serine 536, which would subsequently impede the binding of Rel A/p65 to DNA was utilized. The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide significantly decreased the TG2 activity as well as expression within the breast cancer cell lines. Furthermore, the chemoresistant phenotype of the MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines was also altered considerably. These results seem to clearly indicate that the phosphorylation of Rel A/p65 dimers at the Ser 536 residue was crucial for the chemoresistance against

doxorubicin as well as TG2 expression within the breast cancer cell lines. Further studies were conducted with ChIP assay to identify gene networks as well as expression mechanisms by determining whether Rel A/p65 dimers would interact with the - $\kappa$ B binding site on the *TGM2* gene promoter. The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide as well as IKK $\epsilon$  kinase inhibitor, BX795 clearly inhibited the binding of the Rel A/p65 dimers to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter. However, the cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON which previously demonstrated reduced the TG2 protein expression levels, did not inhibit the binding of Rel A/p65 dimers to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter.

To verify this, PCR analysis was conducted on RNA samples collected from the breast cancer cell lines using *TGM2* gene primers. The NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide and BX795 inhibited the expression of *TGM2* gene in MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines. Also, the cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON inhibited the expression of the *TGM2* gene. This clearly indicated that there was a self-regulating molecular feedback loop wherein TG2 constitutively activates NF $\kappa$ B and in turn, NF $\kappa$ B directly up regulates the gene transcription of *TGM2*. A clear relationship between the expression and activity of TG2 in cultured breast cancer cell lines and the increased binding of Rel A/p65 binding to DNA has been characterised using EMSA (Mann, *et al.* 2006). Other groups have also documented that there is an intricate relationship between the protein abundance and transcript levels of TG2 as well as NF $\kappa$ B activity (Ai, *et al.* 2012; Kim, *et al.* 2006). Furthermore, the pharmacological inhibition and RNAi mediated knockdown of TG2 results in decreased DNA interaction with NF $\kappa$ B (Mann, *et al.* 2006). With these results, it clearly seems that TG2 is essential to maintain the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B.

To summarize the above observations, the work in this chapter demonstrated that the serine phosphorylation of Rel A/p65 dimers by IKK $\epsilon$  was vital for the TG2 expression and activity levels within the breast cancer cell lines. Also, blocking the serine phosphorylation reduced the chemoresistance of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines against doxorubicin. Furthermore, NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide was used to detect if Ser 536 was specifically the

residue phosphorylated on the Rel A/p65 dimers. This inhibitory peptide blocks the binding of the Rel A/p65 dimers to the - $\kappa$ B binding site on the *TGM2* gene promoter as well as reduces chemoresistance to doxorubicin. Analysis of the *TGM2* gene expression demonstrated that inhibiting TG2 activity using R283 and Z-DON, BX795 and NF $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide decreased the *TGM2* gene expression within the breast cancer cell lines. Importantly, a novel TG2-NF $\kappa$ B regulatory loop seems to be playing a vital role maintaining the continuous expression and activity of TG2 which constitutively activates NF $\kappa$ B in chemoresistant breast cancer cells.

# Chapter 7: Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in breast cancer cells

## 7. Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Breast Cancer cell lines

### 7.1 INTRODUCTION

Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition can be defined as the loss of epithelial characteristics and the acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype. During this process, cancer cells attain molecular changes that allow aberrant cell to cell adhesive interactions and dysfunctional cell junctions. These characteristics tend to promote cancer cell invasion and subsequent progression into the surrounding microenvironment. Such a transformation has profound implications in the process of breast cancer metastasis and there is evidence to support that numerous tumours contain a unique subpopulation of stem - like cells with mesenchymal attributes that are chemoresistant (Foroni, *et al.* 2012). EMT is known to play a very important role in the process of tumour metastasis and invasion. Also, it has been hypothesized that EMT is likely to occur in particular stages of tumour progression such as intravasation and invasion wherein tumour cells dissociate and move to organ/tissue sites distant from the primary site (Gupta & Massague, 2006 ; Thompson, *et al.* 2005). EMT is a crucial developmental process in which epithelial cells lose their polarity and epithelial nature and acquire a mesenchymal phenotype which possesses increase motility behaviour (Thiery & Sleeman, 2006).

EMT is characterized by the loss of adhesion markers such as occludins and E-cadherin, decrease of epithelial markers such as cytokeratins, increase of mesenchymal markers such as vimentin, up regulated invasiveness, motility and metastasis. Furthermore, a process called "cadherin-switching" which involves the up-regulation of mesenchymal cadherins such as N-cadherin and down regulation of E-cadherin has also been associated with EMT (Thiery, 2002; Maeda, *et al.* 2005). As demonstrated in previous Chapters, there is significant evidence to support that increased levels of TG2 activity and expression confers drug resistance as well as metastatic properties to breast cancer cells (Mehta, *et al.* 2004; Mangala, *et al.* 2007). Stable

#### Chapter 7: Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in breast cancer cells

expression of TG2 in mammary epithelial cells is known to be associated with EMT and also concurrent with the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Kumar, *et al.* 2010; Verma, *et al.* 2008; Mann, *et al.* 2006; Kim, *et al.* 2006).

TGF-β1 has been implicated in inducing TG2 expression (Quan, *et al.* 2005) and TG2 can activate TGF-β1 (Nunes, *et al.* 1997). In TG2 transfected MCF10A epithelial cells, no activation of TGF-β signalling was observed and also in the absence of TG2, TGF-β1 failed to induce EMT, implying that TGF-β1 has no role to play in inducing EMT in the absence of TG2 (Kumar, *et al.* 2010). This suggested that TG2 is a crucial downstream effector of TGF-β induced EMT. Supplementary studies are required to further validate tumour potential of MCF10A transfected with TG2 cells, even though *in vitro* data is clearly available to support the hypothesis that stable transfection of TG2 is enough to induce a drug resistant and metastatic phenotype (Kumar, *et al.* 2010). EMT induced by TG2 has been largely associated with TGF- β1 signalling with the increase of CD44<sup>high</sup>/CD24<sup>-/low</sup> cell population, the ability to self-renew and form mammospheres (Kumar, *et al.* 2010).

Previous studies have demonstrated that the dysfunctional expression of TG2 in epithelial cells causes the constitutive activation of Akt, NF $\kappa$ B and FAK (Mann, *et al.* 2006; Kim, *et al.* 2006; Verma, *et al.* 2008). All of these above pathways are known to be closely related to promoting metastasis, conferring drug resistance and regulation of EMT (Wang, *et al.* 2009; Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). Active NF $\kappa$ B is thought to be the hallmark of advanced stage tumours (Karin, *et al.* 2002; Parsad, *et al.* 2010). Constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B is known to function in the chemoresistance and death inducing stimuli and also promotes EMT and induces metastasis (Huber, *et al.* 2004; Orlowski, *et al.* 2002). The induction of EMT by NF $\kappa$ B has been accredited to the increased stability of Snail along with the increased production of ICOP2 signalosome 2 that is known to inhibit the ubiquitination and degradation of *Snail.* The constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B in MCF10A mammary epithelial cells, induces EMT due to an increase in the expression in *Zeb1* and *Zeb2* expression (Kumar, *et al.* 2010). With regard to these observations,, it can be hypothesized that EMT induced by TG2 can result in the

265

#### Chapter 7: Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in breast cancer cells

constitutive activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and subsequently the increased expression of *Snail*, *Zeb 1* and *Zeb 2* (Chua, *et al.* 2007). Also, in recent studies, TG2 has been shown to associate with NF- $\kappa$ B and the recruitment of TG2 to the promoter region of Snail which leads to the regulation of transcription (Kim, *et al.* 2010).

The aim of this chapter is to further investigate the influence of increased TG2 expression and activity on the EMT like phenotype of the breast cancer cell lines. Using breast cancer cell lines that express varying levels of TG2, western blot analysis of various epithelial and mesenchymal markers such as E- cadherin, N- cadherin and fibronectin was performed to detect the effect of high TG2 levels in inducing EMT in breast cancer cells. TGF-β1 activity assay following the use of TG2 inhibitors (R283, R294 and Z-DON) will also be used to investigate whether TG2 induced EMT in these breast cancer cell lines was due to activation of the TGF-β1 signalling pathway.

#### 7.2 METHODS

#### 7.2.1 Detection of Epithelial and Mesenchymal markers in breast cancer cell lines

After 72 h of incubation with TG2 cell permeable (R283 and Z-DON) and cell impermeable (R294) activity inhibitors, whole cell lysates were collected and the protein concentration was detected as introduced in **Section 2.2.3**. Western blot was performed to detect the presence of E- cadherin, N- cadherin, fibronectin and TGF- $\beta$  receptor I and II using appropriate primary and secondary antibodies (**Section 2.2.4- 2.2.6**). Signals were further detected using the Chemiluminescence (ECL) system kit.

#### 7.2.2 TGF-β1 Activity Assay

Using the Human/Mouse TGF  $\beta$  1 ELISA kit from e-Bioscience (88-8350), the breast cancer cell lines were assayed for TGF-\beta1 in the medium. The MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were seeded into 24-well plates and left overnight as per the instructions of the kit. The breast cancer cells were initially grown in serum replacement medium and treated with cell permeable (R283 and Z-DON) and cell impermeable (R294) TG2 activity inhibitors over a time course of 72 h. After the treatment, the cell medium was collected from each cell line and assayed for TGF- $\beta$ 1. The Corning Costar 9018 plate provided along with the kit was coated with 100µl/ well of capture antibody diluted in coating buffer, sealed and incubated overnight at 4°C. The wells were washed 5 times with wash buffer (250µl/well). The wells were then blocked with 1x assay diluent (200µl/well) and incubated at room temperature for 1 h. The wells were washed 5 times again with wash buffer. The samples (culture medium) were then acidified to be activated and subsequently neutralized. To 100µl of sample, 20ul of 1N HCl was added and incubated at room temperature for 10 min and then neutralized with 20µl of 1N NaOH. Standards were also diluted using the assay diluent and 100µl of standard was added per well. 100µl of sample was added into each well and incubated at room temperature for 2 h. The wells were then washed five times with Wash Buffer. 100ul of

#### Chapter 7: Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in breast cancer cells

Avidin-HRP was added per well and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The wells were then washed seven times with wash buffer. 100µl of substrate solution was added into each well and incubated at room temperature for 15 min after which 50µl of stop solution was added to each well. The plate was then read using a plate reader at 450nm.

#### 7.3 RESULTS

# 7.3.1 TGF-β induced Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) in breast cancer cell lines

Recent studies have indicated that the EMT gene signature of TG2 transfected MCF10A mammary epithelial cells closely resembled TGF- $\beta$  induced EMT (Xu, *et al.* 2009). To verify this, the expression of TGF- $\beta$  receptor I and II was determined in the MDA MB 231 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cell lines (Figure 7.1)

Furthermore, the MDA MB 21 WT, MDA MB 231 Clone 16, MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT cells were assayed for the relative TGF- $\beta$ 1 presence in the medium in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors as described in **Section 7.2.2**. Both the high and low TG2 breast cancer cell lines did not express any TGF- $\beta$ 1 activity. The cell permeable and cell impermeable TG2 activity inhibitors subsequently had no effect on the TGF- $\beta$ 1 activity levels of the breast cancer cell lines (Figure 7.2). These results clearly indicate that the chemoresistant phenotype, that could be as a result of EMT in these breast cancer cell lines, is completely independent of TGF- $\beta$ 1 signalling and activity.



Figure 7.1 Analysis of expression of TGF-β Type I and II receptors of breast cancer cell lines using Western blot

The breast cancer cell lines  $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells per well})$  were seeded into 60mm petridishes and left to become confluent. The whole cell lysate fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were collected as described in detail in Section 2.2.2.  $50\mu g$  of whole cell lysate proteins were then analysed by western blot for the expression of TGF- $\beta$  Type I and II receptors using rabbit polyclonal anti-TGF- $\beta$  Type I and II receptor antibody (1:1000). The membranes were then reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to correct for equal loading of protein. (**A**)The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B**) Densitometry of the westerns was quantified by Image J analysis is represented as mean densitometry + SEM.



Figure 7.2 Analysis of TGF-β1 levels in breast cancer cell lines in the presence of TG2 activity inhibitors

The TGF- $\beta$ 1 levels in the cell culture medium of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed using the Human/Mouse TGF  $\beta$  1 ELISA (2nd Generation) kit from eBioscience. 0.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells of each breast cancer cell line was seeded into 24- well plates with serum-replacement medium and treated for 72 h with R283 (500 $\mu$ M), R294 (500 $\mu$ M) and Z-DON (50 $\mu$ M). After the time course of treatment, the supernatant was collected and analysed as described in Section 7.2.1. The concentration of TGF- $\beta$ 1 (pg/ml) calculated in the culture supernatant is represented as the mean + SEM from three independent experiments (n=3).

## 7.3.2 Analysis of various Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) markers in breast cancer cell lines

Previous studies have reported that chemoresistant and metastatic breast cancer cell lines express high levels of TG2 and this high expression and activity of TG2 contributed to increased invasion, survival and drug resistance (Mehta, *et al.* 2004; Mangala, *et al.* 2007). In order to understand the role of TG2 in metastatic and mesenchymal transformation, breast cancer cell lines with varying expression levels of TG2 were *analysed* using western blotting. The high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cells did not express any E-cadherin or Ncadherin which was similar to the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT breast cancer cells. On the other hand, the TG2 null MCF7/WT breast cancer cells expressed more E- cadherin as compared to their high TG2 drug resistant counterpart MCF7/RT cells. Moreover, the drug resistant MCF7/RT cells also expressed N- cadherin. The fibronectin expression in the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT cells was less than the TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells (Figure 7.3).

These results seem to imply that TG2 expression does not correlate with the expression of EMT markers in the MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cell lines. The decrease or loss of epithelial cell markers like E- cadherin and the *de novo* increase in expression of mesenchymal markers such as N- cadherin and fibronectin are the molecular changes that drive the morphological changes during EMT (Thiery, *et al.* 2009). The expression of E- cadherin and N- cadherin seemed to correlate with the TG2 expression only in the MCF7/WT and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines. Even though the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines were resistant to doxorubicin, TG2- induced expression of EMT markers did not promote this phenotype. Also, TG2 induced expression of EMT markers seems to be unique to the MCF7 cell line as the MDA MB 231 WT and MDA MB 231 Clone 16 do not show any difference in the expressions of these markers.

#### Chapter 7: Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in breast cancer cells



Figure 7.3 Analysis of the expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers in the whole cell lysate fractions of breast cancer cell lines using western blot

The breast cancer cells  $(5x10^5$  cells per well) were seeded into 6-well petridishes and left to become confluent. The whole cell lysate fractions of the breast cancer cell lines were analysed by western blot for the expression of E- cadherin, N- cadherin, and fibronectin using rabbit polyclonal anti-E-cadherin (1:1000), mouse monoclonal anti-N-cadherin (1:1000) and rabbit polyclonal anti- fibronectin (1:2000) antibodies respectively. The membranes were then reprobed with anti- $\alpha$ -Tubulin antibody to correct for equal loading of protein. (**A**) The western blot data shown is a representation of three independent experiments (n=3). (**B**) Differences in expression are calculated by Image J analysis and is represented as mean densitometry + SEM. \*p < 0.05.

#### 7.4 DISCUSSION

Recent studies of the underlying molecular pathways that regulate the progression of tumours to a drug resistant and metastatic phenotype points to EMT as a key event (Thiery, et al. 2009). Accumulating evidence points to prolonged EMT as being important in cancer progression by altering the relatively immobile epithelial cells into fibroblast like cells with decreased intracellular adhesion, increased invasiveness and motility of cancer cells (Micalizzi & Ford, 2009; Wang, 2009; Kalluri, 2009; Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). Experiments conducted by Kumar et al. in 2010 (Kumar, et al. 2010) illustrated that expression of TG2 confers drug resistance and promotes invasiveness in transformed as well as normal epithelial cells by the induction of EMT. This could suggest that TG2 serves as the main driver of the metastatic and drug resistant phenotype in cancer cells. A similar observation was also noted between metastasis and EMT induced by TG2 in ovarian cancer cells (Shao, et al. 2009). Numerous cancer cells relies deeply on the EMT programme for successful invasion, intravasation, extravasation as well as subsequent colonization by cancer cells (Thiery, et al. 2009). EMT causes the loss of epithelial markers such as desmocollin, occludin, desmoplakin and Ecadherin which decreases the cell to cell adhesion and allows the motility of these cancer cells (Thiery, 2002). In order to investigate whether TG2 was responsible for driving any of the EMT induced molecular alterations in the chemoresistant and metastatic breast cancer cell lines, the protein expression of various EMT markers such as FN, E- cadherin and N- cadherin was analysed using western blotting. Importantly, the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 cell failed to display any difference in the expression of the mesenchymal markers that were a signatory of EMT in spite of the high chemoresistance against doxorubicin as compared to the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT breast cancer cells. The MCF7/ RT cell line illustrated a loss in expression of E-Cadherin and an increase in N-Cadherin expression as compared to its drug sensitive low TG2 counterpart, MCF7/WT. The other EMT marker, FN was expressed less in both the TG2 null MDA MB 231 WT and MCF7/WT as compared to the high TG2 expressing MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines.

#### Chapter 7: Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in breast cancer cells

In the same manner, TGF- $\beta$ 1 has been considered to be a strong inducer of EMT in both normal as well as pathological conditions (Xu, et al. 2009; Thiery, et al. 2009). Addition of TGF-B1 to epithelial cells induced EMT in culture. Classical TGF- $\beta$  signalling requires the binding of TGF- $\beta$  to Type II receptors, phosphorylation of Type I receptors and consequently the phosphorylation of Smad 3 and Smad 2. This phosphorylated Smad 2/3 forms a trimeric form with Smad 4 which then translocates into the nucleus wherein interaction between co-activators, co-repressors and transcription factors occurs to promote expression of mesenchymal markers and suppression of epithelial markers. Furthermore, activation of Rho GTPases, ERL MAP kinases and PI3 Kinase/ AKT has been hypothesized to be implicated in EMT induced by TGF- $\beta$  (Deng, *et al.* 2010; Santibáñez, *et al.* 2010). It has also been demonstrated by previous studies that TGF- $\beta$ 1 induces the expression of TG2 (Quan, *et al.* 2005) and TG2 can in turn activate matrix bound TGF-β1 (Nunes, et al. 1997), implicating that there is cross talk between TG2 and TGF- $\beta$ 1. The high TG2 breast cancer cell lines did not show any difference in the TGF  $\beta$  Type I and II receptors as compared to the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines. No increase of TGF-B1 activity was observed in the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell line and inhibiting TG2 activity with cell permeable inhibitors did not alter the TGF- $\beta$ 1 activity levels within these cells. This seems to suggest that TG2 was not a downstream mediator of TGF-B1 induced EMT in these breast cancer cell lines. In contrast, studies conducted by Kumar *et al.* in 2010 reported that in the absence of TG2 expression, TGF- $\beta$ 1 failed to induce EMT in breast cancer cell lines (Kumar, et al. 2010) (Mann, et al. 2012).

### 8. Discussion

One of the major obstacles that limit the success of current chemotherapy in the treatment of breast cancer is the acquisition of cancer drug resistance. Mechanisms that may contribute to the chemoresistant phenotype could be inherent biological features or can be induced as a response to anti-tumour drugs (Sui, *et al.* 2011). Developing methods to inhibit and overcome such a chemoresistance phenotype in breast cancer cells have become the topic of immense research.

Tissue transglutaminase (TG2) is the most ubiquitous and diverse member of the TG family that can catalyze the post-translational modification of proteins through the incorporation of a primary amine at glutamine residues or cross link proteins by the formation of  $\varepsilon$ -( $\gamma$ -glutamyl) lysine isopeptide bonds in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Mehta, *et al.* 2010). Moreover, TG2 can bind as well as hydrolyze ATP and GTP which allows it to function as a G- protein in numerous cell signalling processes (Iismaa, *et al.* 1997 ; Baek, *et al.* 2001). Within the intracellular environment of a cell, the transamidating activity of TG2 is rigidly modulated by the binding of GTP or GDP to the protein, while in the extracellular environment the transamidating activity of TG2 is detected since activating levels of Ca<sup>2+</sup> are present (Collighan & Griffin, 2009). TG2 can also function as a kinase, protein disulphide isomerase as well as a scaffolding protein (Wang, *et al.* 2012 ; Agnihotri, *et al.* 2013). TG2 has been considered to be a multi functional protein as it can localize into the nucleus, cytoplasm and also be exported outside from the cell (Chen & Mehta, 1999 ; Griffin, *et al.* 2002)

Key roles of TG2 in regulating physiological processes includes protection of cells from external and endogenous stress, tissue repair to sustain homeostasis in response to cell stress and damage as well as forms a component of the cell defence mechanism (Agnihotri, *et al.* 2013). One of the most interesting features of TG2 is that it can modulate opposing functions depending on the predominant activity and cellular localization. GTP/ GDP, Ca<sup>2+</sup> and redox potential are the three main regulators of TG2 activity. When Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions bind to TG2, the

enzyme becomes catalytically active and is found in the 'open' confirmation. Since intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels are usually low, TG2 is found in the closed conformation and functions as a scaffolding protein where it may be involved in regulating intracellular signalling pathways. Alterations in the intracellular calcium levels as a response to cell damage would induce catalytic activity of TG2 that results in the cross linking of intracellular proteins and subsequently cell death (Kiraly, *et al.* 2011; Nicholas, *et al.* 2003).

In many inflammatory diseases, increased expression and transamidating activity of TG2 was observed to be a common feature (Kim, 2006). It is increasingly (Kiraly, *et al.* 2011) evident that inflammatory responses play a crucial role during the process of tumour progression, invasion and metastasis. Modulation of the survival, growth and progression patterns of the cancer cells is achieved by cross talk with the immune and stromal cells that infiltrate around the tumour cells (Grivennikov, *et al.* 2010). In this manner, numerous findings have demonstrated that the presence of increased levels of TG2 in cancer cells could have a link with increased metastasis, chemoresistance as well as a poor prognosis for the patient. (Verma & Mehta, 2007a ; Mangala, *et al.* 2007 ; Satpathy, *et al.* 2007 ; Park, *et al.* 2010). These reports suggest that a link exists between inflammation, TG2 and the progress of chemoresistant and metastatic cancer.

Published literature has shown that TG2 is over expressed in various cancer cell types such as malignant melanoma (Fok, *et al.* 2006), lung carcinoma (Park, *et al.* 2010), breast carcinoma (Mehta, *et al.* 2004), glioblastoma (Yuan, *et al.* 2007), ovarian carcinoma (Hwang, *et al.* 2008) and pancreatic carcinoma (Verma, *et al.* 2006). Experimental studies carried out on metastatic human lung carcinoma clearly implicated TG2 as one of the 11 selectively amplified genes (Jiang, *et al.* 2003) and also *TGM2* gene was demonstrated to be expressed differentially in pancreatic cancers (Iacobuzio-Donahue, *et al.* 2003).

Current data clearly supports that TG2 plays a very crucial, but under recognized role in shaping of the breast cancer phenotype. Many groups have illustrated that TG2 expression

widely varies within panels of mammary epithelial cell lines as cultured breast cancer cells (Ai, *et al.* 2008; Mehta, *et al.* 2004). Previous studies have reported that breast cancer cells that had been selected out for chemoresistance displayed high levels of the Ca<sup>2+</sup> -dependent protein cross linking enzyme, TG2, however the mechanistic detail behind the link between TG2 and resistance is still to be established (Devarajan, *et al.* 2002; Herman, *et al.* 2006). Ectopically expressing recombinant TG2 in MCF10A mammary epithelial cell line resulted in gene expression alterations, which was concurrent with the cells acquiring an invasive phenotype (Kumar, *et al.* 2010). Further studies also indicated that the expression of TG2 in the MCF10A cells lines also increased the stem cell like properties(CD44 <sup>high</sup>/ CD24<sup>low/-</sup> such as augmented self-renewal and growth in the form on mammospheres (Kumar, *et al.* 2010). This observation was in line with the studies done using MDA MB 231 cells which established that high expression of TG2 was associated with increased cell motility *in vitro* (Mehta, *et al.* 2004). All of the above findings clearly paved the way to a possibility that the expression of TG2 could be used as a biomarker for determining prognostic significance of breast cancer and also associated with increased malignancy.

Another very significant finding that revolved around the acquisition of the tumorigenic phenotype was observed in the doxorubicin resistant MCF7 breast cancer cell lines that expressed heightened levels of TG2 in comparison to the doxorubicin sensitive MCF7 parental line (Mehta, 1999). Consistent with this finding, other labs have also demonstrated the effect of TG2 in doxorubicin resistance using diverse cell model systems. The chemoresistant phenotype was clearly due to high levels of TG2 as the knock down of TG2 mediated by siRNA expression, reduced the doxorubicin resistance (Yuan, *et al.* 2005 ; Han & Park, 1999; Herman, *et al.* 2006 ; Yuan, *et al.* 2007 ; Cao, *et al.* 2008).

The exact mechanism that regulates induction of TG2 expression and chemoresistance has yet to be understood. A straightforward relationship between chemoresistance against doxorubicin and expression levels of TG2 has been reported by several groups. Epigenetic profiling and proteomic analysis of breast cancer cells resistant to doxorubicin validated the function of TG2

to increase doxorubicin resistance (Park, *et al.* 2009 ; Chekhun, *et al.* 2007). Activation of EGF signalling is another mechanism of TG2 induction that could contribute to the tumorigenic potential of breast cancer by increasing doxorubicin chemoresistance (Antonyak, *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, under conditions of stress, TG2 expression can also modulate activation of different epigenetic mechanism, survival pathways and transcription factors like NF $\kappa$ B and HIF-1 $\alpha$  (Dyer, *et al.* 2011 ; Jang, *et al.* 2010 ; Mehta, *et al.* 2010)

The over expression of TG2 in many cancer cells has often been correlated with the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Verma & Mehta, 2007a). In addition, specific inhibitors of TG2 activity can decrease the activation of NF $\kappa$ B. The ability of TG2 to constitutively activate NF $\kappa$ B has been illustrated in doxorubicin resistant breast cancer cells. Fascinatingly, the NF $\kappa$ B activity mediated by TG2 induction was seen in both EGFR negative and positive breast cancer cells (Kim, *et al.* 2006). NF $\kappa$ B is an oncogenic transcription factor that activates numerous genes responsible for cancer cell survival, proliferation, angiogenesis, and metastasis and drug resistance. The main modulation of NF $\kappa$ B occurs via the association with I $\kappa$ B proteins. As a response to external stimuli, the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  bound to NF $\kappa$ B is phosphorylated and then degraded by the proteasomal degradation pathway. This results in the release of free NF $\kappa$ B dimers that translocate into the nucleus and transcribe genes that contain the - $\kappa$ B response element (Karin, 2006).

p53 is a prominent tumour suppressor that regulates cell cycle and controls the process of aging in mammals. Several cell lines have wild type p53 which is required to initiate DNA damage induced apoptosis. p53 has been shown to be crucial in regulating steps that are crucial for apoptosis, such as the transcriptional activation of Bax (Yin, *et al.* 1997), generation of ROS (Polyak *et al.* 1997), mitochondrial cytochrome c release as well as caspase activation (Henkels and Turchi, 1999). Even though much is known about p53 dependent apoptotic pathways, p53 independent pathways of DNA damage induced apoptosis in cells that lack expression of p53, or even have mutated or non-functional p53has yet to be deciphered (Kita and Nakashima, 2002; Matsui *et al.* 2001). Studies have shown that in cell lines that lack p53, doxorubicin can

280

induce apoptosis by increasing peroxide levels, mitochondrial depolarization, activate cytoplasmic caspase 3 as well as elicit cytochrome c release from mitochondria (Tsang, *et al.* 2003).

Studies conducted by Mishra and Murphy in 2006 (Mishra & Murphy, 2006), demonstrated that TG2 can phosphorylated p53 at serine residues 20 and 15. By phosphorylation of p53 induced by TG2, the interaction between Mdm2 and p53 significantly reduces, which subsequently disrupts apoptosis (Mishra & Murphy, 2006).

In agreement to this, the MDA MB 231 and MCF7 cell lines differ greatly in the type of p53 protein expressed. The MDA MB 231 cells have been shown to have a mutant p53 protein as a result of an arginine to lysine mutation at residue 280, whereas the MCF7 cells express wild type p53 (Gurtner, *et al.* 2010). In cancers where mutant p53 is expressed, the aberrant form of p53 is commonly known to be more stable that the wild type p53 and so is present at higher levels (Hupp, *et al.* 2000). Such a mutant form of p53 does not only not retain its tumour suppressive nature but can also sometimes illustrate increased oncogenic characteristics (Hui, *et al.* 2006).

TG2 has been demonstrated to regulate NF $\kappa$ B activity via different mechanisms. TG2 can directly form a complex with p50/p65 dimers in the cytosol, which modifies the affinity of the NF $\kappa$ B molecule to its inhibitory substrate, I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (Verma & Mehta, 2007a). I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  has also been shown to be a good substrate for TG2 transamidating activity and the cross linking of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  protein creates an insoluble polymer in the cytoplasm that can no longer bind to the NF $\kappa$ B subunits (Lee, *et al.* 2004). However activation of TG2 in an intracellular environment where TG2 is tightly controlled needs to take place for this mechanism. In the nucleus, TG2 has been shown to associate with Rel A/ p65 in the nucleus and can target non- canonical genes, including TG2 that results in a positive regulatory loop in chemoresistant cells (Verma & Mehta, 2007a).

In spite of these developments, the exact mechanistic detail as to how TG2 induces the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B which leads to the acquisition of chemoresistance against doxorubicin in breast cancer cells is not known. The aim of this project was to establish the mechanistic detail behind the drug resistance against doxorubicin and TG2 levels in breast cancer cells.

In order to establish the role of TG2 in conferring chemoresistance to doxorubicin, breast cancer cell lines that expressed varying levels of TG2 were used. No detectable TG2 antigen was observed in the MDA MB 231 WT, MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT cells, which provide an ideal model to study the role of TG2 in chemoresistance against doxorubicin. The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MDA MB 231 Clone 9 were selected out from their parental wild type and expressed high and low TG2 respectively (Mehta, et al. 2004). On culturing the MCF7/WT, SKBR3/WT and T47D/WT in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin, the TG2 expression in the MCF7/WT and SKBR3/WT cell lines gradually increased. This was not the case with the T47D cell lines, which seems to suggest that another mechanism of chemoresistance against doxorubicin in these breast cancer cell lines. The TG2 expressing MCF7 cells and low TG2 SKBR3 were established as MCF7/RT and SKBR3/RT (doxorubicin resistant) cells. Furthermore, in the TG2 plasmid transfected MCF7 and SKBR3 cells, TG2 expression and activity could be detected in the cell lysates. Detection of the cellular localization of TG2 activity and expression in the breast cancer cells suggested that TG2 expression and transamidating activity was predominant in the cytoplasm. The cell viability analysis conducted on the breast cancer cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin suggested that the high TG2 expressing breast cancer cells were more chemoresistant to doxorubicin as compared to the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines. In the presence of cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON), the chemoresistance of the high TG2 breast cancer cells decreased significantly. However no significant decrease was shown with the cell impermeable inhibitor, R294. With these results, a key relationship between the expression and intracellular activity levels of TG2 and chemoresistance against doxorubicin

in breast cancer could be established. Concurrent with this decrease in TG2 activity and chemoresistance against doxorubicin of the breast cancer cell lines, treatment with the cell permeable R283 and Z-DON also causes a down regulation in the expression levels of TG2. This seems to suggest that the regulation of TG2 expression in the breast cancer cells is under the control of a "factor" whose activation was dependent on the intracellular activity of TG2. Similar results were observed in the TG2 transfected MCF7 and SKBR3, where the presence of TG2 activity and expression conferred these cells resistant to doxorubicin, which could be reversed in the presence of cell permeable TG2 inhibitors (R283 and Z-DON). Down regulating the mRNA TG2 levels in the high TG2 breast cancer cells using TG2 specific siRNA illustrated the same effect on the chemoresistant phenotype of the cells. An intracellular pathway that is dependent on the activity and expression of TG2 in breast cancer cells seems to be a crucial event in mediating chemoresistance against doxorubicin. However, it should be noted that the high and low TG2 expressing breast cancer cells were susceptible to cisplatin, suggesting that TG2 expression and activity may be specific to conferring chemoresistance against doxorubicin in breast cancer.

Among the well-known regulators of TG2, Rel A/ p65 has been well document as studied (Brown, 2013). Even though previous work has documented that TG2 constitutively activates Rel A/ p65 in breast cancer cells, the exact mechanism of activation remains unknown. The high TG2 breast cancer cell lines as well as TG2 transfected breast cancer cell lines that demonstrated to be chemoresistant to doxorubicin, proved to have higher levels of NF $\kappa$ B activity as compared to their TG2 null parental cell lines. In the presence of cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, the NF $\kappa$ B activity of the high TG2 breast cancer cells decreases significantly. Further investigation of Rel A/ p65 protein expression in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of the breast cancer cell lines revealed that in the nucleus of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, Rel A/ p65 was present at a molecular weight of approximately 130kDa that represented the dimeric form of Rel A/ p65. This Rel A/ p65 dimer was also found to be absent in the cytoplasmic fractions of the high TG2 breast cancer cells as well as the TG2 null

breast cancer cell lines. In addition to this, treating the high TG2 breast cancer cells with cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, resulted in a significant decrease of the Rel A/ p65 dimers. This decrease of Rel A/ p65 dimers was concurrent with the decrease in the TG2 expression and activity levels within the cells and also loss of chemoresistance against doxorubicin. These results seem to implicate the transamidating activity of TG2 in the constitutive activation of Rel A/ p65 which in turn may be related to the expression of TG2. Cell impermeable TG2 activity inhibitor, R294, did not demonstrate such a decrease, suggesting that the constitutive activation of Rel A/ p65 and formation of Rel A/p65 dimers was dependent on intracellular TG2 activity as opposed to extracellular activity. This clearly implies that intracellular TG2 activity was responsible for the aberrant Rel A/ p65 dimer formation and also for conferring chemoresistance against doxorubicin in breast cancer.

Co-immunoprecipitation assays were used to pull down the TG2- Rel A/ p65 complex in the nuclear fractions of the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT. However, no interaction was observed in the nuclear fractions between TG2 and Rel A/ p65. Hence the possibility of any direct interaction between Rel A/ p65 dimers and TG2 in the nucleus of the breast cancer cells was ruled out completely. Since TG2 expression and activity was observed only in the cytoplasm, as determined by microscopy techniques as well as western blot, the formation of the Rel A/ p65 dimer was thought to occur in the cytoplasm and then subsequently translocated into the nucleus, where it could be detected. The presence of these aberrant Rel A/ p65 dimers in the nucleus of the high TG2 breast cancer cells could account for the increased constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B.

To further investigate these Rel A/ p65 dimers were in fact only of Rel A/p65 the mRNA expression of Rel A/ p65 was blocked using specific targeting siRNAs. Inhibiting Rel A/ p65 clearly reduced the expression of both the Rel A/ p65 monomers and polymers in the high and low/no TG2 breast cancer cells, indicating that the protein band observed in the nuclear fractions of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines was likely to be composed of only Rel A/ p65 and no other NF $\kappa$ B family members. The remaining NF $\kappa$ B activity observed in the high TG2

breast cancer cells could be accounted for by the other NF $\kappa$ B family members. To further rule out the involvement of other NFkB family members in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, the levels of p50/p105, Rel B, c-Rel and p52/p100 was determined after treatment with TG2 activity inhibitors. No change was observed in any other NF $\kappa$ B family member other than Rel A/ p65, implying that the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B induced by TG2 is primarily the Rel A/ p65 subunit. Knocking down the TG2 mRNA expression in the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT cells using TG2 specific siRNA resulted in the decrease of the Rel A/ p65 dimers and a concurrent increase in the monomeric Rel A/ p65 of the nuclear fractions. Also, inhibiting TG2 mRNA expression down regulated the NF $\kappa$ B activity levels as well as chemoresistance against doxorubicin. Investigation of the regulation of sustained TG2 expression in chemoresistant breast cancer cells revealed that inhibiting the intracellular transamidating activity of TG2 with the cell permeable inhibitors R283 and Z-DON, decreased the protein expression of TG2.Furthermore, treating the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cells with Rel A/ p65 siRNAs considerably decreased the activity and expression of TG2, consequently reversing the chemoresistant phenotype. Along with the findings about Rel A/ p65 dimers, it is therefore possible that the Rel A/ p65 dimers may be responsible in regulating transcription of TG2 within these breast cancer cells.

IκBα is the main inhibitory protein responsible for sequestering NFκB subunits in the cytoplasm in a resting cell. In response to external stimuli, IκBα proteins are phosphorylated and subsequently degraded, releasing the free and active NFκB subunits to translocate into the nucleus and bind to the -κB sites on the promoters of target genes (Bergqvist, *et al.* 2008). Numerous reports have suggested that cytoplasmic IκBα can be polymerized by TG2 and subsequently degraded. The cross linking of IκBα induced by TG2 causes the depletion of IκBα without the affecting the phosphorylation status and leads to the activation of NFκB subunits, Rel A/ p65. This can contribute to the increase in inflammation and progression of cancer (Kim, 2006; Mehta & Han., 2011). To determine the interaction between IκBα and TG2 in the cytoplasmic fraction, the breast cancer cell lines were treated with TG2 activity inhibitors and

TG2 specific siRNA. The high TG2 breast cancer cell lines showed the presence of polymeric forms of IkB $\alpha$  in the cytoplasm which was inhibited on treating the cells with only the cell permeable TG2 inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON. On the other hand, in the low/null TG2 breast cancer cells only IkB $\alpha$  was observed in the cytoplasm. These results seem to suggest that the transamidating activity of cytoplasmic TG2 was responsible for the polymerization of IkB $\alpha$ , which resulted in the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B and hence continued chemoresistance in the breast cancer cells. Inhibiting the  $\mu$ -calpain proteasomal degradation pathway with Calpeptin illustrated the increasing presence of IkB $\alpha$  polymers in the cytosolic fractions of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines which was absent in the TG2 null cells. Previous studies have shown that TG2 can catalyse the formation of cross links between free IkB $\alpha$  molecules at lysines 33, 36 and 177 and glutamines 266, 267, 313 (Park, *et al.* 2006).

To confirm that the constitutive activation of Rel A/p65 induced by TG2 was via a unconventional pathway that does not involve IKK $\alpha/\beta$ , the breast cancer cells were treated with the kinase inhibitor PS1145. The NF $\kappa$ B activity of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines were not significantly reduced, but the low/null TG2 cell lines showed greatly reduced NF $\kappa$ B activity. Furthermore, treating the high TG2 breast cancer cells with PS1145 did not alter the status of the Rel A/p65 dimers in the nucleus, TG2 expression and activity levels also remained unchanged. Inhibiting IKK $\alpha/\beta$  with PS1145 also did not significantly reduce chemoresistance against doxorubicin in high TG2 breast cancer cells, indicating that the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B mediated by TG2 was not dependent on IKK $\alpha/\beta$  function. Similar results were also reported in studies conducted by Kumar & Mehta in 2012 where mammary epithelial breast cells, MCF10A cells that were transfected with TG2 and treated with parthenolide (I $\kappa$ B kinase inhibitor), showed no difference in the target EMT genes that are regulated by NF $\kappa$ B (Kumar & Mehta, 2012). These observations clearly indicated that the TG2 induced constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B is independent on the conventional IKK pathway.

Studies have demonstrated that the phosphorylation of the NF $\kappa$ B protein was essential for regulating NF $\kappa$ B activation. This phosphorylation can occur in the nucleus or in the cytoplasm
#### **Chapter 8: Discussion**

and has also been shown to be cell type specific as well as stimuli specific. Also, the specific site of phosphorylation differs and also leads to a specific effect of NFkB on target gene activation (Ryu, et al. 2011; Viatour, et al. 2005). To determine whether, the Rel A/ p65 dimers undergo any post translational modification, the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines were *analysed* by co-immunoprecipitation assays. With this, the possibility that the Rel A/ p65 dimers were phosphorylated at a serine residue was confirmed. Also, the phosphoserine Rel A/ p65 was only seen in the nuclear fractions of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. This clearly suggested that the Rel A/ p65 dimers underwent phosphorylation at a serine residue in order to increase transcriptional activation of the NFκB subunits. The phosphorylation /dephosphorylation of Rel A/ p65 at serine residues can be carried out by a variety of different kinases and phosphatases respectively (Perkins, 2012), which raises the possibility that specific kinases have functions of special significance in activating defined signalling pathways (Buss, et al. 2012). Since, the co-immunoprecipitations clearly revealed that the phosphorylation of the Rel A/ p65 dimers occurs only in the nucleus, kinases that are found in the nuclear compartment were further analysed. Such a phosphorylation of Rel A/ p65 in the nucleus has been demonstrated previously by several groups (Madrid, et al. 2001; Jiang, et al. 2003; Yang, et al. 2003; Sasaki, et al. 2005). Coimmonoprecipitation studies have also shown that phospho-Rel A/ p65 does not associate with I $\kappa$ Ba or p50, both in the nucleus and cytoplasm. Additionally, phospho- Rel A/ p65 has been implicated to exist independent of the canonical NFkB complex of p65 and p50 (Sasaki, et al. 2005).

Among the well characterized phosphoserine sites on nuclear Rel A/ p65 is serine 536 which is mainly mediated by IKKɛ which is a well known non canonical IKK (Adli & Baldwin, 2006 ; Mattioli, *et al.* 2004). Experiments using IKKɛ specific inhibitor BX795 showed that inhibiting IKKɛ activity decreased the phosphoserine status of the nuclear Rel A/ p65 dimers. To further confirm if the nuclear Rel A/ p65 dimer was phosphorylated at the Serine 536 site, a specific pSer 536 p65 antibody was used. As expected the nuclear Rel A/ p65 dimers were specifically

#### **Chapter 8: Discussion**

phosphorylated at the serine 536 site, which could be inhibited by the IKK inhibitor, BX795. In addition to the reduction on the phosphoserine status of the Rel A/ p65 dimers, the TG2 expression and activity in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines also decreased significantly. Moreover, the chemoresistant nature of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines in the presence of doxorubicin was also reversed. The phosphorylation of Rel A/ p65 in the nucleus by IKKE and its relevance in the progression of cancer has been reported previously. Overexpression of IKKE and Rel A/ p65 in cancer cell lines has been accounted for leading to the phosphorylation of Rel A/ p65 specifically at Serine 536 (Buss, et al. 2004; Adli & Baldwin, 2006). The regulation of the phosphorylation of Ser 536 in Rel A/ p65 subunits occurs on the C- terminal of the TAD and originally demonstrated by Sakurai et al. in 1999 (Sakurai, et al. 1999). Ever since, numerous other groups have confirmed that IKKs are directly responsible for phosphorylating p65 at Ser 536 (Sizemore, et al. 2002; Sakurai, et al. 2003; Kishore, et al. 2003). Also, even in cell lines thay were deficient for IKKa or IKKB or transfected with dominant negative forns of IKKα and IKKβ, pSer 536 p65 was still observed (Yang, et al. 2003; Sizemore, et al. 2002). Phosphorylation of serine 536 on Rel A/ p65 by IKKE accounts for the post translational modification specifically in cases where Rel A/ p65 was not bound to IkB or dependent on IKK for activation (Buss, et al. 2004). As a response to DNA damaging agents that can activate NF $\kappa$ B in the absence of IKK $\alpha/\beta$  function, IKK $\epsilon$  plays a crucial role in the phosphorylation Rel A/ p65 (Tergaonkar, et al. 2003). Although, it had become apparent that IKKE was responsible for phosphorylation of Ser 536 in Rel A/ p65, the contribution of such a post translational modification on Rel A/ p65 transactivation through this site was yet to be stabished by analyzing NFkB target genes.

Initial results had illustrated that inhibiting the transamindating activity of intracellular TG2 using R283 and Z-DON as well as Rel A/ p65 specific siRNA to inhibit Rel A/ p65 mRNA expression, greatly reduced the TG2 protein levels in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines. This clearly suggested that Rel A/ p65 was essential to regulate the expression of TG2 in chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines. The Rel A/ p65 subunit has also been shown previously

to be sufficient as well as necessary to drive the expression of TG2 within cultured breast cancer cell lines (Ai, et al. 2012). The effects of the transactivation of Rel A/ p65 on TG2 expression was found to be quite direct as the TGM2 gene contains a - $\kappa B$  binding site consensus (Ai, et al. 2008) and Rel A/ p65 was shown to associate with these binding sites as evaluated by ChIP assay. Using the NF-κB p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide, the serine 536 phosphorylation of the Rel A/ p65 was inhibited which consequently inhibited the binding of the Rel A/ p65 dimers to the  $-\kappa B$  binding sites on their target genes. The expression and activity along with the chemoresistance of the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines was inhibited and this clearly suggested that the phosphorylation of serine 536 residues on Rel A/ p65 dimers was essential for these NF $\kappa$ B subunits to bind to the - $\kappa$ B site on the *TGM2* gene promoter. Furthermore, ChIP analysis confirmed that both the IKK $\varepsilon$  inhibitor, BX795 and NF- $\kappa$ B p65 (Ser529/536) inhibitory peptide inhibited the binding of Rel A/ p65 dimers to the  $-\kappa B$  site on the TGM2 gene promoter. However, the cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, that down regulated the formation of the Rel A/ p65 dimers and TG2 expression, failed to block the binding of the Rel A p65 to the  $-\kappa B$  site on the TGM2 gene promoter. The TGM2 gene expression was determined subsequently in the presence of the cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors, R283 and Z-DON, and a clear significant decrease was observed in the TGM2 gene expression in the high TG2 breast cancer cell lines, This could account for the consequent decrease in the TG2 protein and activity levels as well as chemoresistance against doxorubicin observed in the high TG2 breast cancer cells. The results of these experiments were further confirmed by reference to previous work conducted that reported the presence of the single  $-\kappa B$  binding site within the *TGM2* gene promoter as deciphered by EMSA (Electrophoretic mobility shift assay) (Caccamo, et al. 2005; Mirza, et al. 1997).

Taken together, all this current evidence clearly supports the existence of a novel regulatory feedback loop wherein TG2 transamidating activity was responsible for constitutively activating Rel A/ p65 by cross linking and these Rel A/ p65 dimers were phosphorylated at the serine 536 residue which in turn drives the expression of TG2. Additionally, high expression and activity

#### Chapter 8: Discussion

of TG2 and constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B has been demonstrated to take place both in primary cultured breast cancer cells as well as breast tumours (Ai, *et al.* 2012). This regulatory loop seems to be self-sustaining because the expression of TG2 and activity of NF $\kappa$ B is substantially lower in normal epithelial cell lines as compared to cultured cancer cell lines. Such a self-amplifying regulatory-loop results in an obvious chemoresistant phenotype in high TG2 expressing breast cancer cells (Brown, 2013). NF $\kappa$ B directs the expression of various pro survival and anti-apoptotic genes as a response to cytotoxic damage induced by chemotherapeutic agents (Karin, 2006).



Figure 8.1 Schematic representation of TG2-NFkB regulatory loop

Another key event reported to be regulated by this TG2/ NF $\kappa$ B feedback loop is the activation of EMT (Epithelial to Mesenchymal transition), by down regulation of genes responsible for maintaining the epithelial integrity, E- Cadherin and increase in the molecules required for mesenchymal and invasive phenotypes such as TGF- $\beta$ 1, N- Cadherin, Vimentin and FN (Kumar, *et al.* 2010). However, in spite of the presence of the self-sustained TG2/ NF $\kappa$ B regulatory loop in the chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines, there was no significant difference observed in the EMT markers (E-cadherin, N-cadherin and TGF $\beta$ 1 activity) between the high and null TG2 MDA MB 231 breast cancer cell lines (Clone 16 and WT respectively. The MCF7/WT cells did express high levels of E-cadherin which seems to have decreased in the MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines. Similarly, in the MCF/RT cell lines, expression of Ncadherin was observed. Such a "cadherin-switch" could account for the EMT characteristics in the MCF7 cell lines. Also, studies have demonstrated that expression of TG2 in MCF10A cells resulted in the reduction of E- cadherin expression and up regulation of various EMT markers (Kumar, *et al.* 2010).

The continuous activation of the TG2/ NF $\kappa$ B loop might even have other effects on the behaviour of tumour cells other than the ones detailed above. Via this loop TG2 expression may affect the structure of the ECM, and the increased expression of extracellular TG2 may change the motility and invasiveness of the cancer cells. Furthermore, the activity of extracellular TG2 has been shown to cross link integrins which results in the continuous activation of FAK at the membrane of the cell which supports the activation of AKT kinase (Verma, *et al.* 2006 ; Kang, *et al.* 2004). Recently, a study conducted by Wang and Griffin demonstrated that inhibiting the cell surface TG2 activity of MDA MB 231 Clone 16 breast cancer cells resulted in a decrease in S100A4 polymer formation as well as subsequent cell migration. Furthermore, this study also revealed that activation of PKC $\alpha$  can link the  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 integrin and syndecan 4 co signalling pathways in facilitating the cell migration mediated by S100A4 and TG2 (Wang & Griffin, 2013).

From the viewpoint of therapeutics, switching off the TG2/ NF $\kappa$ B regulatory loop has an apparent benefit for treating chemoresistant and invasive breast cancer. A lot of effort has been put into developing IKK kinase activity inhibitors that would block the constitutive activation of NF $\kappa$ B subunits (Gilmore & Herscovitch, 2006). However, since current research has indicated that the transamidating activity of TG2 is responsible for constitutively activating Rel A/ p65 via a mechanism that is independent of IKK function, such inhibitory molecules would not have any effect on the TG2/ NF $\kappa$ B regulatory loop. The development and use of novel cell permeable TG2 activity inhibitors in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs holds considerable promise in disrupting this signalling loop and improving the therapeutic measures for treatment of chemoresistant breast cancer.

# **Chapter 9: Future Direction**

# 9. Future Direction

Following the investigations that have been described in this thesis, a number of future projects could be taken up, which involve using breast cancer tissue samples as well as knock out mouse models:

- Other breast cancer cell lines which are from both of glandular as well as ductal origin should be tested for TG2 activity, Rel A/p65 high molecular weight forms as well as chemoresistance against doxorubicin to investigate if the chemoresistant phenotype was specific to certain breast cancer cell line origins.
- The MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cells that have been determined to be chemoresistant to doxorubicin, but chemosusceptible to cisplatin. These high TG2 expressing breast cancer cells should be repeatedly cultured in increasing concentrations of doxorubicin so as to develop cisplatin resistant breast cancer cell lines. Subsequent protein analysis of TG2 levels and Rel A/p65 high molecular weight forms could help determine if the chemoresistant phenotype of breast cancer cells induced by TG2 was specific to doxorubicin or similar anthracylin drugs.
- Transient transfection of Wild Type TG2 plasmid into TG2 null breast cancer cell lines to establish stable breast cancer cell lines that express high amount of TG2. Protein expression and activity assays and well as cell viability tests could then be used to determine whether similar result are observed as with the high TG2 MDA MB 231 Clone 16 and MCF7/RT breast cancer cell lines.
- It would of further interest to transfect the TG2 null breast cancer cell lines with mutant forms of TG2 pertaining to the active catalytic site as well as the GTP binding site to confirm that TG2 activity was chiefly responsible to confer chemoresistant phenotype against doxorubicin as well as the formation of high molecular weight Rel A/p65 as well as IkBα forms.

- Further upstream inhibitors of the NFκB activation pathways could be used to further confirm the exact activation pathway, either canonical or non-canonical, of Rel A/p65 high molecular weight forms.
- Mass Spectrometry analysis of the high molecular weight Rel A/p65 form could help establish the exact nature of these supposedly dimeric forms.
- Obtaining metastatic breast cancer tissue samples and immunohistochemistry staining with different antibodies specific for TG2 and Rel A/p65.
- Using these metastatic breast cancer tissues, staining of inflammatory cells such as macrophages and neutrophils will allow determining infiltration of cells into these tumour sites.
- DNA micro array studies would further help determine gene expression patterns of chemoresistant genes or drug efflux genes that may be responsible in conferring a chemoresistant phenotype against doxorubicin in highTG2 breast cancer cells

In summary, such future studies would further help understand the exact mechanistic phenomenon behind chemoresistant breast cancer cell lines and allow development of therapeutics which would help increase prognosis.

## REFERENCES

- Ablin, R., Kynaston, H., Mason, M. & Jiang, W., (2011). Prostate transglutaminase (TGase-4) antagonizes the anti-tumour action of MDA-7/IL-24 in prostate cancer. *J Transl Med*, 9, p. 49.
- Adli, M. & Baldwin, A., (2006). IKK-i/IKKepsilon controls constitutive, cancer cellassociated NF-kappaB activity via regulation of Ser-536 p65/RelA phosphorylation.. J Biol Chem, 281, pp. 26976.
- Agnihotri, N., Kumar, S. & Mehta, K., (2013). Tissue transglutaminase as a central mediator in inflammation-induced progression of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, 15, p. 202.
- Ahvazi, B., Boeshans, K. & Rastinejad, F., (2002). The emerging structural understanding of transglutaminase 3. *J struc Biol*, 147, pp. 200.
- Ai, L., Kim, WJ., Demircan, B., Dyer, LM., Bray, KJ., Skehan, RR., Massoll, NA., Brown, KD., (2008). The transglutaminase 2 gene (TGM2), a potential molecular marker for chemotherapeutic drug sensitivity, is epigenetically silenced in breast cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, 29, pp. 510.
- Ai, L., Skehan, RR., Saydi, J., Lin, T., Brown, KD., (2012) Ataxia-Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM)/Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (kappaB) signalling controls basal and DNA damage-induced Transglutaminase expression. *JBC*, 287, pp. 18330.
- Akar, U., Ozpolat, B., Mehta, K., Fok, J., Kondo, Y., Lopez-Berestein, G., (2007). Tissue transglutaminase inhibits autophagy in pancreatic cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res*, 5, pp. 241.
- Akimov, S. & Belkin, A., (2001). Cell surface tissue transglutaminase is involved in adhesion and migration of monocytic cells on fibronectin. Blood, Volume 98, p. 1567.
- Akimov, S. & Belkin, A., (2001). Cell-surface transglutaminase promotes fibronectin assembly via interaction with the gelatin-binding domain of fibronectin: a role in TGFbeta-dependent matrix deposition.. *J Cell Sci*, 114, pp. 2989.
- Akimov, S., Krylov, B., Flaischlimann, L. & Belkin, A., (2000). Tissue transglutaminase is an integrin binding adhesion co-receptor for fibronectin. *J Biol Chem*, 148, pp. 18609-18614.
- Alkhalaf, M. and El-Mowafy, A.M. (2003). Overexpression of wild-type p53 gene renders MCF-7 breast cancer cells more sensitive to the antiproliferative effect of progesterone. Journal *of Endocrinology*, 179, pp 55
- Antonyak, M., Jansen, JM., Miller, AM., Ly, TK., Endo, M., Cerione, RA., (2006). Two isoforms of tissue transglutaminase mediate opposing cellular fates. *Proc Natl Acad USA*, 103, pp. 18609.
- Antonyak, M., Li, B., Regan, AD., Feng, Q., Dusaban, SS., Cerione, RA., (2009). Tissue transglutaminase is an essential participant in the epidermal growth factorstimulated signaling pathway leading to cancer cell migration and invasion. *J Biol Chem*, 284, pp. 17914.
- Antonyak, M., McNeill, CJ., Wakshlag, JJ., Boehm, JE., Cerione, RA., (2003). Activation of the Ras-ERK pathway inhibits retinoic acid-induced stimulation of tissue transglutaminase expression in NIH3T3 cells. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp. 15859.

- Antonyak, M., Miller, AM., Jansen, JM., Boehm, JE., Balkman, CE., Wakshlag, JJ., Page, RL., Cerione, RA., (2004). Augmentation of tissue transglutaminase expression and activation by epidermal growth factor inhibit doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. *J Biol Chem*, 279, pp. 41461.
- Antonyak, M., Singh, US., Lee, DA., Boehm, JE., Combs, C., Zgola, MM., Page, RL., Cerione, RA., (2001). Effects of tissue transglutaminase on retinoic acid induced cellular differentiation and protection against apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, 276, pp. 33582.
- Baek, K., Kang, S., Damron, D. & Im, M., (2001). Phospholipase Cdelta1 is a guanine nucleotide exchanging factor for transglutaminase II (Galpha h) and promotes alpha 1B-adrenoreceptor-mediated GTP binding and intracellular calcium release.. *J Biol Chem*, 276, pp. 5591.
- Baeuerle, P. & Henkel, T., (1994). Function and activation of NF-k B in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 12, pp. 141.
- Bailey, C. & Johnson, G., (2005). Tissue transglutaminase contributes to disease progression in the R6/2 Huntington's disease mouse model via aggregate independent mechanisms.. *J Neurochem*, 92, pp. 83.
- Bain, J., Plater, L., Elliott, M., Shpiro, N., Hastie, CJ., McLauchlan, H., Klevernic, I., Arthur, JS., Alessi, DR., Cohen, P., (2007). The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: a further update.. *Biochem J*, 408, pp. 297.
- Baldwin, A., (1996). The NF-k B and I k B proteins: New discoveries and insights. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 14, pp. 649.
- Balklava, Z., Verderio, E., Collighan, R., Gross, S., Adams, J., Griffin, M., (2002). Analysis of tissue transglutaminase function in the migration of swiss 3T3 fibroblaststhe active state conformation of the enzyme does not affect cell motility but is important for its secretion. *J Biol Chem*, 227, pp. 16567.
- Ballestar, E., Boix-Chornet, M. & Franco, L., (2001). Conformational changes in the nucleosome followed by the selective accessibility of histone glutamines in the transglutaminase reaction: Effects of salt concentrations. *Biochemistry*, 49, pp. 1922.
- Belkin, A., (2012). Extracellular TG2: emerging functions and regulation. *FEBS J*, 278, pp. 4704.
- Bell, S., Mavila, A., Salazar, R., Bayless, KJ., Kanagala, S., Maxwell, SA., Davis, GE., (2001). Differential gene expression during capillary morphogenesis in 3D collagen matrices: regulated expression of genes involved in basement membrane matrix assembly, cell cycle progression, cellular differentiation and G protein assembly. *Journal of Cell Science*, 114, pp. 2755.
- Benoy, IH, Salgado, R., Van Dam, P., Geboers, K., Van Marck, E., Scharpé, S., Vermeulen, PB., Dirix, LY., (2004). Increased serum interleukin-8 in patients with early and metastatic breast cancer correlates with early dissemination and survival. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 10, pp. 7157.
- Bergamini, C., (2007). Effects of ligands on the stabilit of tissue transglutaminase: studies in vitro suggest possible modulation by ligands of protein turn over in vivo. *Amino Acids*, 22, pp. 415.
- Bergqvist, S., Ghosh, G. & Komives, E., (2008). The IkBa/NF-kB complex has two hot spots, one at either end of the interface. *Protein Science*, 17, pp. 2051.
- Beyaert, R., (2004). *Nuclear factor kappa B regulation and role in diseases*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Birckbichler, P. & Patterson, M., (1978). Cellular transglutaminase growth and transformation. *The Annals of the new york academy of sciences*, 312, pp. 354.
- Biswas, D., Cruz, A., Gansberger, E. & Pardee, A., (2000). Epidermal growth factor induced nuclear factor kappa B activation: A major pathway of cell cycle progression in estrogen receptor negative breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 97, pp. 8542.
- Biswas, DK., Shi, Q., Baily, S., Strickland, I., Ghosh, S., Pardee, AB., Iglehart, JD., (2004). NF-kappa B activation in human breast cancer specimens and its role in cell proliferation and apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, pp. 10137.
- Boehm, J., Singh, U., Combs, C., Antonyak, MA., Cerione, RA., (2002). Tissue transglutaminase protects against apoptosis by modifying the tumour suppressor protein p110 Rb. *J Biol Chem*, 277, pp. 20127.
- Brown, KD., (2013). Transglutainase 2 and NF-kB: an odd couple that shapes breast cancer phenotype. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 137, pp. 329.
- Budillon, A., Carbone, C. & Di Gennaro, E., (2013). Tissue transglutaminase: a new target to reverse cancer drug resistance. *Amino Acids*, 44, pp. 63.
- Buss, H., Dörrie, A., Schmitz, ML., Hoffmann, E., Resch, K., Kracht, M., (2004). Constitutive and interleukin-1-inducible phosphorylation of p65 NF-kappaB at serine 536 is mediated by multiple protein kinases including IkappaB kinase IKKalpha,IKKbeta,IKKepsilon,TRAF family member-associated(TANK)-binding kinase1(TBK), and an unknown kinase abd couples p65 to TATA-binding proteinassociated factor II31-mediated interleukin-8 transcription. *J biol Chem*, 279, pp. 55633.
- Buss, H., Handschick, K., Jurrmann, N., Pekkonen, P., Beuerlein, K., Müller, H., Wait, R., Saklatvala, J., Ojala, PM., Schmitz, ML., Naumann, M., Kracht, M., (2012). Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 6 Phosphorylates NF-κB P65 at Serine 536 and Contributes to the Regulation of Inflammatory Gene Expression. *PLos One*, 7, p. e51847.
- Buxman, M.M., and Wuepper, K.D (1976). Isolation, purification and characterization of bovine epidermal transglutaminase. *Biochem Biophys Acta*, 452, pp. 356.
- Caccamo, D., Campisi, A., Currò, M., Aguennouz, M., Li Volti, G., Avola, R., Ientile, R., (2005). Nuclear factor-kappaB activation is associated with glutamate-evoked tissue transglutaminase upregulation in primary astrocyte cultures. *J Neurosci Res*, 82, pp. 858.
- Candi, E., Paradisi, A., Terrinoni, A., Pietroni, V., Oddi, S., Cadot, B., Jogini, V., Meiyappan, M., Clardy, J., Finazzi-Agro, A., Melino, G., (2004). Transglutaminase 5 is regulated by guanine-adenine nucleotides. *Biochem J*, 381, pp. 313.
- Candi, E., Oddi, S., Terrinoni, A., Paradisi, A., Ranalli, M., Finazzi-Agró, A., Melino, G., (2001). Transglutaminase 5 cross-links loricrin, involucrin, small proline-rich proteins in vitro. *J Biol Chem*, 276, pp. 35014.
- Cao, L., Petrusca, DN., Satpathy, M., Nakshatri, H., Petrache, I., Matei, D., (2008). Tissue transglutaminase protects epithelial ovarian cancer cells from cisplatin-induced apoptosis by promoting cell survival signaling. *Carcinogenesis*, 29, pp. 1893.
- Cassidy, A., van Steensel, MA., Steijlen, PM., van Geel, M., van der Velden, J., Morley, SM., Terrinoni, A., Melino, G., Candi, E.,McLean, WH., (2005). A homozygous missense mutation in TGM5 abolishes epidermal transglutaminase 5 activity and causes acral peeling skin snydrome. *Am J Hum Genet*, 77, pp. 909.

- Cazzaniga, M. & Bonanni, B., (2012). Breast Cancer Chemoprevention: Old and New Approaches. *J Biomed Biotechnol.*, 2012, p. 985620.
- Chandrashekar, R. & Mehta, K., (2000). Transglutaminase-catalyzed Reactions in the Growth, Maturation and Development of Parasitic Nematodes. *Parasitology today*, 16, pp. 11.
- Chau, DYS., Collighan, RJ., Verderio, EAM., Addy, VL. & Griffin, M., (2005). The cellular response to transglutaminase-cross-linked collagen. Biomaterials, Volume 26, p. 6518.
- Chekhun, V., Lukyanova, NY., Kovalchuk, O., Tryndyak, VP., Pogribny, IP., (2007). Epigenetic profiling of multidrug-resistant human MCF7 breast adenocarcinoma cells reveals novel hyper- and hypomethylated targets. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 6, pp. 1089.
- Chen, CS., Wu, CH., Lai, YC., Lee, WS., Chen, HM., Chen, RJ., Chen, LC., Ho, YS., Wang, YJ., (2008). NF-kappaB-activated tissue transglutaminase is involved in ethanol-induced hepatic injury and the possible role of propolis in preventing fibrogenesis. *Toxicology*, 246, pp. 148.
- Chen, J. & Mehta, K., (1999). Tissue transglutaminase: an enzyme with a spolit personality.. *The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 31, p. 81.
- Chen, J., Agarwal, N. & Mehta, K., (2002). Multidrug-resistant MCF7 breast cancer cells contain deficient intracellular calcium pools.. *Breast Cancer Research Treat*, 71, pp. 237
- Chen, L., Fischle, W., Verdin, E. & Greene, W., (2001). Duration of nuclear NFkappaB action regulated by reversible acetylation. *Science*, 293, pp. 1653.
- Chen, L., Williams, SA., Mu, Y., Nakano, H., Duerr, JM., Buckbinder, L., Greene, WC., (2005). NF-kappaB RelA phosphorylation regulates RelA acetylation. *Mol Cell Biol.*, 25, pp. 7966
- Cheng, T., Hitomi, K., van Vlijmen-Willems, IM., de Jongh, GJ., Yamamoto, K., Nishi, K., Watts, C., Reinheckel, T., Schalkwijk, J., Zeeuwen, PL., (2006). Cystatin M/E is a high affinity inhibitor of cathepsin V and cathepsin L by a reactive site that is distinct from the legumain-binding site. A novel clue for the role of cystatin M/E in epidermal cornification. *J Biol Chem*, 281, pp. 15893.
- Chhabra, A., Verma, A. & Mehta, K., (2009). Tissue Transglutaminase Promotes or Suppresses Tumours Depending on Cell Context. *Anticancer Research*, 29, pp. 1909
- Cho, S., Choi, K., Jeon, JH., Kim, CW., Shin, DM., Lee, JB., Lee, SE., Kim, CS., Park, JS., Jeong, EM., Jang, GY., Song, KY., Kim, IG., (2010). Differential alternative splicing of human transglutaminase 4 in benign prostate hyperplasia and prostate cancer. *Exp Mol Med*, 42, pp. 310.
- Cho, SG., Li, D., Stafford, LJ., Luo, J., Rodriguez-Villanueva, M., Wang, Y., Liu, M., (2009). KiSS1 suppresses TNFalpha-induced breast cancer cell invasion via an inhibition of RhoA-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *J Cell Biochem*, 107, pp. 1139.
- Chomczynski, P. & Mackey, K., (1995). Short technical report. Modification of the TRIZOL reagent procedure for isolation of RNA from Polysaccharide-and proteoglycan-rich sources.. *Biotechniques*, 19, pp. 942.
- Chua, HL., Bhat-Nakshatri, P., Clare, SE., Morimiya, A., Badve, S., Nakshatri, H., (2007). NF-kappaB represses E-cadherin expression and enhances epithelial to mesenchymal transition of mammary epithelial cells: potential involvement of ZEB-1 and ZEB-2. *Oncogene*, 26, pp. 711.

- Chun, W., Lesort, M., Tucholski, J., Ross, CA., Johnson, GV., (2001). Tissue transglutaminase does not contribute to the formation of mutant huntingtin aggregates. *J Cell Biol*, 153, pp. 25
- Citron, B., SantaCruz, K., Davies, P., Festoff, B., (2001). Intron-exon swapping of transglutaminase mRNA and neuronal Tau aggregation in Alzheimer's disease. *J Biol Chem*, 276, pp. 3295.
- Citron, B., Suo, Z., SantaCruz, K., Davies, PJ., Qin, F., Festoff, BW., (2002). Protein crosslinking, tissue transglutaminase, alternative splicing and neurodegeneration. *Neurochem Int,* 40, pp. 69.
- Clark, K., Platter, L., Peggie, M., Cohen, P., (2009). Use of the pharmacological inhibitor BX795 to study the regulation and physiological roles of TBK1 and IKKɛ: A distinct upstream kinase mediates Ser 172 phosphorylation and activation. *JBC*, 284, pp. 14136.
- Clarke, D., Mycek, M., Neidle, A., Waelsch, H., (1957). The incorporation of amines into proteins. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 79, pp. 338.
- Cogswell, P., Guttridge, D., Funkhouser, W., Baldwin Jr, A., (2000). Selective activation of NF-kappa B subunirs in human breast cancer: potential roles for NF-kappa B2/p52 and for Bcl-3. *Oncogene*, 19, pp. 1123
- Collighan, R. & Griffin, M., (2009). Transglutaminase 2 cross linking of matrix proteins: biological significance and medical applications. *Amino Acids*, 36, pp. 659
- Condello, S., Caccamo, D., Currò, M., Ferlazzo, N., Parisi, G., Ientile, R., (2008). Transglutaminase 2 and NF kappa B interplay during NGF induced differentiation of neuroblastoma cells. *Brain Research*, 207, pp. 1.
- Cullen, BR., & Malim, MH., (1992) Secretted placental alkaline phosphatase as a eukaryotic reporter gene. *Method Enzymol.* 216, pp. 362.
- Dahl, K., Parthasarathy, R., Westhoff, CM., Layton, DM., Discher, DE., (2004). Protein 4.2 is critical to CD47-membrane skeleton attachment in human red cells. *Blood*, 103, pp. 1131.
- Davies, G., Ablin, R., Mason, M., Jiang, W., (2007). Expression of the prostate transglutainase (TGase-4) in prostate cancer cells and its impact on the invasiveness of prostate cancer. *J Exp Therapeut Oncol*, 6, pp. 257.
- De Laurenzi, V. & Melino, G., (2001). Gene disruption of tissue transglutaminase. *Mol Cell Biol*, 21, pp. 148.
- D'Eletto, M., Farrace, MG., Falasca, L., Reali, V., Oliverio, S., Melino, G., Griffin, M., Fimia, GM., Piacentini, M., (2009). Transglutaminase 2 is involved in autophagosome maturation..*Autophagy*, 5, pp. 1145.
- Deng, B., Yang, X., Liu, J., He, F., Zhu, Z., Zhang, C., (2010). Focal adhesion kinase mediates TGF-beta1-induced renal tubular epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in vitro. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 340, pp. 21.
- Devarajan, E. *et al.*(2002). Human breast cancer MCF7 cell line contains inherently drug-resistant subclones with distinct genotypic and phenotypic features. *Int J Oncol*, 20, pp. 913.
- Dieterich, W., Ehnis, T., Bauer, M., Donner, P., Volta, U., Riecken, EO., Schuppan, D., (1997). Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. *Nat Med*, 3, pp. 797.
- Dudek, S. & Johnson, G., (1994). Transglutaminase facilitates the formation of polymers of the beta- amyloid peptide.. *Brain Res*, 651, pp. 129.

- Dyer, LM., Schooler, KP., Ai, L., Klop, C., Qiu, J., Robertson, KD., Brown, KD., (2011). The transglutaminase 2 gene is aberrantly hypermethylated in glioma. *J Neurooncol*, 101, pp. 429.
- Facchiano, A. & Facchiano, F., (2009). Transglutaminases and their substrates in biology and human diseases: 50 years of growing..*Amino Acids*, 36, pp. 599.
- Falasca, L. Farrace, MG., Rinaldi, A., Tuosto, L., Melino, G., Piacentini, M., (2008). Transglutaminase type II is involved in the pathogenesis of endotoxic shock. *J Immunol*, 180, pp. 2616.
- Fantini, M., Becker, C., Tubbe, I., (2006). TGF-beta induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells supress Th1-mediated experimental colitis. *Gut*, 55, pp. 671.
- Fesik, S., (2005). Promoting apoptosis as a strategy for cancer drug discovery. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 5, pp. 876.
- Fesus, L. & Piacentini, M., (2002). Transglutaminase 2: An enigmatic enzyme with diverse functions. *Trends in Biochem Sci*, 27, p. 534.
- Filiano, A., Bailey, CD., Tucholski, J., Gundemir, S., Johnson, GV., (2008). Transglutaminase 2 protects against ischemic insult, interacts with HIF1b, and attenuates HIF1 signaling. *FASEB*, 22, pp. 2662.
- Fok, J. & Mehta, K., (2007). Tissue transglutaminase induces the release of apoptosis inducing factor and results in apoptotic death of pancreatic cancer cells..*Apoptosis*, 12, pp. 1455.
- Fok, J., Ekmekcioglu, S., Mehta, K., (2006). Implications of tissue transglutaminase expression in malignant melanoma.. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 5, pp. 1493
- Folk, J. & Chung, I., (1985). Transglutaminases. Methods Enzymol, 113, pp. 358.
- Folkman, J., (1990). What is the evidence that tumours are angioenesis dependent?. *Journal of National Cancer Institute*, 82, pp. 4.
- Foroni, C., Broggini, M., Generali, D., Giovanna, D., (2012). Epithelial–mesenchymal transition and breast cancer: Role, molecular mechanisms and clinical impact. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 38, pp. 689.
- Gaudry, C., Verderio, E., Aeschlimann, D., Cox, A., Smith, C., Griffin, M., (1999). Cell surface localization of tissue transglutaminase is dependent on a fibronectin-binding site in its N-terminal beta-sandwich domain. *J Biol Chem*, 274, pp. 30707.
- Gentile, V (1994). The human tissue transglutaminase gene maps on chromosome 20q12 by in situ fluorescence hybridization.*Genomics*, 20, pp.295
- Ghanta, KS., Pakala, SB., Reddy, SD., Li, DQ., Nair, SS., Kumar, R., (2011). MTA1 Coregulation of Transglutaminase 2 Expression and function during inflammatory response. *J Biol. Chem*, 286, pp. 7132.
- Ghosh, S. & Hayden, M., (2008). New regulators of NF-kB in inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 8, pp. 837.
- Ghosh, S. & Karin, M., (2002). Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. *Cell*, 109, pp. 81.
- Gilmore, T. & Herscovitch, M., (2006). Inhibitors of NF-kappaB signalling. *Oncogene*, 25, pp. 6887
- Gong, C., Yao, H., Liu, Q., Chen, J., Shi, J., Su, F., Song, E., (2010). Markers of Tumour-Initiating cells predict chemoresistane in breast cancer. *PLoS One*, 5, pp. e15630.

- Greenberg, C., Birckbichler, P., Rice, R., (1991). Transglutaminases: multifunctional cross-linking enzymes that stabilize tissues. *FASEB J*, 5, pp. 3071.
- Grenard, P., Bresson-Hadni, S., El Alaoui, S., Chevallier, M., Vuitton, DA., Ricard-Blum, S., (2001). Transglutaminase-mediated cross-linking is involved in the stabilization of extracellular matrix in human liver fibrosis. *J Hepatol*, 35, pp. 367.
- Griffin, M., Casadio, R., Bergamini, C., (2002). Transglutaminases: Natures biological glues. *Biochem J*, 368, pp. 377.
- Griffin, M., Mongeot, A., Collighan, R., Saint, RE., Jones, RA., Coutts, IG., Rathbone, DL., (2008). Synthesis of potent water-soluble tissue transglutaminase inhibitors. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 18, pp. 5559.
- Grigoriev, M., Suspitsin, EN., Togo, AV., Pozharisski, KM., Ivanova, OA., Nardacci, R., Falasca, L., Piacentini, M., Imyanitov, EN., Hanson, KP., (2001). Tissue transglutaminase expression in breast carcinomas. *J. Exp Clin Cancer Res.*, 20, pp. 265.
- Grivennikov, S., Greten, F., Karin, M., (2010). Immunity, inflammation and cancer. *Cell*, 140, pp. 883.
- Gundemir, S., Colak, G., Tucholski, J., Johnson, G., (2012). Transglutaminase 2: A Molecular Swiss Army Knife. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1823, pp. 406.
- Gupta, G. & Massague, J., (2006). Cancer metastasis: building a framewor. *Cell*, 127, pp. 679.
- Gurtner, A., Starace, G., Norelli, G., Piaggio, G., Sacchi, A., Boss, G. (2010). Mutant p53-induced Upregulation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Kinase 3 Contributes to Gain of Function. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285, pp 14160.
- Hadjivassiliou, M., Aeschlimann, P., Strigun, A., Sanders, DS., Woodroofe, N., Aeschlimann, D., (2008). Autoantibodies in gluten ataxia recognize a novel neuronal transglutaminase. *Ann Neurol*, 64, pp. 332.
- Han, J. & Park, S., (1999). Reduction of transglutaminase-2 expression is associated with an induction of drug sensitivity in the PC-14 human lung cancer cell line. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 125, pp. 89.
- Han, Y., Weinman, S., Boldogh, I., Walker, RK., Brasier, AR., (1999). Tumour necrosis factor-alpha inducible IkappaBalpha proteolysis mediated by cytosolic u-calpain. A mechanism parallel to the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway for nuclear factor-kappab activation. *J Biol Chem*, 274, pp. 787.
- Haroon, Z., Lai, TS., Hettasch, JM., Lindberg, RA., Dewhirst, MW., Greenberg, CS., (1999). Tissue transglutaminase is expressed as a host response to tumour invasion and inhibits tumour growth. *Laboratory investigation*, 79, pp. 1679.
- Harris, J., Olière, S., Sharma, S., Sun, Q., Lin, R., Hiscott, J., Grandvaux, N., (2006). Nuclear Accumulation of cRel following C-terminal phosphorylation by TBK1/IKKe. *Journal of Immunology*, 177, pp. 2527.
- Hayden, M. & Ghosh, S., (2004). Signalling to NF-kappaB. Gene Dev, 18, pp. 2195.
- Hayden, M. & Ghosh, S., (2008). Shared principles in NF-kB signalling. *Cell*, 132, pp. 344.
- Henkels, KM, Turchi. JJ (1999) Cisplatin-induced apoptosis proceeds by caspase-3dependent and -independent pathways in cisplatin-resistant and -sensitive human ovarian cancer cell lines. *Cancer Research*, 59, pp. 3077
- Herman, J., Mangala, L., Mehta, K., (2006). Implications of increased tissue transglutaminase (TG2) expression in drug-resistant breast cancer (MCF7) cells.. *Oncogene*, 25, pp. 3049.

- Hitomi, K., Kanehiro, S., Ikura, K., Maki, M., (1999). Characterization of recombinant mouse epidermal-type transglutaminase (TGase 3): regulation of its activity by proteolysis and guanine nucleotides.. *J Biochem*, 125, pp. 1048.
- Hitomi, K., Presland, RB., Nakayama, T., Fleckman, P., Dale, BA., Maki, M., (2003). Analysis of epidermal-type transglutaminase (transglutaminase 3) in human stratified epithelia and cultured keratinocytes using monoclonal antibodies. *J Dermatol Sci*, 32, pp. 95.
- Ho, G., Gregory, EJ., Smirnova, IV., Zoubine, MN., Festoff, BW., (1994). Crosslinking of beta-amyloid protein precursor catalyzed by tissue transglutaminase. *FEBS Lett*, 349, pp. 151.
- Hoffmann, A., Natoli, G., Ghosh, G., (2006). Transcriptional regulation via the nfkb signalling molecule. *oncogene*, 25, pp. 6706.
- Huber, M., Azoitei, N., Baumann, B., Grünert, S., Sommer, A., Pehamberger, H., Kraut, N., Beug, H., Wirth, T., (2004). NF-κB is essential for epithelialmesenchymal transition and metastasis in a model of breast cancer progression. *J Clin Invest*, 114, pp. 569.
- Hui, L, Zheng, Y., Yan, Y., Bargonetti, J., Foster, D.A. (2006). Mutant p53 in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells is stabilized by elevated phospholipase D activity and contributes to survival signals generated by phsopholipase D. *Oncogene* 25, pp 7305
- Hunter, I., Sigmundsson, K., Beauchemin, N., Obrink, B., (1998). The cell adhesion molecule C-CAM is a substrate for tissue transglutaminase. *FEBS Letters*, 425, pp. 141.
- Hupp, T.R., Lane, D.P., Ball, K.L (2000). Strategies for manipulating the p53 pathway in treatment of human cancer. *Biochemistry Journal* 352, pp 1.
- Hwang, J., Mangala, LS., Fok, JY., Lin, YG., Merritt, WM., Spannuth, WA., Nick, AM., Fiterman, DJ., Vivas-Mejia, PE., Deavers, MT., Coleman, RL., Lopez-Berestein, G., Mehta, K., Sood, AK., (2008). Clinical and biological significance of tissue transglutaminase in ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 68, pp. 5849.
- Iacobuzio-Donahue, CA., Maitra, A., Olsen, M., Lowe, AW., van Heek, NT., Rosty, C., Walter, K., Sato, N., Parker, A., Ashfaq, R., Jaffee, E., Ryu, B., Jones, J., Eshleman, JR., Yeo, CJ., Cameron, JL., Kern, SE., Hruban, RH., Brown, PO., Goggins, M., (2003). Exploration of global gene expression patterns in pancreatic adenocarcinoma using cDNA microarrays. *Am J Pathol*, 162, pp. 1151.
- Ichinose, A., Bottenus, R., Davie, E., (1990). Structure of transglutaminases. *J Biol Chem*, 265, pp. 13411.
- Iismaa, S., Chung, L., Wu, MJ., Teller, DC., Yee, VC., Graham, RM., (1997). The core domain of the tissue transglutaminase Gh hydrolyzes GTP and ATP. *Biochemistry*, 36, pp. 11655.
- Iismaa, S., Mearns, B., Lorand, L., Graham, R., (2009). Transglutaminases and Disease: Lessons From Genetically Engineered Mouse Models and Inherited Disorders. *Physiol Rev*, 89, pp. 991.
- Iismaa, S., Wu, MJ., Nanda, N., Church, WB., Graham, RM., (2000). GTP binding and signaling by Gh/transglutaminase II involves distinct residues in a unique GTP-binding pocket. *J Biol Chem*, 275, pp. 18259.
- Ikura, K., Takahata, K., Sasaki, R., (1993). Cross-linking of a synthetic partial-length (1-28) peptide of the Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid protein by transglutaminase.. *FEBS Lett*, 326, pp. 109.

- Inada, R., Matsuki, M., Yamada, K., Morishima, Y., Shen, SC., Kuramoto, N., Yasuno, H., Takahashi, K., Miyachi, Y., Yamanishi, K., (2000). Facilitated wound healing by activation of the Transglutaminase 1 gene. *Am J Pathol*, 157, pp. 1875
- Jang, GY., Jeon, JH., Cho, SY., Shin, DM., Kim, CW., Jeong, EM., Bae, HC., Kim, TW., Lee, SH., Choi, Y., Lee, DS., Park, SC., Kim, IG., (2010). Transglutaminase 2 suppresses apoptosis by modulating caspase 3 and NF-kappaB activity in hypoxic tumour cells. *Oncogene*, 29, pp. 356.
- Jang, J., Park, J., Lee, T., Kwon, T., (2010). Transglutaminase 2 expression levels regulate sensitivity to cystamine plus TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. *Cancer Lett*, 287, pp. 224.
- Janiak, A., Zemskov, E., Belkin, A., (2006). Cell surface transglutaminase promotes RhoA activtion via integrin clustering and suppression of the Src-p190RhoGAP signalling pathway. *Mol Biol Cell*, 17, pp. 1606.
- Jessen, B., Phillips, M., Hovnanian, A., Rice, R., (2000). Role of Sp1 response element in transcription of the human transglutaminase 1 gene. *J Invest Dermatol*, 115, pp. 113.
- Jiang, D., Ying, W., Lu, Y., Wan, J., Zhai, Y., Liu, W., Zhu, Y., Qiu, Z., Qian, X., He, F., (2003). Identification of metastasis associated proteins by proteomic analysis and functional exploration of interleukin-18 in metastasis. *Proteomics*, 3, pp. 724.
- Jiang, W. & Ablin, R., (2011). Prostate transglutaminase: a unique transglutaminase and its role in prostate cancer. *Biomarkers in medicine*, 5, pp. 285.
- Jiang, X., Takahashi, N., Matsui, N., Tetsuka, T., Okamoto, T., (2003). The NF-kappa B activation in lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling depends on the phosphorylation of p65 at serine 536. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp. 919.
- John, S., Thiebach, L., Frie, C., Mokkapati, S., Bechtel, M., Nischt, R., Rosser-Davies, S., Paulsson, M., Smyth, N., (2012). Epidermal transglutaminase (TGase 3) is required for proper hair development, but not the formation of the epidermal barrier. *PLos One*, 7, pp. e34252.
- Johnson, GV., Cox, TM., Lockhart, JP., Zinnerman, MD., Miller, ML., Powers, RE., (1997). Transglutaminase activity is increased in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Brain Res*, 751, pp. 323.
- Johnson, TS., El-Koraie, AF., Skill, NJ., Baddour, NM., El Nahas, AM., Njloma, M., Adam, AG., Griffin, M., (2003). Tissue Transglutaminase and the Progression of Human Renal Scarring. JNAS, Volume 14, p. 2052.
- Johnson, TS., Fisher, M., Haylor, JL., Hau, Z., Skill, NJ., Jones, R., Saint, R., Coutts, I., Vickers, ME., El Nahas, AM., Griffin, M., (2007). Transglutaminase Inhibition Reduces Fibrosis and Preserves Function in Experimental Chronic Kidney Disease. JASN, Volume 18, p. 3078.
- Johnson, TS., Skill, NJ., El Nahas, AM., Oldroyd, SD., Thomas, GL., Douthwaite, JA., Haylor, JL., Griffin, M., (1999). Transglutaminase Transcription and Antigen Translocation in Experimental Renal Scarring. JASN, p. 10.
- Jones, R., Kotsakis, P., Johnson, TS., Chau, DY., Ali, S., Melino, G., Griffin, M., (2006). Matrix changes induced by transglutaminase 2 lead to inhibition of angiogenesis and tumour growth. *Cell death and differentiation*, 13, pp. 1442.
- Kagnoff, M., (2007). Celiac disease: pathogenesis of a model immunogenetic disease. *J Clin Invest*, 117, pp. 41.

- Kahlem, P., Green, H., Djian, P., (1998). Transglutaminase action imitates Huntington's disease: selective polymerization of Huntingtin containing expanded polyglutamine. *Mol Cell*, 1, pp. 595.
- Kahlem, P., Terré, C., Green, H., Djian, P., (1996). Peptides containing glutamine repeats as substrates for transglutaminase-catalyzed cross-linking: relevance to diseases of the nervous system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 93, pp. 14580.
- Kalluri, R. & Weinberg, R., (2009). Review The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Clin Invest*, 119, pp. 1420.
- Kalluri, R., (2009). EMT: when epithelial cells decide to become mesenchymal-like cells. *J Clin Invest*, 119, pp. 1417.
- Kamata, H., Honda, S., Maeda, S., Chang, L., Hirata, H., Karin, M., (2005). Reactive oxygen species promote TNFalpha induced death and sustained JNK activation by inhibiting MAP kinase phosphatases. *Cell*, 120, pp. 649.
- Kang, S., Lee, J., Chung, T., Kim, C., (2004). Overexpression of transglutaminase 2 accelerates the erythroid differentiation of human chronic myelogenous leukemia K562 cell line through PI3K/Akt signaling pathway.. *FEBS Lett*, 577, pp. 361.
- Karin, M. & Ben-Neriah, Y., (2000). Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-κB activity. *Ann Rev Immunol*, 18, pp. 621.
- Karin, M. & Ben-Neriah, Y., (2001). Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer. *Nature*, 411, pp. 342.
- Karin, M. & Delhase, M., (2000). The I kappa B kinase (IKK) and NF-kappa B: key elements of proinflammatory signalling. *Semin Immunol*, 12, pp. 85.
- Karin, M. & Lin, A., (2002). NF-kappa B at the crossroads of life and death. *Nat Immunol*, 3, pp. 221.
- Karin, M., (1999). How nfkb is activated: the role of theIkB kinase (IKK) complex. *Oncogene*, 18, pp. 6867.
- Karin, M., (2006). NF-kappa B and cancer: mechanisms and targets. *Mol Carcinog*, 87, pp. 355.
- Karin, M., Cao, Y., Greten, F., Li, Z., (2002). NF-kB in cancer: from innocent bystander to major culprit. *Nature reviews cancer*, 2, pp. 301.
- Kerbel, R., Kobayashi, H., Graham, C., (1994). Intrinsic or acquired drug resistance and metastasis: are they linked phenotypes?. *J Cell Biochem*, 56, pp. 37.
- Khanna, M., Chelladurai, B., Gavini, A., Li, L., Shao, M., Courtney, D., Turchi, JJ., Matei, D., Meroueh, S., (2011). Targeting ovarian cell adhesion mediated by tissue transglutaminase. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 10, pp. 626.
- Kim, D., Han, BG., Park, KS., Lee, BI., Kim, FY., Bae, CD., (2010). I-κBα Depletion by Transglutaminase 2 and μ-Calpain Occurs in Parallel with the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 299, pp. 300.
- Kim, D., Park, K., Kim, S., (2009). Silencing of TGase 2 sensitizes breast cancer cells to apoptosis by regulation of survival factors. *Front Biosci*, 14, pp. 2514.
- Kim, D., Park, SS., Nam, BH., Kim, IH., Kim, SY., (2006). Reversal of drug resistance in breast cancer cells by transglutaminase 2 inhibition and nuclear factor-kappaB inactivation. *Cancer Res*, 66, pp. 10936.
- Kim, IG., McBride, OW., Wang, M., Kim, SY., Idler, WW., Steinert, PM., (1992). Structure and organization of the human transglutaminase 1 gene. *J Biol Chem*, 267, pp. 7710.

- Kim, S., (2006). Transglutaminase 2 in inflammation. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, 11, pp. 3026
- Kim, S., (2011). Transglutaminase 2: a new paradigm for NF-kappaB involvement in disease.. *Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol.*, 78, pp. 161
- Kim, S., Choi, JH., Kim, JB., Nam, SJ., Yang, JH., Kim, JH., Lee, JE., (2008). Berberine suppresses TNF-alpha-induced MMP-9 and cell invasion through inhibition of AP-1 activity in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells. *Molecules*, 13, pp. 2975
- Kim, Y., Eom, S., Kim, K., Lee, YS., Choe, J., Hahn, JH., Lee, H., Kim, YM., Ha, KS., Ro, JY., Jeoung, D., (2010). Transglutaminase II interacts with rac1, regulates production of reactive oxygen species, expression of snail, secretion of Th2 cytokines and mediates in vitro and in vivo allergic inflammation. *Mol Immunol*, 47, pp. 1010.
- Kiraly, R., Demeny, M., Fesus, L., (2011). Protein transamidation by transglutaminase 2 in cells: a disputed Ca2+-dependent action of a multifunctional protein. *FEBS J*, 278, pp. 4717.
- Kishore, N., Sommers, C., Mathialagan, S., Guzova, J., Yao, M., Hauser, S., Huynh, K., Bonar, S., Mielke, C., Albee, L., Weier, R., Graneto, M., Hanau, C., Perry, T., Tripp, CS., (2003). A Selective IKK-2 Inhibitor Blocks NF-κB-dependent Gene Expression in Interleukin-1β-stimulated Synovial Fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp. 32861.
- Kishore, N., Huynh, QK., Mathialagan, S., Hall, T., Rouw, S., Creely, D., Lange, G., Caroll, J., Reitz, B., Donnelly, A., Boddupalli, H., Combs, RG., Kretzmer, K., Tripp, CS., (2002). IKK-i and TBK-1 are enzymatically distinct from the homologous enzyme IKK-2: comparative analysis of recombinant human IKK-i, TBK-1 and IKK-2. *J Biol Chem*, 277, pp. 13840.
- Kita, T., Nakashima, T., (2002) A recent trend in methamphetamine-induced neurotoxicity. *Nihon Shinkei Seishin Yakurigaku Zasshi*, 22, pp. 35
- Knight, C., Rees, R., Griffin, M., (1991). Apoptosis—a potential role for cytosolic transglutaminase and its importance in tumour progression. *International Journal of biochemistry, biophysics and molecular biology*, 1096, pp. 312.
- Knupfer, H. & Preiss, R., (2007). Significance of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in breast cancer.*Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 102, pp. 129.
- Korsgren, C. & Cohen, C., (1991). Organization of the gene for human erythrocyte membrane protein 4.2: Structural similarities with the gene for the a subunit of factor XIII. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 88, pp. 4840.
- Kotsakis, P. & Griffin, M., (2007). Melanoma cell adhesion to injured arterioles: mechanisms of stabilised tethering. *Amino Acids*, 33, pp. 373.
- Krasnikov, BF., Kim, SY., McConoughey, SJ., Ryu, H., Xu, H., Stavrovskaya, I., Iismaa, SE., Mearns, BM., Ratan, RR., Blass, JP., Gibson, GE., Cooper, AJ., (2005). Transglutaminase activity is present in highly purified nonsynaptosomal mouse brain and liver mitochondria. *Biochemistry*, 44, pp. 7830.
- Kumar, A., Xu, J., Brady, S., Gao, H., Yu, D., Reuben, J., Mehta, K., (2010). Tissue transglutaminase promotes drug resistance and invasion by inducing mesenchymal transition in mammary epithelial cells. *PLoS One*, 5, pp. e13390.
- Kumar, A., Gao, H., Xu, J., Reuben, J., Yu, D., Mehta, K., (2010). Evidence that aberrant expression of tissue transglutaminase promotes stem cell characteristics in mammary epithelial cells. *PLoS One*, 6, pp. e20701.

- Kumar, S. & Mehta, K., (2012). Tissue Transglutaminase Constitutively Activates HIF-1α Promoter and Nuclear Factor-κB via a Non-Canonical Pathway. *PLos One*, 7, pp. e: 49321.
- Kuo, T., Tatsukawa, H., Kojima, S., (2011). New insights into the functions and localization of nuclear transglutaminase 2. *FEBS J*, 278, pp. 4756.
- Laemmli, U., Molbert, E., Showe, M., Kellenberger, E., (1970). Form-determining function of the genes required for the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *J Mol Biol*, 49, pp. 99.
- Lai, TS., Hausladen, A., Slaughter, TF., Eu, JP., Stamler, JS., Greenberg, CS., (2001). Calcium regulates S-nitrosylation, denitrosylation, and activity of tissue transglutaminase. *Biochemistry*, 40, pp. 4904.
- LaPensee, E. & Jonathan, N., (2010). Novel roles of prolactin and estrogens in breast cancer: resistance to chemotherapy. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 12, pp. R91.
- Lawrence, T., Bebien, M., Liu, GY., Nizet, V., Karin, M., (2005). IKKalpha limits macrophage NF-kappaB activation and contributes to the resolution of inflammation. *Nature*, 434, pp. 1138.
- Lee, J., Kim, YS., Choi, DH., Bang, MS., Han, TR., Joh, TH., Kim, SY., (2004). Transglutaminase 2 induces nuclear factor-kappaB activation via a novel pathway in BV-2 microglia. *J Biol Chem*, 279, pp. 53725.
- Lee, JH., Jang, SI., Yang, JM., Markova, NG., Steinert, PM., (1996). The proximal promoter of the human transglutaminase 3 gene. Stratified squamous epithelial-specific expression in cultured cells is mediated by binding of Sp1 and ets transcription factors to a proximal promoter element. *J Biol Chem*, 271, pp. 4561.
- Lesort, M., Tucholski, J., Zhang, J., Johnson, GV., (2000). Impaired mitochondrial function results in increased tissue transglutaminase activity in situ. *J Neurochem*, 75, pp. 1951.
- Lewis, TE., Milam, TD., Klingler, DW., Rao, PS., Jaggi, M., Smith, DJ., Hemstreet, GP., Balaji, KC., (2005). Tissue transglutaminase interacts with protein kinase A anchor protein 13 in prostate cancer. *Urol Oncol*, 23, pp. 407.
- Lin, A. & Karin, M., (2003). NF kappa B in cancer : a marked target. *Semin Cancer Biol*, 13, pp. 107.
- Liu, T., Tee, AE., Porro, A., Smith, SA., Dwarte, T., Liu, PY., Iraci, N., Sekyere, E., Haber, M., Norris, MD., Diolaiti, D., Della Valle, G., Perini, G., Marshall, GM., (2007). Activation of tissue transglutaminase transcription by histone deacetylase inhibition as a therapeutic approach for Myc oncogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 104, pp. 18682.
- Lorand, L. & Graham, R., (2003). Transglutaminases: Crosslinking enzymes with pleiotropic functions.. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4, pp. 140.
- Lowry, O., Rosebrough, N., Farr, A., Randall, R., (1951). Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *J Biol Chem*, 193, pp. 265.
- Madonna, G., Ullman, CD., Gentilcore, G., Palmieri, G., Ascierto, PA., (2012). NF-kB as potential target in the treatment of melanoma. *J Transl Med*, 10, pp. 53.
- Madrid, L., Mayo, M., Reuther, J., Baldwin Jr, A., (2001). Akt Stimulates the Transactivation Potential of the RelA/p65 Subunit of NF-κB through Utilization of the IκB Kinase and Activation of the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase p38. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, pp. 18934.

- Maeda, M., Johnson, K., Wheelock, M., (2005). Cadherin switching: essential for behavioral but nor morphological changes during an epithelium-to-mesenchyme transition. *J Cell Sci*, 118, pp. 873.
- Mangala, LS. & Mehta, K., (2005). Tissue transglutaminases in cancer. In: E. R. Mehta K, ed. *Transglutaminases: the family of enzymes with diverse functions*. Basel: Karger, pp. 125.
- Mangala, LS., Fok, JY., Zorrilla-Calancha, IR., Verma, A., Mehta, K., (2007). Tissue transglutaminase expression promotes cell attachment, invasion and survival in breast cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 26, pp. 2459.
- Mann, A., Verma, A., Sethi, G., Manavathi, B., Wang, H., Fok, JY., Kunnumakkara, AB., Kumar, R., Aggarwal, BB., Mehta, K., (2006). Overexpression of tissue transglutaminase leads to constitutive activation of nuclear factor-kappaB in cancer cells: delineation of a novel pathway. *Cancer Res*, 66, pp. 8788.
- Mann, A., Xu, J., Sung, B., Kumar, S., Yu, D., Aggarwal, BB., Mehta, K., (2012). Evidence that GTP-binding domain but not catalytic domain of transglutaminase 2 is essential for epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in mammary epithelial cells. *Breast Cancer Research*, 14, pp. R4.
- Mantovani, A., (2010). Molecular pathways linking inflammation and cancer.. *Curr Mol Med*, 10, pp. 369.
- Marshall, H. & Stamler, J., (1999). Exhaled nitric oxide (NO), NO synthase activity, and regulation of nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.*, 21, pp. 296.
- Mattioli, I., Sebald, A., Bucher, C., Charles, RP., Nakano, H., Doi, T., Kracht, M., Schmitz, ML., (2004). Transient and selective NF-kappa B p65 serine 536 phosphorylation induced by T cell costimulation is mediated by I kappa B kinase beta and controls the kinetics of p65 nuclear import. *J Immunol*, 172, pp. 6336.
- Matsui, Y., Tsuchida, Y., Keng, PC., (2001) Effects of p53 mutations on cellular sensitivity to ionizing radiation. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 24, pp. 486
- Mehta, K. & Han, A., (2011). Tissue Transglutaminase (TG2)- induced inflammation in initiation, progression and pathogenesis of pancreatic cancer. *Cancers*, 3, pp. 897.
- Mehta, K., (1999). High levels of transglutaminase expression in doxorubicin-resistant human breast carcinoma cells.. *Int J Cancer*, 58, pp. 400.
- Mehta, K., (2005). Mammalian Transglutaminases: A family portrait. In: K. Mehta & R. Eckert, eds. *Transglutaminases*. Basel: Karger, pp. 1.
- Mehta, K., (2008). Biological and therapeutic significance of tissue transglutaminase in pancreatic cancer. *Amino acids*, 36, pp. 709.
- Mehta, K., Fok, J., Mangala, L., (2006a/2006b). Tissue transglutaminase: from biological glue to cell survival cues. *Frontiers in bioscience*, 11, pp. 173.
- Mehta, K., Fok, J., Miller, FR., Koul, D., Sahin, AA., (2004). Prognostic significance of tissue transglutaminase in drug resistant and metastatic breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 10, pp. 8068.
- Mehta, K., Kumar, A., Kim, H., (2010). Transglutaminase 2: a multi-tasking protein in the complex circuitry of inflammation and cancer. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 80, pp. 1921.
- Mehta, K., Kumar, A., Kim, H., (2012). Transglutaminase 2: A multitasking protein in the complex circuitry of inflammation and cancer. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 80, pp. 1921.
- Micalizzi, D. & Ford, H., (2009). Review Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in development and cancer. *Future Oncol*, 5, pp. 1129043.

- Milakovic, T., Tucholski, J., McCoy, E., Johnson, GV., (2004). Intracellular localization and activity state of tissue transglutaminase differentially impacts cell death. *J Biol Chem*, 279, pp. 8715.
- Mirza, A., Liu, SL., Frizell, E., Zhu, J., Maddukuri, S., Martinez, J., Davies, P., Schwarting, R., Norton, P., Zern, MA., (1997). A role of tissue transglutaminase in hepatic injury and fibrogenesis and its regulation by NF-kB. *Am Physiol Soc*, 35, pp. 281.
- Mishra, S. & Murphy, L., (2004). Tissue transglutaminase has intrinsic kinase activity: identification of transglutaminase 2 as an insulin like growth factor-binding protein-3 kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 279, pp. 23863.
- Mishra, S., Melino, G., Murphy, L., (2007). Transglutaminase 2 kinase activity facilitates protein kinase A-induced phosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein. *J Biol Chem*, 282, pp. 18108.
- Mishra, S., Saleh, A., Espino, PS., Davie, JR., Murphy, LJ., (2006). Phosphorylation of histones by tissue transglutaminase. *J Biol Chem*, 281, pp. 5532.
- Miyamoto, S., Seufzer, B., Shumway, S., (1998). Novel Ikappa B alpha proteolytic pathway in WEH1231 immature B cells. *Mol Cell Biol*, 18, pp. 19.
- Mizoguchi, M., Iwaki, T., Fukui, M., (1998). A comparative immunohistochemical study of tissue transglutaminase and factor XIIIa in hemangioblastoma.. *Neuropathology*, 18, pp. 199.
- Molberg, O., McAdam, S., Sollid, L., (2000). Role of tissue transglutaminase in celiac disease. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*, 30, pp. 232.
- Molberg, O., Mcadam, SN., Körner, R., Quarsten, H., Kristiansen, C., Madsen, L., Fugger, L., Scott, H., Norén, O., Roepstorff, P., Lundin, KE., Sjöström, H., Sollid, LM., (1998). Tissue transglutaminase selectively modifies gliadin peptides that are recognized by gut-derived T cells in celiac disease. *Nat Med*, 4, pp. 713.
- Mouro-Chanteloup, I., Delaunay, J., Gane, P., Nicolas, V., Johansen, M., Brown, EJ., Peters, LL., Van Kim, CL., Cartron, JP., Colin, Y., (2003). Evidence that the red cell skeleton protein 4.2 interacts with the Rh membrane complex member CD47. *Blood*, 101, pp. 338.
- Moynagh, P., (2005). The nfkb pathway. *J Cell sci*, 118, pp. 4389.
- Muszbek, L., Bereczky, Z., Bagoly, Z., Komáromi, I., Katona, É., (2011). Factor XIII: A coagulation factor with multiple plasmatic and cellular functions. *Physiol Rev*, 91, pp. 931.
- Myrsky, E., Kaukinen, K., Syrjänen, M., Korponay-Szabó, IR., Mäki, M., Lindfors, K., (2008). Coeliac disease-specific autoantibodies targeted against transglutaminase 2 disturb angiogenesis. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 152, pp. 111.
- Najfeld, V., Ballard, SG., Menninger, J., Ward, DC., Bouhassira, EE., Schwartz, RS., Nagel, RL., Rybicki, AC., (1992). The gene for human erythrocyte protein 4.2 maps to chromosome 15q15. *Am J Human Genet*, 50, pp. 71.
- Nakanish, C. & Toi, M., (2005). Nuclear factor-nB inhibitors as sensitizers to anticancer drugs. *Nat RevCancer*, 5, pp. 297.
- Nanda, N., Iismaa, SE., Owens, WA., Husain, A., Mackay, F., Graham, RM., (2001). Targeted inactivation of Gh/tissue transglutaminase 2. *J Biol Chem*, 276, pp. 20673.
- Nardacci, R., Lo Iacono, O., Ciccosanti, F., Falasca, L., Addesso, M., Amendola, A., Antonucci, G., Craxì, A., Fimia, GM., Iadevaia, V., Melino, G., Ruco, L., Tocci,

G., Ippolito, G., Piacentini, M., (2003). Transglutaminase type II plays a protective role in hepatic injury. *Am J Pathol*, 162, pp. 1293.

- Naugler, W. & Karin, M., (2008). NF-kappaB and cancer identifying targets and mechanisms. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 18, pp. 19.
- Naumann, M., Nieters, A., Hatada, E., Scheidereit, C., (1993). NF-k B precursor p100 inhibits nuclear translocation and DNA binding of NF-kB/rel-factors. *Oncogene*, 8, pp. 2275.
- Nicholas, B. *et al.* (2003). Cross-linking of cellular proteins by tissue transglutaminase during necrotic cell death. A mechanism for maintaining tissue integrity. *Biochem J*, 371, pp. 413.
- Nicholas, B., Smethurst, P., Verderio, E., Jones, R., Griffin, M., (2003). Cross-linking of cellular proteins by tissue transglutaminase during necrotic cell death: a mechanism for maintaining tissue integrity. *Biochem J*, 371, pp. 413.
- Nunes, I., Gleizes, P., Metz, C., Rifkin, D., (1997). Latent transforming growth factorbeta binding protein domains involved in activation and transglutaminase-dependent cross-linking of latent transforming growth factor-beta.. *J Cell Biol*, 136, pp. 1151.
- Nurminskaya, M. & Belkin, A., (2012). Cellular functions of tissue transglutaminase. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol.*, 294, pp. 1.
- Oeckinghaus, A. & Ghosh, S., (2009). The NF-kB family of transcription factors and its regulation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 1, p. a000034.
- Okazaki, T., Sakon, S., Sasazuki, T., Sakurai, H., Doi, T., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., Nakano, H., (2003). Phosphorylation of serine 276 is essential for p65 NF-kappaB subunit-dependent cellular responses. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 300, pp. 807
- Oliverio, S., Amendola, A., Di Sano, F., Farrace, MG., Fesus, L., Nemes, Z., Piredda, L., Spinedi, A., Piacentini, M., (1997). Tissue transglutaminase posttranslational modification of the retinoblastoma gene product in promonocytic cells undergoing apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol*, 17, pp. 6040.
- Oliverio, S., Amendola, A., Rodolfo, C., Spinedi, A., Piacentini, M., (1999). Inhibition of "tissue" transglutaminase increases cell survival by preventing apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, 274, pp. 34123.
- Olsen, KC., Sapinoro, RE., Kottmann, RM., Kulkarni, AA., Iismaa, SE., Johnson, GV., Thatcher, TH., Phipps, RP., Sime, PJ., (2011). Transglutaminase 2 and its role in pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 184, pp. 699.
- Orlowski, R. & Baldwin Jr, A., (2002). NF-κB as a therapeutic target in cancer.. *Trends Mol Med*, 8, pp. 385.
- Pahl, H., (1999). Activators and target genes of Rel/ NF-kB transcription factors. *Oncogene*, 13, pp. 3557.
- Park, KS., Han, BG., Lee, KH., Kim, DS., Kim, JM., Jeon, H., Kim, HS., Suh, SW., Lee, EH., Kim, SY., Lee, BI., (2009). Depletion of nucleophosmin via transglutaminase 2 cross-linking increases drug resistance in cancer cells. *Cancer Lett*, 4, pp. 201.
- Park, KS., Kim, HK., Lee, JH., Choi, YB., Park, SY., Yang, SH., Kim, SY., Hong, KM., (2010). Transglutaminase 2 as a cisplatin resistance marker in non-small cell lung cancer. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 136, pp. 493.
- Park, SS., Kim, DS., Park, KS., Song, HJ., Kim, SY., (2007). Proteomic analysis of high-molecular-weight protein polymers in a doxorubicin-resistant breast-cancer cell line. *Proteomics Clin Appl.*, 1, pp. 555

- Park, SS., Kim, JM., Kim, DS., Kim, IH., Kim, SY., (2006). Transglutaminase 2 mediates polymer formation of I-kappaBalpha through C-terminal glutamine cluster. *J Biol Chem*, 281, pp. 34965.
- Parsad, S., Ravindran, J., Aggarwal, B., (2010). NF-kB and cancer: how intimate is this relationship. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 336, pp. 25.
- Pavlyukov, M., Antipova, N., Balashova, M. & Shakhparonov, M., (2012). Detection of Transglutaminase 2 conformational changes in living cell. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, Volume 421, p. 773.
- Peng, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, H., Graner, S., Williams, JF., Levitt, ML., Lokshin, A., (1999). Interaction of tissue transglutaminase with nuclear transport protein importina3. *FEBS Lett*, 5, pp. 35.
- Pereira, S. & Oakley, F., (2008). Nuclear factor kappa B1: Regulation and function. *The international journal of biochemistry and cell biology*, 40, pp. 1425.
- Perkins, N., (2006). Integrating cell signalling pathways with NF-kB and IKK function. *Nat Rev*, 8, pp. 49.
- Perkins, N., (2006). Post-translational modifications regulating the activity and function of the nuclear factor kappa B pathway. *Oncogene*, 25, pp. 6717.
- Perkins, N., (2012). The diverse and complex roles of NF-kappaB subunits in cancer. *Nat Rec Cancer*, 12, pp. 121.
- Pham, CG., Bubici, C., Zazzeroni, F., Papa, S., Jones, J., Alvarez, K., Jayawardena, S., De Smaele, E., Cong, R., Beaumont, C., Torti, FM., Torti, SV., Franzoso, G., (2004). Ferritin heavy chain upregulation of NF kappa B inhibits TNFalpha induced apoptosis by supressing reactive oxygen species. *Cell*, 119, pp. 529.
- Pietroni, V., Di Giorgi, S., Paradisi, A., Ahvazi, B., Candi, E., Melino, G., (2008). Inactive and highly active, proteolytically processed transglutaminase-5 in epithelial cells. *J Invest Dermatol*, 128, pp. 2760.
- Popov, Y., Sverdlov, DY., Sharma, AK., Bhaskar, KR., Li, S., Freitag, TL., Lee, J., Dieterich, W., Melino, G., Schuppan, D.. (2011). Tissue transglutaminase does not affect fibrotic matrix stability or regression of liver fibrosis in mice. *Gastroenterology*, 140, pp. 1642.
- Polyak, K., Xia, Y., Zweier, JL., Kinzler, KW., Vogelstein, B (1997) A model for p53induced apoptosis, *Nature*, 389, pp. 300
- Quan, G., Choi, J., Lee, D., Lee, S., (2005). TGF-beta1 upregulates transglutaminase 2 and fibronectin in dermal fibroblasts: a possible mechanism for the stabilization of tissue inflammation. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 297, pp. 84.
- Rayet, B. & Gelinas, C., (1999). Aberrant rel/nfkb genes and activity in human cancer`. *Oncogene*, 18, pp. 6938.
- Renner, F., Moreno, R., Schmitz, M., (2010). SUMOylation-dependent localization of IKKepsilon in PML nuclear bodies is essential for protection against DNA-damage-triggered cell death.. *Mol Cell*, 37, pp. 503.
- Robitaille, K., Daviau, A., Lachance, G., Couture, JP., Blouin, R., (2008). Calphostin C-induced apoptosis is mediated by a tissue transglutaminase-dependent mechanism involving the DLK/ JNK signaling pathway. *Cell death Differ*, 15, pp. 1522.
- Rossin, F., D'Eletto, M., Macdonald, D., Farrace, MG., Piacentini, M., (2011). TG2 transamidating activity acts as a reostat controlling the interplay between apoptosis and autophagy. *Amino Acids*, 42, pp. 1793.

- Sakurai, H., Chiba, H., Miyoshi, H., Sugita, T., Toriumi, W., (1999). IkappaB kinases phosphorylate NF-kappaB p65 subunit on serine 536 in the transactivation domain. *J Biol Chem*, 274, pp. 30353.
- Sakurai, H., Suzuki, S., Kawasaki, N., Nakano, H., Okazaki, T., Chino, A., Doi, T., Saiki, I., (2003). Tumour Necrosis Factor-α-induced IKK Phosphorylation of NF-κB p65 on Serine 536 Is Mediated through the TRAF2, TRAF5, and TAK1 Signaling Pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp. 36916.
- Santibáñez, JF., Kocić, J., Fabra, A., Cano, A., Quintanilla, M., (2010). Rac1 modulates TGF-beta1-mediated epithelial cell plasticity and MMP9 production in transformed keratinocytes. *FEBS Lett*, 584, pp. 2305.
- Sarkar, F., Li, Y., Wang, Z., Kong, D., (2009). Pancreatic cancer stem cell and EMT in drug resistance and metastasis. *Minerva Chir*, 64, pp. 489.
- Sasaki, C., Barberi, T., Ghosh, P., Longo, D., (2005). Phosphorylation of RelA/p65 on Serine 536 Defines an IkBa -independent NF-kB Pathway. *Journal of Biological chemistry*, 280, pp. 34538.
- Satpathy, M., Cao, L., Pincheira, R., Emerson, R., Bigsby, R., Nakshatri, H., Matei, D., (2007). Enhanced peritoneal ovarian tumour dissemination by tissue transglutaminase. *Cancer Res*, 67, pp. 7194.
- Selkoe, D., (2000). The origins of Alzheimer disease: a is for amyloid.. *Jama*, 283, pp. 1615.
- Selkoe, D., Abraham, C., Ihara, Y., (1982). Brain transglutaminase: in vitro crosslinking of human neurofilament proteins into insoluble polymers.. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 79, pp. 6070.
- Senftleben, U., Cao, Y., Xiao, G., Greten, FR., Krähn, G., Bonizzi, G., Chen, Y., Hu, Y., Fong, A., Sun, SC., Karin, M., (2001). Activation by IKKalpha of a second, evolutionary conserved, NF-kappa B signaling pathway. *Science*, 293, pp. 1495.
- Sethi, G., Ahn, K., Chaturvedi, M., Aggarwal, B., (2007). Epidermal growth factor (EGF) activates nuclear factor-kappa B through I kappa B alpha kinase independent but EGF receptor-kinase dependent tyrosine 42 phosphorylation of I kappa B alpha. *Oncogene*, 26, pp. 7324.
- Shan, L., Molberg, Ø., Parrot, I., Hausch, F., Filiz, F., Gray, GM., Sollid, LM., Khosla, C., (2002). Structural basis for gluten intolerance in celiac sprue. *Science*, 297, pp. 2275.
- Shao, M., Cao, L., Shen, C., Satpathy, M., Chelladurai, B., Bigsby, RM., Nakshatri, H., Matei, D., (2009). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and ovarian tumour progression induced by tissue transglutaminase. *Cancer Res*, 69, pp. 9192.
- Shostak, K. & Chariot, A., (2011). NF-kB, stem cells and breast cancer: the links get stronger. *Breast Cancer Research*, 13, p. 214.
- Shweke, N., Boulos, N., Jouanneau, C., Vandermeersch, S., Melino, G., Dussaule, JC., Chatziantoniou, C., Ronco, P., Boffa, JJ., (2008). Tissue Transglutaminase Contributes to Interstitial Renal Fibrosis by Favoring Accumulation of Fibrillar Collagen through TGF-β Activation and Cell Infiltration. *Am J Pathol*, 173, pp. 631.
- Singh, US. & Cerione, R., (1996). Biochemical effects of retinoic acid on GTP-binding protein/transglutaminasee in HeLa cells. *J Biol Chem*, 271, pp. 27292.
- Singh, US., Pan, J., Kao, YL., Joshi, S., Young, KL., Baker, KM., (2003). Tissue transglutaminase mediates activation of RhoA and MAP kinase pathways during

retinoic acid-induced neuronal differentiation of SH-SY5Y cells. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp. 391.

- Sizemore, N., Lerner, N., Dombrowski, N., Sakurai, H., Stark, GR., (2002). Distinct roles of the Ikappa B kinase alpha and beta subunits in liberating nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappa B) from Ikappa B and in phosphorylating the p65 subunit of NF-kappa B. *J Biol Chem*, 277, pp. 3863.
- Soendergaard, C., Kvist, P., Seidelin, J., Nielsen, O., (2013). Tissue regenerating functions of coagulation factor XIII (Accepted article, doi:10.1111/jth.12169). *J Thromb Haemost.* .
- Sollid, L., (2000). Molecular basis of celiac disease. Annu Rev Immunol, 18, pp. 53.
- Sollid, L., (2002). Coeliac disease: dissecting a complex inflammatory disorder. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 2, pp. 647.
- Solomon, M. & Varshavsky, A., (1985). Formaldehyde-mediated DNA-protein crosslinking: a probe for in vivo chromatin structures. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 82, pp. 6470.
- Sorlie, T., Perou, C.M., Tibshirani, R., Borresen-Dale, A., (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *PNAS*, 98, pp 10869.
- Sovak, MA., Bellas, RE., Kim, DW., Zanieski, GJ., Rogers, AE., Traish, AM., Sonenshein, GE., (2000). Aberrant nuclear factor-kappa B/Rel expressio and the pathogenesis of breast cancer. *J Clin Invest*, 100, pp. 2952.
- Steinert, P., Chung, S., Kim, S., (1996). Inactive zymogen and highly active proteolytically processed membrane-bound forms of the transglutaminase 1 enzyme in human epidermal keratinocytes.. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 221, pp. 101
- Stephens, P., Grenard, P., Aeschlimann, P., Langley, M., Blain, E., Errington, R., Kipling, D., Thomas, D., Aeschlimann, D., (2004). Crosslinking and G-protein functions of transglutaminase 2 contribute differentially to fibroblast wound healing responses. *J Cell Sci*, 117, pp. 3389.
- Sui, M., Zhang, H., Fan, W., (2011). The Role of Estrogen and Estrogen Receptors in Chemoresistance. *Current Medicial Chemistry*, 18, pp. 4674.
- Sung, LA., Chien, S., Fan, YS., Lin, CC., Lambert, K., Zhu, L., Lam, JS., Chang, LS., (1992). Human erythrocyte protein 4.2: isoform expression, differential splicing, and chromosomal assignment. *Blood*, 79, pp. 2763.
- Suzuki, K., Hata, S., Kawabata, Y., Sorimachi, H., (2004). Structure, activation and biology of calpain. *Diabetes*, Suppl 1, pp. 721.
- Suzuki, Y., Shimada, J., Shudo, K., Matsumura, M., Crippa, MP., Kojima, S., (1999). Physical Interaction between retinoic acid receptor and Sp1: Mechanism for induction of Urokinase by Retinoic acid. *Blood*, 93, pp. 4264.
- Szondy, Z., Sarang, Z., Molnar, P., Nemeth, T., Piacentini, M., Mastroberardino, PG., Falasca, L., Aeschlimann, D., Kovacs, J., Kiss, I., Szegezdi, E., Lakos, G., Rajnavolgyi, E., Birckbichler, PJ., Melino, G., Fesus, L., (2003). Transglutaminase -/- mice reveal a phagocytosis-associated crosstalk between macrophages and apoptotic cells. *Proc NAtl Acad Sci USA*, 100, pp. 7812.
- Telci, D. & Griffin, M., (2006). Tissue Transglutaminase (TG2) A wound response enzyme. *Front Biosci (Elite Ed)*, 11, pp. 867.
- Telci, D., Wang, Z., Li, X., Verderio, EA., Humphries, MJ., Baccarini, M., Basaga, H., Griffin, M., (2008). Fibronectin- tissue transglutaminase matrix rescues RGD

impaired cell adhesion through syndecan-4 and beta1 integrin co-signalling. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 283, pp. 20937.

- Telci, D., Collighan, RJ., Basaga, H., Griffin, M., (2009). Increased TG2 expression can result in induction of transforming growth factor beta1, causing increased synthesis and deposition of matrix proteins, which can be regulated by nitric oxide. *J Biol Chem*, 43, pp. 29547
- Tergaonkar, V., Bottero, V., Ikawa, M., Li, Q., Verma, IM., (2003). IκB Kinase-Independent IκBα Degradation Pathway: Functional NF-κB Activity and Implications for Cancer Therapy. *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, pp. 8070.
- Thiebach, L., John, S., Paulsson, M. & Smyth, N., (2007). The role of TG3 and TG6 in hair morphogenesis and in the establishment of the skin barrier function.. Morocco, 9th International Conference on Transglutaminases and Protein Cross-linking.
- Thiery, J. & Sleeman, J., (2006). Complex networks orchestrate epithelial to mesenchyman transitions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell*, 7, pp. 131.
- Thiery, J., (2002). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 2, pp. 442.
- Thiery, P., Acloque, H., Huang, R., Nieto, M. (2009) Epithelial–mesenchymal transitions in development and disease.. *Cell*, 139, pp. 871.
- Thomazy, V. & Fesus, L., (1989). Differential expression of tissue transglutaminse in human cells. Am immunohistochemical study. *Cell Tissue Res*, 2250, pp. 215.
- Thompson, E., Newgreen, D., Tarin, D., (2005). Carcinoma invasion and metastasis: a role for epithelial-mesenchymal transition?. *Cancer Res*, 65, pp. 5991.
- Tommasini, A., Not, T., Kiren, V., Baldas, V., Santon, D., Trevisiol, C., Berti, I., Neri, E., Gerarduzzi, T., Bruno, I., Lenhardt, A., Zamuner, E., Spanò, A., Crovella, S., Martellossi, S., Torre, G., Sblattero, D., Marzari, R., Bradbury, A., Tamburlini, G., Ventura, A., (2004). Mass screening for coeliac disease using antihuman transglutaminase antibody assay. *Arch Dis Child*, 89, pp. 512.
- Torocsik, D., Bardos, H., Nagy, L., Adany, R., (2005). Identification of factor XIII-A as a marker of alternative macrophage activation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 62, pp. 2132.
- Trempe GL. (1976) Human breast cancer in culture. *Recent Results Cancer Res.* 57, pp 33
- Tsang, WP., Chau, SPY., Kong, SK., Fung, KP., Kwok, TT.,(2003) Reactive oxygen species mediate doxorubicin induced p53-independent apoptosis, *Life Sciences*, 73, pp. 2047
- Towbin, H., Staehelin, T., Gordon, J., (1979). Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications.. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 76, pp. 4350.
- Tucholski, J. & Johnson, GV., (2002). Tissue transglutaminase differentially modulates apoptosis in a stimuli-dependent manner. *J Neurochem*, 81, pp. 780.
- Tucholski, J. & Johnson, GV., (2003). Tissue transglutaminase directly regulates adenylyl cyclase resulting in enhanced cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) activation.. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp. 26838.
- Verderio, E., Nicholas, B., Gross, S., Griffin, M., (1998). Regulated expression of tissue transglutaminase in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts: effects on the processing of fibronectin, cell attachment, and cell death. *Experimental Cell Research*, 239, pp. 119.

- Verma, A. & Mehta, K., (2007a). Tissue transglutaminase mediated chemoresistance in cancer cells. *Drug Res Updates*, 7, pp. 559.
- Verma, A. & Mehta, K., (2007b). Tissue transglutaminase-mediated chemoresistance in cancer cells. *Drug Resistance Updates*, 10, pp. 144.
- Verma, A., Guha, S., Diagaradjane, P., Kunnumakkara, AB., Sanguino, AM., Lopez-Berestein, G., Sood, AK., Aggarwal, BB., Krishnan, S., Gelovani, JG., Mehta, K., (2008). Therapeutic significance of elevated tissue transglutaminase expression in pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 14, pp. 2476.
- Verma, A., Guha, S., Wang, H., Fok, JY., Koul, D., Abbruzzese, J., Mehta, K., (2008). Tissue transglutaminase regulates focal adhesion kinase/Akt activation by modulating PTEN expression in pancreatic cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res*, 14, pp. 1997.
- Verma, A., Wang, H., Manavathi, B., Fok, JY., Mann, AP., Kumar, R., Mehta, K., (2006). Increased expression of tissue transglutaminase in pacreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and its implications in drug resistance and metastasis. *Cancer Res*, 66, pp. 10525.
- Vermeulen, L., De Wilde, G., Notebaert, S., Vanden Berghe, W., Haegeman, G., (2002). Regulation of the transcriptional activity of the nuclear factor-kappaB p65 subunit. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 64, pp. 963.
- Vermeulen, L., De Wilde, G., Van Damme, P., Vanden Berghe, W., Haegeman, G., (2003). Transcriptional activation of the NF-kappaB p65 subunit by mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase-1 (MSK1). *EMBO J*, 22, pp. 1313.
- Viatour, P., Merville, M., Bours, V., Chariot, A., (2005). Phosphorylation of NFkappaB and IkappaB proteins: implications in cancer and inflammation. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 30, pp. 43.
- Walther, D., Stahlberg, S., Vowinckel, J., (2011). Novel roles for biogenic monoamines: from monoamines in transglutaminase-mediated post-translational protein modification to monoaminylation deregulation diseases. *FEBS Lett*, 278, pp. 4740.
- Wang, D., Westerheide, S., Hanson, J., Baldwin, A. J., (2000). Tumour necrosis factor alpha-induced phosphorylation of RelA/p65 on Ser529 is controlled by casein kinase II. *J Biol chem*, 275, pp. 32592.
- Wang, M., Kim, I., Steinert, P., McBride, O., (1994). Assignment of the human transglutaminase 2 (TGM2) and transglutaminase 3 (TGM3) genes to chromosome 20q11.2. *Genomics*, 23, pp. 721.
- Wang, Y., Ande, S., Mishra, S., (2012). Overexpression of phospho mutant forms of transglutaminase 2 downregulates epidermal growth factor receptor.. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 41, pp. 251.
- Wang, Y., Ande, S., Mishra, S., (2012). Phosphorylation of transglutaminase 2 (TG2) at serine-216 has a role in TG2 mediated activation of nuclear factor-kappa B and in the downregulation of PTEN. *BMC cancer*, 12, pp. 277.
- Wang, Z. & Griffin, M., (2012). TG2, a novel extracellular protein with multiple functions. *Amino acids*, 42, pp. 939.
- Wang, Z. & Griffin, M., (2013). The role of TG2 in regulating s100A4 mediated mammary tumour cell migration. *PLoS One*, 8, pp. e57017
- Wang, Z., Li, Y., Kong, D., Banerjee, S., Ahmad, A., Azmi, AS., Ali, S., Abbruzzese, JL., Gallick, GE., Sarkar, FH., (2009). Acquisition of epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype of gemcitabine-resistant pancreatic cancer cells is linked with activation of the 1notch signaling pathway. *Cancer Res*, 69, pp. 2400.

- Wang, Z., Collighan, RJ., Gross, SR., Danen, EH., Orend, G., Telci, D., Griffin, M., (2010). RGD-independent cell adhesion via a tissue transglutaminase-fibronectin matrix promotes fibronectin fibril deposition and requires syndecan-4/2 and {alpha}5{beta}1 integrin co-signaling. *J Biol Chem*, 285, pp. 40212.
- Wang, Z., Collighan, RJ., Pytel, K., Rathbone, DL., Li, X., Griffin, M., (2012). Characterization of the heparin binding site of tissue transglutaminase: its importance in the enzyme's cell surface targeting, matrix deposition and cell signalling. *J Biol Chem*, 287, pp. 13063.
- Wu, K., Katiyar, S., Li, A., Liu, M., Ju, X., Popov, VM., Jiao, X., Lisanti, MP., Casola, A., Pestell, RG., (2008). Dachshund inhibits oncogene induced breast cancer cellular migration and invasion through supression of interleukin-8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 105, pp. 6924.
- Wu, Y., Deng, J., Rychahou, PG., Qiu, S., Evers, BM., Zhou BP., (2009) Stabilization of snail by NF-kappaB is required for inflammation-induced cell migration and invasion. *Cancer Cell*, 15, pp. 416
- Wynn, T., (2007). Common and unique mechanisms regulate fibrosis in various fibroproliferative diseases. *J Clin Invest*, 117, pp. 524.
- Xu, J., Lamouille, S., Derynck, R., (2009). Review TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition.. *Cell Res*, 19, pp. 156.
- Yang, F., Tang, E., Guan, K., Wang, C., (2003). IKKβ Plays an Essential Role in the Phosphorylation of RelA/p65 on Serine 536 Induced by Lipopolysaccharide. *The Journal of Immunology*, 170, pp. 5630.
- Yin, C., Knudson, CM., Korsmeyer, SJ., Van Dyke, T., (1997) Bax suppresses tumorigenesis and stimulates apoptosis in *vivo*, *Nature*, 385, pp. 637
- Youlden, DR., Cramb, SM., Dunn, NA., Muller, JM., Pyke, CM., Baade, PD., (2012). The descriptive epidemiology of female breast cancer: an international comparison of screening, incidence, survival and mortality. *Cancer Epidemiol.*, 36, pp. 237.
- Yuan, L., Choi, K., Khosla, C., Zheng, X., Higashikubo, R., Chicoine, MR., Rich, KM., (2005). Tissue transglutaminase 2 inhibition promotes cell death and chemosensitivity in glioblastomas. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 4, pp. 1293.
- Yuan, L., Siegel, M., Choi, K., Khosla, C., Miller, CR., Jackson, EN., Piwnica-Worms, D., Rich, KM., (2007). Transglutaminase 2 inhibitor, KCC009, disrupts fibronectin assembly in the extracellular matrix and sensitizes orthotopic glioblastomas to chemotherapy. *Oncogene*, 26, pp. 2563.
- Zandi, E., Chen, Y., Karin, M., (1998). Direct phosphorylation of IkB by IKK and IKKb: Discrimination between free and NF-kB-bound substrate. *Science*, 281, pp. 1360.
- Zandi, E., Rothwarf, DM., Delhase, M., Hayakawa, M., Karin, M., (1997). The IkB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKK and IKKb, necessary for IkB phosphorylation and NF-kB activation. *Cell*, 91, pp. 243.
- Zhong, H., May, M., Jimi, E., Ghosh, S., (2002). The phosphorylation status of nuclear NF-kappa B determines its association with CBP/p300 or HDAC-1.. *Mol Cell*, 9, pp. 625.
- Zhu, L., Kahwash, S., Chang, L., (1998). Developmental Expression of Mouse Erythrocyte Protein 4.2 mRNA: Evidence for Specific Expression in Erythroid Cells. *Blood*, 91, pp. 695.

## Appendix I

	Appendix 1: List of Abbreviations
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ATP	Adenosine 5'- triphosphate
AB	Amyloid heta- protein
RAFF	B cell activating factor
DATT	
BCR	B cell receptor
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Free Calcium ions
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	Calcium Chloride
CCl <sub>4</sub>	Carbon tetrachloride
CD	Celiac disease
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole, Dihydrochloride
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DEPC	Diethyl pyrocarbonate
DLK	Dual leucine zinner hearing kinase
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagles' medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide
Dox	Doxorubicin
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid
EGF	Epithelial growth factor
EGTA	Ethylene glycol tetra acetic acid
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
ER	Oestrogen receptor
ERK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FBS	Foetal Bovine serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FN	Fibronectin
FXIII	Factor XIII
FXIII A	Factor XIII subunit A
FXIII B	Factor XIII subunit B
GDP	Guanosine 5'diphosphate
GFD	Gluten free diet
gplTG	Guinea pig liver transglutaminase
GTP	Guanosine 5'- triphosphate
GTPase	Guanosine 5'- triphosphatase
h UD	hour/ hours
HD	Huntington's disease
HDAC	Histone deacetlyase
HKP	Horseradish peroxidase
нэ	Heparan sulphate
IgG IVV	Immunoglobulin
	Infinition of -KB kinase
IL-I II 10	Interleukin -1 Interleukin -1 hete
117-1b	Interieukin -1 deta

IL-6	Interleukin - 6
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of -kB
KCl	Potassium chloride
kDa	Kilodalton
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
LiCl	Lithium Chloride
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
M	Molar
ΜΔΡΚ	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MFK	MAPK kinase 1
min	minute/ minutes
ml	Milliliters
mM	Millimolar
mDNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
	Memohrane type metalloproteinase
NFMO	NEvP assential modulator
NEWIO	Ny ko essential inoutiator
INFKD	Nuclear factor kappa - fight chann enhancer of activated B
NIL	VErs inducing kinese
ININ mM	NFKD Inducing Kinase
	Nanometer
	Nanometer Nitaio ovido
	Nui oxide
	Degree Celcius
OPD	<i>o</i> -pnenylenediamine
	Open reading frame
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PCD	Programmed cell death
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDI	Protein disulphide isomerase
pH	Negative log of hydrogen ion concentration
PIJK	Phosphoinositide 3- kinases
PKCa	Protein kinase C alpha
PKCO	Protein kinase C delta
PLC	Phospholipase C
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PNKC	Perinuciear recycling compartment
PNPP DS1147	para-Nitrophenyiphosphate
PS1145	n-(6-Chloro-9H-pyrido[3,4-b]indol-8-yl)-3-
G <b>F</b> 2(	pyridinecarboxamide dinydrochloride
pSer536	Phosphorylates serine 536 residue
KA	Retinoic acid
KD DDC	Retinoblastoma gene
KBC	Red blood cells
KHD	Rel homology domain
<b>KNase</b>	Ribonuclease
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
KPMI-1640	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS- PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate- polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
SEAP	Secreted alkaline phosphatase
siRNA	Small interfering ribonucleic acid
TAA	Triazole acetic acid
TAD	Transactivation domain

## Appendix I

TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylene diamine
TG	Transglutaminase
TG2	Tissue transglutaminase
TGFβ1	Transforming growth factor beta 1
TLR	Toll like receptor
TNFR	Tumour necrosis factor receptor
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor - alpha
Tris	Tris (Hydroxymethyl)-amino ethane
Triton X -100	t-Ocylphenoxypolyethoxyethanol
Unt	Untreated
v/v	volume/volume
w/v	weight/ volume
WCL	Whole cell lysate
xg	G- force
XTT	Sodium 3'-[1-(phenylamino-carbonyl)-3,4-tetrazolium]-bis
	(4-methoxy-6-nitro) benzene sulfonic acid hydrate
Z-DON	Z-DON-Val-Pro-Leu-OMe
μ	Micro
μl	Microlitre
μM	Micromolar